
 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Wednesday, April 10, 2024 at 6:00 PM 

Commission Chambers, 300 Municipal Drive, 

Madeira Beach, FL 33708 
 

The Board of Commissioners of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida will meet in the Patricia Shontz Commission 

Chambers at City Hall, located at 300 Municipal Drive, Madeira Beach, Florida to discuss the agenda items of City 

Business listed at the time indicated below. Meetings will be televised on Spectrum Channel 640 and YouTube 

Streamed on the City’s Website. 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - City Attorney Thomas Trask 

3. ROLL CALL 

4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

5. MARCH 19, 2024 MUNICIPAL ELECTION - CERTIFIED OFFICIAL ELECTION 

RESULTS - CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH CHARTER AMENDMENT 

A. March 19, 2024 Municipal Election - Certified Official Election Results - City of Madeira 

Beach Charter Amendment 

6. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR 

A. Appointment of Vice Mayor 

7. PROCLAMATIONS - Mayor 

8. PRESENTATIONS (limited to 10 minutes each) 

A. Presentation of FY 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT 

Public participation is encouraged. If you are addressing the Commission, step to the podium and 

state your name and address for the record, and the organization or group you represent. Please limit 

your comments to five (5) minutes and do not include any topic that is on the agenda. Public comment 

on agenda items will be allowed when they come up. 

1



If you would like someone at the City to follow up on a comment or question made at the meeting, 

you may fill out a comment card with the contact information and give it to the City Manager. 

Comment cards are available at the back table in the Commission Chambers. Completing a comment 

card is not mandatory. 

For any quasi-judicial public hearings that might be on the agenda, an affected person may become 

a party to a quasi-judicial proceeding and can be entitled to present evidence at the hearing, including 

the sworn testimony of witnesses and relevant exhibits and other documentary evidence and to cross-

examine all witnesses by filing a notice of intent to be a party with the Community Development 

Director not less than five days prior to the hearing. 

10. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 

A. 2024-03-13, BOC Regular Meeting Minutes 

B. 2024-03-27, BOC Special Meeting Minutes 

C. 2024-03-27, BOC Regular Workshop Meeting Minutes 

11. CONSENT AGENDA 

Any member of the Board of Commissioners can ask to pull a consent item for separate discussion 

and vote. 

12. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Ordinance 2024-04, Special Magistrate - Code Enforcement  - 1st Reading & Public Hearing 

B. Ordinance 2024-06, Special Magistrate Compensation - 1st Reading & Public Hearing 

C. Ordinance 2024-05, Fees & Collection Procedures Manual FY 2024 Update - 1st Reading & 

Public Hearing 

D. ABP 2024-02 Dockside Dave's Restaurant  

13. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

A. Resolution 2024-02, BOC Policy Handbook 

14. CONTRACTS/AGREEMENTS 

A. Code Enforcement/Satellite Office 

B. RFQ 23-12, Planning Services to Create and Implement a New City Master Plan 

C. ITB 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration Approval  
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D. Approval to Surplus & Purchase a truck 

E. Engagement Letter for Magistrate Services 

15. NEW BUSINESS 

16. AGENDA SETTING - April 24, 2024 BOC Workshop Meeting 

A. Ordinance 2024-02 Accessory Structures 

B. Bicentenniel Park Usage 

C. Residential Parking 

D. Beach Chairs/Umbrellas on Sand in front of Caddy's Restaurant 

E. Redington Beaches EMS Station Funding Agreement  

F. Updates to Fence Code 

G. John's Pass Village Zoning 

17. REPORTS/CORRESPONDENCE 

A. Board of Commissioners  

B. City Attorney 

C. City Clerk's Report - April 2024 

D. City Manager 

18. ADJOURNMENT 

One or more Elected or Appointed Officials may be in attendance. 

Any person who decides to appeal any decision of the Board of Commissioners with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purposes may need to ensure 

that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon 

which the appeal is to be based. The law does not require the minutes to be transcribed verbatim; 

therefore, the applicant must make the necessary arrangements with a private reporter or private 

reporting firm and bear the resulting expense. In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and 

F.S. 286.26; any person with a disability requiring reasonable accommodation to participate in this 

meeting should call the City Clerk at 727-391-9951, ext. 231 or 232 or email a written request to 

cvanblargan@madeirabeachfl.gov.  
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TO:   Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners 

VIA:   Robin Gomez, City Manager 

FROM:  Clara VanBlargan, City Clerk 

DATE:  04/03/2024 

RE:  March 19, 2024 Municipal Election – Certified Official Election Results 

 

March 19, 2024 Municipal Election – Certified Official Election Results – Charter 

Amendment  

City of Madeira Beach Charter Amendment - to change the Candidate Qualifying Period to the 

first full week in December instead of the first two full weeks in December.  (Did not Pass) 

The total number of votes cast: 665 (total number includes the number of votes cast at the polling 

location). 

236 votes – YES  

429 votes - NO 

 

Attachments: 

 March 19, 2024 Municipal Election Certified Election Results – Certificate of County 

Canvassing Board, Pinellas County  
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TO:   Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners 

VIA:   Robin Gomez, City Manager 

FROM:  Clara VanBlargan, City Clerk 

DATE:  04/03/2024 

RE:  Appointment of Vice Chair – One (1) Year term 

 

City Charter, Section 4.4 – Vice Mayor  

The Board of Commissioners shall appoint a Vice Mayor at its first regular meeting following 
the election. The term of Vice Mayor shall be for one (1) year. The Vice Mayor shall act as 
Mayor during the absence or disability of the Mayor. Should the Vice Mayor be required to act 
as Mayor for a period in excess of thirty (30) days, he/she shall receive the compensation of the 
Mayor retroactive to the date upon which he/she assumed the Mayoral duties. 
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March 25, 2024 

To the Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners, 
  City of Madeira Beach, Florida: 
 
We have audited the financial statements of City of Madeira Beach, Florida (the City) as of and for the 
year ended September 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated March 25, 2024. Professional 
standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated June 14, 2023, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have 
been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City solely for the 
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 
control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you. 

We have provided our findings regarding significant control deficiencies over financial reporting and 
material noncompliance, and other matters noted during our audit, if any, in a separate letter to you dated 
March 25, 2024. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 
you. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm has complied with all relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence. 
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Significant Risks Identified 

Professional standards require that we, as auditors, identify significant risks that impact the audit based 
upon the nature of the organization and design our audit procedures to adequately address those risks. As 
part of the audit process, we have identified the following significant risks, which are being 
communicated solely to comply with auditing standards and do not represent any specific finding and/or 
concerns related to the audit: 
 

 Override of internal controls by management 
 Improper revenue recognition due to fraud 
 Improper use of restricted resources 

 
Our audit was designed to adequately address the above risks and no issues were noted that impacted our 
ability to render an opinion on the financial statements. 
 
Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the City is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. There 
have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting policies or 
their application during 2023, except for the adoption of GASB Statement 96, Subscription-Based 
Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA). No matters have come to our attention that would 
require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for 
significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or 
emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of 
the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current 
judgments. 

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the City’s financial statements are: 

Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts was based on a percentage of unbilled 
sanitation, stormwater, and utility revenues, and an analysis of the collectability of individual 
accounts. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the fair value estimate and 
determined that it is reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in 
relation to the applicable opinion units. 

Management’s estimate of the net amounts due from other governments are based on the costs 
incurred from the flood hazard mitigation projects. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop the receivable in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
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Management’s estimate of the useful lives for depreciation was based on past history within each 
capital asset class. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the fair value 
estimate and determined that it is reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a 
whole and in relation to the applicable opinion units. 

Management’s estimates of the net pension liability and the total OPEB liability were based on 
actuarial factors and were calculated by actuaries independent of the City. We evaluated the key 
factors and assumptions used to develop the fair value estimate and determined that it is reasonable in 
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the applicable opinion 
units. 

Financial Statement Disclosures  

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the City’s 
financial statements relate to: 

The Long-term Liabilities note summarizes the City’s long-term debt obligations, including future 
debt service payments. 

The Employees’ Retirement Plans note summarizes the basic information regarding the City’s net 
pension liability. 

Significant Unusual Transactions 

There were no significant unusual transactions identified as a result of our audit procedures that were 
brought to the attention of management and required to be communicated to you.  

Identified or Suspected Fraud  

We have not identified nor have we obtained information that indicates that fraud may have occurred. 

Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the 
audit. 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate 
them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also 
communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 
transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. A summary of the 
uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements follows: 

 To record a $50k adjustment to increase fiscal year 2023 revenue in the General Fund for local 
business tax receipts recorded as revenue in fiscal year 2022 that were related to services in fiscal 
year 2023. 

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected misstatements 
that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. The following list 
summarizes the material, corrected misstatements that have been recorded by management: 

 None noted. 
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Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to the City’s financial statements or the auditors’ report. No such 
disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the 
management representation letter dated March 25, 2024. 

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of 
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or 
transactions that occurred during the year, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and 
operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters 
discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the City’s auditors. 

Other Information Included in Annual Reports 

Pursuant to professional standards, our responsibility as auditors for other information in whether 
financial or nonfinancial, included in the City’s annual reports does not extend beyond the information 
identified in the audit report, and we are not required to perform any procedures to corroborate such other 
information. However, in accordance with such standards, with respect to the supplementary information 
accompanying the financial statements, we have: made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the 
form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has 
not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit 
of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

Our responsibility also includes communicating to you any information which we believe is a material 
misstatement of fact. Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such information or its 
manner of presentation, is materially inconsistent with the information, or manner of its presentation, 
appearing in the financial statements. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Commission and management of the 
City of Madeira Beach, Florida, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 

Respectfully, 

 

JAMES MOORE & CO., P.L. 
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA 

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: City of Madeira Beach Finance Department  
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA 
PRINCIPAL CITY OFFICIALS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 

 

 

Mayor and Board of Commissioners: 

Mayor – James Rostek 

District 1 – David Tagliarini 

District 2 – Ray Kerr 

District 3 – Eddie McGeehen 

District 4 – Ann-Marie Brooks 

 

City Officials: 

City Manager – Robin Gomez 

City Clerk – Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM 

City Attorney – Thomas Trask, Esq. 

City Treasurer – Andrew Laflin, CPA 

 

City officials in place as of financial statement date 
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March 25, 2024 
 
 
Honorable Mayor,  
Members of the Board of Commissioners, and 
Citizens of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida 
 
The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the City of Madeira Beach for the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2023, is hereby submitted.  In addition to meeting legal requirements of the City 
Charter, Florida Statutes and the Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida, the report continues 
to present the City’s tradition of full financial disclosure.  The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
represents the official report of the City’s financial position and operations to the citizens, Board of 
Commissioners, rating agencies, bond holders and other interested parties.  
 
Responsibility for the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of presentation, including all 
disclosures, rests with the City.  Management believes the data as presented is accurate in all material 
respects; that the report is presented in a manner which fairly illustrates the financial activity of the various 
funds; and that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain a complete understanding of the City’s 
financial activities have been included. 
 
Profile of the Government 
 
The City of Madeira Beach originally began as a fishing village.  Located on a barrier island at John’s Pass 
with direct access to the Gulf of Mexico, Madeira Beach connects to the mainland near St. Petersburg by a 
free causeway and to the other barrier islands by bridges.  The City was incorporated in 1947 with a Council-
Manager form of government.  The City’s resident population is 3,931, complemented by a visiting 
population of over 18,000 annual tourists during the winter months. 
 
The City of Madeira Beach provides a traditional range of services, including fire protection and emergency 
medical service; maintenance of parks, streets and other infrastructure; stormwater and sanitation collection 
services; a municipal marina; and recreational programs and events.  The City contracts with the Pinellas 
County Sheriff’s Office for law enforcement.  Pinellas County provides potable water, sanitary sewerage, 
solid waste disposal and treatment, and criminal justice systems.   
 
Accounting Systems and Internal Control 
 
To provide a reasonable basis for making the financial presentations, management maintains an internal 
control structure that provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against 
loss from unauthorized use or disposition; that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s 
authorization; and that transactions are recorded properly to facilitate preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  The concept of reasonable assurance 
recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the 
valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.  We believe the City’s 
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internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper 
recording of financial transactions. 
 
Pursuant to the City Charter, Florida Statutes Chapters 11.45 and 218, and Chapter 10.550 of the Rules of 
the Auditor General of the State of Florida, an audit of the accounts and financial statements of the City of 
Madeira Beach has been completed by the City’s independent certified public accountants, James Moore 
& Company, whose opinion is included in the financial section of this report.  The goal of the independent 
audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The 
independent audit involves examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
 
The independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering 
an unmodified opinion that the City of Madeira Beach’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2023, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require that management provide a narrative introduction, 
overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).  This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should 
be read in conjunction with it.  The City of Madeira Beach’s MD&A can be found immediately following 
the audit report. 
 
Budgetary Control 
 
The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control.  Department 
directors are required to submit budget requests to the Director of Finance, who then develops the proposed 
budget based on additional direction from the City Manager.  The City Manager is required by City Charter 
to present the proposed long term capital improvement plan to the Board of Commissioners (BOC) prior to 
July 1.  The BOC is required to hold public hearings on the proposed budget and to adopt a final budget by 
September 30, the close of the City’s fiscal year.  The appropriated budget is prepared by fund and 
department. The City Manager may transfer any unencumbered appropriation or portion thereof between 
classifications of expenditures within a department.   The BOC may, by resolution, make additional 
appropriations or transfer any unencumbered appropriation from any department to another department.  
Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each individual governmental fund for which 
an appropriated annual budget has been adopted.  The comparison is presented as part of the basic financial 
statements for governmental funds.   
 
Local Economy 
 
The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when considered from the 
broader perspective of the specific environment within which the City of Madeira Beach operates.  The 
City of Madeira Beach is one of twenty-four incorporated municipalities in Pinellas County.  The sunny 
climate and long stretches of white, sandy beaches along the Gulf of Mexico attract visitors and new 
residents each year.  Tourism is the primary industry of Pinellas County as well as Madeira Beach. 
 
Madeira Beach is home to John’s Pass Village, a regional commercial fishing hub that also includes retail 
shops, condominium rentals, restaurants, and a beach and waterfront boardwalk for visitors and tourists.  
The Village provides a unique, multi-purpose experience for fishing, shopping, dining and entertainment.  
The City works closely together with the John’s Pass merchants to ensure the Village remains a destination 
attraction, both locally and nationally.   
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Major Initiatives 
 
The City did not issue any new debt in fiscal year 2023.  The last debt issuance occurred in fiscal year 2019 
with the Series 2019 debt in the amount of $15,063,000 was issued to rebuild roadways and stormwater 
systems along three areas: Crystal Island, Marguerite Drive, and John’s Pass Village area.  At the beginning 
of fiscal year 2021, the City refunded the Series 2015 Stormwater System Revenue Bond with the Series 
2020 Stormwater System Refunding Revenue Bond in order to take advantage of a lower interest rate 
environment.  The City is realizing debt service savings of approximately $16,000 annually by refinancing 
at a lower borrowing rate, which is at a fixed rate of 1.73%, 0.86% lower than the interest rate on the Series 
2015 Revenue Bond.  
 

In fiscal year 2023, the most significant projects undertaken by the City related to stormwater improvements 
and an undergrounding project on Gulf Boulevard.  During fiscal year 2021, the City completed the Area 1 
(Crystal Island) stormwater project at a total project cost of $9.3 million and began performing initial design 
work on Area 3 and Area 5. Challenges associated with completing these large multi-year roadway and 
drainage improvement projects are not isolated to funding but will also be recognized through rising 
construction costs as well as competition for quality contractors to perform the work.  Also, requests for 
grants and other interlocal funding from the Southwest Florida Management District (SWFMD), Pinellas 
County, and other governmental units are being considered for submission in a proactive manner.   
 
The Board of Commissioners have managed to keep millage rates constant or at 2.2000 for FY 2019 and 
for the three years prior.  Increases to taxable values within the city have contributed to substantial increases 
in property tax revenue. However, the $15,063,000 debt funding received in FY 2019 required annual 
principal and interest payments of $1,000,000 per year over the next twenty years.  The Stormwater Fund 
alone could not support this annual payment.  Due to this, the General Fund needed to assist with these 
payments going forward.  It was determined that the millage rate for FY 2020 needed to be increased from 
2,2000 to 2.7500.  There was no increase in the millage rate in fiscal year 2023.  Below is a summary of 
property tax revenue over the last seven years: 
 

 
 
  

Fiscal year Millage rate Property tax revenue Percent change
2017 2.2000 2,305,198$             
2018 2.2000 2,483,174$             7.7%
2019 2.2000 2,688,109$             8.3%
2020 2.7500 3,533,688$             31.5%
2021 2.7500 3,770,607$             6.7%
2022 2.7500 4,134,405$             9.6%
2023 2.7500 4,744,071$             14.7%
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Madeira Beach continues to operate on a competitive tax rate in relation to neighboring communities.  
Comparative millage rates among similar cities in Pinellas County are provided in the following table. 
 
Municipality FY 2022 millage rate
City of Clearwater 5.8850
City of South Pasadena 5.0638
City of Dunedin 4.1345
City of Treasure Island 3.8129
City of St. Pete Beach 3.0913
City of Madeira Beach 2.7500
City of Belleair Beach 2.0394
City of Indian Rocks Beach 1.7300  
 
Long-term Financial Planning 
 
The City uses a five-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP), located in the budget document, to link the 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report with long-term financial estimates and capital improvement 
planning.  The General Fund, for example, begins with the unassigned balance as reported in the Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report and projects current-year revenue and expenditures to derive an estimated 
year-end final balance.  Management then allocates funding plans for various capital needs based on 
direction from the Board of Commissioners.  The CIP illustrates the City’s desire to balance capital 
investment with cash preservation.   
 
Relevant Financial Policies and Practices 
 
The City’s fund balance policy, adopted on September 8, 2015, is to maintain committed fund balance for 
an emergency storm response that is no less than 33% of General Fund operating expenditures.  However, 
on June 11, 2019, at the recommendation of staff Resolution 2019-09 was approved by the Board of 
Commissioners establishing a halt to the annual funding of this reserve.  Management asserted that 
$2,409,363 was a sufficient balance for emergency storm response.  The City is to maintain a minimum 
unassigned balance equivalent to two months of annual General Fund operating expenditures.  The 
respective balances are to be maintained not only in relation to the current period but also to that of each 
annual period within the five-year projections in the capital improvement program.  Material one-time 
revenues shall not be used to fund ongoing expenditures.   
 
The City was in compliance with its fund balance policy as of September 30, 2023. 
 
 
Awards and Acknowledgements 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Madeira Beach for its 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022.  This was the 25th 
consecutive year the City has received the prestigious award. 
 
In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit must publish an easily readable 
and efficiently organized Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. The report must satisfy generally 
accepted accounting principles, applicable legal requirements, and best practices established by GFOA.  
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Management believes the current report also conforms to the Certificate of Achievement program’s 
requirements.   
 
Preparation of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report relies on the diligent and professional efforts 
of everyone in the Finance Department.  The year-end closing procedure was an arduous process involving 
tireless efforts by staff.  The City’s independent auditors, James Moore & Company, also contributed 
invaluably to the process by testing data integrity and internal controls. 
 
Management believes the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report clearly illustrates the financial position 
of the City of Madeira Beach and thanks you for your support and commitment to valuing and preserving 
the City’s financial condition. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

     
 
Robin Gomez          Andrew Laflin 
City Manager       Director of Finance 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners, 
 City of Madeira Beach, Florida: 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida (the 
City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of September 30, 2023, and the respective 
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, for the year then ended in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards (GAS) issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and GAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAS, we:  

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that we identified during the audit.  

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements 
and schedules, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are 
not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of management 
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole.  

Other Information Included in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual comprehensive financial 
report (ACFR). The other information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not 
include but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Our opinions 
on the financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any 
form of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists 
between the other information and the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected 
material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
March 25, 2024, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral 
part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 25, 2024 
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Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) is designed to focus on significant financial issues and 
provide an overview of the City of Madeira Beach’s financial activity for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2023.  The MD&A is designed to focus on the current year’s activities, resulting changes, 
and currently known facts.  It should be read in conjunction with the transmittal letter, basic financial 
statements, and notes to the financial statements. 

 
Financial Highlights 

 
Government-wide Financial 
Position 

As of September 30, 
2023 

As of September 30, 
2022 

Percent 
Change 

Total assets $83,282,171 $81,157,558 2.62% 
Deferred outflows 701,717 672,084 4.41% 
Total liabilities 27,484,293 28,753,526 -4.41% 
Deferred inflows 1,851,680 2,165,907 -14.51% 
Net position $54,647,915 $50,910,209 7.34% 

 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements provide insight into the City of Madeira Beach’s (the City’s) ability to provide 
services and meet obligations, both now and in the future.  Trends in assets, liabilities and net position 
illustrate the City’s overall financial position and can be evaluated to determine whether the City is better 
off or worse off as a result of its operations. 
 
The financial statements include three components that should be considered together in order to gain a 
comprehensive understanding of the City’s financial position: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) 
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. 
 

1. Government-wide Financial Statements: 

The government-wide financial statements provide a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner 
similar to the private sector.  The statements include two different reports: the statement of net position and 
the statement of activities. 
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities as of 
September 30, 2023.  The difference between assets (plus deferred outflows of resources) and liabilities 
(plus deferred inflows of resources) is known in governmental accounting as net position.  Analysis of net 
position requires evaluation of unrestricted and restricted net position as well as net investment in capital 
assets.  The latter category represents the net assets being used by the City to provide goods and services to 
the community.  As such, these assets are not readily available for spending without first being converted 
to financial resources.  Restricted net position represents restricted assets and deferred outflows minus 
related restricted liabilities and deferred inflows controlled by state statutes, enabling legislation, debt 
covenants, or other external requirements.  The remaining balance is unrestricted net position, which 
represents the accumulated resources available to the City for meeting its future obligations. 
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The Statement of Activities illustrates how the City’s net position changed as a result of its operations 
throughout the fiscal year.  This section categorizes City services by program and illustrates the extent to 
which various functions are subsidized by general tax revenues.  Distinction is made between those 
operations which are expected to be supported by taxes (i.e., governmental activities) and those which are 
intended to recover their costs (i.e., business-type activities).   
 

2. Fund Financial Statements: 

In governmental accounting, a “fund” is a segregated group of related accounts used to ensure and 
demonstrate compliance with enabling legislation, legal requirements, or other financial administration 
goals and objectives.  The City of Madeira Beach reports two types of funds: governmental and proprietary.   
 
Governmental Funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements (e.g., public safety, parks and recreation, physical 
environment, and parking enforcement).  However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, 
governmental fund financial statements focus on financial resources rather than economic resources.  
Financial resources represent those which may be used to meet near-term requirements.  Economic 
resources, such as capital assets which cannot be quickly converted to finance near-term requirements, are 
excluded from governmental fund reporting.  The narrower focus is intended to emphasize the use of 
spendable assets.  
 
The long-term impact of the City’s shorter-term financial activities can be analyzed by comparing 
governmental fund reporting to the government-wide statements.  Both the governmental fund balance 
sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to 
facilitate the comparison. 
 
Budgetary comparison statements are provided for the major funds to demonstrate compliance with the 
legally adopted budget.   
 
The City’s Proprietary Funds include three enterprise funds: the Sanitation Fund, Stormwater Fund, and 
Marina Fund.  These funds report the same functions and use the same basis of accounting as the business-
type activities presented in the government-wide financial statements.   

 
3. Notes to the Financial Statements: 

Notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to gaining a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.   
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Government-Wide Financial Analysis 
 
The City’s financial position as of September 30, 2023, depicts reasonable growth in both governmental 
and enterprise operations primarily due to higher than anticipated tax revenues as well as revenues 
generated from fees and fines among the public parking lots throughout the City. 
 
The City’s parking operation generates much needed additional revenue, and the most recent results indicate 
continued growth in parking transaction volume.  A prior year rate increase from $2.50 per hour to $3.00 
per hour for parking meters city-wide that took place in fiscal year 2022 has contributed to the positive 
revenue totals, especially during the past fiscal year. 
 

Fiscal Year Parking Revenue Growth 
2017 $2,072,161 (0.20%) 
2018 $2,073,573 0.10% 
2019 $2,244,975 8.30% 
2020 $2,288,946 2.00% 
2021 $2,766,089 20.85% 
2022 $3,406,055 23.14% 
2023 $4,188,534 22.97% 

                           
 
Net pension liability increased by 17.15%, based on the City’s allocated share of the Florida Retirement 
System’s funding status, and as further explained in Note 12 of the financial statements.  The City’s net 
pension liability as of September 30, 2023, was $2,967,275.  The City completed a debt refunding in fiscal 
year 2021 to take advantage of lower interest rates, and retired the Series 2018 revenue bonds in the current 
fiscal year.  Below is an updated summary of the debt administered by the City since October 2013: 
 

Description Date issued
Principal 
borrowed

Scheduled total 
interest due Final maturity

Capital improvement revenue bonds 10/24/2013 4,760,000$    4,173,376$       10/1/2043
Infrastructure sales surtax revenue note 2/18/2016 725,000          24,843               12/1/2019
Capital improvement refunding revenue bond 6/14/2019 1,297,000       80,749               11/1/2021
Capital improvement revenue bond 7/11/2019 15,063,000    5,466,153         11/1/2039
Stormwater system refunding revenue bond 10/1/2020 4,442,000       414,443             10/1/2030

Total 26,287,000$  10,159,564$      
 
The City continued to maintain an ambitious list of capital improvement projects in fiscal year 2023, many 
of which were delayed or not started due to labor shortages and supply chain issues.  This resulted in a 
slight year-over-year decrease in the net investment in capital assets.  As shown in the following table, a 
higher percentage of net position is unrestricted than in past years.  This is the result of the stagnation of 
net capital investment due to aforementioned labor and supply chain issues. The table illustrates the extent 
to which the City’s net position has been shaped by capital asset activity over the last six years: 
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Fiscal 
Year 

Net Investment in 
Capital Assets 

As Percent of Total 
Net Position 

Unrestricted Net 
Position 

As Percent of Total 
Net Position 

2018 $24,026,207 59.3% $12,255,416 30.2% 
2019 $27,602,307 61.6%       $13,492,461 30.1% 
2020 $24,393,386 54.6%       $15,907,027 35.6% 
2021 $26,690,877 56.6% $16,339,790 34.7% 
2022 $26,286,995 51.6% $20,471,887 40.2% 
2023 $26,102,863 47.8% $22,173,591 40.6% 

 
The tables to follow present the condensed Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities for the 
current year as compared to the previous year. 
   

 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Current assets 27,651,845$     25,786,384$     8,922,735$       4,354,520$       36,574,580$        30,140,904$     

Capital Assets 22,849,822       23,832,318       18,274,227       19,458,639       41,124,049          43,290,957       

Noncurrent assets 1,821,979         2,065,116         4,162,094         5,660,581         5,984,073            7,725,697         

                                           Total assets 52,323,646       51,683,818       31,359,056       29,473,740       83,682,702          81,157,558       

Deferred outflows 687,927           658,444           13,790             13,640             701,717               672,084           

Total assets and deferred outflows 53,011,573       52,342,262       31,372,846       29,487,380       84,384,419          81,829,642       

Current and other liabilities 2,734,986         3,374,587         1,392,978         1,302,552         4,127,964            4,677,139         

Long-term liabilities outstanding 7,168,888         6,844,437         16,587,972       17,231,951       23,756,860          24,076,388       

                                     Total Liabilities 9,903,874         10,219,024       17,980,950       18,534,503       27,884,824          28,753,527       

Deferred inflows 1,849,527         2,162,895         2,153               3,012               1,851,680            2,165,907         

Total liabilities and deferred inflows 11,753,401       12,381,919       17,983,103       18,537,515       29,736,504          30,919,434       

Net position:

Invested in capital assets 18,968,572       19,163,067       7,134,291         7,123,928         26,102,863          26,286,995       

Restricted 5,733,288         3,504,944         638,173           646,382           6,371,461            4,151,326         

Unrestricted 16,556,312       17,292,332       5,617,279         3,179,555         22,173,591          20,471,887       

Total net position 41,258,172$     39,960,343$     13,389,743$     10,949,865$     54,647,915$        50,910,208$     

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenues:

Program revenues:

Charges for services 2,716,836$       5,798,477$       10,402,462$     6,711,188$       13,119,298$        12,509,665$     

Operating grants & contributions 4,131,707         775,714           35,031             11,221             4,166,738            786,935           

Capital grants & contributions 113,003           115,373           -                      -                      113,003               115,373           

General revenues:

Property taxes 4,744,071         4,134,405         -                      -                      4,744,071            4,134,405         

Franchise and utility taxes 2,692,993         1,805,170         -                      -                      2,692,993            1,805,170         

Intergovernmental sources 436,205           1,164,634         -                      -                      436,205               1,164,634         

Other 1,342,391         797,571           463,990           1,088,216         1,806,381            1,885,787         

Total revenues 16,177,206       14,591,344       10,901,483       7,810,625         27,078,689          22,401,969       

Expenses:

General government 4,735,227$       3,900,539$       -$                 -$                 4,735,227$          3,900,539$       

Physical environment 4,184,881         698,848           -                      -                      4,184,881            698,848           

Public safety 3,744,742         3,353,919         -                      -                      3,744,742            3,353,919         

Culture and recreation 2,473,170         2,050,431         -                      -                      2,473,170            2,050,431         

Parking 8,946               481,837           623,678           -                      632,624               481,837           

Transportation 123,192           108,047           -                      -                      123,192               108,047           

Sanitation -                      -                      1,857,869         1,514,246         1,857,869            1,514,246         

Stormwater -                      -                      1,914,720         2,750,748         1,914,720            2,750,748         

Marina -                      -                      3,489,965         3,567,718         3,489,965            3,567,718         

Interest on long-term debt 184,592           189,727           -                      -                      184,592               189,727           

Total expenses 15,454,750       10,783,348       7,886,232         7,832,712         23,340,982          18,616,060       

Increase (decrease) in net position
before transfers: 722,456           3,807,996         3,015,251         (22,087)            3,737,707            3,785,909         

Transfers 575,373           242,880           (575,373)          (242,880)          -                         -                      

Increase (decrease) in net position: 1,297,829         4,050,876         2,439,878         (264,967)          3,737,707            3,785,909         

Net position: October 1 39,960,343       35,909,467       10,949,865       11,214,832       50,910,208          47,124,299       

Net position: September 30 41,258,172$     39,960,343$     13,389,743$     10,949,865$     54,647,915$        50,910,208$     

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals
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Governmental Activities: 
 

Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $1,297,829, due to cost controls, combined 
with higher than anticipated tax revenues and investment income. 
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Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $2,439,878.  This increase was due primarily 
to high revenues from parking and marina activities relative to the lower cost of those operations. The 
combined increase in net position of the Marina Fund and Parking Fund was $1,772,142 for the year ended 
September 30, 2023. 
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Fund Statement Financial Analysis 

 
Governmental Funds: 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) requires certain thresholds to be met that would 
result in a determination about categorizing a particular fund as being considered “major” vs. “non-major.”  
The distinction carries additional detailed reporting requirements for those considered major.  All funds are 
included in the annual appropriations process and illustrated for budgeting purposes; however, they are 
considered “non-major” for the purpose of financial reporting due to their relative lack of size.  The table 
below illustrates the City’s governmental funds and their classification for financial reporting purposes: 
 

FY 2023 Major Funds FY 2023 Non-Major Funds 
General Fund Archibald Fund 

       Building Fund Local Option Sales Tax Fund 
 Debt Service Fund 
 Gas Tax Fund 

       
 
Governmental fund revenue increased by 8.83%, primarily due to increases in intergovernmental revenues 
primarily from Pinellas County, Florida (County), and interest income. Expenditures increased by 29.10% 
overall, with Physical Environment accounting for the largest portion of the increase, an increase of 
$3,491,501 over the prior year.  The increase was primarily due to expenses associated with the Gulf 
Boulevard undergrounding project, for which the City received funding from the County to reimburse the 
City for costs incurred. For illustrative purposes, below is a summary of year-over-year expenditure trends: 
 

Type of Expenditure FY 2023 FY 2022 Percent Change 
Current (i.e., recurring) $13,340,239 $9,240,401 44.37% 

Capital Outlay $643,040 $1,178,927 (45.46%) 
Debt Service $340,012 $675,403 (49.66%) 

 
As described previously, the treatment of governmental funds is perhaps the most unique feature of 
governmental financial reporting.  The difference between assets and liabilities in a governmental fund is 
known as fund balance.  Fund balance is a commonly used measure of a government’s available resources 
and liquidity.  Designations are applied to various components of fund balance to describe the extent to 
which resources may be limited. 
 
Non-spendable fund balance items include inventories, prepaid accounts, and other resources that are 
inherently not easily convertible into financial resources.  The City’s non-spendable fund balance was 
$476,335. 
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Restricted fund balance includes accounts and designations upon which restrictions have been externally 
imposed by enabling legislation.  The restricted balance total of $5,733,288 is primarily comprised of 
unspent discretionary surtax revenues restricted for capital infrastructure, totaling $2,520,659, and the 
cumulative excess of building permit revenues over related expenditures that is restricted for future use to 
administer the Florida Building Code, totaling $1,191,018. 
 
Committed fund balance includes resources set aside by the Board of Commissioners (BOC).  These funds 
may only be spent upon authorization by the BOC and have been reserved to meet the City’s emergency 
reserve policy; to provide for future debt service payoffs; to fund future appropriations for capital projects, 
such as the construction of a parking garage; and to account for remaining proceeds from the BP lawsuit 
settlement.  The committed balance, as of fiscal year-end, was $5,244,859. 
 
Assigned fund balance represents management’s intended use of specific resources.  The City’s assigned 
balance includes reserves for existing purchase obligations and use of existing fund balance to fund next 
year’s excess of budgeted expenditures and other uses over budgeted revenues and other sources.  The 
City’s assigned balance is $1,915,223, as of September 30, 2023. 
 
Unassigned fund balance should be considered the City’s most liquid resource available for appropriation.  
Trends in unassigned balance may reflect policy changes (e.g., intentionally building up or drawing down 
reserves), or planned and unplanned financial changes (i.e., budgetary imbalances).  Unassigned fund 
balance increased by 15.4% to $11,624,984.  This increase is the result of the excess of revenues over 
expenditures for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, totaling $1,837,434 and total other financing 
sources in excess of financing uses totaling $622,873. 
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Proprietary Funds: 

The City’s proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information located in the government-
wide financial statements, using the same basis of accounting.  Based on the extent to which each of the 
City’s three enterprise funds generated operating income, total assets will increase or decrease accordingly.  
The Parking Fund is a new fund starting in fiscal year 2023.  Previously, parking operations were reported 
in the General Fund.  The Parking Fund resulted in a change in net position and ending net position as of 
September 30, 2023 of $1,121,979.  Both the Sanitation and Marina Funds experienced positive operating 
margin.  The Marina Fund has consistently achieved year over year positive operating income, which bodes 
well for the financial position of the Enterprise group of funds when combined. The Sanitation Fund 
experienced positive operating income of $247,947 and positive change in net position of $217,204, largely 
due to a rate increase for residential garbage services that took effect in fiscal year 2022.  
 
Debt proceeds within the Stormwater Fund, received in fiscal year 2019, continue to have an effect on the 
financial position of the Stormwater fund.  Continued principal and interest payments annually in the 
Stormwater Fund necessitate periodic financial support from the City’s General Fund in the form of 
interfund transfers.  The Stormwater Fund received a transfer in from the General Fund in fiscal year 2023 
for $1,490,000, which results in an overall increase in net position of $450,532.   
 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
Total General Fund actual revenue totaled $13,606,779, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, 
which was $2,125,714 higher than budgeted revenue of $11,481,065.  The fiscal year 2023 adopted budget 
included a millage rate of 2.75 mills per $1,000 of assessed property value.  Property values increased in 
all of the barrier island beach communities.  The City’s investment earnings also were a key contributor to 
the positive variance between final budget and actual balances, as actual interest income in the General 
Fund was $691,271 higher than budgeted due to a higher interest rate environment in fiscal year 2023 
compared to fiscal year 2022.   
 
The fund balance in the General Fund increased by $112,537 as total revenues were sufficient to offset total 
expenditures and other financing uses. The Stormwater Fund will continue to require assistance from the 
General Fund in order to support future annual debt service payments ranging from $1m to $1.5m annually.  
A total of $3,515,000 was budgeted in the General Fund to transfer to other funds. The total of $3,537,950 
was transferred out to Archibald Park, Debt Service and Stormwater Funds.  Total capital outlay budgeted 
in the General Fund for fiscal year 2023 was $733,848, including $200,000 for initial acquisition and 
design, engineering, and construction costs for a public works facility. 
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Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
  
Capital Assets: 

The chart below illustrates the impact of the City’s capital improvement policy initiatives discussed 
throughout this report.  Net capital assets experienced a year over year decrease because annual depreciation 
and amortization on capital assets exceeded capital outlay during fiscal year 2023.  The City recognized 
right-to-use assets relating to building and vehicle leases, which are recorded as capital assets upon adoption 
of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases.  Note 6 of the notes to 
the financial statements includes more information on the City’s capital assets and activity for fiscal year 
2023.   
 

 
 
 
Long-term Debt: 

Note 7 of the Notes to Financial Statements includes a detailed listing of long-term liabilities.  Below is a 
summary of the City’s outstanding debt as of September 30, 2023, compared to the prior year.  The City 
did not issue new debt for fiscal year 2023 or 2022.  Also, there were no new leases recognized in fiscal 
year 2023.  It is still important to monitor long-term liabilities, especially those in the enterprise funds. 
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates 
 
Madeira Beach taxable property values are estimated to increase from the fiscal year 2023 tax levy to the 
fiscal year 2024 tax levy by approximately $13 billion, or 11.77%.  The fiscal year 2024 budget remained 
at a millage rate of 2.7500, which thanks to continued property value increases, is anticipated to generate 
about $5.3 million in ad valorem revenue in fiscal year 2024.  The surge in demand for Florida single family 
housing has continued, and the proximity to the local beaches and attractions along Gulf Boulevard make 
Madeira Beach a highly coveted destination.  The increased property values provide needed funding for all 
City needs. 
 
In developing the 2024 budget, the focus was placed on capital project spending totaling $21,262,500,  and 
the majority of planned expenditures were in the City’s Stormwater Fund, budgeted at $8,395,000.  The 
largest capital projects for next year’s budget include stormwater drainage and roadway improvements, 
design, engineering, and construction of a new parking garage, and acquisition and renovation of a public 
works and building services facility. 
 
In connection with the budget adoption process, the Board of Commissioners implemented two policies 
designed to help guide financial decision making: 
 
Tax rates, fees, and charges policy: This policy is intended to ensure the City prudently designs and manages 
its tax rates, fees, and charges in order to achieve each of the following: 
 

 Revenue diversification, so that ongoing operations are less reliant upon variable revenue streams 
 Revenues that exceed normal growth rates are used either for one-time expenditures or to increase 

reserves 
 Revenue forecasts are adequate to provide for the variety and level of services expected by vested 

stakeholders 
 Alignment of revenue with growth-related endeavors (e.g., economic development activities)  

 
Debt management policy: This policy recognizes the long-term implications of debt issuance and provides 
guidelines to consider the following: 
 

 Equity, such that those who pay for debt are those who benefit from the assets provided 
 Essentiality, in that the financed asset is considered essential to the City’s core operation 
 Efficiency, with respect to the identified revenue source’s sufficiency to meet debt service 

obligations and the total cost of financing being less than other alternatives 
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Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Madeira Beach’s financial 
position for all those interested in the City’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Andrew 
Laflin, Director of Finance, at 300 Municipal Drive, Madeira Beach, Florida 33708. 
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 17,624,156$    4,618,264$      22,242,420$    
Investments 7,593,893        2,874,366        10,468,259      
Receivables, net 281,570           68,204             349,774           
Internal balances 400,531           (400,531)          -                   
Due from other governments, net 1,675,891        421,105           2,096,996        
Leases receivable 1,821,979        -                   1,821,979        
Inventories 16,486             110,350           126,836           
Prepaids 59,318             22,787             82,105             
Restricted assets:

Equity in pooled cash -                   4,969,753        4,969,753        
Capital assets:

Capital assets, not being depreciated 3,232,633        350,166           3,582,799        
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 19,617,189      17,924,061      37,541,250      

Total assets 52,323,646$    30,958,525$    83,282,171$    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred loss on bond refunding 12,956$           -$                 12,956$           
Deferred outflows related to pensions 674,971           13,790             688,761           

Total deferred outflows 687,927$         13,790$           701,717$         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 503,235$         537,547$         1,040,782$      
Customer deposits 15,450             30,274             45,724             
Unearned revenue 2,216,301        6,886               2,223,187        
Accrued interest payable -                   170,385           170,385           
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year:
Bonds and notes payable -                   607,000           607,000           
Leases payable 27,511             28,521             56,032             
Compensated absences 38,349             12,365             50,714             

Due in more than one year:
Bonds and notes payable 3,740,000        15,930,000      19,670,000      
Leases payable 46,259             69,389             115,648           
Compensated absences 345,140           111,293           456,433           
Total OPEB liability 63,763             17,350             81,113             
Net pension liability 2,907,866        59,409             2,967,275        

Total liabilities 9,903,874$      17,580,419$    27,484,293$    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 105,378$         2,153$             107,531$         
Deferred inflows related to leases 1,744,149        -                   1,744,149        

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,849,527$      2,153$             1,851,680$      

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 18,968,572$    7,134,291$      26,102,863$    
Restricted for:

Capital projects 2,520,659        -                   2,520,659        
Debt service -                   555,446           555,446           
Renewal and replacement -                   82,727             82,727             
Public safety 6,115               -                   6,115               
Parks and recreation 1,916,511        -                   1,916,511        
Florida Building Code administration 1,191,018        -                   1,191,018        
Transportation 98,985             -                   98,985             

Unrestricted 16,556,312      5,617,279        22,173,591      
Total net position 41,258,172$    13,389,743$    54,647,915$    

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Changes in Net Position
Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

 
Governmental activities:  

General government 4,735,227$    1,101,397$    3,384,327$    -$               (249,503)$      -$               (249,503)$      
Public safety 3,744,742      300,222         572,834         4,736             (2,866,950)     -                 (2,866,950)     
Physical environment 4,184,881      -                 73,818           -                 (4,111,063)     -                 (4,111,063)     
Transportation 123,192         -                 100,728         14,323           (8,141)            -                 (8,141)            
Culture and recreation 2,473,170      629,689         -                 93,944           (1,749,537)     -                 (1,749,537)     
Parking enforcement 8,946             685,528         -                 -                 676,582         -                 676,582         
Interest on long-term debt 184,592         -                 -                 -                 (184,592)        -                 (184,592)        

Total governmental activities 15,454,750    2,716,836      4,131,707      113,003         (8,493,204)     -                 (8,493,204)     

Business-type activities:  
Sanitation 1,857,869      2,093,709      2,829             -                 -                 238,669         238,669         
Stormwater 1,914,720      678,215         32,202           -                 -                 (1,204,303)     (1,204,303)     
Marina 3,489,965      4,127,532      -                 -                 -                 637,567         637,567         
Parking 623,678         3,503,006      -                 -                 -                 2,879,328      2,879,328      

Total business-type activities 7,886,232      10,402,462    35,031           -                 -                 2,551,261      2,551,261      

Total primary government 23,340,982$  13,119,298$  4,166,738$    113,003$       (8,493,204)     2,551,261      (5,941,943)     

General revenues:
Property taxes 4,744,071      -                 4,744,071      
Sales taxes 998,860         -                 998,860         
Communications service tax 259,224         -                 259,224         
Public service taxes 1,026,165      -                 1,026,165      

 Other taxes  34,278           -                 34,278           
Franchise fees 667,968         -                 667,968         
State revenue sharing 176,981         -                 176,981         
Investment earnings 1,197,710      442,406         1,640,116      
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets 46,500           8,100             54,600           
Miscellaneous revenues 63,903           13,484           77,387           

Transfers  575,373         (575,373)        -                 
Total general revenues and transfers 9,791,033      (111,383)        9,679,650      

Change in net position 1,297,829      2,439,878      3,737,707      
Net position, beginning of year 39,960,343    10,949,865    50,910,208    

 Net position, ending of year 41,258,172$  13,389,743$  54,647,915$  

Program Revenues
Net (Expense) Revenue and

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Nonmajor Total
Building Governmental Governmental

General Department Funds Funds

ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 12,614,340$  859,089$       4,150,727$    17,624,156$  
Investments 5,967,968      369,738         1,256,187      7,593,893      
Receivables, net 274,865         1,860             4,845             281,570         
Due from other governments, net 1,490,367      -                185,524         1,675,891      
Leases receivable 1,745,053      -                76,926           1,821,979      
Advances to other funds 400,531         -                -                400,531         
Inventories 16,486           -                -                16,486           
Prepaid items 59,318           -                -                59,318           

Total assets 22,568,928$  1,230,687$    5,674,209$    29,473,824$  

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 390,359$       39,669$         70,974$         501,002$       
Customer deposits 15,450           -                -                15,450           
Due to other governments 2,233             -                -                2,233             
Unearned revenue 2,216,301      -                -                2,216,301      

Total liabilities 2,624,343      39,669           70,974           2,734,986      

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to leases 1,668,495      -                75,654           1,744,149      

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,668,495      -                75,654           1,744,149      
 
FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable:
Inventories 16,486           -                -                16,486           
Prepaid items 59,318           -                -                59,318           
Advances to other funds 400,531         -                -                400,531         

Restricted for:
Capital Projects -                -                2,520,659      2,520,659      
Public Safety 6,115             -                -                6,115             
Parks and recreation 121,287         -                1,795,224      1,916,511      
Florida Building Code administration -                1,191,018      -                1,191,018      
Transportation 17,770           -                81,215           98,985           

Committed to:
BP Settlement 383,544         -                -                383,544         
Capital Projects 55,941           -                -                55,941           
Debt service 387,374         -                453,216         840,590         
Parks and recreation 878,154         -                677,267         1,555,421      
Emergency reserve 2,409,363      -                -                2,409,363      

Assigned to:
Subsequent year's budget 1,915,223      -                -                1,915,223      

Unassigned 11,624,984    -                -                11,624,984    
Total fund balances 18,276,090    1,191,018      5,527,581      24,994,689    

Total liabilities, deferred inflows, and fund balances 22,568,928$  1,230,687$    5,674,209$    29,473,824$  

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
BALANCE SHEET

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Fund balances - total governmental funds 24,994,689$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds

Total governmental capital assets 41,086,122
Less: accumulated depreciation (18,236,300)     22,849,822      

 
On the governmental fund statements, a net pension liability is not recorded until an

amount is due and payable and the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is not sufficient
for payment of those benefits (no such liability exists at the end of the current fiscal 
year). On the statement of net position, the City's net pension liability of the defined
benefit pension plans is reported as a noncurrent liability. Additionally, deferred
outflows and deferred inflows related to pensions are also reported.

Net pension liability (2,907,866)       
Deferred outflows related to pensions 674,971           
Deferred inflows related to pensions (105,378)          (2,338,273)      

On the governmental fund statements, a total OPEB liability is not recorded unless an
amount is due and payable (no such liability exists at the end of the current fiscal 
year). On the Statement of Net Position, the City's total OPEB liability is reported as
a noncurrent liability. 

Total OPEB liability (63,763)           

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and notes payable, are not due and payable
in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. These liabilities,
deferred outflows, and other debt-related deferred charges consist of the following:

Bonds and notes payable (3,740,000)       
Lease obligations (73,770)            
Unamortized deferred loss on bond refunding 12,956             
Compensated absences (383,489)          (4,184,303)      

Net position of governmental activities 41,258,172$    

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Nonmajor Total
Building Governmental Governmental

General Department Funds Funds
Revenues

Taxes 6,063,738$    -$               721,480$       6,785,218$    
Permits and fees 841,060         788,298         -                 1,629,358      
Intergovernmental 4,868,334      -                 80,117           4,948,451      
Charges for services 536,661         -                 751,076         1,287,737      
Fines and forfeitures 28,567           -                 -                 28,567           
Investment income 986,521         56,531           154,658         1,197,710      
Miscellaneous 281,898         1,786             -                 283,684         

Total revenues 13,606,779    846,615         1,707,331      16,160,725    

Expenditures
Current:

General government 3,195,405      582,334         -                 3,777,739      
Public safety 3,498,456      -                 -                 3,498,456      
Physical environment 4,077,923      -                 -                 4,077,923      
Transportation -                 -                 123,192         123,192         
Culture and recreation 1,222,671      -                 640,258         1,862,929      

Capital outlay 259,954         53,775           329,311         643,040         
Debt service:

Principal retirement 35,025           -                 120,395         155,420         
Interest and fiscal charges 1,520             -                 183,072         184,592         

Total expenditures 12,290,954    636,109         1,396,228      14,323,291    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 1,315,825      210,506         311,103         1,837,434      

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 2,287,162      -                 2,047,950      4,335,112      
Transfers out (3,537,950)     (169,172)        (52,617)          (3,759,739)     
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 46,500           -                 -                 46,500           
Proceeds from insurance recoveries 1,000             -                 -                 1,000             

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,203,288)     (169,172)        1,995,333      622,873         

Net change in fund balances 112,537         41,334           2,306,436      2,460,307      

Fund balances, beginning of year 18,163,553    1,149,684      3,221,145      22,534,382    

Fund balances, end of year 18,276,090$  1,191,018$    5,527,581$    24,994,689$  

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 2,460,307$      

Differences in amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities, the cost of those assets is depreciated over their estimated useful lives

Capital outlay expenditures 643,040           
Depreciation expense (1,625,536)       

Bond, loan, and leases proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds. However
the issuance of debt is reported as long-term debt payable in the statement of net position
Repayment of bond, note and leases principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, bu
the repayment of debt principal reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position
These amounts are as follows:

Principal repayment of general long-term debt and lease principa 155,420           

Governmental funds report contributions to defined benefit pension plans as expenditures
However, in the statement of activities, the amount contributed to defined benefit pension plan
reduces future net pension liability. Also included in pension expense in the statement of activitie
are amounts required to be amortized

Change in net pension liability and deferred inflows/outflows related to pensions (360,212)          

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds, expenditure
are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with expendable available
financial resources. In the statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrua
basis, expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available
In addition, interest on long-term debt is not recognized under the modified accrual basis of
accounting until due, rather than as it accrues. These adjustments are as follows

Amortization of bond discounts, premiums, and loss on refunding (648)                 
Change in compensated absences liability 23,813             
Change in total OPEB liability 1,645               

Change in net position of governmental activities 1,297,829$      

CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 30 -
45

Item 8A.



CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Business-type Activities
Sanitation Stormwater Marina Parking Total

ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 929,357$       -$               2,539,238$    1,149,669$    4,618,264$    
Investments 397,112         1,760,337      716,917         -                 2,874,366      
Accounts receivable, net 4,283             40,945           2,595             20,381           68,204           
Due from other governments, net 316,010         105,095         -                 -                 421,105         
Inventories -                 -                 110,350         -                 110,350         
Prepaid items 2,235             14,314           6,238             -                 22,787           
Restricted current assets:

Equity in pooled cash -                 777,385         30,274           -                 807,659         
Total current assets 1,648,997      2,698,076      3,405,612      1,170,050      8,922,735      

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash -                 4,162,094      -                 -                 4,162,094      
Capital assets:

Land -                 5,000             -                 -                 5,000             
Construction in progress 7,250             337,916         -                 -                 345,166         
Buildings -                 -                 494,724         -                 494,724         
Improvements 107,442         13,952,950    1,901,057      -                 15,961,449    
Equipment 1,776,750      501,931         173,343         10,264           2,462,288      
Right to use assets 116,138         45,981           -                 -                 162,119         
Infrastructure -                 5,939,049      -                 -                 5,939,049      
Accumulated depreciation (1,143,760)     (4,458,658)     (1,492,417)     (733)               (7,095,568)     

    Total capital assets, net 863,820         16,324,169    1,076,707      9,531             18,274,227    
Total noncurrent assets 863,820         20,486,263    1,076,707      9,531             22,436,321    

Total assets 2,512,817$    23,184,339$  4,482,319$    1,179,581$    31,359,056$  

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 13,790$         -$               -$               -$               13,790$         

Total deferred outflows of resources 13,790$         -$               -$               -$               13,790$         

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 82,807$         44,773$         360,750$       49,217$         537,547$       
Deposits -                 -                 30,274           -                 30,274           
Unearned revenue 209                -                 5,957             720                6,886             
Compensated absences 6,114             2,222             3,521             508                12,365           
Current portion of lease obligations 21,547           6,974             -                 -                 28,521           
Payable from restricted assets:

Current maturities on long-term debt -                 607,000         -                 -                 607,000         
Accrued interest payable -                 170,385         -                 -                 170,385         

Total current liabilities 110,677         831,354         400,502         50,445           1,392,978      

Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds and notes payable, net -                 15,930,000    -                 -                 15,930,000    
Leases payable 46,259           23,130           -                 -                 69,389           
Advances to other funds -                 -                 400,531         -                 400,531         
Compensated absences 55,023           20,002           31,692           4,576             111,293         
Total OPEB liability 7,210             3,177             4,382             2,581             17,350           
Net pension liability 59,409           -                 -                 -                 59,409           

Total noncurrent liabilities 167,901         15,976,309    436,605         7,157             16,587,972    

Total liabilities 278,578$       16,807,663$  837,107$       57,602$         17,980,950$  
 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to pensions 2,153$           -$               -$               -$               2,153$           
Total deferred inflows of resources 2,153$           -$               -$               -$               2,153$           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 796,014$       5,252,039$    1,076,707$    9,531$           7,134,291$    
Restricted for debt service -                 555,446         -                 -                 555,446         
Restricted for renewal and replacement -                 82,727           -                 -                 82,727           
Unrestricted 1,449,862      486,464         2,568,505      1,112,448      5,617,279      

Total net position 2,245,876$    6,376,676$    3,645,212$    1,121,979$    13,389,743$  

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Business-type Activities
Sanitation Stormwater Marina Parking Total

Operating revenues
Charges for services 2,093,709$      678,215$         4,127,532$      2,877,801$      9,777,257$     
Fines and forfeitures -                  -                  -                  625,205           625,205          
Other revenues 10,689             687                  1,329               330                  13,035            

Total operating revenues 2,104,398        678,902           4,128,861        3,503,336        10,415,497     

Operating expenses
Personal services 588,501           254,087           336,522           231,964           1,411,074       
Operating expenses 1,016,966        164,986           250,918           390,981           1,823,851       
Cost of sales -                  -                  2,736,269        -                  2,736,269       
Depreciation 250,984           1,021,222        159,518           733                  1,432,457       

Total operating expenses 1,856,451        1,440,295        3,483,227        623,678           7,403,651       

Operating income (loss) 247,947           (761,393)         645,634           2,879,658        3,011,846       

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Interest earnings 49,171             225,834           125,080           42,321             442,406          
Intergovernmental grants 2,829               32,202             -                  -                  35,031            
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets -                  8,100               -                  -                  8,100              
Proceeds from insurance recoveries 449                  -                  -                  -                  449                 
Interest expense (1,418)             (474,425)         (6,738)             -                  (482,581)        

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 51,031             (208,289)         118,342           42,321             3,405              

Income (loss) before contributions
and transfers 298,978           (969,682)         763,976           2,921,979        3,015,251       

Transfers in -                  1,490,000        -                  -                  1,490,000       
Transfers out (81,774)           (69,786)           (113,813)         (1,800,000)      (2,065,373)     

Change in net position 217,204           450,532           650,163           1,121,979        2,439,878       

Net position, beginning of year 2,028,672        5,926,144        2,995,049        -                  10,949,865     

Net position, end of year 2,245,876$      6,376,676$      3,645,212$      1,121,979$      13,389,743$   

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Business-type Activities
Sanitation Stormwater Marina Parking Total

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from customers 2,040,842$     1,459,231$     4,130,160$     3,483,675$     11,113,908$   
Cash paid to employees (579,805)        (256,761)        (334,497)        (224,299)        (1,395,362)     
Cash paid to suppliers (1,313,315)     (131,564)        (2,699,177)     (341,764)        (4,485,820)     
Other receipts 449                -                 -                 -                 449                

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 148,171         1,070,906       1,096,486       2,917,612       5,233,175       

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Transfers from other funds -                 1,490,000       -                 -                 1,490,000       
Transfers to other funds (81,774)          (69,786)          (113,813)        (1,800,000)     (2,065,373)     
Intergovernmental grant proceeds 2,829             32,202           -                 -                 35,031           
Principal payments of interfund loans -                 -                 (89,558)          -                 (89,558)          

Net cash provided by (used in)
noncapital financing activities (78,945)          1,452,416       (203,371)        (1,800,000)     (629,900)        

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (35,330)          (175,486)        (18,865)          (10,264)          (239,945)        
Principal payments of long-term debt (26,083)          (1,020,617)     -                 -                 (1,046,700)     
Interest paid (1,418)            (481,943)        (6,738)            -                 (490,099)        

Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities (62,831)          (1,678,046)     (25,603)          (10,264)          (1,776,744)     

 
Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 49,171           225,834         125,080         42,321           442,406         
Purchases of investments (397,112)        (1,760,337)     (716,917)        -                 (2,874,366)     

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities (347,941)        (1,534,503)     (591,837)        42,321           (2,431,960)     

 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (341,546)        (689,227)        275,675         1,149,669       394,571         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,270,903       5,628,706       2,293,837       -                 9,193,446       

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 929,357$        4,939,479$     2,569,512$     1,149,669$     9,588,017$     

Cash and cash equivalents classified as:
Unrestricted 929,357$        -$               2,539,238$     1,149,669$     4,618,264$     
Restricted -                 4,939,479       30,274           -                 4,969,753$     

Total cash and cash equivalents 929,357$        4,939,479$     2,569,512$     1,149,669$     9,588,017$     

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Operating income (loss) 247,947$        (761,393)$      645,634$        2,879,658$     3,011,846$     
Adjustments to reconcile net operating income (loss)

to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 250,984         1,021,222       159,518         733                1,432,457       
Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 449                -                 -                 -                 449                
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (1,564)            786,941         (745)               (20,381)          764,251         
Due from other governments (62,152)          (6,612)            -                 -                 (68,764)          
Inventories -                 -                 (8,883)            -                 (8,883)            
Prepaid items (2,235)            3,730             1,199             -                 2,694             
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (294,114)        29,692           295,694         49,217           80,489           
Deposits 160                -                 (1,158)            -                 (998)               
Unearned revenue -                 -                 3,202             720                3,922             
Compensated absences 2,258             (2,173)            1,948             5,084             7,117             
Net pension liability 5,932             -                 -                 -                 5,932             
Total OPEB liability 506                (501)               77                  2,581             2,663             

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 148,171$        1,070,906$     1,096,486$     2,917,612$     5,233,175$     

Non-cash investing, capital, and financing activities:
Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable -$               (15,200)$        -$               -$               -$               

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

The financial statements of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida (the City), have been prepared in 
conformance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable 
to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted body for 
promulgating governmental accounting and financial reporting principles and the City has adopted the 
GASB Codification. The following is a summary of the City’s significant accounting policies: 

(a) Reporting entityThe City of Madeira Beach was incorporated in 1951 as a political 
subdivision of the State of Florida under a Council-Manager form of Government. The City is a 
municipal corporation with a five (5) member elected Board of Commissioners. The Board of 
Commissioners is governed by the City Charter and by state and local laws and regulations. The 
Board of Commissioners is responsible for the establishment and adoption of policy. The execution 
of such policy is the responsibility of the City Manager. 

In evaluating how to define the government, for financial reporting purposes, the City has 
considered all potential component units. The definition of the reporting entity is based primarily on 
the notion of financial accountability. A primary government is financially accountable for the 
organizations that make up its legal entity. It is also financially accountable for legally separate 
organizations if its officials appoint a voting majority of an organization’s governing body, and 
either it is able to impose its will on that organization or there is a potential for the organization to 
provide specific financial benefits to, or to impose specific financial burdens on, the primary 
government. A primary government may also be financially accountable for governmental 
organizations that are fiscally dependent on it. 

A primary government has the ability to impose its will on an organization if it can significantly 
influence the programs, projects or activities of, or the level of services performed or provided by, 
the organization. A financial benefit or burden relationship exists if the primary government: (a) is 
entitled to the organization’s resources; (b) is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the 
obligation to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization; or (c) is 
obligated in some manner for the debt of the organization. Management has determined that there 
are no component units to be included within the reporting entity. 

(b) Government-wide and fund financial statementsThe government-wide financial 
statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of changes in net position) report 
aggregated information for the overall government for all of the activities of the primary 
government. The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 

Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and 
other nonexchange revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which are 
financed wholly or partially by fees charged to external parties for goods or services and are 
reported in enterprise funds. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function 
or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable 
with a specific function or segment. Indirect costs are included in the program expense reported for 
individual functions and activities. Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants 
who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given 
function or segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly 
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major 
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate 
columns in the fund financial statements. 

(c) Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentationThe 
accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate 
accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-
balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund balance, revenues, and expenditures. 
Government resources are allocated to, and accounted for in, individual funds based upon the 
purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.  

The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus 
and the basis of accounting. The basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are 
recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. The basis of accounting relates 
to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. Measurement 
focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as current financial resources (current 
assets less current liabilities) or economic resources (all assets and liabilities). 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary funds financial statements. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year 
for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon 
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
For this purpose, the City considers property tax revenues to be available if they are collected within 
60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Grants, other intergovernmental revenues, charges for 
services, licenses and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other 
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
However, debt service expenditures, certain expenditures relating to future periods, as well as 
expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when 
payment is due.  

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

General Fund-The General Fund is the principal fund of the City which accounts for all 
financial transactions not accounted for in other funds. The majority of current operating 
expenditures of the City other than proprietary fund activities are financed through revenues 
received by the General Fund. 

Building FundThis fund is used to account for building permits and inspections.  
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

Sanitation FundThe Sanitation Fund provides the community with solid waste collection and 
disposal services. Collection and disposal of recyclable items is performed by a vendor under 
contract.  

Stormwater FundThe Stormwater Fund accounts for stormwater utility fee revenues, and 
expenses for drainage and stormwater related projects, including National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) reporting and compliance.  

Marina FundThe Marina Fund accounts for the operations of the Madeira Beach Municipal 
Marina. 

Parking FundThe Parking Fund accounts for the activities within the city-owned parking lots.  

Additionally, the City reports the following governmental funds: 

Local Option Sales Tax FundThis fund accounts for the discretionary infrastructure surtax, or 
Penny for Pinellas revenue. Proceeds from this tax is used for long-term capital infrastructure 
projects in the local community.  

Archibald Park FundThis fund is used to account for the activity at the Archibald Memorial 
Beach park. The fund is used for the maintenance for every park in the City along with the 
maintenance of the beach.  

Gas Tax FundThis fund is used to account for the local option gas tax and the motor fuel 
portion of State Revenue Sharing.  

Debt Service FundThis fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and 
payment of, general long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs. This fund type is used to 
provide for the debt service requirements of the City’s governmental long-term debt. 

As a general rule, the effect of the City’s interfund activity has been eliminated from the 
government-wide financial statements, though interfund services provided and used are not 
eliminated in the process of consolidation. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers for goods, services, or 
privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, 
including special assessments (when applicable). Internally dedicated resources are reported as 
general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes, 
interest revenue, and other miscellaneous revenues.  

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods 
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating 
revenues of the City’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. Operating 
expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and 
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

(d) Budgets and budgetary accounting Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with 
generally accepted accounting principles for all funds. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-
end. The appropriated budget is adopted by fund and department. The legal level of budgetary 
control is at the fund level with exception of the General Fund at the department level, since the City 
Manager may transfer funds between line items within a department. The City cannot legally exceed 
the budget; however, at any time during the year, the Board of Commissioners may, by Resolution, 
transfer part or all of any unencumbered appropriation balance between departments or funds. The 
Board of Commissioners may also amend the adopted budget to provide supplemental 
appropriations or to revise budgeted estimates. 

(e) Deposits and investmentsThe City’s cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
demand deposits and short-term investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. 
Investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents 
and are reported at fair value.  

(f) Receivables and payablesActivity between funds that are representative of 
lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either 
“due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other 
funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances between 
funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.” Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as “internal balances.” 

All trade and property tax receivables are reported net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, 
which is based upon management's analysis of historical trends. Utility operating sales are generally 
recognized on the basis of cycle billings rendered monthly. Unbilled accounts receivable are accrued 
by the City at September 30th, to recognize the sales revenues earned between the last meter reading 
and bill dates in mid-September through the end of the fiscal year. 

(g) Leases—The City is a lessee for noncancellable leases of vehicles and buildings. The City 
recognizes a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use asset (lease asset) in the financial 
statements. The City recognizes lease liabilities with an initial, individual value of $5,000 or more. 

At the commencement of a lease, the City initially measures the lease liability at the present value of 
payments expected to be made during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced by 
the principal portion of lease payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial 
amount of the lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement 
date, plus certain initial direct costs. Subsequently, the lease asset is amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease.  

Key estimates and judgments related to leases include how the City determines (1) the discount rate 
it uses to discount the expected lease payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease 
payments.  

The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease. Lease payments included in the 
measurement of the lease liability are comprised of fixed payments and any purchase option price 
that the City is reasonably certain to exercise. In determining the lease term, management considers 
all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not 
exercise a termination option. Extension options are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended.  
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

The City monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and 
will remeasure the lease asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly 
affect the amount of the lease liability.  Leased assets are reported with other capital assets and lease 
liabilities are reported with long-term debt on the statement of net position. 

The City also serves as the lessor in certain agreements whereby similar methodologies are followed 
to calculate the lease receivable. See Note (4) for further discussion of the City’s lease activity as 
lessor. 

(h) Inventories and prepaid itemsThe cost of inventory is accounted for on the consumption 
basis wherein inventories are charged as expenditures when used, rather than when purchased. All 
inventories are valued at cost using first-in/first-out (FIFO).  

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recognized 
on the consumption method and recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund 
financial statements. 

(i) Capital assetsCapital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, right-to-use assets 
and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, drainage improvements, sidewalks, and similar items), are 
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide 
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, 
individual cost of more than $5,000 with an initial life of two or more years. Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital 
assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend asset lives are not capitalized, but charged to operating expense as incurred. Major outlays 
for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. 

Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 

Assets Years 

Buildings  10 – 50 years 
Improvements 3 – 50 years 
Infrastructure 2 – 50 years 
Intangible 2 – 10 years 
Vehicle and equipment 2 – 20 years 
Right-to-use assets 2 – 20 years 

(j) Compensated absencesIt is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but 
unused vacation and sick pay benefits. Vested or accumulated vacation leave is recorded as an 
expense and liability of the appropriate fund as the benefits accrue to employees. No liability is 
recorded for the non-vesting accumulating right to receive sick pay benefits; however, a liability is 
recognized for that portion estimated to be paid at separation. 

The enterprise funds report 100% of compensated absence liability in both the government-wide and 
the proprietary fund statements, because it is accrued when incurred. The General Fund reports 
100% of the amount due in the government-wide statements because it is accrued when incurred, 
but only the amount the City estimates to be due and payable as of the balance sheet date is recorded 
as a liability in the governmental fund statements. The remaining amount is presented as assigned 
fund balance. The City estimates 10% of compensated absences will become due and payable within 
one year. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

(k) Long-term obligationsIn the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund 
types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported 
as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund 
type statement of net position.  

(l) Deferred outflows/inflows of resourcesIn addition to assets, the statement of financial 
position will, if required, report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate 
financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets 
that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. Currently, the only items in this category consisted of deferred 
amounts related to pensions, as discussed further in Note 0; and deferred loss on bond refunding 
amortized over the shorter of the term of the original bond or refunding bond.  

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. Currently, the items in this category 
are deferred inflows relates to leases, as discussed further in Note (4), and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, as discussed further in Note 0.  

(m) Fund equityIn the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance 
classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to 
honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent. Those 
classifications are as follows: 

Nonspendable – amounts not available to be spent or not in spendable form, such as inventory 
and prepaid items.  

Restricted – amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such as grantors and 
higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions or by enabling legislation.  

Committed – amounts constrained to specific purposes based on actions taken by the Board of 
Commissioners through ordinance.  

Assigned – amounts the City intends to use for a specific purpose. Intent can be expressed by 
Board of Commissioners or by an official or body which the Board of Commissioners delegates 
authority.  

Unassigned – amounts that are available for any purpose. Positive amounts are reported only in 
the General Fund. 

Disbursements of fund balances will first be made from restricted amounts when both restricted and 
unrestricted fund balance is available. Additionally, the City will first use committed fund balance, 
following by assigned fund balance, and then unassigned fund balance when expenditures are 
incurred for purposes which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be 
used. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

The fund balance policy adopted by the Board of Commissioners in September 2015 establishes 
expectations with respect to several aspects of managing and utilizing fund balances: 

1. The City shall maintain a committed fund balance for the purpose of emergency storm 
response (e.g., flood or hurricane) equivalent to at least 33% of General Fund operating 
expenditures. In the event such fund balance is drawn upon, the City shall seek to restore 
the committed balance as soon as is practicable and in no event later than five years 
subsequent to the initial emergency response. Resolution 2019-09 adopted June 11, 2019, 
halted the annual funding and froze the Emergency Storm Response reserve at the 
amount of $2,409,363. 

2. In addition to the committed fund balance reserve, minimum unassigned fund balance 
shall be 16.67% (i.e., two months) of annual General Fund operating expenditures.  

3. The City shall utilize funds in the following spending order: restricted; committed; 
assigned; unassigned.  

4. In the case of an anticipated budget shortfall, the City may choose to balance its annual 
budget by assigning a portion of existing unassigned balance, or by reassigning funds in 
an amount no greater than the projected deficit. 

(n) Net positionThe government-wide and business-type fund financial statements utilize a net 
position presentation. Net position is presented in three components – net investment in capital 
assets, restricted, and unrestricted. 

Net Investment in Capital Assets consists of capital assets including leased assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation and amortization and reduced by the outstanding balances of any 
external bonds, notes or other borrowings attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
improvement of those assets. This component does not include the portion of debt attributable 
to the unspent proceeds. 

Restricted consists of amounts that have constraints placed on them either externally by third 
parties (e.g., creditors, grantors, and contributors) or by law through constitutional provisions or 
enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted consists of net position that does not meet the definition of “net investment in 
capital assets” or “restricted.” 

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted 
resources. In order to determine amounts reported as restricted and unrestricted net position, it is the 
City’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been used before unrestricted net position is 
applied. 

(o) Net position flow assumptionIn order to determine amounts reported as restricted and 
unrestricted net position, it is the City’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been used 
before unrestricted net position is applied. 

(p) Property taxesProperty tax revenues are recognized when levied, to the extent that they 
result in current receivables. Details of the property tax calendar are presented below: 

 Lien date January 1 
Levy date October 1 
Discount periods November – February 
No discount period March 
Delinquent date April 1 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

(q) Use of estimatesManagement uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Those estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities, and the reported revenue and expenses. Actual results could vary from the estimates 
assumed in preparing the financial statements. 

(2) Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements: 

(a) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the 
government-wide statement of net positionFollowing the governmental fund balance sheet is a 
reconciliation between fund balance – total governmental funds and net position – governmental 
activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A detailed explanation of 
these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 

(b) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities 
Following the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances, there is a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 
and changes in net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement 
of activities. A detailed explanation of these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 

(3) Deposits and Investments: 

At September 30, 2023, the City had a bank balance of 27,307,171 at two bank accounts insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. The amounts in excess of FDIC coverage 
are fully collateralized in accordance with the Qualified Public Depository (QPD) program. According to 
Chapter 280, Florida Statutes, the City’s deposits must be with financial institutions designated as 
qualified public depositories by the Chief Financial Officer of the State of Florida. In accordance with this 
statute, QPDs are required to pledge eligible collateral in varying percentages. Any losses to public 
depositories are covered by applicable deposit insurance, by the sale of pledged securities, and, if 
necessary, by assessments against other QPDs.  

 The City is governed by its investment policy adopted by Resolution 2015-34 on September 8, 
2015, which authorizes investments in the following securities: 

 U.S. Treasury obligations, and obligations the principal and interest of which are backed by the 
full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. 

 Non-negotiable interest-bearing time certificates of deposit, or savings accounts in banks 
organized under state law or in national banks organized under the laws of the United States 
and doing business. 

 Shares in open-end and no-load money market mutual funds, provided such funds are registered 
under the Investment Company Act of 1940 and operate in accordance with Rule 2a-7. 

 State, local government, or privately-sponsored investment pools that are authorized pursuant to 
state law. 

 The investment policy is designed to address the following risk factors: 

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of investments. Generally, the longer the time to maturity, the greater the exposure to interest rate 
risk. The City’s investment policy provides for this risk by requiring a maximum maturity of two years 
with respect to certificates of deposit and 5.5 years for U.S. Treasuries. 
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(3) Deposits and Investments:  (Continued) 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that a security or a portfolio will lose some or all of its value due to a 
real or perceived change in the ability of the issuer to fulfill its obligations. The City’s portfolio is held 
entirely with public depositories.  

The City invests only in certificate of deposits and local government investment pools with the highest 
credit quality ratings.  

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration risk refers to the risk of loss resulting from over-exposure to 
a specific security or asset class. The City’s investment policy addresses concentration risk by requiring 
maximum allocations to specific investment sectors and issuers.  

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that the City may not recover cash and investments 
held by another party in the event of financial failure. Custodial credit risk is limited since investments are 
held in independent custodial safekeeping accounts.  

The Florida Cooperative Liquid Assets Security System (Florida CLASS) is an external investment pool 
that meets all of the necessary criteria to elect to measure all of the investments in Florida CLASS at 
amortized cost. Therefore, the City’s investment in Florida CLASS is reported at amortized cost. The fair 
value of the position in the pool is equal to the value of the pool shares. As of September 30, 2023, there 
were no redemption fees or maximum transaction amounts, or any other requirements that serve to limit a 
participant’s daily access to 100% of their account value. The weighted average maturity of the fund was 
47 days and the rating by S&P Global Ratings was AAAm. At September 30, 2023, the City had 
$10,468,259 invested with Florida CLASS. 

(4) Receivables: 

Accounts Receivable 

The City’s accounts receivable consisted of the following at September 30, 2023: 

 
Gross and Net 

Receivable 

Governmental Activities:  
General Fund $ 274,865 
Archibald Fund 4,845 
Building Fund 1,860 

Totals – Governmental Activities 281,570 
Business-Type Activities:  

Sanitation Fund 4,283 
Stormwater Fund 40,945 
Marina Fund 2,595 
Parking Fund 20,381 

Totals – Business-Type Activities 68,204 

Totals $ 349,774 

 
Due from Other Governments 

In addition to accounts receivable, the City also recorded $2,096,996 in due from other governments at 
September 30, 2023, of which $22,236 was allowed for.  
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(4) Receivables:  (Continued) 

Leases Receivable 

The City has ongoing lease agreements with third parties related to rentals of building space and land 
owned by the City. The City has four active leases as of September 30, 2023, most of which were entered 
into with 5-year terms that include additional renewal terms of up to 25 or more years. The interest rate 
applied to these leases was 1.73%. Inflows of $276,330 were recognized during the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2023, relating to these leases.  

A summary of the City’s activity surrounding leases receivable as of and for the year ending September 
30, 2023, is as follows: 

 General Fund Archibald Fund 
Governmental 

Activities 
Leases Receivable $ 1,745,053 $          76,926 $         1,821,979 
Deferred Inflows Related to Leases 1,668,495 75,654 1,744,149 

 
(5) Interfund Loans and Transfers: 

The General Fund loaned $500,000 and $625,000 to the Marina Fund in fiscal year 2011 and 2017, 
respectively, for construction of a recreational and commercial fishing retail center known as the Ship 
Store and for Marina Dock Improvements. The loans are scheduled to be repaid over 20 years at an 
interest rate of 1.5%. The balance as of September 30, 2023, was $400,531 and is reflected as an internal 
balance on the statement of net position and as an advance to/from other funds in the fund financial 
statements. 

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund with collection authorization to the debt service 
fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due, (2) move restricted amounts from 
borrowings to the debt service funds to establish and maintain mandatory reserve and sinking fund 
accounts, (3) move revenues from special revenue and proprietary fund operations to the general fund for 
each fund’s allocable share of City-wide administrative overhead charges borne by the general fund, and 
(4) move unrestricted revenues to finance various programs that the City must account for in other funds 
in accordance with budgetary authorizations, including amounts provided as matching funds for various 
grant programs. For the year ended September 30, 2023, individual fund transfers to and from other funds 
for the primary government were comprised of the following: 

 

Transfers In Transfers Out

Governmental Activities:
General Fund 2,287,162$    3,537,950$    
Archibald Fund 1,750,000     52,617          
Building Fund -              169,172        
Debt Service Fund 297,950        -              

Total Governmental Activities 4,335,112     3,759,739     
Business-type Activities:

Sanitation Fund -              81,774          
Stormwater Fund 1,490,000     69,786          
Marina Fund -              113,813        
Paarking Fund -              1,800,000     

Total Business-type Activities 1,490,000     2,065,373     
Totals - All Funds 5,825,112$    5,825,112$    
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(6) Capital Assets: 

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, is as follows:   

 

 

  

Governmental activities: Balance Balance
09/30/22 Increases Decreases 09/30/23

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 2,784,675$    -$             -$             2,784,675$    
Construction in progress 1,159,157     213,286        (924,485)       447,958        

Total assets not being depreciated 3,943,832     213,286        (924,485)       3,232,633     

Capital assets being depreciated and amortized:
Buildings 9,108,893     -              -              9,108,893     
Infrastructure 5,150,645     24,646          -              5,175,291     
Improvements 18,663,897    224,433        -              18,888,330    
Right to use assets - Building 83,062          -              -              83,062          
Right to use assets - Equipment 64,321          -              -              64,321          
Intangibles 262,087        -              -              262,087        
Equipment 3,715,377     1,105,160     (549,032)       4,271,505     

Total assets being depreciated and amortized 37,048,282    1,354,239     (549,032)       37,853,489    

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization for:
Buildings (2,379,699)    (301,425)       -              (2,681,124)    
Infrastructure (1,874,583)    (264,808)       -              (2,139,391)    
Improvements (10,489,395)  (660,801)       -              (11,150,196)  
Right to use assets - Building (13,844)        (13,844)        -              (27,688)        
Right to use assets - Equipment (23,921)        (13,331)        -              (37,252)        
Intangibles (222,141)       (19,729)        -              (241,870)       
Equipment (2,156,213)    (351,598)       549,032        (1,958,779)    

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (17,159,796)  (1,625,536)    549,032        (18,236,300)  
Total capital assets being depreciated and amortized, net 19,888,486    (271,297)       -              19,617,189    
Governmental activities capital assets, net 23,832,318$  (58,011)$       (924,485)$     22,849,822$  

Business-type activities: Balance Balance
09/30/22 Increases Decreases 09/30/23

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 5,000$          -$             -$             5,000$          
Construction in progress 190,892        202,451        (48,177)        345,166        

Total assets not being depreciated 195,892        202,451        (48,177)        350,166        

Capital assets being depreciated and amortized:
Buildings 494,724        -              -              494,724        
Infrastructure 5,939,049     -              -              5,939,049     
Improvements 15,913,272    48,177          -              15,961,449    
Right to use assets - Building 129,043        -              -              129,043        
Right to use assets - Equipment 33,076          -              -              33,076          
Equipment 2,461,849     45,594          (45,155)        2,462,288     

Total assets being depreciated and amortized 24,971,013    93,771          (45,155)        25,019,629    

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization for:
Buildings (191,261)       (17,158)        -              (208,419)       
Infrastructure (1,307,120)    (296,952)       -              (1,604,072)    
Improvements (2,971,804)    (793,619)       -              (3,765,423)    
Right to use assets - Building (21,508)        (21,507)        -              (43,015)        
Right to use assets - Equipment (12,803)        (7,469)          -              (20,272)        
Equipment (1,203,770)    (295,752)       45,155          (1,454,367)    

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (5,708,266)    (1,432,457)    45,155          (7,095,568)    
Total capital assets being depreciated and amortized, net 19,262,747    (1,338,686)    -              17,924,061    
Business-type activities capital assets, net 19,458,639$  (1,136,235)$  (48,177)$       18,274,227$  
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(6) Capital Assets:  (Continued) 

Depreciation and amortization expense were charged to functions/programs as follows: 

Governmental activities:  
General government $ 637,280 
Physical environment  113,258 
Public safety 246,286 
Culture and recreation 610,401 
Parking enforcement 18,311 

Total depreciation and amortization expense - governmental 
activities $ 1,625,536 

  
Business-type activities:  

Sanitation $ 250,984 
Stormwater 1,021,222 
Marina 159,518 
Parking 733 

Total depreciation and amortization expense - business-type 
activities $ 1,432,457 

Included in depreciation and amortization expense is amortization on property under lease for 
governmental and business-type activities as follows:  

 Original Cost 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Governmental Activities:   
Buildings $ 83,062 $              27,688 
Equipment 64,321 37,252 

Total Governmental Activities 147,383 64,940 
Sanitation Fund:   

Buildings 83,062 27,688 
Equipment             33,076 20,272 

Stormwater Fund:    
Buildings             45,981 15,327 

Total Business-type Activities $        162,119  $             63,287 

Amortization expense for governmental activities are included in the general government function. 
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(7) Long-Term Liabilities: 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended September 30, 2023, was as follows: 

 
 
 

Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions 

Ending 
Balance 

Due Within 
One Year 

Governmental activities:      
Publicly Issued:      

Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 $ 3,855,000 $ -      $ (115,000) $ 3,740,000 $ -      
Lease payable 114,190    -       (40,420) 73,770 27,511 
Compensated absences 407,302 244,522  (268,335) 383,489 38,349 

Total long-term liabilities $ 4,376,492 $ 244,522 $  (423,775) $ 4,197,259 $ 65,860 

 
 
 

Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions 

Ending 
Balance 

Due Within 
One Year 

Business-type activities:      
Direct Placements      

Revenue Bond, 2019 $13,938,000 $ -      $ (589,000) $13,349,000 $ 607,000 
Refunding Revenue Bond, 2020 3,613,000  -       (425,000)  3,188,000  -      

Lease payable   130,610    -       (32,700) 97,910 28,521 
Compensated absences 116,541 65,697  (58,580) 123,658 12,365 

Total long-term liabilities $17,798,151 $ 65,697 $ (1,105,280) $16,758,568 $ 647,886 

For governmental activities, compensated absences, net pension liabilities, and OPEB liabilities are 
generally liquidated by the General Fund. 

Bonds and notes payable in the City’s governmental activities at September 30, 2023, were comprised of 
the following obligations: 

Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2013: Issued in October 2013 in the amount of 
$4,760,000 to finance the construction of the City Centre project, including reconstruction of the City 
Hall, Recreation Center, Fire Station, and park amenities located at or near 300 Municipal Drive. Serial 
bonds in the amount of $1,020,000 with interest rates from 3.00% to 3.50% payable semiannually 
October 1 and April 1, due in annual principal installments from $90,000 to $115,000 from October 1, 
2014 to October 1, 2023. Term bonds in the amount of $3,740,000 with interest rates from 4.00% to 
5.00% payable semiannually on October 1 and April 1, due in annual principal installments from 
$120,000 to $285,000 from October 1, 2024 to October 1, 2043. Pledged revenue: public services tax, 
half-cent sales tax, franchise fees, and state revenue sharing.  
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(7) Long-Term Liabilities: (Continued) 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the City’s governmental activities bonds and notes payable 
are as follows: 

 

There is no current portion payable in the above schedule as maturities due October 1, 2023, were paid in 
fiscal year 2023 prior to the due date. 

Bonds payable in the City’s business-type activities at September 30, 2023, were comprised of the 
following obligations: 

Capital Improvement Revenue Bond, Series 2019: Issued in July 2019 in the amount of $15,063,000 
to finance roadway and stormwater improvements and pay the associated cost of issuance. Serial bond 
with interest rate of 3.07% payable semiannually May 1 and November 1, due in annual principal 
installments from $554,000 to $993,000 from November 1, 2019 to November 1, 2039. Pledged 
revenue: covenant to budget and appropriate annual debt service from non-ad valorem revenues. 

Stormwater System Refunding Bond, Series 2020: Issued in October 2020 in the amount of 
$4,442,000 to finance improvements to the stormwater system. Serial bond with interest rate of 1.73% 
payable annually October 1, due in annual principal installments from $411,000 to $479,000 from 
October 1, 2021 to October 1, 2030. Pledged revenue: drainage fee gross revenues, with a backup 
covenant to budget and appropriate non-ad valorem revenues. 

  

Year Ending

September 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 -$               -$               -$               
2025 120,000          178,925          298,925          
2026 125,000          174,125          299,125          
2027 130,000          169,125          299,125          
2028 135,000          163,925          298,925          

2029-2033 760,000          727,150          1,487,150        
2034-2038 960,000          525,750          1,485,750        
2039-2043 1,225,000        261,000          1,486,000        

2044 285,000          14,250            299,250          
3,740,000$      2,214,250$      5,954,250$      

Publicly Issued

Governmental Activities
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(7) Long-Term Liabilities: (Continued) 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the City’s business-type activities bonds, and notes payable, 
are as follows: 

 

(8) Leases: 

The City has entered into various leases for vehicles as indicated in Note (7). Imputed interest rates on the 
leases range from 1.775% to 2.701%.  

Future minimum lease payments for the City’s governmental activities leases are as follows:  

  
 
Future minimum lease payments for the City’s business-type activities leases are as follows: 
 
 

 
 

Year Ending

September 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 607,000$         400,497$         1,007,497$      
2025 1,058,000        436,722          1,494,722        
2026 1,086,000        409,724          1,495,724        
2027 1,114,000        381,973          1,495,973        
2028 1,142,000        353,453          1,495,453        

2029-2033 5,181,000        1,320,056        6,501,056        
2034-2038 4,393,000        645,636          5,038,636        
2039-2040 1,956,000        60,510            2,016,510        

16,537,000$    4,008,571$      20,545,571$    

Direct Placements

Business-type Activities

Year Ending

September 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 27,511$          1,045$            28,556       
2025 14,676            684                15,360       
2026 15,415            425                15,840       
2027 16,168            152                16,320       

73,770$          2,306$            76,076$      

Governmental Activities

Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 28,521$          1,441$            29,962$      
2025 22,014            1,026              23,040       
2026 23,123            637                23,760       
2027 24,252            228                24,480       

97,910$          3,332$            101,242$    

Business-type Activities
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(9) Commitments and Contingencies: 

The City participates in several programs that are fully or partially funded by grants received from state, 
county or federal governmental agency sources. Expenditures financed by grants are subject to audit by 
the appropriate grantor government or agency. If expenditures are disallowed due to non-compliance with 
grant program regulations, the City may be required to reimburse the grantor. As of September 30, 2023, 
the City believes that disallowed expenditures discovered in subsequent audits, if any, will not have a 
material effect on any of the individual funds or the overall financial position of the City. 

(10) Risk Management: 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters, all of which is satisfactorily insured by 
limited risk, high deductible commercial general liability insurance. Commercial insurance policies are 
also obtained for other risks of loss, including employee health and accident insurance. Settled claims 
resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three years. 

(11) Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB): 

The City does not provide any postretirement health care or life insurance benefits for employees. As 
mandated by Chapter 112.0801, Florida Statutes, retirees and their eligible dependents are offered the 
same health and hospitalization insurance coverage as is offered to active employees at a premium cost 
that is no more than the premium cost applicable to active employees. The entire premium cost is paid by 
the retirees. 

Even though the City does not provide any postretirement health care or life insurance benefits for 
employees, there is an implicit rate subsidy because retirees are able to purchase insurance coverage at the 
same premium cost applicable to active employees. This practice creates a Total OPEB liability based on 
the theory that retirees have higher utilization of health care benefits than active employees, and the 
retirees are therefore subsidized by the active employees. This liability must be actuarially determined 
and recognized in the financial statements. The latest actuarial report used by the City was the September 
30, 2023, actuarial date.  

Plan Description—The City administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan that provides 
medical and dental coverage to retirees as well as their eligible spouses. Benefits are provided through the 
City’s group health insurance plan, which covers both active and retired members.  

Funding Policy—For all retired employees, the employee contributes 100% of the active premium rate 
and may also purchase spouse coverage at the active premium rate. The City does not contribute any 
amount. Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the City 
Manager. The postretirement medical and dental benefits are funded on a pay-as-you go basis (i.e., as 
benefits are paid). No assets have been segregated and restricted to fund postretirement benefits. No trust 
or agency fund has been established for the plan. 

Plan MembershipAt September 30, 2023, plan participation consisted of the following:  

Active Employees 64 
Retired Employees 3 
Eligible Employees 0 
Spouses 11 
 78 
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(11) Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB): (Continued) 

Total OPEB LiabilityThe City’s total OPEB liability of $81,113 was measured as of September 30, 
2023, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2023, utilizing the alternative 
measurement method. 

Actuarial Assumptions and Other InputsThe total OPEB liability in the September 30, 2023, 
actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to 
all periods in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Salary increases 5% 
Employer investment return 0% 
Post-retirement benefit increases 0%  
Discount rate 4.15% 
Healthcare cost trend rate Varies by year 

 
Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2000 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Tables. Amortization 
method/period is the level percentage of payroll over 20 years. The City's Total OPEB liability is 
calculated using the alternative measurement method permitted for employers with fewer than one 
hundred total plan members. As a result of using the alternative measurement method and the same 
measurement date as the financial statement date, there are no deferred outflows or inflows of resources 
related to OPEB. 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, changes in the total OPEB liability were as follows: 

Balance at September 30, 2022 $ 80,095 
Changes for a year:  

Service cost 7,003 
Interest 3,249 
Effect of economic/demographic gains (losses) (5,918) 
Changes of assumptions  (3,316) 

Net changes 1,018 

Balance at September 30, 2023 $ 81,113 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City calculated using the discount rate of 4.15%, as 
well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% 
lower or 1% higher than the current rate: 

 1% Decrease 
Current 

Discount Rate 1% Increase 

Total OPEB Liability $ 89,421 $ 81,113 $ 73,869 
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(11) Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB): (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rate: 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1% lower (2.00%-4.20%) or 1% 
higher (4.00%-6.20%) than the current healthcare cost trend rates (3.00%-5.20%): 

 1% Decrease 
Current 

Trend Rates 
1% 

Increase 

Total OPEB Liability $ 75,927 $ 81,113 $ 86,889 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB expense of $1,018. At September 30, 
2023, the City reported no deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB. 

(12) Employees’ Retirement Plans: 

A. Florida Retirement System and Health Insurance Subsidy 

Plan Description and Administration 

The entity participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a multiple-employer, cost-sharing defined 
public employee retirement system which covers all general employees hired before January 1, 1996, and 
all firefighters, regardless of date of hire. The System is administered by the State of Florida, Department 
of Administration, Division of Retirement to provide retirement and survivor benefits to participating 
public employees. Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida 
Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and FRS Rules, Chapter 
60S, Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are defined and 
described in detail. The FRS is a single retirement system administered by the Department of 
Management Services, Division of Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing, multiple-employer 
retirement plans and other nonintegrated programs. These include a defined-benefit pension plan (Plan), 
with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP), and a defined-contribution plan, referred to as the 
FRS Investment Plan (Investment Plan). 

In addition, all regular employees of the entity are eligible to enroll as members of the Retiree Health 
Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program. The HIS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan established and administered in accordance with section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The benefit is a 
monthly payment to assist retirees of the state-administered retirement systems in paying their health 
insurance costs. Eligible retirees and beneficiaries receive a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of 
years of service credited at retirement multiplied by $7.50. The minimum payment is $45 and the 
maximum payment is $225 per month, pursuant to section 112.363, Florida Statutes. To be eligible to 
receive a HIS benefit, a retiree under one of the state-administered retirement systems must provide proof 
of eligible health insurance coverage, which can include Medicare. 
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(12) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Benefits Provided and Employees Covered 

Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable service and employees 
enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight years of creditable service. All vested members, 
enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 
years of service. All members enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for 
normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service. Members of both 
Plans may include up to four years of credit for military service toward creditable service. The Plan also 
includes an early retirement provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires 
before his or her normal retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and 
annual cost-of-living adjustments. Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or years of 
service, average final compensation, and service credit. Credit for each year of service is expressed as a 
percentage of the average final compensation. For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the 
average final compensation is the average of the five highest fiscal years’ earnings; for members initially 
enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the eight highest fiscal 
years’ earnings. The total percentage value of the benefit received is determined by calculating the total 
value of all service, which is based on the retirement plan and/or class to which the member belonged 
when the service credit was earned. 

DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for normal 
retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing employment with 
an FRS employer. An employee may participate in DROP for a period not to exceed 96 months after 
electing to participate, except that certain instructional personnel may participate for up to 120 months. 
During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and 
accrue interest. 

Employees may elect to participate in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan. 
Employer and employee contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the 
performance of investment funds. The Investment Plan is funded by employer and employee contributions 
that are based on salary and membership class (Regular, DROP, etc.). Contributions are directed to 
individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate contributions and account balances 
among various approved investment choices. Employees in the Investment Plan vest at one year of service. 

Financial Statements 

Financial statements and other supplementary information of the FRS are included in the State’s 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, which is available from the Florida Department of 
Financial Services, Bureau of Financial Reporting Statewide Financial Reporting Section by mail at 
200 E. Gaines Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0364; by telephone at (850) 413-5511; or at the 
Department’s Web site (www.myfloridacfo.com). An annual report on the FRS, which includes its 
financial statements, required supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant 
information, is available from: 

Florida Department of Management Services 
Division of Retirement 
P.O. Box 9000 
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000 
850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737 
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(12) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Contributions 

The entity participates in certain classes of FRS membership. Each class had descriptions and 
contribution rates in effect during the year ended September 30, 2023, as follows (contribution rates are in 
agreement with the actuarially determined rates):  

FRS Membership Plan & Class 
Through June 

30, 2023 
After June 30, 

2023 

Regular Class 11.91% 13.57% 

Senior Management 31.57% 34.52% 

Special Risk 27.83% 32.67% 

Current-year employer HIS contributions were made at a rate of 1.66% of covered payroll through June 
30, 2023, and 2.00% thereafter, which are included in the above rates. 

For the plan year ended June 30, 2023, actual contributions made for employees participating in FRS and 
HIS were as follows: 

City Contributions – FRS  $ 296,912 
City Contributions – HIS  21,039 
Employee Contributions – FRS 38,022 

Net Pension Liability, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 

At September 30, 2023, the City reported a liability related to FRS and HIS as follows: 

Plan 
Net Pension 

Liability 

FRS $ 2,459,342 
HIS  507,933 

Total $ 2,967,275 

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The entity’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the long-term share of contributions to 
the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating governmental entities, as 
actuarially determined. At June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, the City’s proportionate share of the FRS and 
HIS net pension liabilities were as follows:  

Plan 2023 2022 
FRS 0.006171989% 0.005903722% 
HIS 0.003198303% 0.003175099% 
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(12) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, pension expense was recognized related to the FRS and HIS plans as 
follows:  

Plan 
Pension 
Expense 

FRS $ 504,068 
HIS  189,829 

Total $ 693,897 

Deferred outflows/inflows related to pensions: 

At September 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 
 
The above amounts for deferred outflows of resources for contributions related to pensions resulting from 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the year ended September 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions being amortized for a period of greater than one year 
will be recognized in pension expense in succeeding years as follows: 

 

  

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 230,911$    -$           7,436$        (1,192)$       
Changes of assumptions 160,320      -             13,353        (44,014)       
Net difference between projected and actual investment earn 102,709      -             262            -             
Change in proportionate share 82,339        (51,879)       5,569          (10,446)       
Contributions subsequent to measurement date 80,091        -             5,771          -             

Total 656,370$    (51,879)$     32,391$      (55,652)$     

FRS HIS

FRS HIS Total

2024 67,507$      (5,728)$       61,779$      
2025 (24,395)       (3,755)        (28,150)       
2026 410,703      (6,499)        404,204      
2027 55,286        (8,848)        46,438        
2028 15,299        (3,984)        11,315        

Thereafter -             (218)           (218)           
524,400$    (29,032)$     495,368$    
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(12) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Actuarial assumptions: 

The actuarial assumptions for both defined benefit plans are reviewed annually by the Florida Retirement 
System Actuarial Assumptions Conference. The FRS has a valuation performed annually. The HIS 
Program has a valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB reporting in the year a valuation 
is not performed. The most recent experience study for the FRS was completed in 2019 for the period 
July 1, 2013, through June 30, 2018. Because HIS is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience 
study has been completed. 

The total pension liability for each of the defined benefit plans was determined by an actuarial valuation, 
using the entry age normal actuarial cost method. Inflation increases for both plans is assumed at 2.40%. 
Payroll growth, including inflation, for both plans is assumed at 3.25%. Both the discount rate and the 
long-term expected rate of return used for FRS investments is 6.70%. This rate is consistent with the prior 
year rate of 6.70%. The plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for 
calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. Because HIS 
Program uses a pay-as-you-go funding structure, a municipal bond rate of 3.65% was used to determine 
the total pension for the program. This rate increased from the prior year rate, which was 3.54%. 
Mortality assumptions for both plans were based on the PUB-2010 base table varies by member category 
and sex, projected generationally with Scale MP-2018. 

Long-term expected rate of return: 

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected rate of return assumption, in 
October 2023, the FRS Actuarial Assumptions Conference reviewed long-term assumptions developed by 
both Milliman’s capital market assumptions team and by a capital market assumptions team from Aon 
Hewitt Investment Consulting, which consults to the Florida State Board of Administration. The table 
below shows Milliman’s assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the plan was invested at that 
time based on the long-term target asset allocation. The allocation policy’s description of each asset class 
was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is 
based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes an adjustment for the inflation 
assumption. These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are based on a forward-
looking capital market economic model. 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Annual 
Arithmetic 
Expected 
Rate of 
Return 

Cash 1.0% 2.9% 
Fixed income 19.8% 4.5% 
Global equities 54.0% 8.7% 
Real estate 10.3% 7.6% 
Private equity 11.1% 11.9% 
Strategic investments 3.8% 6.3% 
Total 100.0%  
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(12) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the proportionate shares of the FRS and HIS net pension liability of the City 
calculated using the current discount rates, as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher than the current rate:   

Plan 
Current 

Discount Rate 
NPL with 

1% Decrease 

NPL at 
Current 

Discount Rate 
NPL with  

1% Increase 

FRS 6.70% $ 4,201,058 $ 2,459,342 $ 1,002,189 
HIS 3.65%  579,472  507,933  448,632 

 
B. General Employee 401(a) Plan 

The City maintains a single-employer defined contribution plan for all general employees and elected 
officials hired after January 1, 1996. This is a tax-qualified plan pursuant to section 401(a) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. This plan was established by Resolution 98.20. Amendments to the plan provisions or 
contribution requirements may be made by resolution. 

The plan, administered by the ICMA Retirement Corporation, provides for the employer to contribute 9% 
of earnings. Employees are not required to contribute to this plan; however, each employee directs the 
investment of his or her account. Employees are eligible to participate immediately upon hire, and the 
vesting schedule provides for employees to be fully vested after five years of service, or upon reaching 
the plan retirement age of 65 while employed by the City. The plan permits distributions of the vested 
amount for retirement, death, disability, hardship or direct rollover to another eligible retirement plan. For 
the year ended September 30, 2023, employer contributions required and made totaled $248,759 and 
covered payroll totaled $2,730,173. 

Participation in the plan at September 30, 2023 was as follows: 

Years of 
Service 

Percent 
Vested 

Number of 
Employees 

5 or more 100% 22 
4 75% 2 
3 50% 3 
2 25% 7 
1 0% 6 
0 0% 9 
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(12) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

The City also maintains a defined contribution plan for the Senior Management Class, which includes the 
City Manager. This is a tax-qualified plan pursuant to section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code and is 
administered by the ICMA Retirement Corporation. This plan was established by Resolution 96.02. 
Amendments to the plan provisions or contribution requirements may be made by resolution. It provides 
for the employer to contribute 12% of the City Manager’s base salary. The City Manager is eligible to 
participate immediately upon employment and is immediately vested. The City has designated a 
retirement age of 62 for this plan. Distributions of the vested amount for retirement, death, disability, 
hardship or direct rollover to another eligible retirement plan are permitted. 

C. Deferred Compensation 

The City offers its employees a choice of two deferred compensation plans created in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457(b). The plans, which are available to all City employees, permit the 
deferral of salary until future years. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until 
termination, retirement, death or other unforeseen non-reimbursed emergency. Limited loan provisions 
are available under the terms and conditions of the respective plans. Because all assets of the plans must 
be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of plan participants and their beneficiaries and the plan is 
administered by a third party, these plans are not accounted for in the City’s financial statements. 

(13) Recent Accounting Pronouncements: 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) has issued several pronouncements that have 
effective dates that may impact future financial statements. Listed below are pronouncements with 
required implementation dates effective for subsequent fiscal years that have not yet been implemented. 
Management has not currently determined what, if any, impact implementation of the following will have 
on the City’s financial statements: 

(a) GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, in June 2022. GASB Statement No. 
101 amends the existing guidance related to the calculation and disclosures surrounding the 
liability for compensated absences. The provisions for GASB 101 are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2023.  

(b) GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, in December 2023. The objective 
of GASB 102 is to provide users of government financial statements with essential information 
about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or 
constraints. The effective date for implementation is fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2024, 
and all reporting periods thereafter. 
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues   
Taxes 5,849,192$    5,849,192$    6,063,738$    214,546$       
Permits and fees 591,000         591,000         841,060         250,060         
Intergovernmental 4,020,173      4,020,173      4,868,334      848,161         
Charges for services 405,500         455,500         536,661         81,161           
Fines and forfeitures 5,000             5,000             28,567           23,567           
Investment income 260,250         295,250         986,521         691,271         
Miscellaneous 264,950         264,950         281,898         16,948           

Total revenues 11,396,065    11,481,065    13,606,779    2,125,714      

Expenditures
Current:

General government:
City Commission 74,800           74,800           54,724           20,076           
City Clerk 444,647         448,647         343,020         105,627         
City Manager 596,355         726,345         684,701         41,644           
Legal services 214,000         214,000         177,875         36,125           
Information technology 255,904         235,652         209,811         25,841           
Human resources 118,419         118,419         53,278           65,141           
Finance 525,046         565,046         531,433         33,613           
Community development 688,776         713,776         667,412         46,364           
Nondepartmental 707,500         733,908         593,120         140,788         

Public safety:
Law enforcement 1,552,600      1,552,600      1,463,039      89,561           
Fire / EMS 2,068,569      2,113,569      2,055,118      58,451           

Physical environment
Public works 3,180,539      5,475,425      3,801,236      1,674,189      
John's Pass Village 1,913,000      1,943,000      332,972         1,610,028      

Parking enforcement -                 -                 -                 -                 
Culture and recreation:

Parks and recreation 1,273,942      1,431,882      1,323,215      108,667         
Capital outlay -                 -                 -                 -                 
Total expenditures 13,614,097    16,347,069    12,290,954    4,056,115      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (2,218,032)     (4,866,004)     1,315,825      6,181,829      

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 2,287,162      2,287,162      2,287,162      -                 
Transfers out (3,515,000)     (3,515,000)     (3,537,950)     (22,950)          
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                 -                 46,500           46,500           
Proceeds from insurance recoveries -                 -                 1,000             1,000             

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,227,838)     (1,227,838)     (1,203,288)     24,550           

Net change in fund balances (3,445,870)     (6,093,842)     112,537         6,206,379      

Fund balances, beginning of year 18,163,553    18,163,553    18,163,553    -                 

Fund balances, end of year 14,717,683$  12,069,711$  18,276,090$  6,206,379$    
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUILDING DEPARTMENT FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues   
Permits and fees 1,300,000$    1,300,000$    788,298$       (511,702)$      
Investment income 21,000           21,000           56,531           35,531           
Miscellaneous 1,500             1,500             1,786             286                

Total revenues 1,322,500      1,322,500      846,615         (475,885)        

Expenditures
Current:

General government 817,914         827,914         582,334         245,580         
Capital outlay 233,500         261,290         53,775           207,515         
Total expenditures 1,051,414      1,089,204      636,109         453,095         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 271,086         233,296         210,506         (22,790)          

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers out (169,172)        (169,172)        (169,172)        -                 

Net change in fund balances 101,914         64,124           41,334           (22,790)          

Fund balances, beginning of year 1,149,684      1,149,684      1,149,684      -                 

Fund balances, end of year 1,251,598$    1,213,808$    1,191,018$    (22,790)$        

- 60 -
75

Item 8A.



CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

AND RELATED RATIOS
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

(UNAUDITED)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 7,003$          9,610$          1,981$          2,490$          2,825$          4,367$          
Interest 3,249            1,603            657               893               1,483            518               
Effect of economic/demographic gains (losses) (5,918)           (8,765)           52,776          (7,095)           (7,575)           (16,649)         
Changes of assumptions (3,316)           (21,839)         (596)              2,057            6,778            (15,060)         
Net change in total OPEB liability 1,018            (19,391)         54,818          (1,655)           3,511            (26,824)         
Total OPEB liability - beginning of year 80,095          99,486          44,668          46,323          42,812          69,636          
Total OPEB liability - end of year 81,113$        80,095$        99,486$        44,668$        46,323$        42,812$        

Covered employee payroll 3,912,871$   3,427,251$   3,113,188$   3,032,470$   2,973,385$   2,942,881$   

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered employee payrol 2.07% 2.34% 3.20% 1.47% 1.56% 1.45%

Notes to Schedule:

Valuation date: 9/30/2023 9/30/2022 9/30/2021 9/30/2020 9/30/2018 9/30/2018

Measurement date: 9/30/2023 9/30/2022 9/30/2021 9/30/2020 9/30/2019 9/30/2018

4.15% 3.73% 1.47% 1.41% 1.83% 3.25%

*10 years of data will be presented as it becomes available.

Changes of assumptions. Changes of assumptions and other changes reflect the effects of changes in the discount rate each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:

No assets are being accumulated in a trust to pay for OPEB benefits. Therefore, the City only reports a total OPEB liability.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
(UNAUDITED)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Florida Retirement System (FRS)

Proportion of the net pension liability 0.006171989% 0.005903722% 0.005801937% 0.006132501% 0.006099031% 0.006127095% 0.006279726% 0.006582629% 0.005158269% 0.005160665%
Proportionate share of the net pension liability 2,459,342$     2,196,659$     438,270$        2,657,916$     2,100,422$     1,845,513$     1,857,501$     1,662,119$     666,260$        314,876$        
Covered employee payroll 1,267,410       1,157,351       1,123,195       1,138,133       1,122,364       1,080,732       1,047,689       1,017,350       924,304          912,064          

194.04% 189.80% 39.02% 233.53% 187.14% 170.77% 177.30% 163.38% 72.08% 34.52%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 82.38% 82.89% 96.40% 78.85% 82.61% 84.26% 83.89% 84.88% 92.00% 96.09%

Health Insurance Subsidy Program (HIS)
Proportion of the net pension liability 0.003198303% 0.003175099% 0.003171998% 0.003278595% 0.003355923% 0.003258092% 0.003286902% 0.003282245% 0.003046655% 0.003069745%
Proportionate share of the net pension liability 507,933$        336,294$        389,093$        400,311$        375,494$        344,840$        351,451$        382,532$        310,711$        287,029$        
Covered employee payroll 1,267,410       1,157,351       1,123,195       1,138,133       1,122,364       1,080,732       1,047,689       1,017,350       924,304          912,064          

40.08% 29.06% 34.64% 35.17% 33.46% 31.91% 33.55% 37.60% 33.62% 31.47%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 4.12% 4.81% 3.56% 3.00% 2.63% 1.88% 1.64% 0.97% 0.50% 0.99%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as 
a percentage of covered employee payroll

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as 
a percentage of covered employee payroll

As of the Plan Year Ended June 30,
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
(UNAUDITED)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Florida Retirement System (FRS)
Contractually required contribution 306,007$         254,989$         233,320$         203,756$         200,538$         178,194$         167,140$         168,400$         138,195$         117,942$         
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 306,007           254,989           233,320           203,756           200,538           178,194           167,140           168,400           138,195           117,942           
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

Covered employee payroll 1,250,909$      1,151,776$      1,124,463$      1,138,133$      1,122,364$      1,080,732$      1,047,689$      1,017,350$      924,304$         912,064$         
Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll 24.46% 22.14% 20.75% 17.90% 17.87% 16.49% 15.95% 16.55% 14.95% 12.93%

Health Insurance Subsidy Program (HIS)
Contractually required contribution 21,746$           19,119$           18,666$           18,893$           18,923$           17,761$           17,872$           17,596$           12,013$           10,694$           
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 21,746            19,119            18,666            18,893            18,923            17,761            17,872            17,596            12,013            10,694            
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

Covered employee payroll 1,250,909$      1,151,776$      1,124,463$      1,138,133$      1,122,364$      1,080,732$      1,047,689$      1,017,350$      924,304$         912,064$         
Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll 1.74% 1.66% 1.66% 1.66% 1.69% 1.64% 1.71% 1.73% 1.30% 1.17%

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total
Local Nonmajor

Option Archibald Gas Debt Governmental
Sales Tax Park Tax Service Funds

ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 1,612,818$    2,185,902$    54,558$         297,449$       4,150,727$    
Investments 800,505         269,766         30,149           155,767         1,256,187      
Receivables, net -                 4,845             -                 -                 4,845             
Due from other governments 107,336         68,538           9,650             -                 185,524         
Leases receivable -                 76,926           -                 -                 76,926           

Total assets 2,520,659$    2,605,977$    94,357$         453,216$       5,674,209$    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -$               57,832$         13,142$         -$               70,974$         

Total liabilities -                 57,832           13,142           -                 70,974           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to leases -                 75,654           -                 -                 75,654           

 
FUND BALANCES
Restricted for:

Capital projects 2,520,659      -                 -                 -                 2,520,659      
Parks and recreation -                 1,795,224      -                 1,795,224      
Transportation -                 -                 81,215           -                 81,215           

Committed to:
Debt service -                 -                 -                 453,216         453,216         
Parks and recreation -                 677,267         -                 -                 677,267         

Total fund balances 2,520,659      2,472,491      81,215           453,216         5,527,581      

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and fund balances 2,520,659$    2,605,977$    94,357$         453,216$       5,674,209$    
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXGENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total
Local Nonmajor

Option Archibald Gas Debt Governmental
Sales Tax Park Tax Service Funds

Revenues
Taxes 664,103$       -$               57,377$         -$               721,480$       
Intergovernmental -                 36,766           43,351           -                 80,117           
Charges for services -                 751,076         -                 -                 751,076         
Investment income 95,004           35,517           4,132             20,005           154,658         

Total revenues 759,107         823,359         104,860         20,005           1,707,331      

Expenditures
Current:

Transportation -                 -                 123,192         -                 123,192         
Culture and recreation 4,158             636,100         -                 -                 640,258         

Capital outlay 155,063         174,248         -                 -                 329,311         
Debt service:

Principal retirement -                 5,395             -                 115,000         120,395         
Interest and fiscal charges -                 122                -                 182,950         183,072         

Total expenditures 159,221         815,865         123,192         297,950         1,396,228      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 599,886         7,494             (18,332)          (277,945)        311,103         

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -                 1,750,000      -                 297,950         2,047,950      
Transfers out -                 (52,617)          -                 -                 (52,617)          

Total other financing sources (uses) -                 1,697,383      -                 297,950         1,995,333      

Net change in fund balances 599,886         1,704,877      (18,332)          20,005           2,306,436      

Fund balances, beginning of year 1,920,773      767,614         99,547           433,211         3,221,145      

Fund balances, end of year 2,520,659$    2,472,491$    81,215$         453,216$       5,527,581$    
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues   
Taxes 575,000$       575,000$       664,103$       89,103$         
Investment income 35,000           35,000           95,004           60,004           

Total revenues 610,000         610,000         759,107         149,107         

Expenditures
Current:

Culture and recreation 1,306,500 1,409,500 159,221 1,250,279      
Total expenditures 1,306,500      1,409,500      159,221         1,250,279      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (696,500)        (799,500)        599,886         1,399,386      

Net change in fund balances (696,500)        (799,500)        599,886         1,399,386      

Fund balances, beginning of year 1,920,773      1,920,773      1,920,773      -                 

Fund balances, end of year 1,224,273$    1,121,273$    2,520,659$    1,399,386$    

- 67 -
82

Item 8A.



CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - ARCHIBALD PARK FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues   
Intergovernmental 437,500$       437,500$       36,766$         (400,734)$     
Charges for services 540,000         540,000         751,076         211,076         
Investment income 14,000           14,000           35,517           21,517           

Total revenues 991,500         991,500         823,359         (168,141)       

Expenditures
Current:

Culture and recreation 5,004,477 5,004,477 815,865 4,188,612      
Total expenditures 5,004,477      5,004,477      815,865         4,188,612      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (4,012,977)    (4,012,977)    7,494             4,020,471      

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -                -                1,750,000      1,750,000      
Transfers out (52,617)         (52,617)         (52,617)         -                

Total other financing sources (uses) (52,617)         (52,617)         1,697,383      1,750,000      

Net change in fund balances (4,065,594)    (4,065,594)    1,704,877      5,770,471      

Fund balances, beginning of year 767,614         767,614         767,614         -                

Fund balances, end of year (3,297,980)$   (3,297,980)$   2,472,491$    5,770,471$    
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GAS TAX FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues   
Taxes 55,000$         55,000$         57,377$         2,377$           
Intergovernmental 45,000           45,000           43,351           (1,649)            
Investment income 2,500             2,500             4,132             1,632             

Total revenues 102,500         102,500         104,860         2,360             

Expenditures
Current:

Transportation 141,000         141,000         123,192         17,808           
Total expenditures 141,000         141,000         123,192         17,808           

Net change in fund balances (38,500)          (38,500)          (18,332)          20,168           

Fund balances, beginning of year 99,547           99,547           99,547           -                 

Fund balances, end of year 61,047$         61,047$         81,215$         20,168$         
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - DEBT SERVICE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues   
Investment income 10,000$         10,000$         20,005$         10,005$         

Total revenues 10,000           10,000           20,005           10,005           

Expenditures
Debt service:

Principal retirement 110,000         110,000         115,000         (5,000)            
Interest and fiscal charges 195,000         195,000         182,950         12,050           

Total expenditures 305,000         305,000         297,950         7,050             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (295,000)        (295,000)        (277,945)        17,055           

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 275,000         275,000         297,950         22,950           

Net change in fund balances (20,000)          (20,000)          20,005           40,005           

Fund balances, beginning of year 433,211         433,211         433,211         -                 

Fund balances, end of year 413,211$       413,211$       453,216$       40,005$         
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES (EMS)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

REVENUES
EMS operating reimbursement 555,911$       

Total revenues 555,911         

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Salaries, wages, and employees benefits 588,922         
Insurance 9,100             
Repairs and maintenance 15,038           
Uniforms 14,132           
Fuel 14,889           
Other 8,664             

Total expenditures 650,745         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (94,834)$        
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Statistical Section 

This part of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida’s annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed 
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note 
disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the City’s overall financial health. 
 
Contents  
 
Financial Trends  (Schedules 1-4) 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial 
performance and well-being have changed over time. 

 
Revenue Capacity (Schedules 5-8) 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the factors affecting the City’s 
ability to generate its property and sales taxes. 

 
Debt Capacity (Schedules 9-11) 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s 
current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

 
Demographic and Economic Information (Schedules 12-13) 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the City’s financial activities take place and help make comparisons 
over time and with other governments. 

 
Operating Information (Schedules 14-16) 

These schedules contain information about the City’s operations and resources to help the reader 
understand how the City’s financial information relates to the services the City provides and the 
activities it performs. 

 
Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual 
comprehensive financial reports for the relevant year. 
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 1 - Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Governmental activities
Net investment in capital assets 13,799,242$  17,176,826$  20,834,168$  19,115,318$  18,849,172$  21,426,039$  19,243,130$  19,645,954$  19,163,068$  18,968,572$  
Restricted 1,491,307      1,394,219      1,822,272      2,537,922      2,506,064      3,244,903      3,838,490      3,476,218      3,615,143      5,733,288      
Unrestricted 10,839,038    10,470,942    6,659,456      8,682,268      9,545,575      10,216,657    11,324,497    12,787,295    17,182,133    16,556,312    

Total governmental activities net position 26,129,587$  29,041,987$  29,315,896$  30,335,508$  30,900,811$  34,887,599$  34,406,117$  35,909,467$  39,960,344$  41,258,172$  

Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets 3,635,279$    3,971,754$    5,030,687$    3,106,312$    5,177,035$    6,176,268$    5,151,256$    7,044,923$    7,123,928$    7,134,291$    
Restricted -                -                -                3,123,891      1,744,352      502,475         506,948         617,414         646,382         638,173         
Unrestricted 2,432,863      2,395,490      1,721,782      2,551,955      2,709,841      3,275,804      4,582,530      3,552,495      3,179,555      5,617,279      

Total business-type net position 6,068,142$    6,367,244$    6,752,469$    8,782,158$    9,631,228$    9,954,547$    10,240,734$  11,214,832$  10,949,865$  13,389,743$  

Total primary government
Net investment in capital assets 17,434,521$  21,148,580$  25,864,855$  22,221,630$  24,026,207$  27,602,307$  24,394,386$  26,690,877$  26,286,996$  26,102,863$  
Restricted 1,491,307      1,394,219      1,822,272      5,661,813      4,250,416      3,747,378      4,345,438      4,093,632      4,261,525      6,371,461      
Unrestricted 13,271,901    12,866,432    8,381,238      11,234,223    12,255,416    13,492,461    15,907,027    16,339,790    20,361,688    22,173,591    

Total primary government net position 32,197,729$  35,409,231$  36,068,365$  39,117,666$  40,532,039$  44,842,146$  44,646,851$  47,124,299$  50,910,209$  54,647,915$  

Note:
GASB No. 68 was implemented in 2016.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 2 - Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Expenses
Governmental activities:

General government 1,738,593$    2,459,928$    3,132,603$    3,741,235$    3,371,549$    3,630,067$    4,254,336$    3,768,129$    3,900,539$    4,735,227$    
Physical environment 397,459         418,301         355,628         359,015         347,428         388,376         554,824         578,761         698,848         4,184,881      
Transportation -                -                86,402           86,769           90,246           99,993           102,045         91,971           108,047         123,192         
Public safety 2,419,548      2,664,433      2,789,136      2,920,618      3,100,023      3,384,679      3,168,751      3,255,594      3,353,919      3,744,742      
Culture and recreation 1,226,418      1,446,682      1,915,085      2,060,546      1,956,408      1,974,810      1,841,332      1,919,097      2,050,431      2,473,170      
Parking 266,139         255,765         275,092         271,622         337,615         385,397         370,391         409,434         481,837         8,946             
Interest and other fees on long term debt 522,578         192,169         320,334         343,386         126,186         231,620         216,736         203,624         189,727         184,592         

Total governmental activities expenses 6,570,735$    7,437,278$    8,874,280$    9,783,191$    9,329,455$    10,094,942$  10,508,415$  10,226,610$  10,783,348$  15,454,750$  

Business-type activities:
Sanitation 1,120,079$    1,184,959$    1,173,844$    1,261,613$    1,267,370$    1,378,114$    1,383,213$    1,443,081$    1,514,246$    1,857,869$    
Stormwater 455,957         476,227         637,036         621,754         682,240         1,144,905      2,373,105      2,004,475      2,750,748      1,914,720      
Marina 2,095,009      1,872,121      1,880,631      2,306,407      2,533,025      2,266,351      2,013,784      2,557,482      3,567,718      3,489,965      
John's Pass Village -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Parking -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 623,678         

Total business-type activities expenses 3,671,045      3,533,307      3,691,511      4,189,774      4,482,635      4,789,370      5,770,102      6,005,038      7,832,712      7,886,232      

Total government expenses 10,241,780$  10,970,585$  12,565,791$  13,972,965$  13,812,090$  14,884,312$  16,278,517$  16,231,648$  18,616,060$  23,340,982$  

Program Revenues
Governmental activities:

Charges for services:
General government 808,209$       912,202$       1,101,012$    1,055,876$    1,198,947$    1,492,659$    1,096,603$    1,265,112$    1,503,261$    1,083,229$    
Public safety 601,222         626,273         628,352         653,046         701,730         703,678         267,253         271,274         280,151         300,222         
Culture and recreation 1,017,541      636,413         349,626         459,137         498,577         529,465         374,270         410,857         609,010         629,689         
Parking 717,859         1,285,041      2,075,709      2,072,161      2,073,573      2,244,975      2,288,946      2,811,724      3,406,055      685,528         

Operating grants and contributions -                6,626             -                116,939         38,134           277,542         798,829         767,838         775,714         4,131,707      
Capital grants and contributions 230,813         1,768,069      87,781           1,464,527      190,194         3,154,386      494,602         4,634             115,373         113,003         

Total governmental activities program revenues 3,375,644$    5,234,624$    4,242,480$    5,821,686$    4,701,155$    8,402,705$    5,320,503$    5,531,439$    6,689,564$    6,943,378$    

Business-type activities:
Charges for services:

Sanitation 1,145,198$    1,126,910$    1,257,616$    1,285,252$    1,285,159$    1,291,884$    1,263,496$    1,377,876$    1,854,440$    2,093,709$    
Stormwater 347,898         671,303         690,819         722,291         718,988         685,920         1,690,480      1,249,012      684,822         678,215         
Marina 2,185,742      1,991,260      2,000,166      2,446,408      2,634,733      2,511,476      2,356,385      3,013,226      4,171,926      4,127,532      
John's Pass Village -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Parking -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 3,503,006      

Operating grants and contributions -                3,300             3,270             3,237             3,209             3,187             44,232           2,453             11,221           35,031           
Capital grants and contributions -                -                78,350           1,736,607      621,907         434,290         -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total business-type activities program revenues 3,678,838      3,792,773      4,030,221      6,193,795      5,263,996      4,926,757      5,354,593      5,642,567      6,722,409      10,437,493    

Total government program revenues 7,054,482$    9,027,397$    8,272,701$    12,015,481$  9,965,151$    13,329,462$  10,675,096$  11,174,006$  13,411,973$  17,380,871$  
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 2 - Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Schedule 2: Continued
Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental activities (3,195,091)$  (2,202,654)$  (4,631,800)$  (3,961,505)$   (4,628,300)$   (1,692,237)$   (5,187,912)$   (4,695,171)$   (4,093,784)$   (8,511,372)$   
Business-type activities 7,793             259,466         338,710         2,004,021      781,361         137,387         (415,509)        (362,471)        (1,110,303)     2,551,261      

Total governmental net expense (3,187,298)$  (1,943,188)$  (4,293,090)$  (1,957,484)$   (3,846,939)$   (1,554,850)$   (5,603,421)$   (5,057,642)$   (5,204,087)$   (5,960,111)$   

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities:

Taxes:
Property taxes 1,490,180$    1,758,259$    2,101,355$    2,305,198$    2,483,174$    2,688,109$    3,533,688$    3,770,607$    4,134,405$    4,744,071$    
Franchise and utility taxes 1,246,640      1,249,780      1,236,625      1,485,784      1,545,823      1,632,840      1,651,917      1,787,986      1,937,878      1,694,133      

Intergovernmental revenues 1,165,875      1,212,668      2,401,947      1,018,915      1,039,773      1,103,831      1,051,820      1,099,137      1,164,634      1,435,065      
Local business tax receipts 71,249           71,842           -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 34,278           
Investment earnings 19,742           20,966           48,198           78,341           97,037           188,210         304,903         451,159         572,742         1,197,710      
Gain/(loss) on disposal of capital assets -                5,220             -                2,686             3,960             29,974           -                 -                 (5,837)            46,500           
Miscellaneous revenues 178,873         49,415           252,521         35,193           23,836           36,061           71,221           108,511         97,959           82,071           
Transfers 4,536,084      -                (55,000)         55,000           -                 -                 (372,600)        (1,018,879)     242,880         575,373         
BP settlement -                746,904         -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total governmental activities 8,708,643$    5,115,054$    5,985,646$    4,981,117$    5,193,603$    5,679,025$    6,240,949$    6,198,521$    8,144,661$    9,809,201$    

Business-type activities:
Investment earnings 180$              777$              38,077$         60,269$         60,111$         183,010$       293,594$       254,985$       235,637$       442,406$       
Gain/(loss) on disposal of capital assets -                28,211           -                20,400           -                 -                 -                 41,680           1,250             8,100             
Miscellaneous revenues 19,551           10,648           13,276           -                 7,598             2,922             35,512           21,025           851,329         13,484           
Transfers (4,536,084)    -                55,000           (55,000)          -                 -                 372,600         1,018,879      (242,880)        (575,373)        

Total business-type activities (4,516,353)    39,636           106,353         25,669           67,709           185,932         701,706         1,336,569      845,336         (111,383)        

Total government 4,192,290$    5,154,690$    6,091,999$    5,006,786$    5,261,312$    5,864,957$    6,942,655$    7,535,090$    8,989,997$    9,697,818$    

Total Change in Net Position
Governmental activities 5,513,552$    2,912,400$    1,353,846$    1,019,612$    565,303$       3,986,788$    1,053,037$    1,503,350$    4,050,877$    1,297,829$    
Business-type activities (4,508,560)    299,102         445,063         2,029,690      849,070         323,319         286,197         974,098         (264,967)        2,439,878      

Total government 1,004,992$    3,211,502$    1,798,909$    3,049,302$    1,414,373$    4,310,107$    1,339,234$    2,477,448$    3,785,910$    3,737,707$    
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 3 - Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

General Fund:
Nonspendable 424,229$        406,596$        387,874$        932,373$        877,253$        790,959$        683,937$        596,573$        513,391$        476,335$        
Restricted 580,963          629,489          461,386          592,329          -                 -                 -                 -                 32,169            145,172          
Committed 1,855,566       2,480,852       3,289,423       3,600,294       3,692,492       4,014,990       3,250,494       3,164,189       3,457,560       4,114,376       
Assigned 5,602,878       2,620,071       581,344          464,581          3,222,794       903,219          410,968          8,119              1,629,491       1,915,223       
Unassigned 3,871,126       5,370,831       5,493,842       5,108,200       3,273,992       6,364,966       8,919,096       10,753,573     12,420,743     11,624,984     

Total General Fund 12,334,762$   11,507,839$   10,213,869$   10,697,777$   11,066,531$   12,074,134$   13,264,495$   14,522,454$   18,053,354$   18,276,090$   

All other governmental funds:
Nonspendable -$               30$                 30$                 -$               845$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               
Restricted 910,344          744,508          1,360,886       1,945,593       2,506,064       3,244,903       3,838,490       3,518,751       3,582,974       5,588,116       
Committed -                 -                 192,000          193,564          194,921          197,918          474,999          486,441          898,054          1,130,483       
Assigned -                 20,192            858,286          90,892            53,038            32,294            -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total all other governmental funds 910,344$        764,730$        2,411,202$     2,230,049$     2,754,868$     3,475,115$     4,313,489$     4,005,192$     4,481,028$     6,718,599$     
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 4 - Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Revenues
  Taxes 2,736,820$    3,008,039$    3,337,980$    3,546,460$    3,785,095$    4,090,076$    5,286,371$    5,585,804$    6,146,225$    6,785,218$    
  Licenses and permits 637,928         452,182         146,127         130,338         105,901         122,092         1,410,732      1,583,363      1,887,414      1,629,358      
  Intergovernmental revenue 1,998,349      2,370,981      2,489,728      3,488,516      2,199,999      5,464,986      2,017,217      1,599,783      1,670,044      4,948,451      
  Charges for services 1,735,400      2,036,367      3,827,736      3,226,708      3,472,346      3,923,452      2,511,931      3,128,144      3,978,641      1,287,737      
  Fines and forfeitures 241,091         159,890         180,836         23,202           11,153           6,619             104,715         44,688           261,408         28,567           
  Investment earnings 19,742           20,966           48,198           78,340           83,832           176,260         304,903         451,159         572,742         1,197,710      
  Miscellaneous revenue 178,873         322,283         252,519         251,552         232,472         268,272         578,973         363,472         332,633         283,684         

Total revenues 7,548,203$    8,370,708$    10,283,124$  10,745,116$  9,890,798$    14,051,757$  12,214,842$  12,756,413$  14,849,107$  16,160,725$  

Expenditures
  General government 1,750,569$    2,149,840$    2,614,854$    3,387,885$    2,858,302$    3,128,844$    3,542,531$    3,327,715$    3,460,983$    3,787,104$    
  Physical environment 284,055         306,922         248,354         254,933         246,777         289,330         442,920         475,693         586,421         4,077,923      
  Transportation -                 -                 86,402           86,769           90,246           99,993           102,045         91,971           108,047         123,192         
  Public safety 2,330,872      2,518,423      2,647,305      2,630,950      2,783,768      2,900,493      3,004,044      3,108,547      3,193,420      3,498,456      
  Culture and recreation 948,430         1,080,304      1,348,342      1,339,397      1,273,233      1,341,461      1,186,759      1,272,894      1,471,130      1,862,929      
  Parking enforcement 252,357         243,278         264,918         259,651         284,300         322,056         297,854         337,106         420,399         (9,365)            
  Capital outlay 7,916,022      6,415,879      2,756,777      1,511,411      315,055         3,432,206      504,592         1,631,300      1,326,310      643,040         
  Debt Service:

Cost of issuance 225,515         63,393           49,526           -                 32,754           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Principal -                 100,000         333,000         1,306,000      2,183,000      608,092         543,735         460,901         481,101         155,420         
Interest 91,807           228,980         251,145         348,050         230,750         232,030         220,700         206,274         194,303         184,592         

Total expenditures 13,799,627$  13,107,019$  10,600,623$  11,125,046$  10,298,185$  12,354,505$  9,845,180$    10,912,401$  11,242,114$  14,323,291$  

Excess (deficit) of revenue over expenditures (6,251,424)$   (4,736,311)$   (317,499)$      (379,930)$      (407,387)$      1,697,252$    2,369,662$    1,844,012$    3,606,993$    1,837,434$    

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Issuance of debt 4,760,000      3,010,000      725,000         -                 1,297,000      -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Discount on debt issued (19,435)          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Transfers in 1,455,469      -                 -                 1,972,750      2,413,750      1,121,322      833,901         1,161,574      980,690         4,335,112      
Transfers out -                 -                 (55,000)          (1,917,749)     (2,413,750)     (1,121,322)     (1,206,501)     (2,058,174)     (737,810)        (3,759,739)     
Sale of capital assets or insurance proceeds -                 6,870             -                 627,686         3,960             30,598           31,673           2,250             156,863         47,500           
BP settlement -                 746,904         -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total other financing sources (uses) 6,196,034      3,763,774      670,000         682,687         1,300,960      30,598           (340,927)        (894,350)        399,743         622,873         

Net change in fund balances (55,390)$        (972,537)$      352,501$       302,757$       893,573$       1,727,850$    2,028,735$    949,662$       4,006,736$    2,460,307$    

Debt service as a percentage of 
  noncapital expenditures 1.6% 4.9% 7.4% 17.2% 24.2% 9.4% 8.2% 7.2% 6.8% 2.5%
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 5 - Taxable and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Ratio of Total
Real Personal Total Exempt Real Total Taxable Value to

Total Direct Property Property Taxable and Personal Estimated Total Estimated
Fiscal Year Tax Roll Tax Rate1 Taxable Value Taxable Value Value Property Actual Value2 Actual Value

2014 2013 1.7900 849,197,646      11,819,516      861,017,162      188,929,449     1,049,946,611     82.0%

2015 2014 1.9900 900,523,821      11,819,245      912,343,066      231,229,210     1,143,572,276     79.8%

2016 2015 2.2000 973,000,175      13,793,217      986,793,392      271,926,223     1,258,719,615     78.4%

2017 2016 2.2000 1,066,933,051   14,639,582      1,081,572,633   314,465,957     1,396,038,590     77.5%

2018 2017 2.2000 1,153,459,150   15,076,555      1,168,535,705   148,261,225     1,316,796,930     88.7%

2019 2018 2.2000 1,244,779,115   14,295,408      1,259,074,523   156,010,008     1,415,084,531     89.0%

2020 2019 2.7500 1,317,009,736   13,542,821      1,330,552,557   162,113,338     1,492,665,895     89.1%

2021 2020 2.7500 1,405,030,173   13,683,641      1,418,713,814   169,482,701     1,588,196,515     89.3%

2022 2021 2.7500 1,537,499,197   18,268,410      1,555,767,607   176,850,592     1,732,618,199     89.8%

2023 2022 2.7500 1,764,738,180   20,066,938      1,784,805,118   184,622,774     1,969,427,892     90.6%

Source:
Pinellas County Property Appraiser

Notes:
1) Tax rate is per $1,000 of taxable value.
2) Estimated Actual Value is the "Just Value" of the properties per Chapter 193.011, Florida Statutes, without exemptions.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 6 - Property Tax Rates

Direct and Overlapping Governments
Per $1,000 of Assessed Valuation

Last Ten Fiscal Years

City of Total
Madeira Beach Direct and

Operating Transit Overlapping
Fiscal Year Tax Roll Millage County1 School District Other2 Rates

2014 2013 1.7900           6.2535           8.0600           0.7305           1.7959           18.6299         

2015 2014 1.9900           6.2535           7.8410           0.7305           1.2799           18.0949         

2016 2015 2.2000           6.2535           7.3180           0.7500           1.2448           17.7663         

2017 2016 2.2000           6.2748           7.0090           0.7500           1.2262           17.4600         

2018 2017 2.2000           6.2748           7.0090           0.7500           1.2262           17.4600         

2019 2018 2.2000           6.2748           6.7270           0.7500           1.2086           17.1604         

2020 2019 2.7500           6.2748           6.5840           0.7500           1.1932           17.5520         

2021 2020 2.7500           6.2748           6.4270           0.7500           1.1800           17.3818         

2022 2021 2.7500           6.1250           6.3250           0.7500           1.1666           17.1166         

2023 2022 2.7500           5.6963           5.9630           0.7500           1.0978           16.2571         

Source:
Pinellas County Property Appraiser

Notes:

Chapter 200.081, Florida Statutes, limits the operating millage that may be levied to 10 mills.

Overlapping Rates

1) "County" includes Pinellas County's General Fund, Health Department and Emergency Medical Services (EMS) millage rates.  
The EMS millage rate is assessed only on Real Property.

2) "Other" includes Pinellas County Planning Council, Juvenile Welfare Board and Southwest Florida Water Management District.

Overlapping rates are those of local and county governments that apply to property owners within the City of Madeira Beach.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 7 - Principal Property Taxpayers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Percentage Percentage

Total Assessed Total Assessed
Taxpayer Taxable Value Rank Valuation Taxable Value Rank Valuation

Madeira Hotel Investors LLC 26,750,000$          1 1.52%

John's Pass Plaza LLC 16,220,000            2 0.92%

Shaner Madeira Beach LLC 14,800,000            3 0.84%

Barefoot Beach Resort South LLC 12,625,000            4 0.72% 3,897,000            7 0.50%

Publix Super Markets Inc. 11,464,063            5 0.65% 4,654,063            6 0.50%

Shoreline Island Resort LLC 11,294,442            6 0.64% 6,241,500            3 0.70%

JPV Hotel Property LLC 8,240,580              7 0.47%

Extra Space Properties Eighty Six LLC 7,020,000              8 0.40% 3,792,600            9 0.40%

Madeira Triangle Properties LLC 6,486,923              9 0.37%

R N J Madeira Beach Inc. 6,385,000              10 0.36% 4,715,000            5 0.50%

Investors Warranty of Amer Inc. 12,595,000          1 1.50%

919 Land Trust 6,582,818            2 0.80%

Pines Madeira LLC 6,054,884            4 0.70%

DAG Bros Inc. 3,802,860            8 0.40%

Musca Properties LLC 3,266,800            10 0.40%

Total taxable valuation of
 ten largest taxpayers 121,286,008          6.87% 55,602,525          6.50%

Total taxable valuation of
 other taxpayers 1,643,452,172       93.13% 805,414,637        93.50%

Total taxable valuation of
 all taxpayers 1,764,738,180$     100.00% 861,017,162$      100.00%

Source:
Pinellas County Property Appraiser

2023 2014
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 8 - Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Taxable Taxes Levied Collections in
Assessed Tax Rate for the Percentage Subsequent Percentage

Fiscal Year Tax Roll Valuation in Mills Fiscal Year1 Amount of Levy Years Amount of Levy

2014 2013 861,017,162      1.7900       1,541,221      1,452,929      94.27% 39,998           1,492,927      96.87%

2015 2014 912,343,066      1.9900       1,815,563      1,718,260      94.64% 45,400           1,763,660      97.14%

2016 2015 986,793,392      2.2000       2,170,945      2,055,955      94.70% 332                2,056,287      94.72%

2017 2016 1,081,572,633   2.2000       2,379,460      2,255,465      94.79% 10,365           2,265,829      95.22%

2018 2017 1,168,535,705   2.2000       2,574,410      2,444,466      94.95% 38,708           2,483,174      96.46%

2019 2018 1,259,074,523   2.2000       2,770,173      2,607,444      94.13% 80,665           2,688,109      97.04%

2020 2019 1,330,552,557   2.7500       3,659,020      3,529,569      96.46% 4,119             3,533,688      96.57%

2021 2020 1,418,713,814   2.7500       3,901,464      3,700,818      94.86% 69,789           3,770,607      96.65%

2022 2021 1,555,767,607   2.7500       4,278,362      4,028,179      94.15% 106,226         4,134,405      96.64%

2023 2022 1,784,805,118   2.7500       4,908,215      4,642,054      94.58% 102,017         4,744,071      96.66%

Note:
1) Gross taxes before discounts of 1% - 4%, depending on month paid.

Source:
Pinellas County Tax Collector

Fiscal Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date
Collected Within the

81
96

Item 8A.



CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 9 - Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Governmental activities:
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 4,740,565$    4,641,861$    4,552,509$    4,380,000$    4,280,000$    4,180,000$    4,075,000$    3,965,000$    3,855,000$    3,740,000$    
Interlocal Payments Revenue Bond, Series 2014 -                 3,010,000      2,820,000      1,892,000      -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Infrastructure Sales Surtax Revenue Note, Series 2016 -                 -                 672,000         484,000         293,000         98,000           -                 -                 -                 -                 

   Capital Improvement Refunding Revenu Bond, Series 2018 -                 -                 -                 -                 1,297,000      983,908         665,908         337,908         -                 -                 
Total governmental activities revenue bonds and notes 4,740,565      7,651,861      8,044,509      6,756,000      5,870,000      5,261,908      4,740,908      4,302,908      3,855,000      3,740,000      
   Capital lease obligations -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 109,520         86,785           63,884           114,189         73,770           
Total governmental activities 4,740,565$    7,651,861$    8,044,509$    6,756,000$    5,870,000$    5,371,428$    4,827,693$    4,366,792$    3,969,189$    3,813,770$    

Business-type activities:
Stormwater System Revenue Bond, Series 2015 -$               6,200,000$    5,856,000$    5,504,000$    5,142,000$    4,771,000$    4,390,000$    -$               -$               -$               
Capital Improvement Revenue Bond, Series 2019 -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               15,063,000$  15,063,000$  14,509,000$  13,938,000$  13,349,000$  
Stormwater System Revenue Bond, Series 2020 -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               4,031,000$    3,613,000$    3,188,000$    

Total business-type activities revenue bonds -                 6,200,000      5,856,000      5,504,000      5,142,000      19,834,000    19,453,000    18,540,000    17,551,000    16,537,000    
   Capital lease obligations -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 125,486         100,322         74,535           130,610         97,910           
Total business-type activities -$               6,200,000$    5,856,000$    5,504,000$    5,142,000$    19,959,486$  19,553,322$  18,614,535$  17,681,610$  16,634,910$  

Total primary government outstanding debt 4,740,565$    13,851,861$  13,900,509$  12,260,000$  11,012,000$  25,330,914$  24,381,015$  22,981,327$  21,650,799$  20,448,680$  

Total outstanding debt as a percentage of personal income: 2.4% 7.4% 7.0% 5.6% 4.6% 9.9% 9.7% 9.1% 8.57% 8.01%

Total outstanding debt per capita: 104$              326$              316$              259$              216$              464$              452$              415$              391$              315$              

Note:
The City of Madeira Beach is not subject to any legal limitations on the issuance of debt.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 10 - Computation of Direct and Overlapping Governmental Debt

September 30, 2023

Percentage Amount
Applicable to Applicable to

Debt City of City of
Governmental Unit Outstanding Madeira Beach Madeira Beach

City of Madeira Beach
Total direct debt 3,813,770$      100% 3,813,770$      

Pinellas County Government:
  Pinellas County School Board
    Bonds and notes -$                 
    Capital leases 110,718,401    

     Pinellas County Governmental Activities
    Bonds and notes 2,099,669        

       Capital leases 31,298,003      

Total overlapping debt 144,116,073    1.61% 2,320,910        

Total direct and overlapping debt 6,134,680$      

Total direct and overlapping debt as a percentage of personal income: 2.40%

Total direct and overlapping debt per capita: 1,560.59$        

Note:

Sources: 
Pinellas County Property Appraiser
Pinellas County Finance Department
Pinellas County School Board

The City's share of overlapping debt is based on the ratio of the City's taxable value of $1,784,805,118 to the County's 
taxable value of $110,826,846,451 for the 2022 tax roll.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 11 - Pledged Revenue Coverage

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2013
Pledged revenue sources:

Utility Services Taxes 753,102$       722,007$       741,662$       751,504$       774,744$          832,997$          851,419$          902,158$       944,250$       1,026,165$    
Half Cent Sales Tax Revenue 248,444        260,470        272,519        274,044        284,094            288,236            299,744            320,977         354,885         328,971         
Franchise Fee Revenue 493,538        527,771        494,963        489,758        527,177            568,966            547,080            572,480         626,343         677,844         
Guaranteed Entitlement Revenue 174,090        174,090        174,090        158,715        159,793            161,844            161,507            165,005 174,167         176,981         

Total pledged revenues 1,669,174      1,684,338      1,683,235      1,674,021      1,745,808         1,852,043         1,859,750         1,960,620      2,099,645      2,209,961      

Debt service:
Principal -                100,000        90,000          95,000          100,000            100,000            105,000            105,000         110,000         115,000         
Interest 91,807          209,013        206,163        203,388        199,113            196,112            193,112            191,538         186,525         182,950         

Total debt service 91,807          309,013        296,163        298,388        299,113            296,112            298,112            296,538         296,525         297,950         
Coverage ratio: 18.18 5.45 5.68 5.61 5.84 6.25 6.24 6.61 7.08 7.42

Interlocal Payments Revenue Bond, Series 2014
Pledged revenue sources:

Interlocal agreement 128,469        141,766        1,049,529      558,920        -                    -                    -                    -                -                -                
Total pledged revenues 128,469        141,766        1,049,529      558,920        -                    -                    -                    -                -                -                

Debt service:
Principal -                -                190,000        485,000        1,892,000         -                    -                    -                -                -                
Interest -                19,967          41,685          33,743          24,698              -                    -                    -                -                -                

Total debt service 19,967          231,685        518,743        1,916,698         -                    -                    -                -                -                
Coverage ratio: -                7.10 4.53 1.08 -                    -                    -                    -                -                -                

Stormwater System Revenue Bond, Series 2015
Pledged revenue sources:

Stormwater drainage fees 337,303        671,303        691,348        688,304        686,399            685,920            678,652            -                -                -                
Total pledged revenues 337,303        671,303        691,348        688,304        686,399            685,920            678,652            -                -                -                

Debt service:
Principal -                -                344,000        352,000        362,000            371,000            381,000            -                -                -                
Interest -                20,965          160,580        151,646        142,478            133,074            123,569            -                -                -                

Total debt service -                20,965          504,580        503,646        504,478            504,074            504,569            -                -                -                
Coverage ratio: -                32.02 1.37 1.37 1.36 1.36 1.35 -                -                -                

Infrastructure Sales Surtax Revenue Note, Series 2016
Pledged revenue sources:

Local Option Sales Tax -                -                436,346        449,245        477,312            499,379            527,970            -                -                -                
Total pledged revenues -                -                436,346        449,245        477,312            499,379            527,970            -                -                -                

Debt service:
Principal -                -                53,000          188,000        191,000            195,000            98,000              -                -                -                
Interest -                -                3,298            9,938            6,940                3,888                779                   -                -                -                

Total debt service -                -                56,298          197,938        197,940            198,888            98,779              -                -                -                
Coverage ratio: -                -                7.75 2.27 2.41 2.51 5.34 -                -                -                

Capital Improvement Refunding Revenue Bond, Series 2018
Pledged revenue sources:

 Non-ad valorem revenues -                -                -                -                -                    345,121            344,845            344,348         343,399         -                
Total pledged revenues -                -                -                -                -                    345,121            344,845            344,348         343,399         -                

Debt service:
Principal -                -                -                -                -                    312,000            318,000            328,000         337,908         -                
Interest -                -                -                -                -                    32,029              26,845              16,348           5,491            -                

Total debt service -                -                -                -                -                    344,029            344,845            344,348         343,399         -                
Coverage ratio: -                -                -                -                -                    1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 -                

Capital Improvement Revenue Bond, Series 2019
Pledged revenue sources:

 Non-ad valorem revenues -                -                -                -                -                    -                    372,516            1,007,930      1,007,661      1,007,855      
Total pledged revenues -                -                -                -                -                    -                    372,516            1,007,930      1,007,661      1,007,855      

Debt service:
Principal -                -                -                -                -                    -                    -                    554,000         571,000         589,000         
Interest -                -                -                -                -                    -                    372,516            453,930         436,661         418,855         

Total debt service -                -                -                -                -                    -                    372,516            1,007,930      1,007,661      1,007,855      
Coverage ratio: -                -                -                -                -                    -                    1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Stormwater System Revenue Bond, Series 2020
Pledged revenue sources:

 Non-ad valorem revenues -                -                -                -                -                    -                    -                    449,423         487,736         487,505         
Total pledged revenues -                -                -                -                -                    -                    -                    449,423         487,736         487,505         

Debt service:
Principal -                -                -                -                -                    -                    -                    411,000         418,000         425,000         
Interest -                -                -                -                -                    -                    -                    38,423           69,736           62,505           

Total debt service -                -                -                -                -                    -                    -                    449,423         487,736         487,505         
Coverage ratio: -                -                -                -                -                    -                    -                    1.00 1.00 1.00

The City of Madeira Beach had no outstanding debt prior to October 2013

The Bond Series 2018 was issued to refund the Series 2014 in FY18.  The City has set aside funds to cover 100% of the future debt service for the Series 2018 Bond. 
    There were no principal or interest debt service payments required in FY18.

The Bond Series 2019 was issued to finance roadway and stormwater improvements over multiple years beginning in FY20.  There were no required debt service requirements in FY19.

The Bond Series 2020 was issued to refund the Series 2015 in FY21.  There were no principal debt service payments required in FY21.
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Per Capita
Personal Personal Median Unemployment

Fiscal Year Population1 Income1 Income Age1 Rate2

2014 4,323 45,574             197,016,402    47.00 6.7%

2015 4,399 42,475             186,847,525    54.80 6.0%

2016 4,495 43,989             197,730,555    55.20 4.2%

2017 4,613 47,342             218,388,646 55.80 3.1%

2018 4,673 51,008             238,360,384 58.10 2.7%

2019 4,677 54,565             255,200,505 56.90 2.7%

2020 4,647 53,962             250,761,414 56.70 5.9%

2021 4,565 55,320             252,535,800 57.10 3.6%

2022 4,565 55,320             252,535,800 57.20 4.0%

2023 3,931 64,937             255,267,347 59.80 4.5%

Sources:

CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 12 - Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years

1) Prior to Fiscal Year 2015, data was compiled using the State of Florida Bureau of Economic and Business 
Research (BEBR) database.  Fiscal Years 2015 and thereafter data is based on a comprehensive socioeconomic 
report conducted by the Pinellas County Economic Development Department.

2) Unemployment data is reported for Pinellas County rather than Madeira Beach
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 13 - Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Percentage of Percentage of
Number of Total City Number of Total City

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Publix (Supermarket) 160                1 9.41% 315                1 11.15%

Madeira Beach Elementary and Middle School 120                2 7.06% 150                3 5.31%

City of Madeira Beach (Municipality) 80                  3 4.71% 54                  6 1.91%

Friendly Fisherman (Restaurant) 60                  4 3.53% 50                  7 1.77%

Winn Dixie (Supermarket) 60                  5 3.53% 280                2 9.92%

Slyce Madeira Beach LLC 60                  6 3.53%

Landrys Seafood House Arlington Inc 50                  7 2.94%

Pappa John's Pizza 50                  8 2.94%

Hooters (Restaurant) 50                  9 2.94% 56                  5 1.98%

Tranquil Shores 40                  10 2.35%

Bubba Gump Shrimp Co. (Restaurant) 100                4 3.54%

McDonald's (Restaurant) 49                  8 1.74%

Begins Enterprise 39                  9 1.38%

Daiquiri Deck (Restaurant) 35                  10 1.24%

Total employment of ten largest employers 730                42.94% 1,128             39.94%

Total employment of other employers 970                57.06% 1,696             60.06%

Total employment of all employers 1,700             100.00% 2,824             100.00%

Source:
Pinellas County Economic Development

2023 2014
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 14 - Full-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Function

General Government 15.00      18.50      18.50      18.70      19.20      22.20      22.65      22.75      21.75      28.44      

Public Works:
Administration 0.50        0.70        0.70        2.00        2.00        3.00        2.30        2.10        2.30        2.55        
Streets -         -         -         -          -         -         -         -         -         -         
Sanitation 7.00        6.00        7.00        6.00        8.00        7.50        7.50        7.60        8.60        8.60        
Stormwater 3.00        3.00        3.00        3.00        3.00        4.00        4.00        4.80        3.80        4.10        

Public Safety:
Fire:

Firefighters and officers 13.00      13.00      13.00      13.00      14.00      14.00      14.00      14.00      14.00      14.00      
Civilians 1.00        1.00        1.00        1.00        1.00        1.00        1.00        1.00        1.00        1.00        

Parking Enforcement 3.10        3.05        2.75        2.75        3.00        3.00        3.25        2.50        3.00        3.75        

Parks and Recreation 9.20        11.10      9.50        12.00      12.00      11.25      12.25      11.75      13.25      14.00      

Municipal Marina 3.60        3.60        4.35        4.35        4.35        4.35        5.05        5.00        4.00        4.63        

Total 55.40      59.95      59.80      62.80      66.55      70.30      72.00      71.50      71.70      81.07      
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 15 - Operating Indicators by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Function 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

General Government
Community Development:

Building permits issued 769         781         950         979         1,068      1,033      941         1,090      908         1,065      
Occupational licenses issued 566         796         953         884         863         778         813         835         960         963         

Public Safety
Law Enforcement1:

Arrests made 371         569         540         316         175         162         332         527         470         318         
Traffic citations issued 520         647         626         668         510         3,154      2,151      2,874      3,199      2,595      

Fire Department:
Emergency responses 1,875      1,903      1,715      1,805      1,195      1,729      1,818      1,965      1,841      1,978      
Fires and other non-medical emergencies 410         480         464         448         242         430         475         552         570         582         
Emergency medical calls 1,465      1,423      1,251      1,356      953         1,299      1,343      1,413      1,271      1,396      
Fire inspections completed 299         313         108         15           120         167         112         110         221         384         

Parking Enforcement:
Parking citations issued 10,297    6,059      7,184      7,015      3,511      5,746      3,846      1,714      6,103      -         

Note:
1) Law Enforcement services are provided by the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office.
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA
Schedule 16 - Capital Asset Statistics by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Function

Transportation:
  Streets - paved (miles) 18.2        18.2        18.2        18.2        18.2        18.2        18.2        18.2        18.2        18.2        
  Streets - unpaved (miles) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          
  Traffic signals 7.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          

Public safety:
  Fire Stations 1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          
  Police Stations (1) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          

Culture and recreation:
  Parkland acreage 13.6        13.6        13.6        13.6        13.6        13.6        13.6        13.6        13.6        13.6        
  Playgrounds 1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          
  Athletic fields 4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          
  Tennis courts 4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          2.0          2.0          2.0          2.0          2.0          2.0          
  Basketball courts 1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          
  Community center 1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          
  Marina 1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          1.0          
  Beach access areas 12.0        12.0        12.0        12.0        18.0        18.0        18.0        18.0        18.0        18.0        
  Picnic areas 5.0          5.0          5.0          5.0          7.0          7.0          7.0          6.0          6.0          6.0          

Notes:
1) Law Enforcement services are provided by the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department. Deputies have a designated office within City Hall.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS  

To the Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners, 
  City of Madeira Beach, Florida: 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida (the City) as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated March 25, 2024.  

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the City's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 25, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER REQUIRED 
BY CHAPTER 10.550, RULES OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 

To the Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners, 
  City of Madeira Beach, Florida: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the basic financial statements of City of Madeira Beach, Florida (the City), as of and for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated March 25, 2024. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor 
General.  

Other Reporting Requirements 

We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Accountants’ Report on an examination conducted in 
accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, regarding compliance requirements 
in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. Disclosures in those reports, which are 
dated March 25, 2024, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter. 

Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective 
actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial 
audit report. The following summarizes the status of prior year findings and recommendations. There 
were no second preceding year findings that remain unresolved.  

2022-001 – Impact Fee Accounting – Corrective action taken.  

2022-002 – Unexpended Balance – Building Permits – Corrective action not taken. See 2023-001. 

Official Title and Legal Authority 

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this 
management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The legal authority for the 
primary government and component units of the reporting entity is disclosed in Note 1 of the basic 
financial statements. 
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Financial Condition and Management 

Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and report the results of our determination as to whether or not the City has met one or more 
of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific 
conditions met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the City, did not meet any of the 
conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 

Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 
condition assessment procedures. It is management’s responsibility to monitor the City’s financial 
condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by 
management and the review of financial information provided by same.  

Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to address in the management letter any 
recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, see the following 
recommendations:  

2023-001 – Unexpended Balance – Building Permits 

Section 553.80(7)(a) of Florida Statutes has been updated to limit the amount of unexpended 
building permit funds carried forward to future fiscal years to no more than the City’s average 
operating budget for enforcing the Florida Building Code for the previous four (4) fiscal years. A 
local government must use any funds in excess of this limitation to rebate or reduce fees. The City’s 
unexpended building permit funds at September 30, 2023, exceeded the City’s average operating 
budget for enforcing the Florida Building Code for the previous four fiscal years by approximately 
$342,000. The City should identify how it intends to reduce the amount of unexpected building code 
balances in order to comply with Section 553.80(7)(a) of Florida Statutes. Such action may require 
the City to modify subsequent fiscal year budgets. 

Special District Component Units 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.c., Rules of the Auditor General, requires, if appropriate, that we communicate the 
failure of a special district that is a component unit of a county, municipality, or special district, to 
provide the financial information necessary for proper reporting of the component unit within the audited 
financial statements of the county, municipality, or special district in accordance with Section 
218.39(3)(b), Florida Statutes. In connection with our audit, we did not note any special district 
component units that failed to provide the necessary information for proper reporting in accordance with 
Section 218.39(3)(b), Florida Statutes. 

Additional Matters 

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, 
that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of 
those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings. 

Management’s Response to Findings 

The City’s response to the findings identified in our audit is outlined as listed in the table of contents. The 
City’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements, and accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

 

108

Item 8A.



 

- 94 - 

Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General, Federal and other granting agencies, Board of Commissioners, management, others within the 
City, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 25, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ EXAMINATION REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners, 
  City of Madeira Beach, Florida: 

We have examined the City of Madeira Beach, Florida’s (the City) compliance with Section 218.415, 
Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies (the Statute), for the year ended September 30, 
2023. The City’s management is responsible for the City’s compliance with those requirements. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the City’s compliance based on our examination. Our 
responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance by evaluating the City’s compliance with those 
requirements and performing other procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to express an 
opinion that conveys the results of our evaluation based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with the attestation standards for a direct examination 
engagement established by the AICPA. Those standards require that we obtain reasonable assurance by 
evaluating whether the City complied with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government 
Investment Policies, for the year ended September 30, 2023, and performing other procedures to obtain 
sufficient appropriate evidence to express an opinion that conveys the results of evaluation of the City’s 
compliance based on our examination during the year ended September 30, 2023. The nature, timing, and 
extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of risks of material 
noncompliance with those requirements, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the evidence we 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

We are required to be independent of City, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our examination engagement. 
 
In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for the 
year ended September 30, 2023. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 25, 2024 
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Management’s Response to Findings 

 
2023-001 – Unexpended Balance – Building Permits 
 
Regarding the issue of unexpended carryforward within the Building Fund, Florida Statute 
553.80(7)(a)(2) an allowable use of excess funds could be “to pay for the construction of a building or 
structure that houses a local government’s building code enforcement agency or the training programs for 
building officials, inspectors, or plans examiners associated with the enforcement of the Florida Building 
Code.” During the fiscal year 2024 budget process, the City will establish a multi-year capital 
improvement plan for the Building Fund, which will include a plan to maintain compliance with Section 
553.80(7)(a), Florida Statutes. 
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GFOA Certificate of Achievement
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Auditors’ Reports

• Independent Auditors’ Report (pages 9-11)
• Unmodified Opinion

• Report on Internal Control and Compliance (pages 90-91)
• No internal control or compliance findings

• Management Letter Required by Chapter 10.550 (pages 92-94)
• 1 other recommendation – Building Permit Fund
• 1 prior year comment corrected

• Independent Accountants’ Examination Report (page 95)
• In compliance with specified investment statutes
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General Fund (Page 27)

9/30/20209/30/20219/30/20229/30/2023Fund Balance

$            683,937$            596,573$            513,391$                476,335Nonspendable
-0--0-32,169145,172Restricted

3,250,4943,164,1893,457,5604,114,376Committed
410,9688,1194,087,0781,915,223Assigned

8,919,09610,753,57310,073,35511,624,984Unassigned
$       13,264,495$       14,522,454$         18,163,553$           18,276,090Total

History of Fund Balance in the General Fund:
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General Fund (continued)

Total Assigned/Unassigned Fund Balance $ 13,540,207

2022 Expenditures and Transfers Out $ 15,828,904

Percentage Assigned/Unassigned Fund Balance
as % of Expenditures and Transfers out: 85.5%

Prior Year % 159%

GFOA Minimum Recommendation = 2 Months At least 16.7%

116

Item 8A.



Business-Type Funds  (Page 31)

History of Unrestricted Net Position in Proprietary Funds:

9/30/20209/30/20219/30/20229/30/2023Fund
$       1,100,660$       1,022,636$       1,328,112$        1,449,862Sanitation

2,618,2081,355,24973,754486,464Stormwater
794,6071,174,6101,777,6892,568,505Marina

-0--0--0-1,112,448Parking
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Other Items

• Building Fund
• Fund Balance at 9/30/2023: $1,191,018
• Increase (Decrease) for year: $41,334

• Other Governmental Funds
• Fund Balance at 9/30/2023: $5,527,581
• Increase (Decrease) for year: $2,306,436
• No individual deficit fund balances

• Pensions: Impact of Net Position Liability (FRS)
• Governmental Activities

• $2,907,866 net position liability (allocated from FRS)
• Business-type activities

• $59,409 net pension liability allocation
• General / Government Funds

• No impact
• All required contributions being made
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QUESTIONS

119

Item 8A.



 

 

EMS FINANCIAL INFORMATION ATTESTATION FORM 
 

Instructions: 
  

In accordance with the ALS First Responder Agreement, funds provided by the EMS Authority must be used solely for EMS 
Allowable Costs. Any unspent balance at the conclusion of a fiscal year must be accounted for and returned to the EMS 
Authority. 

 
The following form is provided for consistent cost reporting and shall be submitted within ten (10) business days of 
Contractor’s receipt of Annual External Audit.  

 

To be Completed by Contractor: 

City or Fire District (Contractor): 

Name of Person Completing Form: 

 

City of Madeira Beach 

Andrew Laflin 

 

_ 

 

Phone Number and Email Address:  727-391-9951 alaflin@madeirabeachfl.gov _ 

Fiscal Year: 2023  
 
 
 

EMS Funding Received by Contractor $555,911 Audit Page: 71 
EMS Allowable Costs Incurred by Contractor $650,745 Audit Page: 71 
Difference (If excess, amount due to Pinellas County) $(94,834) Audit Page: 71 

 
 
 

PLEASE INCLUDE A COPY OF ANNUAL AUDIT AND 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION AS NEEDED. 

 
 

We certify that, based on our audit of the entity's financial statement for the fiscal year 2023, we have reviewed payroll 
registers, salary and benefit actual expenditures, actual relief staffing costs incurred to maintain continuous staffing of 
Authority authorized positions, and actual costs of supervision, fuel, maintenance and repairs and other allowable costs. 
Nothing has come to our attention related to the costs identified in the audit of the financial statements to contradict 
that those costs, in line 2 above, are related to EMS Authorized positions and units and comply with the EMS Allowable 
Cost Standards contained in Pinellas County EMS Resolution 09-38. 

 
 
_________________________________________ 
 
Signature and Date, Contractor’s External Auditor 
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MINUTES 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 13, 2024 
2:00 P.M. 

 
 
The City of Madeira Beach Board of Commissioners held a regular meeting at 2:00 p.m. on March 
13, 2024, in the Patricia Shontz Commission Chambers at City Hall, located at 300 Municipal 
Drive, Madeira Beach, Florida. 
    

MEMBERS PRESENT:  James "Jim" Rostek, Mayor  
  Ray Kerr, Vice Mayor/Commissioner District 2 
  David Tagliarini, Commissioner District 1   
  Eddie McGeehen, Commissioner District 3 
   Anne-Marie Brooks, Commissioner District 4 
    
      MEMBERS ABSENT:    
 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Robin Gomez, City Manager 
   Clara VanBlargan, City Clerk 
   Andrew Laflin, Finance Director/City Treasurer 
  Thomas Trask, City Attorney 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
Mayor Rostek called the meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. 
 
2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
 City Attorney Tom Trask gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. ROLL CALL 

 
City Clerk Clara VanBlargan called the roll. All were present. 
 
4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
Attorney Trask requested to add the Easement Agreement for Condo A Company, LLC as Item 12 
E. under Contracts/Agreements. 
 
Commissioner Tagliarini requested Item 10 C. be moved to Item 10 A. 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr motioned to approve the agenda as amended. Commissioner Brooks seconded 
the motion. 
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ROLL CALL:  
 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 

 
5. PROCLAMATIONS 
 
There were no proclamations. 
 
6. PRESENTATIONS  
 

A. TI/MB Chamber of Commerce 2023 Community Partner of the Year 
 
City Manager Robin Gomez presented the 2023 Community Partner of the Year award to the 
Madeira Beach Recreation Department. 
 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Helen “Happy” Price, 13319 Boca Ciega Ave., gave an update on the Gulf Beaches Public Library 
and the recent fund raising event. 
 
Chuck Dillon, 529 Lillian Drive, recommended changing the parking at Tom and Kitty Stuart Park 
to include two resident parking spots, two motorcycle/golf cart parking spots, and one handicap 
spot. It would increase three pay spots.  
 
Tom Edwards, District One, thanked the City for the great job done on the Gulf Lane paving 
project. He suggested painting the curb and some parking bumpers. 
 
8. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
A. 2024-02-14, BOC Regular Meeting Minutes 

 
B. 2024-02-28, BOC Special Meeting Minutes 

 
C. 2024-02-28, BOC Regular Workshop Meeting Minutes 

 
Vice Mayor Kerr motioned to approve the minutes as written. Commissioner Tagliarini seconded 
the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  

122

Item 10A.



 

March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting  Page 3 of 13 
 
 

 

 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 
 

9. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

A. Ordinance 2023-01, John’s Pass Village Activity Center Plan – 2nd Reading and 
Public Hearing 

 
The item was moved from 10 C. 
 
City Attorney Tom Trask read Ordinance 2023-01 by title only and said it requires a supermajority 
or four-fifths vote to pass: 
 

ORDINANCE 2023-01 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, ADOPTING THE 
MADEIRA BEACH JOHN’S PASS VILLAGE ACTIVITY CENTER PLAN; PROVIDING 
FOR AN INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT OF PLAN PURPOSE AND OVERVIEW; 
PROVIDING FOR BACKGROUND HISTORY AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT; 
PROVIDING FOR THE PLAN AREA, EXISTING AND PROPOSED USES AND 
DENSITY/INTENSITY STANDARDS, AND DISTINCT CHARACTER DISTRICTS;  
PROVIDING FOR TRANSPORTATION IMPACTS AND CONNECTIVITY; 
PROVIDING FOR COASTAL HIGH HAZARD AREA CONSIDERATIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR PLANNING AND URBAN DESIGN PRINCIPLES; PROVIDING FOR  
IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO, AND 
CONSIDERATION BY, FORWARD PINELLAS AND THE COUNTYWIDE  
PLANNING AUTHORITY; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE FLORIDA 
STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY FOR THEIR REVIEW AND 
COMMENT; PROVIDING FOR THE FILING OF THIS AMENDMENT IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE CITY CLERK; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment. 
 
Paul Tilka, North Bayshore Drive, said research showed that the number of people per square mile 
in Madeira Beach exceeds the Pinellas County average. He did not see how they could 
accommodate any more large development projects. He suggested a neighborhood meeting so all 
residents would have an opportunity to attend. 
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Cristina Ponte, 14093 North Bayshore Drive, said after reviewing videos and information, the 
question of what it would do to the population density was not answered. She was concerned that 
it would almost double what could be done in John’s Pass Village. 
 
Happy Price, 13319 Boca Ciega Ave., said it has been going on for a while, and the County 
Commissioners approved it. She trusted the Commission and Planning Department would make 
the right decision to rebuild John’s Pass Village the way it is if something happened. She was 
concerned they would lose the largest free tourist attraction on the west coast of Florida. It needs 
to be changed. 
 
Katie Bowman, 701 Sunset Cove, said it would be great if it could help rebuild John’s Pass Village 
as it is if a disaster occurred. She would like to see them lower the numbers. 
 
Tom Edwards, District One, felt the Activity Center should be concentrated within the businesses 
that are there. 
 
Jerry Cantrell, 13322 First Street East, said they need to address the ability to rebuild. They can 
identify four buildings that cannot be rebuilt. 
 
Doug Andrews, a Madeira Beach business owner, said they should listen to the recommendations 
of staff and expert consultants, not to people who are not experts. It is a designation that the County 
Commissioners agree with. 
 
Bill Karns, a business owner, said if it does not pass, it could not be rebuilt. The area needs to be 
protected. The purpose of the Activity Center is to allow the property owners to rebuild and 
maintain the quaintness of the village. 
 
Chuck Dillon, 529 Lillian Drive, believed everyone is afraid of big construction. If anything would 
change, it will go before the Planning Commission and the Board of Commissioners for approval. 
 
Jeff Beggins, 429 Boca Ciega Drive District One and property owner in John’s Pass Village, 
thought staff did a phenomenal job on it and urged the Commission to pass it. 
 
Kathy Collier, 13145 Third Street East, said extending the Activity Center to 133rd Ave. makes 
her nervous. She did not understand why it would go that far if it was about John’s Pass being able 
to rebuild if there was a disaster. 
 
Community Development Director Jenny Rowan gave a PowerPoint presentation on the Activity 
Center Plan and Ordinance 2023-02, which would change the Future Land Use Map. It is the final 
action of the Board to adopt the two ordinances. She, Andrew Morris, Long Range Planner, and 
Marci Forbes, Community Development Engineer, responded to questions and comments from the 
Board. 
 

• In 2001, when the Duany plan was created, it was shown as a Neighborhood Center. It has 
been reduced to the Transitional Area, which it currently is. 
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• With planned development, you would need a development agreement. But with a 
development agreement, you would not need planned development. The minimum 
standards are within the development agreement.  

 
• If it does not pass, there would be a limit to units per acre if someone went through planned 

development because the standards were inconsistent. 
 

• The proposed is less than the county’s maximum standards for the Alternative Temporary 
Lodging Use Standards. What is proposed is 60% of what the county would by right 
approve. The lots in John’s Pass Village are very small. 
 

• It gives more control over design and negotiation. Because parking is included in the Floor 
Area Ratio (FAR), it can limit the number of rooms a hotel can have. 
 

• Commissioner Tagliarini suggested an amendment to two areas of the plan: lowering the 
bonus maximums at the Commercial Core and John’s Pass Resort Character Districts to 
75. 
 

• If the Commercial Core stays at 100 Units per Acre (UPA), a developer would have to 
meet the 3.0 FAR, which would include parking. It would be a balanced give and take. The 
Board would have the opportunity to structure things more when they start looking at the 
zoning requirements. 
 

• Andrew Morris, Long Range Planner, suggested two options for a compromise. One would 
be to split the difference and average 70 and 100 UPA and make it the max, which would 
be 87.5. The second option would be to cap it at 75 UPA for over an acre of land and allow 
up to the 3.0 FAR to retain the structured parking and ground floor retail. It would be better 
to compromise, reduce the density, and pass it with the necessary votes than to lose 
everything, and nothing would be fixed. 

 
Commissioner Tagliarini motioned to amend Ordinance 2023-01 to lower the bonus maximum in 
the Commercial Core from 100 to 87 UPA and the John’s Pass Resort from 100 to 75 UPA after 
2nd Reading and Public Hearing. Commissioner Brooks seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "NO" 
 
The motion carried 4-1. 

 
B. Ordinance 2023-02, Amending FLUM to add John’s Pass Village Activity Center – 

2nd Reading and Public Hearing 
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City Attorney Tom Trask read Ordinance 2023-02 by title only: 
 

ORDINANCE 2023-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION OF THE 
CITY’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FROM COMMERCIAL GENERAL, 
RECREATION/OPEN SPACE, RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM, RESIDENTIAL/ 
OFFICE/RETAIL, AND RESORT FACILITIES MEDIUM TO ACTIVITY 
CENTER FOR THE AREA AS SET FORTH IN THE ACCOMPANYING 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION IN EXHIBIT A ATTACHED HERETO AND 
HEREBY MADE A PART OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR 
FUTURE REVITALIZATION AND DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE 
ACTIVITY CENTER CATEGORY TO BE CONSISTENT WITH AND 
PURSUANT TO THE PROCEDURES, GUIDELINES AND STANDARDS 
OF THE JOHN’S PASS VILLAGE ACTIVITY CENTER PLAN AS 
ADOPTED BY ORDINANCE 2023-01, AND AS SUCH PLAN MAY BE 
IMPLEMENTED AND ADMINISTERED THROUGH THE ADOPTION 
OF A JOHN’S PASS VILLAGE ACTIVITY CENTER ZONING 
DISTRICT(S); PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO AND 
CONSIDERATION BY FORWARD PINELLAS AND THE  
COUNTYWIDE PLANNING AUTHORITY FOR A CORRESPONDING 
AMENDMENT OF THE COUNTYWIDE FUTURE LAND USE MAP TO  
THE COUNTYWIDE PLAN CATEGORY OF ACTIVITY CENTER  
(NEIGHBORHOOD CENTER); PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL    
TO THE FLORIDA STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC  
OPPORTUNITY FOR THEIR REVIEW AND COMMENT; PROVIDING 
FOR THE FILING OF THIS AMENDMENT TO THE CITY FUTURE  
LAND USE MAP IN THE OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK; PROVIDING  
FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND  
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment. 
 
Cristina Ponte, North Bayshore Drive, said she is disappointed that her question was not answered. 
She asked which building in John’s Pass Village could not be rebuilt. Most of the buildings in the 
John’s Pass Resort area are currently at 30-40 UPA, and now they are allowing by right 60 UPA. 
It doubled. 
 
Commissioner Tagliarini motioned to approve Ordinance 2024-02, Amending FLUM to add 
John’s Pass Village Activity Center, after 2nd Reading and Public Hearing. Commissioner Brooks 
seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
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Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "NO" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
 
The motion carried 4-1. 
 

C. Ordinance 2024-02, Open Accessory Structures – 1st Reading & Public Hearing  
 
Mayor Rostek suggested they postpone the item to a workshop meeting since there have been 
significant changes. 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr motioned to postpone the 1st Reading and Public Hearing of Ordinance 2024-02 
to the April 10, 2024, BOC regular meeting and discuss it at the March 27, 2024, BOC workshop 
meeting. Commissioner McGeehen seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 
 

D. Ordinance 2023-01, John’s Pass Village Activity Center Plan – 2nd Reading and 
Public Hearing 

 
The item was moved to 10 A.  
 
E. Ordinance 2024-03, An Ordinance adopting a code provision regarding parking 

meter overtime and failure to pay provisions – 2nd Reading and Public Hearing 
 
City Attorney Tom Trask read Ordinance 2024-03 by title only: 
 

ORDINANCE 2024-03 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, 
CREATING SECTION 66-70 TO PROVIDE DUTIES OF VEHICLE 
OPERATORS TO ACTUATE PARKING METERS AND AMENDING 
SECTION 66-72 TO PROVIDE FOR ADDITIONAL LIMITATIONS ON 
PARKING IN CITY PARKING LOTS AND BEACH ACCESS 
EASEMENTS IN CHAPTER 66 (TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES) OF THE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING 

127

Item 10A.



 

March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting  Page 8 of 13 
 
 

 

FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
The City Manager said it is to clarify and add language to the parking process. 
 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment.  
 
Tom Edwards, District One, said the ordinance conflicts with Section 66-66, which needs to be 
corrected. The City Attorney said if there is a conflict, it can be corrected by an ordinance. Mr. 
Edwards suggested they put a specific maximum length of a vehicle that could occupy a parking 
space. He suggested adding a specific length that a vehicle should be from a flashing signal, stop 
sign, or traffic control device located on the side of the roadway. He suggested erecting signs that 
read “No Parking 11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.” at the beach accesses near residences. 
 
The City Manager responded to Mr. Edwards’ comments: 
 

• A vehicle could be ticketed every hour but must be removed after two hours if ticketed. 
 

• The time the lots will not be enforced will remain from 12:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. 
 

• It is posted that vehicles over 18 feet long cannot be parked in a parking spot. 
 

• Putting a specific distance a vehicle should be from a stop sign would get too complicated. 
Visibility is only an issue in certain neighborhoods, and it is due to people’s landscaping. 

The consensus of the Board was to adopt the ordinance and revisit neighborhood parking 
procedures at a future workshop. 

Commissioner Tagliarini motioned to adopt Ordinance 2024-03, an ordinance adopting a code 
provision regarding parking meter overtime and failure to pay provisions, after 2nd Reading and 
Public Hearing. Commissioner McGeehen seconded the motion. 

 
ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 

 
11. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 
12. CONTRACTS/AGREEMENTS 

 

128

Item 10A.



 

March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting  Page 9 of 13 
 
 

 

A. Code Enforcement/Satellite Office  
 
The City Manager explained the item and recommended the Commission approve entering into an 
agreement with Mali Contracting Corporation. The budget was estimated at $260,000, and the bid 
amount was $219,683. 
 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
Mayor Rostek asked if they researched the Florida Department of Business and Professional 
Regulation website. The City Manager said yes. 
 
Commissioner Tagliarini motioned to allow staff to negotiate an agreement with Mali Corp. to 
construct the code enforcement office space. Commissioner Brooks seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 
 

B. Approve Agreement with Network People for Security Focused Information 
Technology Support and Consulting Services  

 
The City Manager said it is the proposed final five-year agreement. 
 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
The City Manager responded to questions and comments from the Board. 
 

• The City has been using different software in different departments for different functions, 
and Network People has been very supportive of working with the different vendors. 

 
• The City has been content and would like to continue working with Network People. 

 
Commissioner Brooks motioned to approve the contract with Network People for Security 
Focused Information Technology Support and Consulting Services. Commissioner McGeehen 
seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
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Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 
 

C. RFQ 23-12, Planning Services to Create and Implement a New City Master Plan 
 
Director Rowan explained the item and recommended proceeding with a Master Plan with Kimley-
Horn. 
 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment. There were no public comments.  
 
Commissioner Tagliarini motioned to proceed with Kimley-Horn for RFQ 23-12, Planning 
Services to create and implement a New City Master Plan. Vice Mayor Kerr seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 

 Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 
 

D. ADA Bus Purchase 
 
The City Manager requested approval to proceed with the purchase of the 2023 Starcraft Allstar 
XL bus. $200,000 was budgeted in the FY 2024 budget. The 2017 bus would be traded in for 
approximately $34,350. The total contract price would be $184,342. They have not located a 
specific grant, but continue to search. 
 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
Commissioner Brooks motioned to approve the purchase of an ADA bus. Commissioner Tagliarini 
seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
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The motion carried 5-0. 
 

E. Easement Agreement for Condo A Company, LLC 
 
The item was added to the Agenda. 
 
City Attorney Tom Trask said in 2017, the City entered into a development agreement with 
Madeira Beach Town Center, LLC, to develop about 6.6 acres within the Town Center special area 
plan. The project would be developed in phases; each phase would be established by parcels, and 
each parcel would be conveyed to a successor entity. One of the parcels is owned by Condo A 
Company, LLC, which is almost complete. The developer is obligated to provide the City with a 
public use pedestrian access easement for a ten-foot wide sidewalk. The property owner would be 
responsible for maintaining the sidewalk. He asked the Board for their approval. 
 
The City Attorney responded to questions and comments from the Board. 
 

• The easement is ten feet wide beginning at Condo B on 150th Ave. to the bridge. 
 

• The Dockmaster Building and the Marina easements would not be required until 
construction was complete. 

 
Commissioner Brooks motioned to approve the easement agreement for Condo A Company, LLC. 
Vice Mayor Kerr seconded the motion. 

 
ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 

 
13. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Resolution 2024-01, Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement – 2023 
 
City Attorney Tom Trask read Resolution 2024-01 by title only: 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-01 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE CITY 
OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, ADOPTING A STATEWIDE MUTUAL  
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AID AGREEMENT; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Fire Chief Clint Belk said it would allow the City to receive and give support and assistance after 
any disaster. 
 
Mayor Rostek opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
Commissioner Tagliarini motioned to adopt Resolution 2024-01, Statewide Mutual Aid 
Agreement 2023. Commissioner McGeehen seconded the motion. 
 

ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioner Tagliarini "YES" 
Commissioner McGeehen "YES" 
Vice Mayor Kerr  "YES" 
Commissioner Brooks  "YES" 
Mayor Rostek   "YES" 
 
The motion carried 5-0. 

 
14. STAFF REPORTS 
 
There were no staff member reports.  
 
15. AGENDA SETTING – March 27, 2024 BOC Regular Workshop Meeting  
 

A. JPV Zoning 
 

B. CRS and LMS 
 

C. Master Plan 
 

D. Board of Commissioners Policy Handbook – Review for changes 
 

E. RFP 2024-02 City Facility Cleaning Services bid discussion 
 

F. RFP 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration bid discussion 
 
Items added to the workshop agenda: 
 

1. Residential Parking discussion 
2. Ordinance 2024-02, Open Accessory Structures 
3. Ordinance 2024-04, Special Magistrate Provisions Relating to Code Enforcement 
4. Ordinance 2024-06, Special Magistrate Provisions Relating to Variances and Special 

Exceptions 
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5. Special Magistrate Agreement Approval 
6. Ordinance 2024-05, Amend Fees and Collections Procedure Manual 
7. Bicentennial Park – Added to the April workshop meeting 

 
16. REPORTS/CORRESPONDENCE 
 

A. Board of Commissioners 
 
The Board of Commissioners had no report. 
 

B. City Attorney 
 
The City Attorney had no report. 
 

C. City Clerk’s Report – March 2024 
 
The City Clerk reminded everyone of the election on Tuesday, March 19th and gave an overview 
of her March 2024 report. 
 

D. City Manager’s Reports – February 2024 
 
The City Manager reviewed the City Manager’s Report for February 2024 and said he would email 
it to the Board by Friday. 
 
17. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mayor Rostek adjourned the meeting at 4:44 p.m.  
 

 
______________________________  
James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor  

ATTEST:  
  
 
_____________________________________  
Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City Clerk 
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MINUTES 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
SPECIAL MEETING 

MARCH 27, 2024 
5:30 p.m. 

The City of Madeira Beach Board of Commissioners held a special meeting at 5:30 p.m. on March 
27, 2024, in the Patricia Shontz Commission Chambers at City Hall, located at 300 Municipal 
Drive, Madeira Beach, Florida. 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Ray Kerr, Vice Mayor/Commissioner District 2 
David Tagliarini, Commissioner District 1 
Eddie McGeehen, Commissioner District 3 
Anne-Marie Brooks, Commissioner District 4 

MEMBERS ABSENT:   James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Robin Gomez, City Manager 
Clara VanBlargan, City Clerk 
Thomas Trask, City Attorney  

1. CALL TO ORDER

Vice Mayor Kerr called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 

2. ROLL CALL

City Clerk Clara VanBlargan called the roll. Mayor Rostek was absent. 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT

There were no public comments. 

4. REPORTING THE UNOFFICIAL RESULTS OF THE MARCH 19, 2024 MUNICIPAL
ELECTION – CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH CHARTER AMENDMENT

A. March 19, 2024 Municipal Election Results – City of Madeira Beach Charter
Amendment

City Clerk Clara VanBlargan read the March 19, 2024, Unofficial Municipal Election Results from 
the Pinellas County Canvassing Board and announced that the Charter Amendment on the ballot 
did not pass by the voters. The Pinellas County Canvassing Board will meet on Friday, March 29, 
2024, to certify the results. The official results will be reported at the April 10th regular meeting. 
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Unofficial Municipal Election Results – City of Madeira Beach 
 

For City of Madeira Beach, Proposed Charter Amendment 
 

· City of Madeira Beach Charter Amendment 
 

To change the Candidate Qualifying Period to the first full week in December instead 
of the first two full weeks in December 

 
This charter amendment would shorten the length of the Qualifying Period. Should the 
Charter be amended? 

 
YES  236 votes 
NO  429 votes 
 

5. INDUCTION INTO OFFICE – NEWLY ELECTED MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS  

 
A. Commissioner District 1 – David Tagliarini 

 
City Clerk Clara VanBlargan administered the Oath of Office to District 1 Commissioner David 
Tagliarini. 
 

B. Commissioner District 2 – Ray Kerr 
 

City Clerk Clara VanBlargan administered the Oath of Office to District 2 Commissioner Ray 
Kerr. 
 
6. ROLL CALL  
 
City Clerk Clara VanBlargan called the roll of the Board of Commissioners. Mayor Rostek was 
not present at the meeting.   
 
 Roll Call:  
 
 Commissioner Tagliarini 
 Commissioner Ray Kerr 
 Commissioner Eddie McGeehen  
 Commissioner Anne-Marie Brooks 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:39 p.m.  
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_______________________________________ 
James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 _________________________________________ 
Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City Clerk  
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MINUTES 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGULAR WORKSHOP MEETING 

MARCH 27, 2024 
6:00 P.M. 

 
 
The City of Madeira Beach Board of Commissioners held a regular workshop meeting at 6:00 p.m. 
on March 27, 2024, in the Patricia Shontz Commission Chambers at City Hall, located at 300 
Municipal Drive, Madeira Beach, Florida. 
    

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Ray Kerr, Vice Mayor/Commissioner District 2 
  David Tagliarini, Commissioner District 1 
  Eddie McGeehen, Commissioner District 3 
  Anne-Marie Brooks, Commissioner District 4 

 
     MEMBERS ABSENT:  James "Jim" Rostek, Mayor 
 
     CITY STAFF PRESENT: Robin Gomez, City Manager  

   Clara VanBlargan, City Clerk 
   Andrew Laflin, Finance Director/City Treasurer 
   Thomas Trask, City Attorney 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
  
2. ROLL CALL 
 
City Clerk Clara VanBlargan called the roll. Mayor Rostek was absent. 
 
3. PRESENTATIONS  
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
5. BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

A. Board of Commissioners Policy Handbook – Review for Changes 
 
City Manager Robin Gomez said the Commission has ninety days to adopt the handbook. Any 
changes to the current manual will be voted on at the April 10th regular meeting. The following 
changes were made: 
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Article II., 4. Order of Business for BOC Regular Meetings, pp. 15-20 
 

· There will be a separate category for Approval of the Minutes, which requires a majority 
vote to approve the meeting minutes of previous meetings. (pp. 15 & 17) 
 
7. Approval of Minutes. A majority vote required to approve the minutes of the previous meetings.  

7. 8. Consent Agenda. The Consent Agenda shall be used to handle routine matters on the agenda 
expeditiously. Examples of Consent Agenda items are minutes, waivers for special events, bid or purchase 
awards for equipment, goods or services already approved within the budget, invoices, and budget transfers. 
There is no separate discussion of these items unless a Commission member requests an item be removed for 
consideration in its normal sequence on the agenda. Members of the public do not have discretion to remove 
items from the Consent Agenda, yet the Mayor, as Presiding Officer, may acknowledge any such request and 
remove an item on their behalf. The approval of the Consent Agenda shall be handled in one motion, i.e. "I 
move that the Consent Agenda, (items “x” through “z”) be approved; or if items are to be removed, a typical 
motion might be, "I move that we approve Consent Agenda items “x” through “z” with the exception of item 
“y” for discussion.”  
 

· Remove the Staff Report category. (pp. 15 & 18) 

13. Staff Reports. Non-workshop items. This section is set aside for staff reports regarding items such as 
monthly financial reports, special event updates, project updates, governmental and non-governmental 
project updates, and other updates on matters that do not get workshopped. Each staff report is limited to five 
(5) minutes. 
 

· Add “…and the organization or group you represent.” to the Public Comment item on the 
agenda. The City Attorney said there is no legal requirement for a person to give their name 
or address. (pp. 16 & 17) 

Manner of Addressing the Board of Commissioners. Each person addressing the Board of Commissioners 
shall step up to the microphone, give his or her name and address and the organization or group they 
represent, if any, in an audible tone of voice for the record and shall limit their address to five (5) minutes 
unless extended by the Mayor, more time may be granted to applicants and affected persons with legal 
standing in quasi-judicial hearings. Yielding of time for an additional five-minute period is allowed. If no 
time is yielded, the person speaking can ask for additional time to speak. If the additional time is appropriate, 
the Presiding Officer can offer the Commissioners the opportunity to consent to an extension. 

· The Board received clarification that an item can be added to the agenda at any meeting. 
The City Clerk said it has been advised to postpone discussion on any item added that 
might be controversial to another meeting. 
 
2024 GOVERNMENT-IN-THE-SUNSHINE MANUAL, P. 40) 
D. NOTICE AND PROCEDURES 1. Agenda The Sunshine Law does not mandate that an agency provide 
notice of each item to be discussed via a published agenda although the Attorney General’s Office has 
recommended the publication of an agenda, if available. The courts have rejected such a requirement because 
it could effectively preclude access to meetings by members of the general public who wish to bring specific 
issues before a governmental body. See Hough v. Stembridge, 278 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); and 
Yarbrough v. Young, 462 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (posted agenda unnecessary and public body not 
required to postpone meeting due to inaccurate press report which was not part of the public body’s official 
notice efforts).  
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Thus, the Sunshine Law does not require boards to consider only those matters on a published agenda. 
“[W]hether to impose a requirement that restricts every relevant commission or board from considering 
matters not on an agenda is a policy decision to be made by the legislature.” Law and Information Services, 
Inc. v. City of Riviera Beach, 670 So. 2d 1014, 1016 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). And see Grapski v. City of 
Alachua, 31 So. 3d 193 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010), review denied, 47 So. 3d 1288 (Fla. 2010) (Sunshine Law does 
not prohibit use of consent agenda procedure).  
 
Even though the Sunshine Law does not prohibit a board from adding topics to the agenda of a regularly 
noticed meeting, the Attorney General’s Office has advised boards to postpone formal action on any added 
items that are controversial. See AGO 03-53, stating that “[i]n the spirit of the Sunshine Law, the city 
commission should be sensitive to the community’s concerns that it be allowed advance notice and, therefore, 
meaningful participation on controversial issues coming before the commission.” While the Sunshine Law 
requires notice of meetings, not of the individual items which may be considered at that meeting, other 
statutes, codes, or ordinances may impose such a requirement and agencies subject to those provisions must 
follow them. See Inf. Op. to Mattimore, February 6, 1996.  
 
For example, s. 120.525(2), F.S., requires that agencies subject to the Administrative Procedure Act must 
prepare an agenda in time to ensure that a copy may be received at least 7 days before the event by any person 
in the state who requests a copy and who pays the reasonable cost of the copy. The agenda, along with any 
meeting materials available in electronic form excluding confidential and exempt information, shall be 
published on the agency’s website. Id. After the agenda has been made available, changes may be made only 
for good cause. Id.  
 
Similarly, special districts are required to post certain information on the district’s official website, including: 
“[a]t least 7 days before each meeting or workshop, the agenda of the event.” Section 189.069(2)(a)15., F.S. 
The information must remain on the website for at least 1 year after the event. Id. 
  

· Roll call on a vote will be rotated to include the Mayor. Vice Mayor Kerr asked the City 
Clerk to see if it is documented that the Mayor should be last on the roll call. 
 

Vice Mayor Kerr asked to discuss the 2024 meeting calendar at the April workshop meeting. 
  
6. CITY ATTORNEY   
 

A. Engagement Letter to Serve as Special Magistrate for the City of Madeira Beach  
 
City Attorney Tom Trask said Bart Valdez had been the Special Magistrate for the City since 2016 
at the rate of $190 per hour, with a rate of $55 per hour for paralegal work. After reviewing the 
Code Enforcement section of the Code, the Special Magistrate needs to be appointed every year. 
He asked the Board to consider appointing Mr. Valdez as the City’s Special Magistrate for the next 
year. Mr. Valdez would like to continue at the current rate of $190 per hour. The Engagement 
Letter will be on the agenda for the next regular meeting for approval. 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
The consensus of the Board was to move forward with it. 
 

B. Ordinance 2024-04, Special Magistrate – Code Enforcement  
 
The City Attorney said there were sections approved in the Florida Statutes that were not adopted 
in the Code. The ordinance would add the following to the Code: 
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· Language about anonymous complaints under Section 2-375. The City could not take 

action on anonymous complaints. 
 

· Section 2-375 ( e) states that a seller would be required to disclose, in writing, any pending 
code enforcement action to a buyer. 
 

· The reference “Code Inspector” was changed to “Code Enforcement Officer.” 
 

· The language of “City Commissioners” was changed to “Board of Commissioners.” 
 

· Language that states the compensation to be paid to the Special Magistrate would be 
determined by the City Manager subject to the Board’s approval. 
 

· There would be some changes to the numbering system in the Code. 
 

· Language in Section 2-378 to make it clear that the City is not obligated to continue to 
make repairs to properties that are not in compliance. 

 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
The consensus of the Board was to move forward with it. 
 

C. Ordinance 2024-06, Special Magistrate – Approval Process for Compensation Rate   
 
The City Attorney said he needed to change the language in the variance portion of the Code 
regarding the Special Magistrate's compensation rate. It would be determined by the City Manager 
subject to the Board’s consent. 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
The consensus of the Board was to move forward with it. 
 
7. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

A. Kimley-Horn Madeira Beach Master Plan Scope of Services Draft   
 
Community Development Director Jenny Rowan explained the item. She responded to questions 
and comments from the Board. 
 

· Kimley-Horn will focus on review of the zoning districts along the east side of Gulf 
Boulevard instead of the character districts. 

 
· They would follow urban design architecture guidelines. 
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· The City Manager suggested including Marine or Marina in Parks and Open Space in Task 
5, Plan Development. 

 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
The consensus of the Board was to move forward with it. 
 

B. Local Mitigation Strategy (LMS) and Community Rating System (CRS) Update 
 
Director Rowan said it is an annual update. Madeira Beach is a Class 7 in the Community Rating 
System (CRS). The Local Mitigation Strategy (LMS) is a countywide hazard mitigation plan. The 
LMS is a plan developed to reduce or eliminate the risks associated with natural and man-made 
hazards. Without an approved LMS, the City would not be able to apply for various Federal Hazard 
Mitigation Grants. The current LMS serves as the City’s Flood Plane Management Plan. The LMS 
will be updated in 2025, and they have already started the process. 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 

C. Ordinance 2024-02, Open Accessory Structures  
 
Vice Mayor Kerr said the Mayor requested that the item be postponed until the next workshop 
meeting. The Board consented. 
 

D. John’s Pass Village Activity Zoning Workshops 
 
Director Rowan said now that John’s Pass Village is an Activity Center, they will focus on the 
zoning. They have started to hold zoning workshops and plan on having two more on April 18th 
from 10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. and April 20th from 1:00 p.m. to 3:00 p.m. They wanted to start 
discussing heights and setbacks. She responded to questions and comments from the Board. 
 

· The workshop meetings should be held at a time that is most convenient for the majority 
of residents to attend. Director Rowan said she will add another workshop on April 13th 
from 10:00 a.m. to noon. 

 
· A notice of the upcoming workshops will be sent to every residence in the City. 

 
· The proposed height in the Commercial Core is 60 feet. However, the highest location on 

the ground is 61 feet. Director Rowan confirmed it was the parking garage. Something as 
big as the parking garage could be built in the Commercial Core. Andrew Morris, Long 
Range Planner, said anything being built in the Commercial Core would not be built over 
the right-of-way; it would have to be two separate buildings on two different lots. The Code 
states that certain architectural details on buildings can go slightly above the height of the 
building because it is not usable space. 
 

· Staff will provide visuals of side profiles of existing buildings as a resource for height. 
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· The proposed height of 60 feet in the Transitional Character District would require an acre 
of land, so additional setbacks would be required. 
 

· Commissioner Brooks said she would like to see them provide visual examples of what the 
existing nonconforming buildings look like, why they are proposing the change, and what 
it would look like if they had to rebuild. 
 

· The proposed setbacks are what currently exists. None of the proposed setbacks would be 
less than what is there already.  

 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
8. FINANCE  
 

A. Ordinance 2024-05, Fees & Collection Procedures Manual FY 2024 Proposed Update   
 
Finance Director Andrew Laflin said the purpose of the ordinance is to amend the Fees and 
Collection Procedure Manual, establishing a new fee for the Building Department. The proposed 
change is a $250 fee for each review of the Building Safety/Milestone Report performed by the 
Building Department. He responded to questions and comments from the Board. 
 

· The City would provide a review of the engineer’s report and a physical inspection 
to confirm the findings. 

 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
The consensus of the Board was to bring it back to a future regular meeting for a vote. 
 
9. PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
 

A. Approval to Surplus & Purchase a Truck 
 
Public Works Director Megan Wepfer requested approval to surplus truck #33, a 2016 Peterbuilt 
rear load packer, and truck #37, a 2017 Peterbuilt rear load packer. Both trucks have been replaced 
and are no longer needed. She also requested approval to trade in truck #23, a 2023 Kenworth 
T880 rear load packer that has been in the shop often with various problems. RDK Truck Sales 
quoted $50,000 for truck Number 33, $75,000 for truck number 37, and $275,000 for truck number 
23. The funds would be used to purchase a new 2024 Battle Motor truck for $313,672. The City 
would receive a refund of $86,328. 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. There were no public comments. 
 
The consensus of the Board was to proceed with the trade-ins and purchase. 
 

B. ITB 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration Approval 
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Director Wepfer said the City received a 50% match funds from the Florida Department of 
Environmental Protection for $1.75 Million that will expire on December 31, 2024. The bid 
opening for the project was February 8, 2024, and nine submittals were received. Two of the 
submittals were incomplete and had errors. They proceeded with the three lowest bids by checking 
references and conducting onsite interviews. Staff recommended the City proceed with Speeler 
Co. to complete the Coastal Groin Restoration Project for $3,838,677.99. She responded to 
questions and comments from the Board. 
 

· Director Wepfer and the engineers would oversee the project. 
 

· Speeler Co. was not the lowest bid, but they were the lowest, responsive, responsible 
vendor. 
 

· The item will be brought back to the Board at the April 10th regular meeting for a vote. 
 

· The project should begin by May 1st, and they hope to complete it by the end of the year, 
February 2025 at the latest. The grant will expire on December 31st, but she could get a 
six-month extension. 

 
Vice Mayor Kerr opened to public comment. 
 
Chuck Dillon, 529 Lillian Drive, was concerned about the people who walk the beach. The staging 
goes from out in the water to the property lines and is about 250-300 feet long. He hoped they 
considered all the activity on the beach. Director Wepfer said they have considered leaving 
openings and will adapt as they go. 
 
The consensus of the Board was to move forward with Speeler Co. for the groin restoration project. 
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Vice Mayor Kerr adjourned the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 

______________________________  
James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor 

ATTEST:  
 
 
_____________________________________  
Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City Clerk 
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ORDINANCE 2024-04 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

DIVISION 2 (ENFORCEMENT BY SPECIAL MAGISTRATE) OF ARTICLE VII (CODE 

ENFORCEMENT) OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA 

BEACH TO REFLECT THE CHANGES THAT HAVE BEEN ADOPTED IN CHAPTER 

162, FLORIDA STATUTES; DELETING SECTION 2-380 (PRIORITY OF LIENS) AND 

RENUMBERING SUBSEQUENT SECTIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 

PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City Attorney has reviewed the current provisions of Division 2 

(Enforcement by Special Magistrate) of Article VII (Code Enforcement) of the Code of 

Ordinances for the City of Madeira Beach and has recommended that certain provisions 

be amended to reflect the changes that have been adopted in Chapter 162, Florida 

Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the recommendations of the City Attorney have been found 

meritorious by the Board of Commissioners; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has received input from the public at 

two public hearings. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, IN SESSION 
DULY AND REGULARLY ASSEMBLED: 

 
Section 1. That Division 2 (Enforcement by Special Magistrate) of Article VII 

(Code Enforcement) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Madeira Beach, Florida, is hereby amended and shall read as follows: 

DIVISION 2. ENFORCEMENT BY SPECIAL MAGISTRATE  

Sec. 2-370. Intent. 

The intent of this division is to create an alternative local government code 
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enforcement system in order to promote, protect, and improve the health, safety, and 

welfare of the citizens of the city by providing for an equitable, expeditious, effective and 

efficient method of enforcing any codes or ordinances where pending or repeated 

violation continues to exist in the city. 

Sec. 2-371. Definitions. 

The definitions in this section are applicable to this division and have the following 

meanings:  

Code inspector/cCode enforcement officer means any authorized agent or 

employee of the municipality whose duty it is to assure code compliance.  

Repeat violation means a violation of a provision of a code or ordinance by a 

person who has been previously found through a code enforcement board or any other 

quasi-judicial or judicial process, to have violated or who has admitted violating the same 

provision within five years prior to the violation, notwithstanding the violations occur at 

different locations. 

Sec. 2-372. Civil offenses and penalties: special magistrate. 

The violation of any city ordinance shall constitute a civil offense punishable by civil 

penalty in the amount described in section 2-378. Accordingly, there is hereby created 

and established a code enforcement position to be filled by a special magistrate to 

enforce the ordinances and codes of the city. 

Sec. 2-373. Qualification of special magistrate and removal. 

(a)  A special magistrate shall possess outstanding reputations for civic pride, 

interest, integrity, responsibility, and business or professional ability. 

Appointments shall be made by the city manager or his designee on the basis 
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of experience or interest in code enforcement. Such appointment shall be 

submitted to the city commission Board of Commissioners for ratification by 

the board of commissioners.  

(b) Appointments shall be made for a term not more than one year. The special 

magistrate may be reappointed at the discretion of the city manager, subject 

to ratification by the city commission Board of Commissioners. There shall be 

no limit on the number of reappointments that shall be given to the special 

magistrate; provided, however, that a determination as to removal or 

reappointment must be made for each special magistrate at the end of each 

of his one-year terms. The city manager shall have the authority to remove 

the special magistrate with or without cause. Appointments to fill any vacancy 

shall be for the remainder of the unexpired term.  

(c)   The special magistrate shall not be a city employee. The special magistrate 

shall be compensated at a rate to be determined by administrative order. the 

city manager, subject to ratification by the Board of Commissioners. 

(d)   The city attorney shall serve as general counsel to the code enforcement 

officer. If an appeal is taken pursuant to section 2-381380, the city attorney 

shall represent the city at such proceedings. 

Sec. 2-374. Jurisdiction. 

The city appointed special magistrate shall have jurisdiction to hear and decide 

alleged violations of any code of ordinances in force in the city including amendments to 

such codes and ordinances. The special magistrate shall have the jurisdiction and 

authority to determine the amount of reasonable expenses incurred by the city as a result 
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of orders issued pursuant to the authority of section 2-378. 

Sec. 2-375. Enforcement procedure. 

(a)  It shall be the duty of a the code enforcement officer to initiate 

enforcement proceedings of the various codes and ordinances. The special magistrate 

shall not have the power to initiate such enforcement proceedings.  The code 

enforcement officer may not initiate enforcement proceedings for a potential violation of 

a duly enacted code or ordinance by way of an anonymous complaint. A person who 

reports a potential violation of a code or an ordinance must provide his or her name and 

address to the city before an enforcement proceeding may occur. This subparagraph 

does not apply if the code enforcement officer has reason to believe that the violation 

presents an imminent threat to public health, safety, or welfare or imminent destruction 

of habitat or sensitive resources. 

(b)   Except as provided in subsections (c) and (d), if a violation of the Code is 

found, a the code enforcement officer shall notify the violator and give him a 

reasonable time to correct the violation. Should the violation continue past the 

time specified for correction, a the code enforcement officer shall notify the 

special magistrate and request a hearing. The special magistrate, through his 

clerical staff, shall schedule a hearing, and written notice of such hearing shall 

be hand delivered or mailed as provided in section 2-382381 to such said 

violator. At the option of the special magistrate, notice may additionally be 

served by publication or posting as provided in section 2-382381. If the 

violation is corrected and then recurs or if the violation is not corrected by the 

time specified for correction by a the code enforcement officer, the case may 
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be presented to the special magistrate even if the violations has been 

corrected prior to the special magistrate hearing, and the notice shall so state.  

(c)   If a repeat violation is found, a the code enforcement officer shall notify the 

violator, but is not required to give the violator a reasonable time to correct 

the violation. A The code enforcement officer, upon notifying the violator of a 

repeat violation, shall notify the special magistrate and request a hearing. The 

special magistrate, through his clerical staff, shall schedule a hearing and 

shall provide notice as provided in section 2-382381. The case may be 

presented to the special magistrate even if the repeat violation has been 

corrected prior to the code enforcement hearing, and the notice shall so state. 

If the repeat violation has been corrected, the special magistrate retains the 

right to schedule a hearing to determine costs and impose the payment of 

reasonable enforcement fees upon the repeat violator. The repeat violator 

may choose to waive his rights to this hearing and pay such costs as 

determined by the special magistrate.  

(d)   If a the code enforcement officer has reason to believe a violation or the 

condition causing the violation presents a serious threat to the public health, 

safety, and welfare or if the violations is irreparable or irreversible in nature, a 

the code enforcement officer shall make a reasonable effort to notify the 

violator and may immediately notify the special magistrate and request a 

hearing. 
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(e)   If the owner of property that is subject to an enforcement proceeding before 

the special magistrate transfers ownership of such property between the time 

the initial pleading was served and the time of the hearing, such owner shall: 

(1) Disclose, in writing, the existence and the nature of the proceeding to the 

prospective transferee. 

(2) Deliver to the prospective transferee a copy of the pleadings, notices, and 

other materials relating to the code enforcement proceeding received by 

the transferor. 

(3) Disclose, in writing, to the prospective transferee that the new owner will 

be responsible for compliance with the applicable code and with orders 

issued in the code enforcement proceeding. 

(4) File a notice with the code enforcement officer of the transfer of the 

property, with the identity and address of the new owner and copies of the 

disclosures made to the new owner, within 5 days after the date of the 

transfer. 

A failure to make the disclosures described in paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) before 

the transfer creates a rebuttable presumption of fraud. If the property is transferred 

before the hearing, the proceeding shall not be dismissed, but the new owner shall 

be provided a reasonable period of time to correct the violation before the hearing 

is held. 

Sec. 2-376. Conduct of hearing. 

 

(a) Upon request of a the code enforcement officer, or at such other times as may 

be necessary, the special magistrate may call a code enforcement hearing.  
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(b) Minutes shall be kept of all hearings held by the special magistrate and all 

hearings and proceedings shall be open to the public. The board of 

commissioners shall provide clerical and administrative personnel as may be 

reasonably required by the special magistrate for the proper performance of 

his duties.  

(c) Each case before the special magistrate shall be presented by the city 

attorney or by a member of the city administration. If the city administration 

prevails in prosecuting a case before the special magistrate, it shall be entitled 

to recover all costs incurred in prosecuting the case before the special 

magistrate and such costs may be included in the lien authorized in 

subsection 2-378(e).  

(d) The special magistrate shall proceed to hear the cases on the agenda for that 

day. All testimony shall be under oath and shall be recorded. The special 

magistrate shall take testimony from a the code enforcement officer, alleged 

violator, and any witnesses. Formal rules of evidence shall not apply, but 

fundamental due process shall be observed and shall govern all proceedings.  

(e) The special magistrate shall issue findings of fact, based on evidence of 

record, and conclusions of law. In order to make a finding upholding the code 

enforcement officer's decision, the special magistrate must find that the 

preponderance of the evidence indicates that the named violator was 

responsible for the violation of the relevant section of the Code as charged. 

At the conclusion of the hearing, the special magistrate shall issue an order 

affording the proper relief consistent with powers granted by this division. The 
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order may include a notice that it must be complied with by a specified date 

and that a fine may be imposed and under the conditions specified in 

subsection 2-378(a), the cost of repairs may be included along with the fine if 

the order is not complied with by such date.  

(f) A certified copy of such order may be recorded in the public records of the 

Pinellas Ccounty and shall constitute notice to any subsequent purchasers, 

successors in interest, or assigns if the violation concerns real property, and 

the findings therein shall be binding upon the violator and, if the violation 

concerns real property, any subsequent purchasers, successors in interest, 

or assigns.  

(g) If an order is recorded in the public records pursuant to subsection (f) and the 

order is complied with by the date specified in the order, the code enforcement 

officer shall issue an affidavit of compliance acknowledging compliance that 

shall be recorded in the public records. A hearing is not required to issue such 

an order acknowledging compliance. 

Sec. 2-377. Powers of the special magistrate. 

The special magistrate shall have the power to:  

(1) Adopt rules for the conduct of hearings.  

(2) Subpoena alleged violators and witnesses to hearings. Subpoenas may 

be served by the designated law enforcement agency of the city.  

(3) Subpoena evidence to a hearing.  

(4) Take testimony under oath.  
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(5) Issue orders having the force of law commanding whatever steps are 

necessary to bring a violation into compliance. 

Sec. 2-378. Administrative fines; cost of repair; liens. 

 

(a) The special magistrate, upon notification by a the code enforcement officer 

that an order of the special magistrate has not been complied with by the set 

time or, upon finding that a repeat violation has been committed, may order 

the violator to pay a fine in an amount specified in this section for each day 

the violation continues past the date set by the special magistrate for 

compliance or, in the case of a repeat violation, for each day the repeat 

violation continues beginning with the date the repeat violation is found to 

have occurred by the code inspector enforcement officer. In addition, if the 

violation is a violation as described in subsection 2-375(d), the special 

magistrate shall notify the city administration which may make all reasonable 

repairs which are required to bring the property into compliance and charge 

the violator with the reasonable cost of the repairs along with the fine imposed 

pursuant with this section. Making such repairs does not create a continuing 

obligation on the part of the city to make further repairs or to maintain the 

property and does not create any liability against the city for any damages to 

the property if such repairs were completed in good faith.  If a finding of a 

violation or a repeat violation has been made as provided in this subsection, 

a hearing shall not be necessary for issuance of the order imposing the fine. 

If, after due notice and hearing, a special magistrate finds a violation to be 

irreparable or irreversible in nature, it may order the violator to pay a fine as 
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specified in subsection (b).  

(b) A fine imposed pursuant to this section shall not exceed $250.00 per day for 

a first violation and shall not exceed $500.00 per day for a repeat violation, 

and in addition, may include all costs of repairs pursuant to subsection (a). 

However, if a special magistrate finds the violation to be irreparable or 

irreversible in nature, it may impose a fine not to exceed $5,000.00 per 

violation.  

(c) In determining the amount of the fine, if any, the special magistrate shall 

consider the following factors:  

(1) The gravity of the violation;  

(2) Any actions taken by the violator to correct the violation; and  

(3) Any previous violations committed by the violator.  

(d) The special magistrate may reduce a fine imposed pursuant to this section.  

(e) A certified copy of an order imposing a fine or a fine plus repair costs may be 

recorded in the public records of the Pinellas Ccounty and thereafter shall 

constitute a lien against the land on which the violation exists and upon any 

other real or personal property owned by the violator. Upon petition to the 

circuit court, such order may be enforced in the same manner as a court 

judgment by the sheriffs of this state, including execution and levy against the 

personal property of the violator, but such order shall not be deemed to be a 

court judgment except for enforcement purposes. A fine imposed pursuant to 

this division shall continue to accrue until the violations violator comes into 

compliance or until judgment is rendered in a suit to foreclose on a lien filed 
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pursuant to this division, whichever occurs first. A lien arising from a fine 

imposed pursuant to this section runs in favor of the city and the city may 

execute a satisfaction or release of lien entered pursuant to this section. After 

three months from the filing of any such lien which remains unpaid, the special 

magistrate may authorize the city attorney to foreclose on the lien or to sue to 

recover a money judgment for the amount of the lien plus accrued interest. 

No lien created pursuant to the provisions of this division may be foreclosed 

on real property which is homestead under Section 4, Article X of the State 

Constitution. The money judgment provisions of this section shall not apply to 

real property or personal property which is covered under Section 4(a), Article 

X of the State Constitution.  

(f) If the city attorney or a member of the city administration prevails in 

prosecuting a case before the special magistrate, the city shall be entitled to 

recover all costs incurred in prosecuting the case before the special 

magistrate. As used in this article, the term "prevails" includes, but is not 

limited to, those cases in which the special magistrate finds that a violation 

existed at the time the citation was issued without regard to whether the 

violation was subsequently corrected. The fine for the violation and/or costs 

to repair the damages from the violation is separate and district from the 

recovery of expenses. The special magistrate may, by written order recorded 

in the official records of the Pinellas Ccounty, impose a lien against the 

property upon which the violation occurred as well as all other real and 

personal property of the violator in the amount of the costs incurred by the city 
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in prosecuting the case. 

Sec. 2-379. Duration of lien. 

(a) No lien provided under this division shall continue for a period longer than 20 

years after the certified copy of an order imposing a fine has been recorded, 

unless within that time an action to foreclose on the lien is commenced in a 

court of competent jurisdiction. In an action to foreclose on a lien or for a 

money judgment, the prevailing party is entitled to recover all costs, to include 

a reasonable attorney's fee that it incurs in the foreclosure. The city shall be 

entitled to collect all costs incurred in recording and satisfying a valid lien. The 

continuation of the lien affected by the commencement of the action shall not 

be good against creditors or subsequent purchasers for valuable 

consideration without notice, unless a notice of lis pendens is recorded.  

(b) Once the city has collected on the lien or a money judgment, the finance 

director of the city city manager shall issue a satisfaction or release of lien. 

Sec. 2-380. Priority of liens. 

 

Each lien in favor of the city arising out of this division recorded in the official 

records of Pinellas County shall be superior to all other liens except a lien for taxes and 

shall bear interest at the maximum rate allowed by law as set forth in § 687.03, Florida 

Statutes as amended from time to time from the date of filing. 

Sec. 2-381380. Appeals. 

An aggrieved party, including the local governing authority city, may appeal a final 

administrative order of the special magistrate to the circuit court. Such an appeal shall 

not be a hearing de novo, but shall be limited to appellate review of the record created 
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before the special magistrate. An appeal shall be filed within 30 days of the execution of 

the order to be appealed. 

Sec. 2-382381. Notices. 

All notices required by this division shall be provided to the alleged violator as 

described in Florida Statutes § 162.12, as amended from time to time. 

Sec. 2-383382. Optional enforcement. 

 

The provisions of this division shall in no way be construed to limit the power of the 

city to proceed in any other civil or criminal proceeding or in any other forum to obtain 

enforcement of its Code provisions. 

Sec. 2-384383. Conflict of interest. 

 

(a) No person who is or may become a party or a witness to a hearing before the 

special magistrate shall communicate with the special magistrate concerning 

that violation except at the hearings provided for in this division. This 

restriction shall extend to any person appearing or interceding on behalf of a 

party, whether or not such person may have a direct, personal or financial 

interest in the property which is the subject of the alleged violation.  

(b) No special magistrate shall communicate with any party, witness, 

representative of a party, or interceding person concerning any alleged 

violation except at the hearings provided for in this division.  

(c) Failure on the part of special magistrate to comply with the provisions of this 

subsection shall constitute grounds for removal by the city manager or his 

designee. 

Sec. 2-385384. Public records searches relating to Code.Title searches. 
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(a) The city manager or his designee is authorized to obtain a public records title 

search for the purpose of determining whether to institute a lien foreclosure 

proceeding without the necessity of any action by the special magistrate 

whenever the unpaid amount of the code enforcement lien exceeds $100.00.  

(b) No public records title search for the purpose of determining whether to 

institute a lien foreclosure proceeding shall be obtained where the unpaid 

amount of the lien is less than $100.00. 

 

Sec. 2-386385. Modification of orders by special magistrate. 

 

The special magistrate, and only the special magistrate, may modify, amend, 

clarify, correct, extend, or rescind orders issued by the special magistrate, including any 

and all requests for modifications or reductions in code enforcement fines or liens based 

on orders of the special magistrate, which may be considered by motion of any party to 

the original proceedings or successor property owner. 

Section 2. For purposes of codification of any existing section of the Madeira 

Beach Code herein amended, words underlined represent additions to original text, 

words stricken are deletions from the original text, and words neither underlined nor 

stricken remain unchanged. 

Section 3. Ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith to the extent 

that such conflict exists are hereby repealed.  

Section 4. In the event a court of competent jurisdiction finds any part or 

provision of the Ordinance unconstitutional or unenforceable as a matter of law, the 
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same shall be stricken and the remainder of the Ordinance shall continue in full force 

and effect. 

 Section 5. The Codifier shall codify the substantive amendments to the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Madeira Beach contained in Section 1 of this Ordinance as 

provided for herein and shall not codify the exordial clauses nor any other sections not 

designated for codification. 

 Section 6. Pursuant to Florida Statutes §166.041(4), this Ordinance shall take 

effect immediately upon adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, THIS ______ day of ______________, 2024. 

    
             
            
      ________________________________ 
              James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor  
 
 

ATTEST:   
 

 
___________________________________________  
Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City Clerk  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 
____________________________________ 
Thomas J. Trask, City Attorney 
 
 
 

PASSED ON FIRST READING:  _______________________________ 
 
PUBLISHED:     _______________________________ 
 
PASSED ON SECOND READING: _______________________________ 
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Business Impact Estimate 

 

Proposed ordinance’s title/reference: 
 

ORDINANCE 2024-04 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
DIVISION 2 (ENFORCEMENT BY SPECIAL MAGISTRATE) OF ARTICLE VII (CODE 
ENFORCEMENT) OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA 
BEACH TO REFLECT THE CHANGES THAT HAVE BEEN ADOPTED IN CHAPTER 
162, FLORIDA STATUTES; DELETING SECTION 2-380 (PRIORITY OF LIENS) AND 
RENUMBERING SUBSEQUENT SECTIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
This Business Impact Estimate is provided in accordance with section 166.041(4), Florida 
Statutes. If one or more boxes are checked below, this means the City of Madeira Beach 
is of the view that a business impact estimate is not required by state law1 for the proposed 
ordinance, but the City of Madeira Beach is, nevertheless, providing this Business Impact 
Estimate as a courtesy and to avoid any procedural issues that could impact the 
enactment of the proposed ordinance. This Business Impact Estimate may be revised 
following its initial posting. 

X  The proposed ordinance is required for compliance with Federal or State law or 

regulation; 

☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the issuance or refinancing of debt; 

☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the adoption of budgets or budget 

amendments, including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget; 

☐  The proposed ordinance is required to implement a contract or an agreement, 

including, but not limited to, any Federal, State, local, or private grant or other 
financial assistance accepted by the municipal government; 

☐  The proposed ordinance is an emergency ordinance; 

☐  The ordinance relates to procurement; or 

☐  The proposed ordinance is enacted to implement the following: 

a. Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relating to growth policy, county and 
municipal planning, and land development regulation, including zoning, 
development orders, development agreements and development permits; 

b. Sections 190.005 and 190.046, Florida Statutes, regarding community 
development districts; 

c. Section 553.73, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Building Code; or 

                                                           
1 See Section 166.041(4)(c), Florida Statutes. 

161

Item 12A.



Page 2 of 2 

 

d. Section 633.202, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of controlling law, even notwithstanding the fact that 
an exemption noted above may apply, the City of Madeira Beach hereby publishes the 
following information: 
 

1. Summary of the proposed ordinance (must include a statement of the public purpose, 
such as serving the public health, safety, morals and welfare): 
 
This ordinance reflects the changes that have been adopted in chapter 162, Florida 
Statutes.  

 

2. An estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on private, for-
profit businesses in the City of Madeira Beach, if any: 
(a) An estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may reasonably incur; 
(b) Any new charge or fee imposed by the proposed ordinance or for which businesses 
will be financially responsible; and 
(c) An estimate of the City of Madeira Beach’s regulatory costs, including estimated 
revenues from any new charges or fees to cover such costs. 
 
No direct economic impact is foreseen for private, for-profit businesses. 

 

3. Good faith estimate of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by the proposed 
ordinance: 
 
No direct impact on businesses.  

 

4. Additional information the governing body deems useful (if any): 
 
 
The proposed ordinance is a generally applicable ordinance that applies to all persons 
similarly situated (individuals as well as businesses) and, therefore, the proposed 
ordinance does not affect only businesses 
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ORDINANCE 2024-06 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

SECTION 2-502 (APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL) OF ARTICLE VIII (SPECIAL 

MAGISTRATE) OF CHAPTER 2 (ADMINISTRATION) OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH TO AMEND THE APPROVAL 

PROCESS FOR THE RATE OF COMPENSATION OF THE SPECIAL MAGISTRATE; 

PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City Attorney has reviewed the current provisions of Section 2-

502 of Article VIII (Special Magistrate) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of 

Ordinances for the City of Madeira Beach and has recommended that the rate of 

compensation for the Special Magistrate be determined by the City Manager, subject to 

ratification by the Board of Commissioners; and 

WHEREAS, the recommendation of the City Attorney has been found meritorious 

by the Board of Commissioners; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has received input from the public at 

two public hearings. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, IN SESSION 
DULY AND REGULARLY ASSEMBLED: 

 
Section 1. That subparagraph (e) of Sec. 2-502 (Appointment and Removal) of 

Article VIII (Special Magistrate) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of Ordinances 

of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida, is hereby amended and shall read as follows: 

(e) The special magistrate shall be compensated at a rate to be determined 
by the city commission.city manager, subject to ratification by the Board 
of Commissioners. 
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Section 2. For purposes of codification of any existing section of the Madeira 

Beach Code herein amended, words underlined represent additions to original text, 

words stricken are deletions from the original text, and words neither underlined nor 

stricken remain unchanged. 

Section 3. Ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith to the extent 

that such conflict exists are hereby repealed.  

Section 4. In the event a court of competent jurisdiction finds any part or 

provision of the Ordinance unconstitutional or unenforceable as a matter of law, the 

same shall be stricken and the remainder of the Ordinance shall continue in full force 

and effect. 

 Section 5. The Codifier shall codify the substantive amendments to the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Madeira Beach contained in Section 1 of this Ordinance as 

provided for herein and shall not codify the exordial clauses nor any other sections not 

designated for codification. 

 Section 6. Pursuant to Florida Statutes §166.041(4), this Ordinance shall take 

effect immediately upon adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, THIS ______ day of ______________, 2024. 

    

             
            
      ________________________________ 
              James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor  
 
ATTEST:   
 

 
___________________________________  
Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City Clerk  
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APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 
____________________________________ 
Thomas J. Trask, City Attorney 
 
 
 

PASSED ON FIRST READING:  _______________________________ 
 
PUBLISHED:     _______________________________ 
 
PASSED ON SECOND READING: _______________________________ 
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Business Impact Estimate 

This form should be included in the agenda packet for the item under which the proposed 
ordinance is to be considered and must be posted on the City of Madeira Beach’s website by the 
time notice of the proposed ordinance is published. 

 

Proposed ordinance’s title/reference: 
 

ORDINANCE 2024-06 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
SECTION 2-502 (APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL) OF ARTICLE VIII (SPECIAL 
MAGISTRATE) OF CHAPTER 2 (ADMINISTRATION) OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH TO AMEND THE APPROVAL 
PROCESS FOR THE RATE OF COMPENSATION OF THE SPECIAL MAGISTRATE; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
This Business Impact Estimate is provided in accordance with section 166.041(4), Florida 
Statutes. If one or more boxes are checked below, this means the City of Madeira Beach 
is of the view that a business impact estimate is not required by state law1 for the proposed 
ordinance, but the City of Madeira Beach is, nevertheless, providing this Business Impact 
Estimate as a courtesy and to avoid any procedural issues that could impact the 
enactment of the proposed ordinance. This Business Impact Estimate may be revised 
following its initial posting. 

☐  The proposed ordinance is required for compliance with Federal or State law or 

regulation; 

☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the issuance or refinancing of debt; 

☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the adoption of budgets or budget 

amendments, including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget; 

☐  The proposed ordinance is required to implement a contract or an agreement, 

including, but not limited to, any Federal, State, local, or private grant or other 
financial assistance accepted by the municipal government; 

☐  The proposed ordinance is an emergency ordinance; 

☐  The ordinance relates to procurement; or 

☐  The proposed ordinance is enacted to implement the following: 

a. Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relating to growth policy, county and 
municipal planning, and land development regulation, including zoning, 
development orders, development agreements and development permits; 

b. Sections 190.005 and 190.046, Florida Statutes, regarding community 
development districts; 

                                                           
1 See Section 166.041(4)(c), Florida Statutes. 
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c. Section 553.73, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Building Code; or 
d. Section 633.202, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code. 

 
In accordance with the provisions of controlling law, even notwithstanding the fact that 
an exemption noted above may apply, the City of Madeira Beach hereby publishes the 
following information: 
 

1. Summary of the proposed ordinance (must include a statement of the public purpose, 
such as serving the public health, safety, morals and welfare): 
 
The proposed ordinance would allow the City Manager the right to determine the rate of 
compensation for the Special Magistrate.  The Board of Commissioners would still need 
to ratify the rate of compensation for the Special Magistrate.  This ordinance helps to 
continue the support of the Special Magistrate, which handles code enforcement cases, 
variances, and special exception uses.    
 
 

 

2. An estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on private, for-
profit businesses in the City of Madeira Beach, if any: 
(a) An estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may reasonably incur; 
(b) Any new charge or fee imposed by the proposed ordinance or for which businesses 
will be financially responsible; and 
(c) An estimate of the City of Madeira Beach’s regulatory costs, including estimated 
revenues from any new charges or fees to cover such costs. 
 
The proposed ordinance does not have a direct financial impact or proposes an additional 
cost on businesses located in Madeira Beach. 
 
 

 

3. Good faith estimate of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by the proposed 
ordinance: 
 
No businesses would be directly affected by this ordinance. 
 
 

 

4. Additional information the governing body deems useful (if any): 
 
This ordinance would give the Board of Commissioners the power to delegate to the 
City Manager for determining the rate of compensation for the Special Magistrate.  The 
Board of Commissioners would still have the power to ratify the rate of compensation for 
the Special Magistrate. 
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Date: April 10, 2024 
To: Hon. Mayor and Board of Commissioners 
Through: Robin Gomez, City Manager 
From: Andrew Laflin, Director of Finance 
Subject: Ordinance 2024-05 Fees and Collection Procedure Manual – FY 2024 Update 

 

Background 

The purpose of this agenda item is to present to the Board of Commissioners proposed an amendment 
to the Fees and Collection Procedure Manual to establish a new fee for the Building Department. 

 
Exhibit A consists of the Fees and Collection Procedure Manual with tracked changes. Within 
Exhibit A, all updates to the manual, including addition of new fees, changing existing fees, 
modification of current explanatory language, and other similar changes, are included in red font 
with previous fee amounts and language stricken. Thus, Exhibit A provides an illustration of listed 
fees before and after the amendments resulting from adopting Ordinance 2024-05. The change 
proposed by Ordinance 2024-05 is an additional miscellaneous fee, the Building Safety/Milestone 
Report Review fee, for $250 for each review performed by the Building Department.  

 
Fiscal Impact 

 

This amendment will result in additional revenues to support City operations within Building 
Services. Annual additional revenue is estimated to be approximately $7,500. 

 
Recommendation 

 

Staff recommends approval of Ordinance 2024-05 on First Reading. 

Attachment(s): 
• Ordinance 2024-05 
• Exhibit A: Fees and Collection Procedure Manual with tracked changes 
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ORDINANCE 2024-05 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, ADOPTING THE 
FEES AND COLLECTIONS PROCEDURE MANUAL; REPEALING ORDINANCE 2023-
18; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners finds it appropriate to regularly review and 
amend the amount and type of fees collected in order to reflect the cost of service and facility 
provision city-wide; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners wishes to amend the Fees and Collection 

Procedure Manual to revise certain fees. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, THAT: 

SECTION 1. The Fees and Collections Procedure Manual attached hereto as Exhibit A is 
hereby adopted 

SECTION 2. That Ordinance 2023-18 is hereby repealed. 

SECTION 3. That this Ordinance shall be deemed severable. If any part of the Ordinance 
is deemed unconstitutional, it shall not affect the constitutionality of other 
portions of the Ordinance. 

SECTION 4. That all Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict with the provisions of 
this Ordinance be hereby repealed insofar as the same effect this Ordinance. 

SECTION 5. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon adoption in the 
manner provided by law. 
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PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE CITY 
OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, THIS  day of  , 2024. 

 
 
 

 

James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 

 
 
 

Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City Clerk 
 
 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 
 
 

Thomas J. Trask, City Attorney 
 
 
 

 
PASSED ON FIRST READING:   

 
PUBLISHED:   

 
PASSED ON SECOND READING:   
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Exhibit A Ordinance 2024-05 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

FEES & COLLECTION 

PROCEDURE MANUAL 
(Updated Through Ordinance 2024-05) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office of the City Clerk 
Adopted:    May 8, 2024
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F
 

FEES & COLLECTION PROCEDURE MANUAL 
(UPDATED THROUGH ORDINANCE 2024-05) 

INDEX 

A. What is a public record? ........................................................................................................... 4 

B. Right of access to public records under reasonable conditions, F.S., Sec. 119.07(1)(a) ............ 4 

C. Extensive requests pursuant to F.S. §199.07(4) ........................................................................ 5 

D. Fees for inspecting and copying public records pursuant to F.S. §119.07(1)(a) ........................ 5 

E. Custodian of Public Records and Designated Custodians of Public Records ........................... 6 

A. General Development Services Fee Structure ........................................................................... 6 

B. Special Magistrate Hearings ..................................................................................................... 6 

C. Alcoholic Beverage Permit Application ..................................................................................... 7 

D. Platting ..................................................................................................................................... 7 

E. Vacation .................................................................................................................................... 7 

F. Site Plan and Redevelopment Process ...................................................................................... 7 

G. Zoning/Land Development Regulation Interpretations and Meetings ..................................... 8 

H. Zoning Verification Letter ......................................................................................................... 8 

I. Land Development Regulations Amendment ........................................................................... 8 

J. Land Use Amendment ............................................................................................................... 8 

K. Rezoning ................................................................................................................................... 8 

L. Planned Development (PD) and Plan Development Amendments ...................................................... 8 

M. Special Agreements .................................................................................................................. 9 

N. Unaddressed Research Requests .............................................................................................. 9 

O. FEMA/Floodplain Ordinance Interpretations ............................................................................ 9 

P. FEMA Verification Letter ........................................................................................................... 9 

Q. Solicitor's Permit ...................................................................................................................... 9 

R. Short-term/Vacation Rental Certification ............................................................................... 9 

S. Specific Site Plan Applications ............................................................................................... 10 

T. Building Permit Fee Schedule ................................................................................................ 10 

U. Impact Fee Schedule .............................................................................................................. 12 

ARTICLE II. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES ................................................................................................ 6-13 

ARTICLE I. CITY CLERK’S OFFICE- FEES FOR INSPECTING AND COPYINGPUBLIC RECORDS ..................... 4-6 
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A. Credit Card Transaction Convenience Fee .............................................................................. 13 

B. Indebtedness Search .............................................................................................................. 13 

C. Returned/unfunded/worthless checks ................................................................................... 13 

D. Recording of Documents ........................................................................................................ 13 

E. Parking Fines and Penalties .................................................................................................... 13 

F. Special Event Parking Permit .................................................................................................. 13 

G. Business Parking Permit ......................................................................................................... 14 

H. Parking meters city wide ........................................................................................................ 14 

I. Festival Parking ...................................................................................................................... 14 

J. Parking Fee Amendment Resolution ...................................................................................... 14 

A. Fire& Life Safety Inspection ..................................................................................................... 14 

B. Fire Plan Review and Correlated Inspection ........................................................................... 15 

C. CPR Classes .............................................................................................................................. 15 

D. Fire Engine Rental for Fire System Testing and/or Certification ............................................. 15 

E. Special Event Fee .................................................................................................................... 15 

A. Recreation .............................................................................................................................. 15 

B. Recreation Center and City Hall Rentals ................................................................................. 16 

C. Park & Pavilion Rentals .......................................................................................................... 17 

D. Athletic Field Rentals .............................................................................................................. 18 

E. Wedding Permits .................................................................................................................... 19 

F. Special Events ......................................................................................................................... 19 

A. Trash, Recycling, and Garbage ............................................................................................... 20 

B. Stormwater Utility Management ........................................................................................... 22 

A. Vessel Inspections .................................................................................................................. 26 
B. Madeira Beach Municipal Marina Fees.................................................................................. 26 

ARTICLE III. FINANCE DEPARTMENT ................................................................................................ 13-14 

ARTICLE VII. MUNICIPAL MARINA .................................................................................................... 26-28 

ARTICLE VI. PUBLIC WORKS ............................................................................................................ 20-26 

ARTICLE V. PARKS & RECREATION ................................................................................................... 15-20 

ARTICLE IV. FIRE DEPARTMENT ....................................................................................................... 14-15 
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ARTICLE I. CITY CLERK'S OFFICE- FEES FOR INSPECTING AND COPYING PUBLIC 
RECORDS 

(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 2013-50, 10/08/2013; Res. 09.10, 09/21/2009; Res. 04.02, 01/27/2004; 
ORD. 2018-03; 06/12/2018; Ord. 2019-06); Ord. 2020-04; Ord. 2021-12 05/12/21 

SECTION A. What is a public record? 

Section 119.11 (12), F.S., defines "public records" to include: 

"all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, 
data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 
characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance 
or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency." 

The Florida Supreme Court has interpreted this definition to encompass all materials made or received 
by an agency in connection with official business which are used to perpetuate, communicate, or 
formalize knowledge. Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid and Associates, Inc., 379 So. 2d 633, 640 
(Fla. 1980). 
All such materials, regardless of whether they are in final form are open for public inspection unless the 
Legislature has exempted them from disclosure. 
Wait v. Florida Power & Light Company, 372 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1979) 

 
SECTION B. Right of access to public records under reasonable conditions, F.S., Sec. 119.07(1)(a): 

"Every person who has custody of a public record shall permit the record to be inspected 
and copied by any person desiring to do so, at any reasonable time under reasonable 
conditions and under supervision by the custodian of the public records." 

 
The term "reasonable conditions" as used in Sec. 119.07(1)(a), F.S., "refers not to conditions which must 
be fulfilled before review is permitted but to reasonable regulations that would permit the custodian of 
the records to protect them from alteration damage, or destruction and also to ensure that the person 
reviewing the records is not subjected to physical constraints designed to preclude review." Wait v. Florida 
Power & light Company, 372 So. 2d 420. 425 (Fla. 1979). See also Chandler v. City of Greenacres, 140 So. 
3d 1080, 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 2014) (noting the narrow interpretation of the phrase "reasonable 
conditions"): and Tribune Company v. Cannella, 458 So. 2d 1075, 1078 (Fla. 1984), appeal dismissed sub 
nom., DePerte v. Tribune Company, 105 S.Ct. 2315 (1985) (the sole purpose of custodial supervision is to 
protect the records from alteration, damage, or destruction). 

 
Accordingly, the "reasonable conditions" do not include a rule or condition of inspection which operates 
to restrict or circumvent a person's right of access. AGO 75-50. "The courts of this state have invalidated 
measures which seek to impose any additional burden on those seeking to exercise their rights to obtain 
records" under Ch. 119, F.S. inf. op. to Cook, May 27. 2011. And see State v. Webb, 786 so. 2d 602 (Fla. 
1st DCa 2001) (requirement that persons with custody of the public records allow records to be examined 
"at any reasonable time, under reasonable conditions" is not unconstitutional as applied to public records 
custodian who was dilatory in responding to public records requests). 

 
A public records request "shall provide sufficient specificity to enable the custodian to identify the 
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requested records. The reason for the request is not required to be disclosed." Fla. R. Jud. Admin 
2.420(m)(l). The custodian "is required to provide access to or copies of records but is not required either 
to provide information from records or to create new records in response to a request." Commentary, In 
re Report of the Supreme Court Workgroup on Public Records, 825 So. 2d 889, 898 (Fla. 2002). The 
custodian having custody of the records shall determine whether the requested records are subject to the 
rule, whether there are any exemptions, and the form in which the record is provided. Fla. R. Jud. Adm in. 
2.420(m)(2). If the request is denied, the custodian shall state in writing the basis for the denial. Id. 

 

SECTION C. Extensive requests pursuant to F.S. §199.07.(4). 

Sec. 119.07(4)(d), F.S., provides, "[i]f the nature or volume of public records requested to be inspected or 
copied pursuant to this subsection is such as to require extensive use of information technology resources 
or extensive clerical or supervisory assistance by personnel of the agency involved, or both, the agency may 
charge, in addition to the actual cost of duplication, a special service charge, which shall be reasonable 
and shall be based on the cost incurred for such extensive use of information technology resources or the 
labor cost of the personnel providing the service that is actually incurred by the agency or attributable to 
the agency for the clerical and supervisory assistance required or both." 

If a public records request requires an extensive use of the City's resources, a special service charge may 
be imposed. Special service charges will be calculated based upon the City's actual cost of burden, (wages, 
taxes, insurance, and benefits), for the lowest paid personnel capable of fulfilling the request. 

 
Large volume of records requested. Deposits are based upon an actual estimate of the cost of production, 
with a minimum of 50% due before production of the records begins. 

 
SECTION D. Fees for inspecting and copying public records pursuant to F.S. §119.07(1)(a). 

 
Public records held by the City are open to inspection by any person, during reasonable times and under 
reasonable circumstances. Although Florida law makes some records exempt or confidential, the City 
wishes to make all non-exempt records available to the public at no cost provided the request to inspect 
or copy records does not involve an extensive use of City personnel or other resources. 

 
(1) One-sided copy, each page ...................................................................................................... $0.15 
(2) Two-sided copy, each page ...................................................................................................... $0.20 
(3) Certified copy, each page ........................................................................................................ $1.00 
(4) Notary Public Fee ..................................................................................................................... $5.00 

Pursuant to F.S. §117.05(2a); the fee of a notary public may not exceed $10.00 for any one notarial 
act, except provided in Sec. 117.045.) 

 
*For all other requests, the fee prescribed for duplication of public records shall represent the actual 
cost of duplication. 

For purposes of this sections, "Duplicating" means the process of reproducing an image or images from 
an original to a final substrate through the electrophotographic, xerographic, LED, inkjet or dye 
sublimation, laser, or offset process or any combination of these processes, by which an operator can 
make more than one copy without rehandling the original. 
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SECTION E. Custodian of Public Records and Designated Custodians of Public Records 
 

CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS 
Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City 
Clerk cvanblargan@madeirabeachfl.gov 
Phone (727) 391-9951, ext. 231 

 
RECORDS CUSTODIANS 
The Records Custodian of each department are designated by the City Clerk. The records custodian of 
their department shall permit the record to be inspected and copied by any person desiring to do so, at 
any reasonable time under reasonable conditions and under supervision by the custodian (supervisor) of 
those public records to be inspected or copied. Although, the custodian "is required to provide access to 
or copies of records they are not required either to provide information from records or to create new 
records in response to a request." Commentary, In re Report of the Supreme Court Workgroup on Public 
Records, 825 So. 2d 889, 898 (Fla. 2002), and shall determine if the requested records are subject to the 
rule, whether there are any exemptions, and the form in which the record is provided. Fla. R. Jud. Adm in. 
2.420(m)(2). If the request is denied, the custodian shall state in writing the basis for the denial. Id. 

 
A list of designated department Records Custodians is posted in each department and on the City’s 
website. 

 

 

ARTICLE II. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

A. General Development Services Fee Structure: 

It is the intent of the City that all development review costs be borne by the beneficiaries. The initial 
nonrefundable fee will be required at the time an application is submitted. Costs for review services 
including personnel, consulting or material will be charged against the account of each application. At 
such time as costs meet the value of the submitted fee, all review activities will be suspended until the 
applicant submits an additional fee in an amount equal to the initial fee. Unused fee amounts beyond the 
initial nonrefundable fee will be reimbursed at issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy (CO). The cost of 
required advertising and mailing for major site plans, land use or zoning amendments will be charged 
separately and paid prior to the scheduling, advertising, or preparation of mailed notice for public hearings 
and/or meetings. These fees do not include costs associated with the developer's conduct of 
neighborhood/community meetings which will be the financial responsibility of the developer. This policy 
applies to all the fees of this section. 

 
B. Special Magistrate Hearings. Fees for Special Magistrate Hearings shall be as follows: 

(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 07.14, 06/26/2007; Res. 05.20, 09/14/2005; res. 04.08, 06/22/2004,Ord. 
936, §1, 02/20/2001; Ord. 953, §2, 11/13/2001; Code 1983, §19-502) 

(1) Zoning variances for residential dwelling units (per variance, up to three units) ................ $1,800.00 
 

(2) Zoning variances for multifamily, tourist dwellings, or commercial ................................... $2,000.00 
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(3) Special exception use .......................................................................................................... $1,800.00 

(4) Appeal of decision (appeal is refundable if decision is overruled) ....................................... $1,500.00 

(5) After-the-fact variance (double fee).................................................................................... $3,600.00 
(Ordinance 2016-06) 

 

(6) C onversion of a nonconforming non-habitable area into a habitable area ....................... $1,000.00 
 

C. Alcoholic Beverage Permit Application Fee .............................................................................. $800.00 
(Res. 2012-14, 09/05/2012) 

D. Platting. 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 07.14, 06/26/2007; Res. 04.02, 01/27/2004) 

(1) Review of construction drawings ........................................................................................... $500.00 
 

(2)  Replat ..................................................................................................................................... $500.00 
 

(3)  Final ........................................................................................................................................ $500.00 
 

(4) Amendment to a plat ............................................................................................................. $500.00 

(5) Minor subdivision .................................................................................................................. $350.00 

(6) Lot line adjustments ............................................................................................................... $200.00 

(7) Unity of title ........................................................................................................................... $100.00 

(8) Rescission of unity of title ...................................................................................................... $250.00 

E. Vacation. (Not including costs associated with referendum) 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016, Res. 07.14, 06/26/2007; Res. 04.02, 01/27/2004) 

Right-of-way (as approved by referendum) ................................................................................ $1,500.00 

Easement (as approved by referendum when required) ............................................................ $1,500.00 

F. Site Plan a nd Redevelopment Process 
Level of site plan review to be determined in accordance with city land development ordinance and 
interpreted by development review staff. 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 07.14, 06/26/2007; Res. 04.02, 01/27/2004) 

(1) Minor Site Plan Review ..................................................................................................... $300.00 
 

(2) Intermediate Site Plan Review 
a. Preliminary Site Plan ............................................................................................ $300.00 
b. First Review Site Plan Submittal ........................................................................ $1,000.00 
c. Each Additional Submittal .................................................................................... $500.00 

 
(3) Major Site Plan Review 
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a. Preliminary Site Plan ............................................................................................ $500.00 
b. First Review Site Plan Submittal ........................................................................ $2,000.00 
c. Each Additional Submittal .................................................................................... $500.00 

 
(4) Administrative Waiver ...................................................................................................... $500.00 

 
(5) Encroachment Extension ............................................................................................... $1,000.00 

 
G. Zoning/Land Development Regulation Interpretations and Meetings – Base Fee ................ $100.00 

 
(1) Single Family – Fourplex .................................................................................................... $100.00 

 
(2) 5-12 Units, Commercial less than 2000sqft ....................................................................... $150.00 

 
(3) 13 + Units, Temporary Lodging, Commercial more than 2000sqft ................................... $200.00 

Interpretation of land development regulations such as number of legal units existing on a property, 
nonconforming provisions, subdivision regulations, and/or Planning, Zoning or Predevelopment review 
meetings. Such services would include up to one hour of meeting and or research of the Planner and can 
include the preparation of a written interpretation. Time required above an hour or requiring the 
participation of additional staff, shall be charged at the employees' hourly rate plus benefits on a time for 
time basis. On-site consultation with planner or Certified Flood Plain Manager (as needed; by request) 
requires an additional fee of $100.00. 

H. Zoning Verification Letter ........................................................................................................ $100.00 

Includes one hour of research. Additional time will be charged at the employee’s hourly rate plus 
benefits. 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016) 

Verification in writing (formal letter on City stationary) as to the property's zoning. This includes a copy 
of the related district regulations. Such letters are often requested by realtors for property closings. 

I. Land Development Regulations Amendment ........................................................................ $1,500.00 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016) 

J. Land Use Amendment ........................................................................................................... $3,000.00 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 07.14, 06/26/2007; Res. 04.02, 01/27/2004) 

K. Rezoning ................................................................................................................................ $2,000.00 
(Res. 07-14, 06/26/2007) 

L. Planned Development (PD) and Planned Development Amendments. (Res. 07.14, 06/26/2007) 
(1) Development Meetings-Charged as Plan Review Meetings at the combined hourly rate of 

all staff assigned by the Planning Director. 
(2) Plan Review 

a. Preliminary Plan and Standards Review ........................................................... $1,500.00 
b. First Plan and Standards Plan Review ............................................................... $2,500.00 
c. Each Subsequent Submittal .................................................................................. $500.00 

Plus hourly rate of assigned staff 
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(3) Minor modifications not requiring full site plan, neighborhood/community meetings or zoning 
map amendment or amendment of the planned development agreement ................. $1,000.00 

 
(4) Major modifications ................. To be charged by the full rate for a new Planned Development. 

 
(5) Development Agreements ........... Application fee of $500.00 and charges will include all staff 

and consulting time at hourly rates plus benefits and will be paid prior to execution of the 
Development Agreement Ordinance. 

 
M. Special Agreements (for Development Agreements, see Section L) 

(Res. 10.12, 07/20/2010; 07.14, 06/26/2007) 
(1) For Board of Commissioner's Approval ............................................................................. $500.00 

*Plus, City Attorney's legal and recording fees; i.e. encroachment(s); use of City parking area, etc. 

(2) For Administrative Review and Approval ............... all staff hourly rates, legal and recoding fees 
 

N. Unaddressed Research Requests – Base Fee ............................................................................ $100.00 
 

O. FEMA/Floodplain Ordinance Interpretations and Reviews–Interpretation Base Fee .............. $100.00 

Interpretation of the City's Floodplain Ordinance beyond the verification of the specific flood zone and 
the basic requirements related to that zone. Such request would include up to one hour of research and 
include the preparation of a written interpretation. Additional research time shall be charged at the rate 
of $100 per hour. 

Building Plan Review Base Fee of $50 or 10% of any building permit fee of over $1,000, whichever is 
greater plus $100 additional fee for any revisions to signed and sealed plans or for site changes. 

P. FEMA Verification Letter .......................................................................................................... $100.00 

Verification of FEMA flood zone in writing (formal letter on city 
stationery) (Res. 2016-24; 07/12/2016) 

 
Q. Solicitor's Permit (Res. 07.23, 12/11/2007) 

(1) Permit for any business with current Local Business Tax Receipt (BTR) .............................. $10.00 
 

(2) Permit for any business without current BTR .................................................................... $100.00 
a. For each additional person participating without a BTR ....................................... $20.00 

 
R. Short-term/Vacation Rental Certification Certificate of Compliance ....................................... $300.00 

 
S. Specific Site Plan Applications 

 
(1) Dog Dining Request ............................................................................................................. $75.00 

A fee of $75.00 shall be required for both the initial application and subsequent annual renewals 
requesting to allow dogs in specified outdoor area(s) of a food service establishment during 
operating hours. This fee shall offset the City's cost to administer, review and inspect such request. 
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This fee shall apply only to pet dogs, service animals are already permitted within business 
establishments by law. 

(2) Sign, Murals, Banners .......................................................................................................... $75.00 

 
T. Building Permit Fee Schedule. 

The following building permit fee schedule shall be used when issuing a permit for any type of 
construction including, but not limited to, the following: Commercial, Residential, Single Family or Multi- 
Family for Building, Mechanical, Plumbing, Gas, Fire Roofing, Swimming Pools, Aluminum Structures, 
Interior or Exterior remodeling, Accessory Structures, Additions, Fuel Tanks, Alarms, Sprinklers, 
Driveways, Signs, Docks, Seawalls, Walls and Fences, Sheds, Infrastructure or Excavation, or any other 
type of construction under the Florida Building Code. 

 

(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 2016-03, 02/09/2016) 

(1) Residential and Commercial (NON-REFUNDABLE) permit plan review deposit fee 
a. Value of $2,499 or less ........................................................................................... $50.00 
b. Value of $2,500 or more ................................ 25% of total permit value (minimum $50) 

The application plan review fee shall be collected at the time of the submitted permit 
application. This shall be a non-refundable plan review application fee in addition to 
any other applicable fees listed in Article II, Section I (Building Permit Fee Schedule). 

Definitions of "residential" and "commercial" are based on the 2017 2020 Florida 
Building Code: 

"Residential building" shall mean any "one- and two-family dwelling" or portion thereof, 
including "townhouses", that is used, or designed or intended to be used for human 
habitation, for living, sleeping, cooking, or eating purposes, or any combination thereof, 
and shall include accessory structures thereto. 

"Commercial": for this code, all buildings that are not included in the definition of 
"residential buildings." 

(2) EXPRESS Permit – issued same day (plus any additional applicable fees) ........................... $50.00 
 

(3) Valuation Fee: Two percent 2% of the Total Project Value, which includes both materials and 
labor and other related fees). 

 
(4) Florida Surcharge Fee: The Building Permit fee as required by Florida Law, a total of two and one- 

half (2½%) percent per permit. A minimum of four dollars of the Building Permit Fees. 
(5) Pre-Permit Plan Review Fee: All plan review fees for large "commercial and residential" building 

permits including one-and-two family dwellings, townhouses, multifamily units and all 
commercial projects shall be: 

a. One-and-two family dwellings & townhouses ..................................................... $250.00 
b. Multifamily units & commercial projects ............................................................. $500.00 
c. FEMA - SI/SD projects .......................................................................................... $250.00 

180

Item 12C.



Exhibit A – Ordinance 2024-05 Fees & Collection Procedure Manual Page 11 of 28  

d. Minimum fee........................................................................................................ $100.00 
 

(6) Re-examination of plans due to corrections, changes, or alterations, prior to or after permit 
issuance. 

a. Plan revisions (Minor, 2,499 sq. ft. or less) .......................................................... $100.00 
b. Plan revisions (Large) greater than (>) 2500 sq. ft ............................................... $250.00 

 
(7) Miscellaneous Fees: 

a. Certificate of Occupancy and/or Certificate of Completion ................................... $50.00 
b. Letters of Determination (e.g., flood, building, etc.) .............................................. $50.00 
c. Change of contractor (all trades) ........................................................................... $50.00 
d. Change of use or occupancy ................................................................................... $50.00 
e. Demolition of structure: 

i. Demolition base fee (up to 5,000 sq ....................................................... $100.00 
ii. Structures over 5,000 sq. ft ..................................................................... $250.00 

f. Early release of power (before electrical final) ....................................................... $50.00 
g. Moving of structure.............................................................................................. $100.00 
h. Permit extension (per extension) ........................................................................... $50.00 
i. Transfer of Permit .................................................................................................. $50.00 
j. Permit fee for applications performed by an outside entity: 

The permit fee for an application when the Building Official has approved the request 
of the applicant to have an outside entity, contracted by the applicant, perform the 
required inspections shall be: 

i. Fee per sq. ft. of the proposed structure ................................................... $1.00 
ii. Minimum fee, (plus any applicable fees) .................................................. $50.00 

k. Red tags and/or failed inspection(s) (per tag/inspection) ..................................... $50.00 
l. Replacement of placard card (per placard card) .................................................... $25.00 
m. Special consultation with Building Official (as needed; by request) ..................... $100.00 
n. FEMA or damage pre-permit inspection, Fire or Structural (Includes Trades) ..... $100.00 
o. Building Code, Life & Health Safety inspection .................................................... $100.00 
p. After hours inspection (beyond normal business hours) ..................................... $250.00 
q. Stop-work order (per order) ................................................................................... $50.00 
r. Temporary power pole........................................................................................... $50.00 
s. Tent permit ............................................................................................................ $25.00 
t. Tree removal permit .............................................................................................. $50.00 
u. Well/Test boring application ................................................................................ $100.00 
v. Each additional boring on same site .................................................................... $20.00 
w. Building Safety/Milestone Report Review Fee .................................................... $250.00 

 
(8) "After the Fact" permit fee: 

a. Shall be (5) times the face value of the permit valuation fees. 
b. Any subsequent "After-the-fact" permit issued to the same Contractor, Property 

Owner and/or Homeowner within the following (12) months shall be (10) times the 
normal fees. 

(9) Refunds. NO refunds on permits unless such permit was issued in error in part of the City. There 
shall be no refund of fees if work commences or of the permit is 90 days or older. 
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(10) Miscellaneous items. At the discretion of the Building Official, all construction related activities 

that do not qualify under one of the trades (Building, Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing, and others) 
may be classified as miscellaneous. A permit for such activity may or may not be required at the 
discretion of the Building Official. An appropriate related fee shall be set by the Building Official 
for such miscellaneous permit. 

 
(11) Rental inspection fees (4 units or less) 

a. Initial application .................................................................................................... $40.00 
b. Biennial license renewal ......................................................................................... $15.00 
c. Initial inspection (per unit) ..................................................................................... $50.00 
d. Biennial inspection (per unit) ................................................................................. $70.00 
e. Re-inspection fee (per inspection) ........................................................................ $100.00 

 
Re-inspection fee for every inspection after second if failure  to  correct violation(s) 
is due to owner/manager negligence. 

 
f. Penalties: Ten percent (10%) penalty for failure to submit a timely renewal fee during 

first month of delinquency; an additional five percent (5%) penalty for each month of 
delinquency thereafter. 

 
U. Impact Fee Schedule 

 
Impact fees were adopted beginning on April 1, 2022, and impact fees are updated annually beginning 
October 1st each year through fiscal year 2028 in accordance with the schedule below, based on the 
following amount per sq ft of building area*: 

 

Category or Class 
Calculated fee rate multiply by building area 

FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY202 6 FY 2027 FY 2028 
Culture & Recreation $3.57 $4.76 $5.94 $7.13 $8.23 $9.52 $11.89 

Mobility $0.45 $0.60 $0.75 $0.90 $1.05 $1.20 $1.50 
Public Safety $0.18 $0.24 $0.30 $0.36 $0.42 $0.48 $0.60 

Total $4.20 $5.60 $6.99 $8.39 $9.70 $11.20 $13.99 

 
*Building area refers to the enclosed area of buildings measured in square feet within the city according to the Pinellas 
County Property Appraiser as provided in the field TOTLVGAREA in the Pinellas County Property Appraiser's Geographic 
Information System. 
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ARTICLE III. FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

A. Credit Card Transaction Convenience Fee ...................................... An amount suitable to recover card 
processing fees charged to the City. 

 
B. Indebtedness Search ................................................................................................................... $50.00 

 
C. Returned/unfunded/worthless checks ....................................................... Pursuant to F.S. §68.065(2) 

 
D. Recording of Documents: 

 
(1) First Page ................................................................................................................ $10.00 
(2) Each Additional Page ............................................................................................... $8.50 

  
E. Parking fines and penalties. Parking fines and penalties shall be as follows: 

(Res. 06.29, 11/28/2006; Res. 04.09, 08/10/2004; Code 1983, §5-19; City Ord 2022-23) 
 

(1) Overtime Parking .................................................................................................... $60.00 
 

(2) Double Parking ........................................................................................................ $80.00 
 

(3) Parking in a "NO PARKING" Zone ............................................................................ $90.00 
 

(4) Other Improper Parking .......................................................................................... $90.00 
 

(5) Delinquency Fee (After 15 Days) ............................................................................. $30.00 
 

(6) Disabled Parking Permit ......................................................... Sec. 66-52(c), Code of Ordinances 
 

Note: A Parking enforcement officer can ticket every hour for repeat violations. 
 

F. Special event parking permit (daily permit) ............................................................................... $35.00 
Special event parking permits and road closure fees established for specified events are listed below 
with additional events authorized by the City Manager. 

(Res. 2014-20, 05/13/2014) 
 

Johns Pass Seafood Festival The Fourth of July 
Memorial Day Additional event days as authorized 
by the BOCC by resolution. 

 
G. Business Parking Permit (up to 4 permits/month/Business) per month .................................... $40.00 

Permit for any business with current Local Business Tax Receipt (BTR). 
 

H. Vanity Plates (1 plate for each current registered vehicle) ........................................................ $40.00 
For residents of the City of Madeira Beach ONLY and is a substitute for the free parking sticker 
issued at the beginning of each year. 

 
I. Parking meters city-wide ......................................................................................................... $3.00/hr. 
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J. Overnight Parking ............................................................................................................... $72.00/day 

up to 7 days. Selective Surface Parking lots from 130th to Kitty Stuart Park. 
 

K. Festival Parking.  The City Manager maintains the right to designate festival parking rates for 
designated special events at his/her discretion. Each special event is subject to review. 

 
L. No operator of a vehicle shall park a vehicle on dirt, grass or landscaped city rights-of-way, medians, 

swales, or similar areas. The city manager, or designee, may waive this prohibition on a temporary 
basis where it is determined that such waiver is necessary. 

 
M. Parking Fee Amendment Resolution. In order to adjust parking fees as may be needed due to 

environmental, economic, or other conditions that may occur during the fiscal year, parking fees can 
be waived, decreased, or increased at any time during the fiscal year by Resolution of the Board of City 
Commissioners. 

 
*Note/Clarification: Due to the parking meter fee increasing from $2.50 to $3.00 per hour, the 
minimum charge for credit cards for half the time or thirty minutes is now $1.50. 

 
(Res. 04.09, 08/10/2004; Res. 04.02, 01/27/2004) 

 
 

ARTICLE IV. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

A. Fire & Life Safety Inspection 
(1) Places of Assembly (Posted Occupant Load): 

a. Up to 49 People ............................................................................................. $50.00 
b.    50 – 149 People ........................................................................................... $100.00 
c. 150 People or More .................................................................................... $150.00 

 
(2) Residential structures, hotel/motel, timeshare, rentals/resort rentals (5 units or greater) 

a. 5 – 10 Units ................................................................................................ $100.00 
b.    11 – 20 Units ................................................................................................ $150.00 
c. 21 – 49 Units ............................................................................................... $200.00 
d. 50 or More Units ......................................................................................... $350.00 

(3) Automotive and/or Marine Service or Storage Facilities ...................................... $200.00 
 

(4) Automotive and/or Marine Fueling Facilities ........................................................ $200.00 
 

(5) Standalone Single Business: 
a.    Up to 2,499 sq. ft .............................................................................................. $50.00 
b.    2,000 or more sq. ft ........................................................................................ $100.00 

 
(6) Multiple Commercial/Businesses: 

a. Unoccupied, per suite ...................................................................................... $25.00 
b. Occupied, per suite .......................................................................................... $50.00 
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(7) Storage Facilities 
a.    Up to 4,999 sq. ft ........................................................................................... $100.00 
b.    5,000 or more sq. ft ....................................................................................... $200.00 

 
(8) Subsequent Fee for Each Return Inspection for Compliance ................................. $30.00 

 
(9) Fire Department Red Tag/Stop Work Order ........................................................... $50.00 

 
B. Fire Plan Review and Correlated Inspection(s) 

(1) For Site Plans and Building Plans ....................................................................... $0.05/sqft 
 

(2) Other fire plans review (fire alarm, fire suppression, etc.) .................................. $250.00 
 

(3) Failed inspections(s) (per each inspection) ............................................................. $50.00 
 

C. CPR Classes. 
(1) Resident .................................................................................................................. $25.00 

 
(2) Non-resident ........................................................................................................... $50.00 

 
D. Fire Engine Rental for Fire System Testing and/or Certification. 

(1)   First 4 Hours ....................................................................................................... $1,000.00 
 

(2)   Each Additional Hour ............................................................................................ $250.00 
(Res. 08.10, 09/23/2008) 

 
E. Special Event Fee 

(1) Fire Rescue Special Event (per Hour) ..................................................................... $125.00 
 

(2) Equipment Service Fee; Fuel, Oil, Maintenance, etc. (per unit per day) ................... $50.00 
 

(3) Special Event Inspection; Cooking Tents, Food Trucks, etc. (per event) ................ $100.00 
 
 

ARTICLE V. PARKS & RECREATION 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 2016-03, 02/09/2016; Res. 2015-21, 08/11/2015; Res. 2015- 
09,03/10/2015;  Res.  2014-53,  12/10/2014;   Res.  10.05,  03/23/2010; Res. 09.09, 09/21/2009; Res. 
07.14,06/26/2007; Res. 05.20, 09/14/2005; Res. 06.23, 09/13/2005; Code 1983 §19-508) 

A. Recreation. 
(1) Adult Sports Registration: 

a. Rate determined by sport, competitive analysis, and cost recovery. 
i. Resident/Non-Resident Pricing model will be utilized. 

 
(2) Youth Sports 

a. Rate determined by sport, competitive analysis, and cost recovery. 
i. Resident/Non-Resident Pricing model will be utilized. 

 
(3) After-School Program (will take effect August 1, 2020): 
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a. Resident (daily) .............................................................................................. $9.00 
b. Non-Resident (daily) .................................................................................... $12.00 
c. City Employee (daily) ..................................................................................... $9.00 

 
(4) Summer Camp Program: 

a. Resident Rate by Session: 
i. Session 1 ...................................................................................... $500.00 

ii. Session 2 ...................................................................................... $500.00 
iii. Full Summer Session ................................................................. $1,000.00 
iv. Individual Weekly Rate ................................................................ $150.00 

b. Non-Resident Rate by Session: 
i. Session 1 

..................................................................................................... $625.0 
0 

ii. Session 2 ...................................................................................... $625.00 
iii. Full summer session .................................................................. $1,250.00 
iv. Individual weekly rate .................................................................. $200.00 

c. City Employee ........................................................................................... Free 
 

(5) Fitness Classes 
a. Contracted Recreation Instructors will agree to a 75% and 25% contract split with 

the City for their services. 
b. Recreation Director may negotiate class rate based upon needs/uses of 

recreation facilities as well as class supply requirements. 
 

B. Recreation Center and City Hall Rentals. 
(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 2015-21, 08/11/2-15; Res. 2014-53, 12/20/2014) 

(1) Monday – Thursday rental period. Rental hours must include set-up and breakdown for all 
vendors and guests. Rental includes use of contracted space, set-up/breakdown of tables and 
chairs, banquet kitchen (if applicable), and cleaning fee. The 6.5% sales tax is included in hourly 
rates. Deposits may be refunded within thirty (30) days of an event. 

 
a. Recreation Center Rooms (security deposits are refundable) 

i. Full Recreation Center (all rooms) (security deposit $400.00) ................ $300.00/hr. 
ii. Boca View Hall (security deposit $200.00.00) ......................................... $100.00/hr. 
iii. Ocean Walk Room (security deposit $200.00) .......................................... $50.00/hr. 
iv. Starboard Room (security deposit $200.00) .............................................. $50.00/hr. 
v. Outside Deck (security deposit $400.00) ................................................. $100.00/hr. 
vi. Boca View Hall & Outside Deck (security deposit $400.00) .................... $150.00/hr. 

vii. Setup/breakdown Fee- Up to 2 hours before and 2 hours after ............... $50.00/hr. 
 

b. City Hall Rooms (security deposits are refundable) 
i. City Centre Room (security deposit $400.00) .......................................... $200.00/hr. 

(includes use of outside deck & restrooms) 
ii. Commission Chambers* ( security deposit $200.00) ............................... $200.00/hr. 

*ONLY as a backup space for outside reservations negatively impacted by weather. 
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c. Resident Discount- applied to hourly rental rates ........................................... 20% discount. 
 

(2) Friday – Sunday rental period. Rental includes use of contracted space, set-up/breakdown of 
tables and chairs, banquet kitchen (if applicable), and cleaning fee. The 6.5% sales tax is not 
included in hourly rates. Security deposit may be refunded within thirty (30) days following an 
event. 

a. Recreation Center Rooms (security deposits are refundable) 
i. Full Recreation Center (all rooms) (security deposit $400.00) ................ $350.00/hr. 

ii. Boca View Hall (security deposit $200.00) .............................................. $150.00/hr. 
iii. Ocean Walk Room (security deposit $200.00) .......................................... $75.00/hr. 
iv. Starboard Room (security deposit $200.00) .............................................. $75.00/hr. 
v. Outside Deck (security deposit $200.00) ................................................. $125.00/hr. 

vi. Boca View Hall & Outside Deck-(security deposit $400.00) .................... $250.00/hr. 
vii. Setup/breakdown Fee – Up to 2 hours before and 2 hours after ............. $50.00/hr. 

 
b. City Hall Rooms (security deposits are refundable): 

i. City Centre Room (security deposit $400.00) ......................................... $250.00/hr. 
(includes use of outside deck & restrooms) 

ii. Commission Chambers* (security deposit $200.00) ............................... $250.00/hr. 
 

*ONLY as a backup space for outside reservations negatively impacted by weather. 

c. Resident discount on hourly rates. 
 

(3) Set-up and Cleaning Fees (per location): 
a. Less than 50 attendees ........................................................................................ $100.00 
b. 50+ attendees ...................................................................................................... $200.00 

 
C. Park & Pavilion Rentals 

(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 2015-09,03/10/2015) 
 

(1) Archibald Park 
a. Pavilion rental for four (4) hours (each additional hour is $25.00/hour): 

i. Resident ............................................................................................ $100.00 
ii. Non-Resident .................................................................................... $200.00 

b. Sand Volleyball Court Rental for four (4) hours (each additional hour is$25.00/hour): 
i. Resident .............................................................................................. $25.00 
ii. Non-Resident ...................................................................................... $50.00 

 
(2) John's Pass Park: 

a. Pavilion rental for four (4) hours (each additional hour is $25.00/hour): 
i. Resident ............................................................................................ $100.00 
ii. Non-Resident .................................................................................... $200.00 

 
(3) Splash Pads Rentals 

a. Resident Rates 
i. Splash Pad (2 Hours) ......................................................................... $100.00 
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ii. Splash Pad w/ Tables & Chairs on Patio (2 Hours) ............................ $200.00 
b. Non-Resident Rates 

i. Splash Pad (2 Hours) ......................................................................... $150.00 
ii. Splash Pad w/ Tables & Chairs on Patio (2 Hours) ............................ $250.00 

 
D. Athletic Field Rentals 

(Res. 2016-24, 07/12/2016; Res. 2014-53, 12/10/2014) 
 

(1) Hourly resident rates by facility (6.8% Sales Tax NOT included) 
a. Softball Field ....................................................................................... $25.00 
b. Soccer Field ......................................................................................... $25.00 
c. Basketball Court .................................................................................. $5.00 
d. Tennis Court ........................................................................................ $5.00 
e. Field Preparation and Lining (softball) ................................................ $45.00 
f. Field Preparation and Lining (football/soccer) ................................... $25.00 
g. Attendant Fee (per staff member) ...................................................... $25.00 
h. Rental Cleaning Fee ............................................................................ $25.00 
i. Light Fee ............................................................................................. $10.00 

 
(2) Hourly non-resident rates by facility (6.5% Sales Tax NOT included) 

a. Softball Field ....................................................................................... $30.00 
b. Soccer Field ......................................................................................... $30.00 
c. Basketball Court ................................................................................. $10.00 
d. Tennis Court ....................................................................................... $10.00 
e. Field Preparation and Lining (softball) ................................................ $50.00 
f. Field Preparation and Lining (football/soccer) ................................... $30.00 
g. Attendant Fee (per staff member) ...................................................... $30.00 
h. Rental Cleaning Fee ............................................................................ $30.00 
i. Light Fee ............................................................................................. $15.00 

 
E. Wedding Permits. 

(1) Small wedding permit application fee ........................................................... $100.00* 
a. *A gathering of less than 50 persons with minimal decor as determined 

by staff; additional fees may apply. 
 

(2) Wedding permit application fee ..................................................................... $200.00* 
a. *A gathering of more than 50 persons with minimal decor as determined by 

staff; additional fees may apply. 
 

F. Special Events. 
(1) Event Application Fee (less than 1,000 attendees) ......................................... $100.00 

 
(2) Event Application Fee (more than 1,000 attendees) ...................................... $250.00 

A fee of $100.00/$250.00 payable to the City as reasonable cost for processing, 
evaluating, and issuing the permit is required. The BOC may waive the application 
fee by resolution at annual special event review when determined in the best 
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interest of the community and upon demonstration of non- profit status. 

(3) Deposit. Deposits shall be determined upon the estimated impact on the City 
owned property of which the event is hosted. 

a. Small event ........................................................................................ $250.00 
b. Large event ........................................................................................ $500.00 

 
A refundable deposit shall be payable to the City in advance of the event for damage to public property or City 
services incurred in direct association with the event and not identified in the original special event application 
approval. The BOCC may waive the deposit by resolution at annual special event review when determined in 
the best interest of the community, and upon. The City reserves the sole right to determine which portion, if 
any, of the deposit shall be returned to the applicant within 30 days after the event. The City Manager may 
waive special event fees to the amount of no more than $500 upon his/her determination that it will be a 
benefit to the community. 

 
(4) Fees 

a. Large Event (1,000+ Attendees) 
i. Facility Rental Per Event ................................................. $3,000.00 

(Includes use of stage and event field) 
 

b. Small Event (Less than 1,000 attendees) 
i. Stage Fee 

1. Resident ...................................................................... $50.00/hr. 
2. Non-Resident ............................................................ $100.00/hr. 

ii. Field Usage Fee 
1. Resident ...................................................................... $50.00/hr. 
2. Non-Resident ............................................................ $100.00/hr. 

 
c. City Event Fees 

i. Trash Can Fee (per trash can) .......................................... $5.00 
ii. Dumpster fee with single pick-up 3 Yard Dumpster ....... $136.70 

iii. Event Barricades (available at City Hall Property Only) 
1. Setup Fee per – event .............................................. $100.00 
2. Barricade Fee - per day ......................................... $10.00 

 
iv. Other fees including but not limited to additional City personnel 

staff, such as EMT support through Madeira Beach Fire 
Department, etc. Five times the rental fee for receptacles will be 
withheld from deposit for those not returned within 48 hours of 
event. 

 
d. Mandatory Non-City Fees. The required used of Pinellas County Sheriff's 

Deputies, as defined within the ·special events section of ordinances, will be 
negotiated directly with the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office. It is the sole 
responsibility of the applicant to secure the appropriate number of deputies as 
required by the Sheriff's Department. 
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e. Other Non-City Fees. Other fees included but not limited to Madeira Beach City 
Centre and field clean-up, additional civilian security, and vehicle parking 
professionals shall be the sole responsibility of the applicant. 

 
f. Table games (Canasta, Bridge, etc.) 

i. Resident: ............................................................................... $1.00 
ii. Non-resident: ........................................................................ $2.00 

 

 

ARTICLE VI. PUBLIC WORKS 

A. Trash, Recycling, and Garbage 
(1) Removal service fees- 

All residents, occupants, or owners of premises in the city shall be required to have accumulations 
of garbage, trash, garden trash, recyclable items, and noncombustible refuse removed and disposed 
of by the sanitation division of the city Public Works Department. For the purpose of this section a 
unit shall be defined as a living unit for human habitation containing kitchen facilities. The charges 
for garbage, recycling, and trash removal services shall be as follows: 

a. Single Family and Multi-Family, per dwelling, per month: 
i. 64 Gallon Cart ..................................................................................................... $38.74 

o Each additional cart per month .................................................. $14.00 
ii.   96 Gallon Cart ................................................................................................... $45.74 

o Each additional cart per month .................................................. $14.00 

b. Commercial. All offices and business establishments required to have a local business tax receipt 
are hereby classified commercial. A commercial rate for the collection of garbage and trash is 
hereby established to be in accordance with the following for non-compacting containers: 

i. Service twice per week, per month (Dumpster) 
(a) One cubic yard ......................................................... $$122.82 
(b) One and a half cubic yard........................................ $$157.00 
(c) Two cubic yard .........................................................$191.17 
(d) Three cubic yard.......................................................$259.52 

ii. Each additional service per week, per month (Dumpster) 
(a) One cubic yard ......................................................... $$68.35 
(b) One and a half cubic yard..........................................$76.90 
(c) Two cubic yard  .......................................................... $102.53 
(d) Three cubic yard  ....................................................... $136.70 

 

iii. Service twice per week, per month (96 Gallon cart) .......................... $40.00 
o Each additional cart per month ...................................... $14.00 

  
iv. Each additional service per week, per month (96 gallon cart)  .......... $16.00 

 

v. Sunday collections are double the additional service rate. 
 

vi. Replacement Toter fee $75.00 
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vii. Accounts classified as multifamily dwelling, or hotel, motel or motor lodge may 
elect to be charged for garbage and trash removal services in conformity with the 
commercial rates defined in this section but in no case shall less than one can per 
unit be elected. It is the burden of the property owner to notify the city of such 
election. Those establishments electing the commercial or bulk rate shall have the 
option of changing the type of service by giving 30 days' notice. Requests for 
changes in service shall be in writing and addressed to the city. The city reserves 
the right to determine the number of cans, the number and size of containers 
and/or frequency of disposal, with applicable charges, during any period of the 
year, for commercial containers. 

c. Bulk item removal. Any item identified in section 54-33 regarding the removal of other waste 
and non-combustible refuse will be collected by the city, for a minimum disposal fee of $50.00 
plus $10.00 for each item picked up 

d. Unlawful/Illegal Dumping ............................................................................................ $250.00 
 

e. Bulk waste. Noncombustible refuse in excess of normal weekly limits, by either residential or 
commercial establishments shall be picked up at the rate of $50.00 per hour per collection day, 
based on elapsed time of collection, plus allowances for disposal run and dump charges. Such 
charges shall also be made to homes having more than normal trash collection. 

 
(2) Recycling service fees (Commercial) 

a. Condominium properties shall be billed based on direct costs incurred by the City to provide 
recycling service through its contractual service provider. 

 
(3) Billing. 

It is the property owner's responsibility to pay charges against the property. It shall be at the discretion 
of the city to determine the appropriate billing party. Upon request, the city will attempt to bill tenants, 
but only if the owner signs a statement acknowledging his responsibility for the charges generated, along 
with the information necessary so that they may be contacted at the point wherever a delinquency 
occurs. The city reserves the right to bill the property owner, if it so chooses, regardless of circumstances 
surrounding the account. 

(4) Owner's liability. 

If the premises are sold, any remaining claims by the city for garbage and trash services not settled at time 
of transfer of ownership of the property shall become the responsibility of the new owner. This applies 
equally to the sale or foreclosure of any property and represents charges for service presently or 
previously provided. On all premises, the owner of such premises shall be liable for all garbage and trash 
service charges against the property irrespective of whether such premises is occupied by owner, 
tenant, or vacant. The occupation of fully constructed premises shall be irrelevant to the liability of the 
owner and/or occupant for the charges as provided for in this section. The schedule of charges shall be 
imposed on all fully constructed premises, whether occupied or not, and regardless of volume of 
garbage or trash generated. Liability for payment shall begin on the date of ownership of property. 
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(5) Payment, penalties, delinquency constitutes lien against property. 

(Code 1983, §19-511) 

All garbage and trash fees are due and payable upon receipt. Bills not paid within 30 days of the billing 
date will be considered delinquent and shall constitute grounds for filing a lien against the property 
with the clerk of the circuit court. Bills that arrive after the 30-day deadline will be assessed penalty 
interest on the next bill. It is the owner's responsibility to see that the payment arrives within the 30- 
day billing period. Bills not paid within 30 days shall have penalty interest added at the rate of 1½ 
percent per month beyond the delinquency date (30 days). 

B. Stormwater Utility Management 
(1) Created. 

A stormwater management utility fee, also referred to in this section as "fee" was created and 
imposed on all developed property within the city for services and facilities provided by the 
stormwater management program. For the purposes of imposing the fee, all developed property 
within the city shall be classified into the following three classes: 

a. Residential Property 
b. Non-Residential Property 
c. Mixed Use Property 

The Public Works Director will, from time to time, prepare a list of property within the City and assign 
a classification of residential or nonresidential property. 

(2) Schedule of Rates 

(Res. 05.20, 09/14/2005) 

(1) The EDU rate shall be $10.00 per month for each EDU. 
(2) The stormwater management utility fee shall be calculated for each developed property as 

follows: 
i. The fee for property consisting solely of dwelling units is the rate of one EDU 

multiplied by the number of dwelling units existing on the property. That is: 

Fee = (EDU rate) X (Number of dwelling units) 

ii. The fee of a property with no dwelling units is the rate of one EDU multiplied 
by the numerical factor. The numerical factor is obtained by dividing the total 
impervious area in square feet of the nonresidential property by 1,249 square 
feet. The resulting calculation is: 

Fee = (EDU rate) X (Impervious area expressed in square feet) / 1,249 square 
feet, but not less than the rate for one EDU) 

*Fractional remainders 
iii. The fee for mixed use property (dwelling units and commercial) is the rate of 

one EDU multiplied by the number of dwelling units existing on the property. 
The total on-site impervious is then compared to the impervious area allocated 
to dwelling units by multiplying the number of dwelling units X 1,249 square feet 
per dwelling unit and subtracting the resulting square footage of impervious 
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area from the total impervious area. If the remaining impervious area is zero 
or negative, the fee is the EDU rate multiplied by the number of dwelling units. 

If the remaining impervious area is greater than zero, then the additional fee for the 
remaining impervious area is calculated under subsection (2)(b) of this section. 

(3) The minimum fee for developed property, whether residential or nonresidential, within the 
city is equal to the rate of one EDU subject to reduction as set forth in subsection (4) of this 
section. 

 
(4) On-site stormwater quality management facilities reduction shall be allowed and calculated 

as follows: 
 

i. In order to encourage the improvement of the quality of stormwater runoff, a 
reduction in the stormwater management utility fee is authorized for those 
developed properties which are addressed by a stormwater management 
facility designed and constructed for the purpose of stormwater pollution 
reduction. 

 
ii. A reduction in fee is allowed for a particular developed property only if the 

stormwater runoff from the property is treated by a stormwater management 
facility that has been designed, constructed, and is maintained properly for the 
purpose of stormwater pollution reduction and adheres to the drainage 
requirements of the ten-year frequency, 60-minute storm event. If it is 
determined by the Director of Community Services that the stormwater 
management facility has not been, nor is currently being, properly maintained 
as designed, the Director of Community Services may disallow the on-site 
stormwater management facility credit. 

 
iii. Specific stormwater treatment facilities that qualify for this reduction include, 

but are not limited to, retention or filtration ponds; front, rear, and side lot 
swales; mechanical treatment or separation facilities; or extensive 
improvement in the amount of pervious surfaces by the use of turf-block for 
parking areas, driveways, patios and sidewalks. 

 
iv. For applicable properties, the fee shall be reduced by 25 percent. The reduced 

fee will, therefore, be calculated as the fee determined in this subsection 
multiplied by the factor of 0.75 (Fee X 0.75). 

 
(3) Billing, Collecting, Delinquency, and Penalty 

a. Bills for stormwater service shall be rendered bimonthly by the county water system as 
agent for the city. The fixed monthly charge shall be payable in advance. 

 
b. If any bill shall not be paid within seven days after the date it has been declared 

delinquent, water service to the premises shall be disconnected until such delinquent 
account is paid in full, including all applicable disconnection and reconnection charges. 

c. Statements for the stormwater management utility fee shall be payable at the same time 
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and in the same manner and subject to the same penalties as they are otherwise set forth 
for other utility fees administered by the city. The property owner or fee payer will be 
notified of any delinquency in the payment of the stormwater management utility fee in 
the same manner that delinquent water, garbage and sewer bills are notified and the 
failure to pay such fee as is otherwise provided in the statement rendered to the payer 
shall subject the property to the discontinuance of water, garbage and sewer services and 
shall subject the fee payer to all other penalties and charges provided relative to the 
discontinuance of such utility services. 

 
d. The administrative appeal and hearing procedure applicable to the discontinuance of 

utility services shall be applicable to the discontinuance of such services for the 
nonpayment of the stormwater management utility fee. 

 
(4) Adjustments of fees. 

(Code 1983, §19-512) 
a. Any owner, tenant or occupant who has paid the rendered fee and who believes that the 

fee is in error may, subject to the limitations set forth in this division, submit an 
adjustment request to the Public Works Director. 

 

i. Adjustment requests shall be made in writing and shall set forth in detail the 
grounds upon which the belief is based. 

 
ii. The Public Works Director shall review the adjustment request within 90 days 

of the submittal of the request and shall respond in writing to the requesting 
fee payer, either denying or granting the request with the reason therefore 
stated in such response. 

 
iii. The rate adjustment, if granted, will apply retroactively to the date at which 

the erroneous information was applied to the fee payer's fee, but will not 
exceed one year prior to the adjustment request. 

 
iv. Upon denial of the adjustment request, the owner, tenant, or occupant making 

the original adjustment request may, within 30 days of the receipt of denial, 
petition for a review of the adjustment request by the board of adjustment. 
The board of adjustment shall review the adjustment request in accordance 
with the provisions set forth in the City Code, Chapter 2, as well as the 
documented evidence provided in the original adjustment request and 
supplemental evidence requested by the Director of Community Services or 
provided by the fee payer prior to the decision made by the Director of 
Community Services. Within 60 days of the petition the board of adjustment 
shall in writing, either grant or deny the petition. If the petition is granted, the 
Public Works Director will apply the adjustment to the fee for the requesting 
customer for the retroactive period identified by the board of adjustment. 
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b. The Public Works Director, upon discovering an error or oversight in the calculation of the 
fee, may initiate an adjustment request. The request must be made in writing 
documenting the reasons for the adjustment. In the event that the adjustment would 
require the increase in fee for a fee payer, the Public Works/Marina Director must provide 
the adjustment request to the affected fee payer 30 days prior to adjusting the fee and 
offer the fee payer an opportunity within the stated 30 days to provide reasons why the 
adjustment should not be made. An increase or decrease in fee shall not be retroactively 
effective more than one year from the date of adjustment. 

 
(5) Sec. 70-156. - Enforcement. 

a. Civil penalties. Any violation of any provision of this article, or of any regulation or order 
issued under this article, shall be subject to a civil penalty not less than $50.00 or more 
than $500.00 per day, or imprisonment of up to 60 days, or both such fine and 
imprisonment, for each violation. 

b. Criminal penalties. Any intentional or willful violation of any provision of this article, or of 
any regulation or order issued under this article, shall be subject to a criminal penalty not 
less than $50.00 or more than $500.00 per day, or imprisonment of up to 60 days, or both 
such fine and imprisonment, for each violation. 

 
c. Injunctive relief. Any violation of any provision of this article, or of any regulation or order 

issued under this article, shall be subject to injunctive relief if necessary to protect the 
public health, safety, or general welfare. 

d. Continuing violation. A person shall be deemed guilty of a separate violation for each and 
every day during any continuing violation of any provision of this article, or of any 
regulation or permit issued under this article. 

e. Enforcement actions. The director may take all actions necessary, including the issuance 
of notices of violation and the filing of court actions, to require and enforce compliance 
with the provisions of this article and with any regulation or permit issued under this 
article. 

 
 

ARTICLE VII. MADEIRA BEACH MUNICIPAL MARINA 

A. Vessel inspection. 
(Code 1983, Chapter 19, Article VII) 

Live-aboard vessels desiring to stay beyond ten days will be required to obtain a no- fee annual 
permit and pay a vessel inspection fee of $25.00 

B. Madeira Beach Municipal Marina fees 
(Res 2016-03, 02/10/2016) 
 
The marina maintains the ability to adjust the rates below to account for changes in the sales tax 
Rates during the fiscal year; allowing for payments to stay consistent until this manual is updated 
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and approved by the Commission. Employees receive the same rates as residents. The marina staff 
can issue transient slip discount coupons up to 20% off through online booking sites as a marketing 
tool. Discounts will be for off peak times. 

Fees for the Madeira Beach Municipal Marina shall be as follows (each of these fees are subject to 
all applicable sales taxes): 

(1) Transient Wet Slip per day ............................................................................. $2.10/foot/day 

(2) Transient Wet Slip per week .......................................................................... $11.00/foot/week 

(3) Transient Dry Storage 
a. Regular per day ................................................................................... $28.04/day 
b. Holidays and/or weekends per day ..................................................... $37.38/day 

 
(4) Transient Dry Storage .................................................................................... $233.64/month 

 
(5) Wet Slip non-Live-aboard .............................................................................. $12.00/foot/month 

 
(6) Boat Lift ......................................................................................................... $15.50/foot/month 

 
(7) Commercial non-live-aboard wet slip ............................................................ $13.00/foot/month 

 
(8) Wet Slip Live – aboard ................................................................................... $18.50/foot/month 

 
(9) Dry Storage – under 26’ boat length .............................................................. $158.88/month 

 
(10) Dry Storage – 26’+ boat length ...................................................................... $196.26/month 

 
(11) Resident Dry Storage (Limited to Madeira Beach Residents Only) ................ $128.33/month 

 
(12) Dry storage for non-motorized boat* ............................................................ $28.17/month 

a. *Kayaks, canoes, and small boat that can be carried by one (1) person. 
 

(13) Boat Ramp Fees 
a. Launch ................................................................................................ $4.67/day 
b. Launch and Park ................................................................................. $14.02/day 
c. Holiday Launch and Park .................................................................... $18.69/day 
d. Resident Launch (New)....................................................................... $1.87 
e. Resident Launch & Park (New) ........................................................... $9.35 

 
(14) Late Fee ......................................................................................................... $30.00 

 
(15) Residents with recreational vehicles and motor homes and boat displaced by City Road and/or 

Stormwater construction will be provided free storage space for those vehicles. 
 

(16) Fuel Discounts -Maximum discount per gallon $0.30/gal 
a. Commercial ........................................................................................ $0.20/gal 
b. Gulf of Mexico Commercial Fishing Fleet Discount ............................ $0.30/gal 
c. 50+ Gallon .......................................................................................... $0.05/gal 
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d. Boat US/ Sea Tow ............................................................................... $0.05/gal 
e. Madeira Beach Resident .................................................................... $0.05/gal 
f. City Co-sponsored / Community events ............................................. $0.20/gal 

i. Great American Grunt Hunt 
ii. King of the Beach fishing tournament (Spring and Fall) 

iii. Veterans Boat Parade 
iv. Wild West Kingfish Tournament (Spring and Fall) 
v. Sun Coast Kingfish Classic (Spring and Fall) 
vi. Christmas Boat Parade 
vii. Any other City Co-sponsored events as approved by the City Manager 

 
(17) Surveillance camera optional fee ................................................................... $25.00/month 

 
(18) Live-aboard permits ....................................................................................... $5.00(72 hours) 

(Res 2019-18, 12/17/2019) 
 

(19) Temporary  3HR Wet Slip Parking/No Power ................................................. $20.00 + Tax 
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This page reserve for Publications by the City Clerk 
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Business Impact Estimate 

 

Proposed ordinance’s title/reference: 
 

ORDINANCE 2024-05 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
FEES AND COLLECTIONS PROCEDURES MANUAL THAT WAS AMENDED BY 
ORDINANCE 2023-18, PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND PROVIDING FOR AN IMMEDIATE EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
This Business Impact Estimate is provided in accordance with section 166.041(4), Florida 
Statutes. If one or more boxes are checked below, this means the City of Madeira Beach 
is of the view that a business impact estimate is not required by state law1 for the proposed 
ordinance, but the City of Madeira Beach is, nevertheless, providing this Business Impact 
Estimate as a courtesy and to avoid any procedural issues that could impact the 
enactment of the proposed ordinance. This Business Impact Estimate may be revised 
following its initial posting. 

☐  The proposed ordinance is required for compliance with Federal or State law or 

regulation; 

☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the issuance or refinancing of debt; 

☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the adoption of budgets or budget 

amendments, including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget; 

☐  The proposed ordinance is required to implement a contract or an agreement, 

including, but not limited to, any Federal, State, local, or private grant or other 
financial assistance accepted by the municipal government; 

☐  The proposed ordinance is an emergency ordinance; 

☐  The ordinance relates to procurement; or 

☐  The proposed ordinance is enacted to implement the following: 

a. Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relating to growth policy, county and 
municipal planning, and land development regulation, including zoning, 
development orders, development agreements and development permits; 

b. Sections 190.005 and 190.046, Florida Statutes, regarding community 
development districts; 

c. Section 553.73, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Building Code; or 
d. Section 633.202, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code. 

 

                                                           
1 See Section 166.041(4)(c), Florida Statutes. 
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In accordance with the provisions of controlling law, even notwithstanding the fact that 
an exemption noted above may apply, the City of Madeira Beach hereby publishes the 
following information: 
 

1. Summary of the proposed ordinance (must include a statement of the public purpose, 
such as serving the public health, safety, morals and welfare): 
 
This ordinance amends the Fees and Collection Procedure Manual to establish a new fee 
for the Building Department. 

 

2. An estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on private, for-
profit businesses in the City of Madeira Beach, if any: 
(a) An estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may reasonably incur; 
(b) Any new charge or fee imposed by the proposed ordinance or for which businesses 
will be financially responsible; and 
(c) An estimate of the City of Madeira Beach’s regulatory costs, including estimated 
revenues from any new charges or fees to cover such costs. 
 
This amendment creates a building safety/milestone report review fee of $250.00.  
 

 

3. Good faith estimate of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by the proposed 
ordinance: 
 
The amendment creates a building/milestone report review fee that would apply to all 
persons similarly situated (individuals as well as businesses) and, therefore, the 
proposed ordinance does not affect only businesses.  

 

4. Additional information the governing body deems useful (if any): 
 
This amendment will result in additional revenues to support City operations within 
Building Services. Annual additional revenue is estimated to be approximately $7,500.  
A building/milestone report inspects the integrity of a building and is intended to increase 
building safety.  
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Memorandum  

Meeting Details: April 10, 2024 – BOC Regular Meeting 

Prepared For: Hon. Mayor Rostek and Board of Commissioners 

From: Community Development Department 

Subject:  Public Hearing for Special Food Service Establishment (4COP) ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE 

LICENSE APPLICATION # 2024-02 for Dockside Dave’s Restaurant located at 14701 Gulf Blvd 

Madeira Beach, Florida 33708 

 

Background: 

Pursuant to Land Development Code Article VI, Division 6, Alcoholic Beverages, the applicant for ABP 

2024-02 is requesting authorization from the Board of Commissioners for the approval of a Special Food 

Service Establishment (4COP) alcoholic beverage license for the sale of beer, wine, and liquor for 

consumption on premises at the existing Dockside Dave’s Restaurant located at 14701 Gulf Blvd Madeira 

Beach, Florida 33708.  This establishment is located in the C-3, Retail Commercial Zoning District.  The 

future land use designation for the property is Residential/Office/Retail (R/O/R).  

Section 110-534 of the Madeira Beach Code of Ordinances requires the approval by the Board of 

Commissioners for an existing alcoholic beverage zoned property to change to an alcoholic beverage 

license of greater intensity. The new application would be reviewed for all factors located under Section 

110-532. Pursuant to Section 110-539, the Notice of Public Hearing has been properly sent to all property 

owners within 300 feet of the subject property 15 days before the scheduled consideration by the Board 

of Commission. Such notice has also been posted on the subject property, at the Gulf Beaches Public 

Library, City Hall, and the City of Madeira Beach website. 

Discussion:   

When considering the alcoholic beverage license application, the Board of Commissioners shall 

consider the following factors:  

(1) The extent to which the location and the extent to which the proposed alcoholic beverage 

request will adversely affect the character of the existing neighborhood.  
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Section 110-534 of the Madeira Beach Code of Ordinances requires the approval by the Board 

of Commissioners to change to an alcoholic beverage license of greater intensity. The 

applicant is applying for a Special Food Service Establishment (4COP) alcoholic beverage 

license to be able to sell liquor alongside the current beer and wine offerings. Permitting 

Dockside Dave’s Restaurant of Madeira Beach to add liquor to the menu for consumption on 

premises would not adversely affect the character of the existing neighborhood.  The existing 

neighborhood is mostly commercial uses and the existing restaurant already has a 2COP 

alcohol license to serve beer and wine on the premises.  Additionally, The Reef Bar and Grill 

next door already serves liquor. 

 

(2) The extent to which traffic generated as a result of the location of the proposed alcoholic 

beverage request will create congestion or present a safety hazard.  

 

The minimum parking requirements of this property meet the requirements of (sec. 110-971).  

Adding liquor to the menu should not create any additional traffic congestion as the business 

has been in operation for over a decade and the use is not changing.  Additional traffic and 

congestion should not be created by the proposed alcohol use.  The proposed alcohol use does 

not present a safety hazard.   

 

(3) Whether or not the proposed use is compatible with the particular location for which it is 

proposed.  

 

This proposed alcohol use is compatible with the location.  The Reef Bar and Grill next door 

already serves liquor.  This application is to permit liquor to be sold at the existing restaurant. 

Any future expansion of the square footage of alcohol use will require the applicant to send in 

a new permit application pursuant to Section 110-535. - Expansion of alcoholic beverage 

zoning in the Madeira Beach Code of Ordinances. The owner confirmed he will be applying 

for a new petition for an alcohol beverage license once the building plans for the new 

renovated restaurant are completed.  

 

(4) Whether or not the proposed use will adversely affect the public safety.  

 

 Public safety should not be adversely affected by Dockside Dave’s Restaurant serving liquor 

for consumption on the premises.  The restaurant is more than 300 feet away from any 

established church, synagogue, temple, or place of religious worship, public or private school 
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operated for the instruction of minors, or youth recreation (community) center. This 300-foot 

requirement is the minimum distance required for bars and clubs located in the C-3, Zoning 

District (sec. 110-530) and does not need to be met for restaurants, in which Dockside Daves 

is currently classified as.   

(5) No application for review under this section shall be considered until the applicant has 

paid in full any outstanding charges, fees, interest, fines or penalties owed by the 

applicant to the city under any section of the Code.  

 

The applicant has no outstanding fines or penalties owed to the City under any section of the 

Code. 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

Recommendation(s): Staff recommends the approval of a Special Food Service Establishment (4COP) 

alcoholic beverage license with stated intent to sell beer, wine, and liquor for consumption on premise at 

Dockside Dave’s Restaurant. 

Attachments: 

Local Application 

Existing Site Plan 

Public Notice Mailing and Posting 
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MIKE TWITTY, MAI, CFA
Pinellas County Property Appraiser 

www.pcpao.gov mike@pcpao.gov 

Pinellas County Courthouse | 315 Court Street - 2nd Floor | Clearwater, FL 33756 

Mail: PO Box 1957, Clearwater, FL 33757 | www.pcpao.gov 
(727) 464-3207 | Fax (727) 464-3448 | TTY/TDD (727) 464-3370

Run Date: 20 Mar 2024
Subject Parcel: 09-31-15-87048-000-0070
Radius: 300 feet
Parcel Count: 160
Total pages: 7

Public information is furnished by the Property Appraiser's Office and must be accepted by the
recipient with the understanding that the information received was developed and collected for the
purpose of developing a Property Value Roll per Florida Statute. The Pinellas County Property
Appraiser's Office makes no warranties, expressed or implied, concerning the accuracy,
completeness, reliability or suitability of this information for any other particular use. The Pinellas
County Property Appraiser's Office assumes no liability whatsoever associated with the use or
misuse of such information.
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DE ROSE, LUIGI G
DE ROSE, MARIO
C/O PACIFIC HOMES LTD
1-2 HOLLAND DR
BOLTON ON L7E 1E1,  

CURRAN, IAN
CURRAN, NICHOLA
2350 SIERRA CREEK RD
AGOURA HILLS, CA 91301-6244

ABELKIS, RICHARD RIMAS
CUCCIO, CLAIRE ELLEN
PSC 79 BOX 80
APO, AE 09714-0001

RATCLIFFE, CATHERINE
RATCLIFFE, AARON GRANT
6804 GUILFORD CREST DR
APOLLO BEACH, FL 33572-1704

WASIELEWSKI, JOSEPH S
WASIELEWSKI, MONIKA
304 CEDAR FALLS DR
APOLLO BEACH, FL 33572-3117

KUSHNIR INVESTMENT TRUST
KIT LC TRE
4005 64TH ST
BETHESDA, MD 20816-2617

KUDRNA, PATRICIA B TRE
KUDRNA, BETTY N TRE
3810 RAYMOND AVE
BROOKFIELD, IL 60513-1568

DEFOREST, DAVID
DEFOREST, COLLEEN
120 RED OAK CT
BYRON, GA 31008

DONITA INVESTMENTS INC
RR 1 SITE 3 BOX 12
THORSBY ALBERTA T0C 2P0,  
CANADA

5027784 ONTARIO LIMITED
3140 18TH SIDERD
KING ON L7B 0H4,  
CANADA

MCNALLEY, GWENDELYN
22219 KENNEDY RD
QUEENSVILLE ON L0G 1R0,  
CANADA

HINES, LINDA E REVOCABLE TRUST
HINES, V DOUGLAS REVOCABLE TRUST
11 FAIRFIELD DR
CATONSVILLE, MD 21228-5026

SAUTER, JOSEPH N
SAUTER, BROOKE A
578 PEPPER RIDGE RD
CINCINNATI, OH 45244-1247

PINELLAS COUNTY
ATTN: PARKS DEPT/MADEIRA BEACH
315 COURT ST
CLEARWATER, FL 33756-5165

ALVAREZ, RAMON J
ALVAREZ, MARIANNE M
3002 JASON CT
CLEARWATER, FL 33761-1420

DALY, JAMES LEO
DALY, MARGARET LOUISE
43 SAN MARINO CRES
HAMILTON ON L9C 2B6,  
CANADA

DALY, JAMES L
DALY, MARGARET
43 SAN MARINO CRES
HAMILTON ON L9C 2B6,  
CANADA

DALY, BRIAN MICHAEL
DALY, KEVIN
28 NELLIDA CRES
HAMILTON ON L9C 7P8,  
CANADA

BASHAM, GREGORY C TRE
BASHAM, LISA SAVICKI TRE
667 SULKY CT
HEBRON, KY 41048-8484

GILLELAND, CHARLES R
GILLELAND, JANE I
6960 RIVERDALE DR
HORACE, ND 58047-5711

HELFRICH, JACOB
HELFRICH, THERESA
162-35 99TH ST
HOWARD BEACH, NY 11414-4025

ABDELAAL, SALMA M
ABDELHAMEED, MAGDY H
100 WINDRUSH BLVD UNIT 3
INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FL 33785-2999

LUMIA, FRANCO
BENTIVEGNA, FRANCA
118 13TH AVE
INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FL 33785-3728

LUMIA, FRANCO
BENTIVEGNA, FRANCA
118 13TH AVE
INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FL 33785-3728

HOFMAN, ROSELLEN TRUST
HOFMAN, ROSELLEN TRE
23530 GRACEWOOD CIR
LAND O LAKES, FL 34639-4950

GOMBORONE, JAMES
GOMBORONE, ELIZABETH
32 CHURCH ST
LE ROY, NY 14482-1033

SERDENKOVSKI, VLADO
SERDENKOVSKI, ELICA
19042 SHAY CT
LIVONIA, MI 48152-4121

ADAMS, DAVID C TRE
ADAMS, DAVID C TRUST
340 CRESTRIDGE LN
LONGMONT, CO 80501-4731

ADAMS, DAVID C TRE
ADAMS, DAVID C TRUST
340 CRESTRIDGE LN
LONGMONT, CO 80501-4731

MELVIN, ANTHONY
MELVIN, LYNNE
106 146TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2120
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FOSTER, ROBERT L
VERBA-FOSTER, VIOLETA V
138 147TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2126

FUSICK, GARY
FUSICK, ANGELINE A
101 148TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2129

SWECKER, NICOLE MARIE
SWECKER, RANDALL SCOTT JR
120 148TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2130

BURDA, LAURA DENISE TRE
BURDA, LAURA DENISE TRUST
130 148TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2130

KRIVOPISHCHENKO, GENNADIY
KRIVOPISHCHENKO, OKSANA
14700 GULF BLVD UNIT 205
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2164

SANSONE, VINCENT TRE
SANSONE FAMILY TRUST
14710 GULF BLVD APT 304
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2176

WALLACE, WALTER
WALLACE, MAUREEN
14710 GULF BLVD UNIT 108
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2176

SAFAVI-NAINI, MOHAMMAD M
KHASHIAR-DOOST, PARVANEH
14710 GULF BLVD UNIT 504
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2288

HYDE, ASA A TRE
HYDE, CAROLYN M TRE
510 MARLYN WAY
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2342

MCELROY, LARRY D TRE
MCELROY, ELLEN E TRE
904 BRIARWOOD CRST
NASHVILLE, TN 37221-4351

SHELFFO, JANINE
MCGRATH, STEPHEN
28 LAIGHT ST APT 4E
NEW YORK, NY 10013-2143

SHELFFO, JANNIE M
MCGRATH, STEPHEN S
28 LAIGHT ST APT 4E
NEW YORK, NY 10013-2143

CELEBRE, RAFFAELE
CELEBRE, ADRIANA
197 RUSSELL SNIDER DR
NOBLETON ON L0G 1N0,  
CANADA

NADENIK, JACALYN R REVOCABLE TRUST
NADENIK, JACALYN R TRE
2345 WHITE OAK DR
NORTHBROOK, IL 60062-6347

MECCA, DANIEL J
MECCA, CAROL J
5950 SW 21ST AVENUE RD
OCALA, FL 34471-0145

MORALES, ROBERT RAMON
HERNANDEZ, BRENDA FERNADEZ
309 MADEIRA AVE
ORLANDO, FL 32825-3622

BOON, JAMES
BOON, DEBBIE
NENE VIEW RIVERSIDE CLOSE
OUNDLE NORTHANTS PE8 4DN,  
UNITED KINGDOM

BETTON, WALTER L
BETTON, JANICE
36750 US HIGHWAY 19 N LOT 2205
PALM HARBOR, FL 34684-1239

HILL REVOCABLE FAMILY TRUST
HILL, ALLEN F TRE
234 WHISPERING LAKE DR
PALOS PARK, IL 60464-2532

GRAVES, KELLY TRUST
GRAVES, EVAN TRUST
705 PELICAN LN
PEOTONE, IL 60468-8702

COWEN, TIMOTHY A
COWEN, SHARON L
8268 66TH WAY N
PINELLAS PARK, FL 33781-2062

ESTES, LARRY L
ESTES, JANICE A
16365 REDINGTON DR
REDINGTON BEACH, FL 33708-1547

GOLDSBERRY, WILLIAM J JR REV TRUST
GOLDSBERRY, WILLIAM J JR TRE
1003 HEATHROW LN
ROCHESTER, IL 62563-8719

EASTMAN, MATTHEW ELLIOTT
EASTMAN, CORBIN GAUCHER
1744 10TH ST APT 1
SANTA MONICA, CA 90404-4369

LEE, YIHSHYONG
LEE, YACHIH
3 FORT HILL LN
SCARSDALE, NY 10583-2406

SEAVIEW CONDOMINIUM ASSN INC
C/O RESOURCE PROPERTY MGMT
7300 PARK ST
SEMINOLE, FL 33777-4601

SEABREEZE AT MADEIRA CONDO ASSN INC
C/O ARIZONA FUNDS LLC
8830 BAYWOOD PARK DR
SEMINOLE, FL 33777-4605

HATT, HAROLD A TRE
HATT, RUTH M TRE
WEYBROOK FARM
SHERBORNE ST JOHN
BASINGSTOKE HANTS RG24 9LE,  

BELTRANO, CARINA
MEUNIER, ALEXANDRE
420 RUE ARLINGTON
SHERBROOKE QC J1J 3P6,  
CANADA

SUSSMAN, STEVEN
SUSSMAN, ELIZABETH
992 LIVE OAK TERRACE NE
ST PETERSBURG, FL 33703-3179
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STAPOR, EDWARD
GALLAYS, NATALIE
6115 BAHIA DEL MAR BLVD APT 6
ST PETERSBURG, FL 33715-2382

HANEY, WILLIAM R LIVING TRUST
HANEY, WILLIAM R TRE
1368 LAUREL OAKS DR
STREAMWOOD, IL 60107-3305

HANEY, WILLIAM R LIVING TRUST
HANEY, WILLIAM R TRE
1368 LAUREL OAKS DR
STREAMWOOD, IL 60107-3305

GRINSTEAD, JASON
GRINSTEAD, LINDSAY
11904 MANDEVILLA CT
TAMPA, FL 33626-3305

APRILE, RONALD D
APRILE, DEBRA A
17924 CACHET ISLE DR
TAMPA, FL 33647-2702

BOON, JAMES
BOON, DEBBIE
117 OUNDLE RD
THRAPSTON NORTHANTS NN4 4PB,  
UNITED KINGDOM

HUELSKAMP, KEITH H
KUETERMAN, JAMES A
460 BURNSIDE DR
TIPP CITY, OH 45371

ROGERS, SCOTT M
ROGER,S MIRANDA J
7032 AUTONBROUGH DR
TOLEDO, OH 43617

GIALLOMBARDO, ANTHONY G
GIALLOMBARDO, LIDIA A
176 SHENANDOAH BLVD
TOMS RIVER, NJ 08753-2941

PECCIA, MARIO
PECCIA, ROBERT
223 BRIDGELAND AVE
TORONTO ON M6A 1Y7,  
CANADA

RESSEL, CLAUS
C/O COMPREHENSIVE MGMT
1 KEY CAPRI APT 113W
TREASURE ISLAND, FL 33706-4959

MCCLELLAND, STEPHEN
MCCLELLAND, BETH
541 WAGG RD
UXBRIDGE ON L9P 1R4,  
CANADA

DEVER, JOHN E
DEVER, PATRICIA A
3105 RED LION DR
VALRICO, FL 33596-6094

LUSTIG, MARTIN S
LUSTIG, CYNTHIA
4825 WALNUT LAKE RD
WEST BLOOMFIELD, MI 48323-2452

VITELLAS, MICHAEL X TRE
VITELLAS, ANGELINE TRE
375 BIRCHWOOD LN
WESTERVILLE, OH 43081-3000

RICARD, LINDA K TRE
RICARD, LINDA K REV LIV TRUST 
8208 SPRINGDALE DR
WHITE LAKE, MI 48386-4544

KD BEACH PROPERTIES LLC
20336 OLD HIGHWAY 6
ADEL, IA 50003-5615

NAGLAPURA, SUBRAMANYA
3568 SHORELINE CIR
PALM HARBOR, FL 34684-1743

HENKEL, BRIAN K
14600 GULF BLVD UNIT 203
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2167

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

HARTMAN, RUSSELL L
8133 GRAND RIVER RD
BRIGHTON, MI 48114-9375

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

HUBER, GRACE
78 146TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2118

SEAVIEW 202 LLC
190 CEYLON AVE
TAMPA, FL 33606-3330

LMM PROPERTY SIX LLC
36750 US HIGHWAY 19 N STE 2408
PALM HARBOR, FL 34684-1239

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148
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GEORGE FAMILY TRUST
30 GARDEN DR
WABASH, IN 46992-7111

PENPOW LLC
362 CHOWNING CIR
KETTERING, OH 45429-1626

HOUSEOFGOLD INC
14711 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2151

M & C MADLAND LLC
14705 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2151

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

SELENSKI RENTALS LLC
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SAWYER, JOHN PATERSON
929 BAY ESPLANADE
CLEARWATER, FL 33767-1112

LAND O'FROST INC
16850 CHICAGO AVE
LANSING, IL 60438-1121

COASTAL LLC
8835 NE HUBBELL RD
BONDURANT, IA 50035-1252

KRAMER, LEROY J
27685 BUTLER CENTER RD
CLARKSVILLE, IA 50619-9253

MOUNTAIN GOLD LLC
475 APPLE VALLEY RD
SEVIERVILLE, TN 37862-5410

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

T J OF LAS BRISAS LLC
1910 MCADAM RD
DARIEN, IL 60561-3523

STAUDER, JEFF
349 MADEIRA CIR
TIERRA VERDE, FL 33715-1986

KINGDOM REALTY LLP
4921 71ST AVE N
PINELLAS PARK, FL 33781-4428

VALEMIL LLC
3 BAYBERRY DR
SADDLE RIVER, NJ 07458-2609

FERNANDES, ANN F
14980 WOODCREST RD
BROOKSVILLE, FL 34604-0624

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

TAVIANINI, JOSEPH A JR
2375 BENDERS DR
BATH, PA 18014-9752

LAS BRISAS 308 LLC
26 STOCKTON ST
BLOOMFIELD, NJ 07003-5016

PAWPURR EPSILON LLC
2143 INNER CIR S
ST PETERSBURG, FL 33712-6026

SCHOLL, JEANINE A
140 148TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2130

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

SELENSKI RENTALS LLC
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

MADEIRA BEACH, CITY OF
300 MUNICIPAL DR
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-1916

RICKETTS, SHARON
14600 GULF BLVD APT 301
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2167

THE ARIE DAM CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION
INC
250 104TH AVE
TREASURE ISLAND, FL 33706-4846

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SELENSKI RENTALS LLC
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148
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RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW LLC
3518 SE 16TH PL
CAPE CORAL, FL 33904-4461

CLAROBNIK INC
13030 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2639

PETRUCCI, GIOVANNA
6427 PARSON BROWN DR
ORLANDO, FL 32819-4676

BELTRANO, FABIOLA
111 148TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2129

GAUTAM, SUDARSHAN K
31361 EL HORNO ST UNIT 3
SAN JUAN CAPISTRANO, CA 92675-2688

NUM ONE SUN LLC
19113 DOVES LANDING DR
TAMPA, FL 33647-3002

WEISER, JAMES
1210 MARIEN DR
COLUMBIA, IL 62236-2770

LANDEL, KAREN R
908 DUESENBERG DR
AUBURN, IN 46706-3223

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

TAWAKUL506 LLC
2182 CARRINGTON CHASE
ROCKFORD, IL 61114-8413

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

SELENSKI RENTALS LLC
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SPEAKMAN, WAYNETTE
121 148TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2129

COPP, MARISSA MARY
120 146TH AVE E UNIT 2
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2199

SEAVIEW 502 LLC
1622 CHIPPEWA CT
GROVE CITY, OH 43123-9717

GREENFIELD PROPERTIES OF MINNESOTA LLC
7120 71ST AVE
LORETTO, MN 55357-9653

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

SELENSKI, BRIAN
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

NAVARRO, JOHN
11501 47TH AVE N
ST PETERSBURG, FL 33708-2705

KREITZ, RHONDA L
14914 N BAYSHORE DR
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2144

ONEILL HOLDINGS LLC
16512 BRIGADOON DR
TAMPA, FL 33618-1051

DEL BENE, CHRISTOPHER
70 147TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2124

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

SELENSKI RENTALS LLC
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

MAD BEACH LLC
7120 71ST AVE
LORETTO, MN 55357-9653

DOYNE, KAREN L
2700 WOODLEY RD NW # 1
WASHINGTON, DC 20008-4145

LMM PROPERTY FOUR LLC
14600 GULF BLVD UNIT 104
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2101

BEACH PLAZA APT MOTEL CONDO ASSN INC
14560 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

218

Item 12D.



SELENSKI RENTALS LLC
14500 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2148

DEL VISTA LLC
1011 MAJESTIC OAKS WAY
SIMPSONVILLE, KY 40067-5619

JSMJ 14710 GULF BOULEVARD LB 103 LLC
3347 SE 22ND PL
CAPE CORAL, FL 33904-4426

LAS BRISAS OF MADEIRA CONDO ASSN INC
13030 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2639

DOCKSIDE DAVES RESTAURANT LLC
14701 GULF BLVD
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2151

FORTIS FAMILIA LLC
PO BOX 86634
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33738-6634

GALLIMORE, CHRISTOPHER M
131 148TH AVE E
MADEIRA BEACH, FL 33708-2129

BANNO, JEFFREY B
107 147TH AVE E APT 1
ST PETERSBURG, FL 33708-2291

J J & M R PROPERTIES INC
3203 E YUKON ST
TAMPA, FL 33604-2325

KADELCO LLC
11009 RIDGEDALE RD
TEMPLE TERRACE, FL 33617-3025
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PUBLIC NOTICE 

The Board of Commissioners of the City of Madeira Beach will hold a Public Hearing on April 

10, 2024, at 6:00 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the matter may be heard, at the Patricia Shontz 

Commission Chambers at 300 Municipal Drive, Madeira Beach, Florida 33708 to review an 

application for the approval by the Board of Commissioners of a Special Food Service 

Establishment (4COP) alcoholic beverage license for the sale of beer, wine, and liquor for 

consumption on premises at Dockside Dave’s Restaurant located at 14701 Gulf Blvd Madeira 

Beach, Florida 33708. This establishment is located in the C-3, Retail Commercial Zoning 

District and the future land use designation is Residential/Office/Retail (R/O/R).   

 

(4COP) ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSE APPLICATION # 2024-02 

Applicant(s): Dockside Daves Real Estate, LLC 

Business Location: 14701 Gulf Blvd Madeira Beach, Fl 33708 

Business: Dockside Dave’s Restaurant  

Application Request: Increase from 2COP to Special Food Service Establishment (4COP) 

Alcoholic Beverage License pursuant to Section 110-534 of the Madeira Beach Code of 

Ordinances 

Pursuant to Land Development Code Article VI, Division 6, Alcoholic Beverages, the applicant 

for ABP 2024-02, is seeking a Special Food Service Establishment (4COP) alcoholic beverage 

license for the sale of beer, wine, and liquor for consumption on premises at Dockside Dave’s 

Restaurant of Madeira Beach located at 14701 Gulf Blvd Madeira Beach, Fl 33708. This 

establishment is located in the C-3, Retail Commercial Zoning District.  The future land use 

designation for the property is Residential/Office/Retail (R/O/R). 

Note: 

Section 110-534 of the Madeira Beach Code of Ordinances requires the approval by the Board of 

Commissioners for an existing alcoholic beverage zoned property to change to an alcoholic 

beverage license of greater intensity. The new application would be reviewed for all factors 

located under Section 110-532. You have received this notice, pursuant to City Code Section 

110-539, because you are a property owner within 300 feet of the subject property. If you are 

desirous of voicing approval or disapproval of this application, you may attend the Public 

Hearing for this application.  
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A copy of the application is available for inspection in the Community Development Department 

between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. If you would like more 

information regarding the application, please contact Joe Petraglia, Planning Tech at 727-391-

9951, ext. 283 or jpetraglia@madeirabeachfl.gov. 

 

Any affected person may become a party to this proceeding and can be entitled to present 

evidence at the hearing including the sworn testimony of witnesses and relevant exhibits and 

other documentary evidence and to cross-examine all witnesses by filing the attached Notice of 

Intent to be a party with the Community Development Department not less than five days prior 

to commencement of the hearing. The completed form may be emailed or submitted in person to 

the following: 

Community Development Department Joseph Petraglia, Planning Tech 

300 Municipal Drive     jpetraglia@madeirabeachfl.gov 

Madeira Beach, FL 33708   727-391-9951, ext. 283 

 

Posted:  

March 25, 2024 @ Property Site, Gulf Beaches Public Library, City Hall, City of Madeira 

Beach, and Website Posting Locations.  

 

 

 

 

Note:  One or more Elected or Appointed Officials may be in attendance. Any person who 

decides to appeal any decision of the Board of Commissioners with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purposes may need 

to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 

and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. The law does not require the City to 

transcribe verbatim minutes; therefore, the affected party must make the necessary arrangements 

with a private reporter or private reporting firm and bear the resulting expense.  In accordance 

with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special accommodations 

to participate in this meeting must contact Community Development Director, Jenny Rowan no 

later than 48 hours prior to the meeting: (727) 391-9951, Ext. 255 or 244 or send a written 

request to planning@madeirabeachfl.gov. 
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Page 1 of 1 
 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO BE AN AFFECTED PARTY 

 

 

AFFECTED PERSON INFORMATION 

Name: _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address: _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone:  ____________________________  Fax:  ______________________________________ 

Email: ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

APPLICATION  INFORMATION 

Case No or Application No., whichever applies:  _____________________________________________________ 

Applicant’s Name:_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

_________________________________________________________  ____________________________ 

Signature of Affected Person      Date 

 

 

 

 

  

Note:  One or more Elected or Appointed Officials may be in attendance. Any person who decides to appeal any decision of the Special Magistrate with 
respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purposes may need to ensure that a verbatim record 
of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. The law does not require the City 
to transcribe verbatim minutes; therefore, the applicant must make the necessary arrangements with a private reporter or private reporting firm and bear 
the resulting expense.  In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and F.S. 286.26; any person with a disability requiring reasonable 
accommodation in order to participate in this meeting should call 727-391-9951 or fax a written request to 727-399-1131. 
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TO:   Hon. Mayor and Board of Commissioners 

VIA:   Robin Gomez, City Manager 

FROM:  Clara VanBlargan, City Clerk 

DATE:  April 3, 2024 

RE:  BOC Policy Handbook 

 

Background:  
 

In accordance with the City Charter, Section 4.5, Rules of Procedure; Meetings, the Board of 

Commissioners must determine its own rules and order of business within 90 days following each 

election. The BOC Policy Handbook must be adopted by resolution no later than the June 12, 2024 

BOC Regular Meeting.  

 

This item was discussed at the March workshop meeting. Changes were made to the BOC Policy 

Handbook as directed. The Board can still make changes to the policy before adopting them by 

resolution.  

 

In addition to the Board's own rules of procedure, the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order is 

part of the Boards rules of order in the BOC Policy Handbook:     

 

BOC Policy Handbook, Article II, Rules of Procedure for Boards of 

Commissioners Meetings: 

 

1. General Policies, Rules of Order  p. 14 of 20    

 Rules of Order. The current edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall be 

the rules of order; in addition to the rules of procedure stated in this 

policy handbook. 

2. Types of Meetings [City Charter, Section 4.5 – Rules of procedure; quorum; 

meetings], pp. 14 & 15 of 20  

 Parliamentarian. The City Attorney shall act as the parliamentarian to 

the Board of Commissioners by advising the Mayor regarding matters 

of procedure. The Board could choose one of its members who is 

knowledgeable about the procedures to act as the parliamentarian. Each 

Commission member must understand the parliamentary procedures, or 

it will be impossible to conduct its meeting properly. 
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The City Clerk is scheduling a parliamentary training workshop for the Board. The Board can 

adopt the BOC Policy Handbook at the April 10, 2024 BOC Regular Meeting or wait until after 

the parliamentary training and adopt it at the June 12, 2024 BOC Regular Meeting.   

The revised 12th Edition of Robert's Rules of Order is in each Commission mailbox.      

 

Attachment(s):  

Resolution 2024-02, Adopting the BOC Policy Handbook 

Resolution 2024-02, Exhibit A: BOC Policy Handbook 

Running Your Meeting and Robert’s Rules of Order (handout from previous parliamentary training) 
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RESOLUTION 2024-02 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE CITY 
OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS POLICY HANDBOOK; REPEALING RESOLUTION 
2023-05; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, City Charter Section 4.5 (B) authorizes the Board of Commissioners 
to determine its own rules for the order of business by resolution at a regular meeting of 
the Board of Commissioners within ninety (90) days following the municipal election. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners desires to consider, update, amend, 
restate and adopt the recommended changes proposed by Commission members and 
City staff. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, THAT: 

1. The City of Madeira Beach Board of Commissioners Policy Handbook has been 
reviewed, updated, amended and restated. 
 

2. The “City of Madeira Beach Board of Commissioners Policy Handbook” 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby adopted. 
 

3. A copy of this Resolution and the Board of Commissioners Policy Handbook will 
be provided to all Commission members, City staff, and posted on the City’s 
website. 
 

4. Resolution 2023-05 is hereby repealed. 
 

5. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 

INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, THIS ____ DAY OF_________, 2024. 

 

 
 
  _______________________________ 

           James “Jim” Rostek, Mayor  
 

ATTEST:  
  
 
____________________________________ 
Clara VanBlargan, MMC, MSM, City Clerk 
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BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS POLICY HANDBOOK 
Resolution 2024-02 
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The City Charter provides information on the roles and responsibilities of the Board of City Commissioners. 

In accordance with City Charter, Sec. 4.5 (B), the Board of Commissioners shall determine its own rules 

and order of business by resolution within 90 days following each election. Once adopted by resolution, the 

legislation must be adhered to until any modifications thereof are made. The Board of Commissioners 

hereby adopt these policy guidelines describing the protocol for various official communications and 

representations on behalf of the City of Madeira Beach. 

 

I. OVERVIEW OF ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The roles and responsibilities of elected officials can be found in the City Charter, City Code as 

well as established past practices. 

 

CITY CHARTER DUTIES 
 

1. Mayor (City Charter, Section 4.3) 

 

 Presides at all meetings of the Board of Commissioners.

 Have a voice and vote in the proceedings of the Commission.

 Recognized as the official head of the City of Madeira Beach, Florida, government for 

all ceremonial purposes and may issue Proclamations and award the Key to the City.

 Official for service of process (receives lawsuits and other documents on behalf of the 

City of Madeira Beach).

 Official designated to represent the City of Madeira Beach, Florida, in all agreements 

with other entities or certifications to other government entities but shall have no 

administrative duties except as required to carry out the responsibilities herein.
 

2. Vice-Mayor (City Charter, Section 4.4) 

 

 The Board of Commissioners shall appoint a Vice-Mayor at its first regular meeting 

following the election. The term of Vice-Mayor shall be for one (1) year. The Vice-

Mayor shall act as Mayor during the absence or disability of the Mayor. Should the Vice-

Mayor be required to act as Mayor for a period in excess of thirty(30) days, he/she shall 

receive the compensation of the Mayor retroactive to the date upon which he/she assumed 

the Mayoral duties.



3. Board of Commissioners (City Charter, Article IV) 

 

All members of the Board of Commissioners have equal votes. No Commission member 

has more authority than any other Commission member. Each Commission member shall 

fully participate in the Board of Commissioners' meetings and may represent the City at 

ceremonial and/or formal functions at the request of the Mayor or District Commissioners. 

ARTICLE I 

OFFICIAL COMMUNICATIONS AND REPRESENTATION OF THE CITY PROTOCOL 
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II. GUIDELINES RELATED TO COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

 

1. Ceremonial Events 

 

 Requests for City representative(s) at ceremonial events will be handled by the City 

Manager’s Office. The Mayor serves as the designated City representative for 

ceremonial purposes. If the Mayor is unavailable to attend, the Vice-Mayor will be 

asked to represent the City. and if the Vice-Mayor is unavailable, another Commission 

member will be asked to represent the City. District Commissioners can also represent 

the City at ceremonial events if requested.

 

 Invitations received at City Hall by mail or email are presumed to be for official City 

representation. Invitations addressed to Commission members at their homes are 

presumed to be unofficial, personal invitations.

 

 All Commissioners are encouraged to show up and positively represent the City 

without violating the Sunshine Law.
 

2. Official Correspondence 

 

 Each Commission member may prepare and send correspondence under their signature 

on City letterhead, but City letterhead shall not be used for personal or election or 

campaign correspondence. However, before sending correspondence, the Commission 

member shall check with the City Manager or the City Clerk to see if an official City 

response has already been sent or is in progress. A signed copy of the correspondence 

shall be given to the City Clerk to be filed as part of the public record and may be 

placed on the City Website.

 

 No written commitment or position shall be made by any individual member of the 

Board of Commissioners on behalf of the City without first having obtained a majority 

direction from the Board of Commissioners. A copy of all correspondence shall be 

given to the City Clerk to be filed as part of the public record and may be placed on 

the City Website.

 

 All official and legal correspondence of the City, including contracts, agreements and 

ordinances, shall be signed by the Mayor or as otherwise provided within the 

correspondence. In the absence of the Mayor, the Vice-Mayor shall sign on behalf of 

the City. A copy of all official and legal correspondence of the City shall be given to 

the City Clerk to be filed as part of the public record.

 

 All correspondence received at City Hall for the Mayor and Commissioners is 

considered official mail, excluding anonymous mail, and shall be opened by the City 

Clerk. Originals shall be filed as part of the public record and a copy of the mail shall 

be placed in the mailbox of the Commission member to whom the mail was addressed 

to. Although, anonymous mail is considered a public record it is not considered official 

mail and will be treated accordingly depending on the nature of its contents.
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3. Public Communications 

 

 The Board of Commissioners will endeavor to inform and interact with the public in 

meaningful and respectful ways that convey accurate information, using the following 

guidelines:

 

 Commission members frequently are asked to explain an action made by the Board or 

to give their opinion about an issue as they meet and talk with constituents in the 

community. Commission members may give a brief overview of a decision made by 

the Board or City policy and to refer to City staff for further information.

 

 Commission members may not overtly or implicitly promise Board of Commissioners 

action, or to promise City staff will do something specific (i.e., fix a pothole, void a 

parking ticket, plant new flowers in the median, etc.). Commission members shall 

make no promises on behalf of the Board of Commissioners.

 

 Commission members may not make any personal comments, verbal or nonverbal, 

about other Commission members.

 

 Commission members may publicly disagree about an issue, but one should refrain 

from making derogatory and/or inflammatory comments, verbal or nonverbal, about 

other Commission members, based on their opinions, and actions.

 

 A Commission member may have the City Manager inform and interact with the public 

on their behalf.

 

 Commission members should not give any opinions on issues to be decided by the 

Board of Commissioners.

 

III. COMMISSION CONDUCT WITH CITY STAFF 

 

Governance of a City relies on the cooperative efforts of elected officials, who set policy, and City 

staff, who implements and administers the policies of the Board of Commissioners. Therefore, 

every effort shall be made to be cooperative and show mutual respect for the contributions made 

by each individual for the good of the community. 

 

1. Do not get involved in administrative functions. (City Charter, Section 4.6. C.) 

 

 Board of Commissioners shall not interfere with Administration.

 

Language as written in City Charter, Section 4.6., B. “Appointments and removals.” 

Neither the Board of Commissioners nor any of its members shall in any 

manner dictate the appointment or removal of any City administrative officer 

or employees whom the City Manager or any of his/her subordinates are 

empowered to appoint, but the Board of Commissioners may express its views 

and fully and freely discuss with the Manager anything pertaining to 

appointment and removal of such officers and employees.” 
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Language as written in City Charter, Section 4.6., C. “Interference with administration. 

Except for the purpose of inquiries and investigation, the Board of Commissioners 

or its members shall deal with the City officers and its employees who are subject 

to the direction and supervision of the City Manager solely through the City 

Manager, and neither the Board of Commissioners or its members shall give orders 

to any such officers or employee, neither publicly nor privately, except as provided 

under the emergency powers section of this Charter. The Board of Commissioners 

or any of its committees or members, individually or collectively, shall not direct 

or request the appointment of any person or his/her removal from, office by the 

City Manager or any of his/her subordinates or in any manner, directly or 

indirectly, take part in the appointment or removal of any officers or employees or 

members of Boards in the Administrative Service of the City of Madeira Beach, 

Florida. The Board of Commissioners nor any member thereof shall give orders to 

any subordinate or Officer of said City, either publicly or privately, directly or 

indirectly.” 

 

 It is permissible for a Commission member to ask questions of or request information 

from a City officer or its employees for clarification of an item listed on the agenda in 

preparation of a meeting, as long as the request is through the City Manager.

 

 Language as written in City Charter, Section 4.9. Investigations. “The Board of 

Commissioners may make investigations into the affairs of the City by appointing 

a Charter Officer to investigate internal affairs of the City and report their findings 

to the Board of Commissioners.”

 
2. Check with City staff on correspondence before taking action. 

 

Often, the City Manager or City Clerk will be aware of a response already provided on 

behalf of the City that can be useful to the Board of Commissioners in understanding the 

status of projects, complaints and other inquiries. 

 

3. Do not attend meetings with City staff unless requested by a department director 

through the City Manager. 

 

Even if a Commission member does not say anything, his/her presence implies support, 

shows partiality, intimidates staff, and hampers staff’s ability to do their job objectively. 

 

4. Limit requests for staff support. 

 

Routine secretarial support will be provided to the Board of Commissioners by the City 

Clerk’s Office. All mail for the Mayor and Commissioners is opened and a copy retained 

by the City Clerk. Mail addressed to the Mayor that may need immediate response or action 

may be reviewed first by the City Manager who may note suggested action and/or follow- 

up items. Depending on the nature of the contents of anonymous mail, the City Attorney 

will first review it. 

 

Requests for staff support - even in high priority or emergency situations -- shall be made 

to the City Manager who is responsible for allocating City resources to maintain a 

professional, well-run City government. 
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5. Do not solicit political support from staff. 

 

Board of Commissioners shall not solicit any type of political support (financial 

contributions, display of posters or lawn signs, name on support list, etc.) from City staff. 

City staff may, as private citizens with constitutional rights, support political candidates 

and engage in other political activities, but all such activities shall be done away from the 

workplace. City staff in uniform shall not be asked to pose with candidates for office nor 

shall City equipment, letterhead, logos, paper, envelopes or other city materials be used in, 

or to create, political campaign advertisements. 

 

IV. COMMISSION CONDUCT WITH THE PUBLIC 

 

The Board of Commissioners are held to the highest standards of ethics and shall maintain the 

utmost standards of personal integrity, trustfulness, honesty, and fairness in carrying out their 

public duties, avoid any improprieties in their roles as public servants, comply with all applicable 

laws, and never use their official position or authority improperly or for personal gain. 

 

1. In Public Meetings 

 

 The Board of Commissioners will only use city issued electronic devices on the dais 

and/or in a public meeting and refrain from the use of personal electronic devices on 

the dais and/or in a public meeting, unless authorized by the Board of Commissioners.

 The Board of Commissioners shall make the public feel welcome, which is an 

important part of the democratic process. No signs of partiality, prejudice or disrespect 

shall be evident on the part of individual Commission members toward an individual 

participating in a public forum. Every effort shall be made to be fair and impartial in 

listening to public testimony. Commission members should be fair and impartial in 

listening to the public during public comment.

 

 The public will be given a reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before 

a board or Commission.

 

Section 286.0114(3), F.S., states that the public’s “opportunity to be heard” does not 

apply to: 

 

1) An official act that must be taken to deal with an emergency situation affecting 

the public health, welfare, or safety, if compliance with the requirements 

would cause an unreasonable delay in the ability of the board or Commission 

to act; 

 

2) An official act involving no more than a ministerial act, including, but not 

limited to, approval of minutes and ceremonial proclamations; 

 

3) A meeting that is exempt from s. 286.011; or 

 

4) A meeting during which the board or Commission is acting in a quasi-

judicial capacity. See AGO 17-01 (s. 286.0114, F.S., does not require that 

members of the public be given a reasonable opportunity to be heard at 

quasi-judicial code enforcement hearings held by a special magistrate 

pursuant to authority delegated from the county code enforcement board). 
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The statute does not prohibit a board or Commission from “maintaining orderly 

conduct or proper decorum in a public meeting.” Section 286.0114(2), F.S. In 

addition, the opportunity to be heard is “subject to rules or policies adopted by the 

board or commission” as provided in s. 286.0114(4), F.S. These rules or policies are 

limited to those that: 

 

1) Provide guidelines regarding the amount of time an individual must address 

the board or Commission; 

 

2) Prescribe procedures for allowing representatives of groups or factions on a 

proposition to address the board or Commission, rather than all members of 

such groups or factions, at meetings in which a large number of individuals 

wish to be heard; 

 

3) Prescribe procedures or forms for an individual to use in order to inform the 

board or Commission of a desire to be heard; to indicate his or her support, 

opposition, or neutrality on a proposition; and to indicate his or her designation 

of a representative to speak for him or her or his or her group on a proposition 

if he or she so chooses; or 

 

4) Designate a specified period of time for public comment. 

 

 If a board or Commission adopts such rules or policies and thereafter complies with 

them, it is deemed to be acting in compliance with the statute.

 

1) The Board of Commissioners adopted a “Pledge of Civility” and a “Mission 

and Vision Statement” in 2018 to maintain orderly conduct and proper 

decorum in the public meetings: 

 

PLEDGE OF CIVILITY (Resolution 2018-10; 08/14/2018) 

- We will always show respect to one another. 

- We will direct all comments to the issue before us. 

- We will refrain from personal attacks. 
 

2) MISSION AND VISION STATEMENT (segments of Resolution 2018-08) 

 

- Public Trust – We believe that honesty and integrity are the 
foundation of all constructive relationships and the basis of public 
trust. We will ensure that there is thorough ethical behavior and 
decision making. 

 
- Transparency – We will protect and preserve open and honest 

governance to maintain the public’s trust and confidence. 

 
- Teamwork – We are committed to working together, embracing 

diversity and inclusion to best serve one another and the public. 

 

- Accountability – We define accountability as taking ownership and 
responsibility for the outcomes of our decisions, actions, and 
management of our resources. 
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- Professionalism – Professionalism is dedication to excellence 
through integrity, requiring careful analysis of issues, free of personal 
biases, with a commitment to the organization and the community. 

 
- Respect – We value all viewpoints and opinions and treat each other 

with courtesy and respect. 

 

2. In Unofficial Settings 

 

Board of Commissioners are constantly being observed by the community every day that 

they serve in office. Their behaviors and comments serve as role models for the City. 

Honesty, integrity and respect for the dignity of each individual shall be reflected in every 

word and action taken by Commission members, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. It is 

a serious and continuous responsibility. 

 

Board of Commissioners shall keep in mind that to the public they are first and foremost 

an elected official and that distinction makes the City Commissioner different from other 

residents, electors or citizens. All Commission members shall guard against any actions or 

words that would give even the appearance of bullying or misuse of their position. 

 

3. In Official Forms of Media 

 

Communication through media is an integral part of any governmental agency. All forms 

of media (television, newsletter, web site, etc.) play an important role in getting messages 

out to our community. The Board of Commissioners recognize a responsibility to make 

available accurate information to the public in a timely manner; understanding that people 

form opinions about the City based on what they read, hear and see. The objective of the 

City’s media communications is to ensure public opinions are formed upon the basis of 

accurate information. To that purpose, the Board of Commissioners has established 

multiple media for proactively communicating with the community. The Commission 

members may ask that the City Manager speak on their behalf. 

 

4. Monthly City Manager’s Report 

 

The City Manager shall put out a monthly report for purpose of conveying City news, 

events and project status reports to the community. Monthly reports include more detailed 

information when necessary. 

 

5. Website 

 

The City maintains a website, www.madeirabeachfl.gov, for the benefit of residents and 

visitors. The website is intended to provide access to City contact information, services, 

requests for bids and proposals, general announcements and meeting notices, agendas and 

results as well as maps, among other features. The website also provides a means for the 

public to access published reports, such as the Certified Annual Financial Report (CAFR), 

the Annual Budget and the State of the City Address without coming to City Hall or paying 

for public records. These reports are generally too lengthy for publication in the monthly 

City Manager’s Report or through the government access channel. While the information 

at the City’s website can be accessed in “real time,” it is maintained by City staff on a time 

available basis and updated as frequently as possible to remain current and accurate. 
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6. Government Access Channel or alternative measure 

 

The City maintains a government access channel, currently Channel 640 – Madeira Beach 

TV (MB-TV) through the local cable television franchise provider for the benefit of 

residents and visitors. MB-TV is available within the corporate limits of Madeira Beach 

and is programmed from City Hall. The MB-TV channel is used to broadcast. This service 

provides residents and interested persons with a first-hand account of the City’s conduct of 

business. The goal is to use Closed Captioning in order to comply with ADA 

Recommendations. 

 

7. Video Live Streaming 

 

The City video Live Streams its Board of Commissioners (BOC) meetings to allow for 

more transparency to its citizens. BOC meetings can be watched live through You Tube 

Streaming on the City’s website or accessed anytime following the meeting. The State 

retention requirement for Live Streaming videos is two anniversary years after adoption of 

the official minutes or certification of transcript. Commission members shall make every 

effort to use the microphone when speaking so that their words can be heard on Live 

Streams and recordings. 

 

Candidate Forums will be video live streamed on the government access channel even if it 

involves City personnel. 

 

V. COMMISSION CONDUCT WITH OTHER PUBLIC AGENCIES 

 

1. Be clear about representing the City or personal interests. 

 

If a Commission member appears before another governmental agency or organization to 

give a statement on an issue, they shall clearly state: 

 

 If his or her statement reflects personal opinion or is the official stance of the City 

taken by the Board of Commissioners at a noticed meeting;
 

 Whether this is unanimous or the majority or minority opinion of the Board of 

Commissioners;

 

 If a Commission member is representing the City in an official or liaison capacity, they 

should speak or state the official City position on an issue, not a personal viewpoint. If 

the Commission member is representing another organization whose position is 

different from the City, they shall state that during their comments. Commission 

members shall be clear about when they represent the City and when they are speaking 

in an individual or other capacity.

 

2. Correspondence shall be equally clear about representation. 

 

City letterhead may be used when a Commission member is representing the City and the 

City’s official position. A copy of official correspondence shall be given to the City Clerk 

to be filed in the Clerk’s Office as part of the public record and placed on the website. It is 

best that City letterhead is not used for correspondence of City Commissioners representing 

a personal point of view, or a dissenting point of view from an official Board of 
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Commissioners position. City letterhead should only be used for official City business and 

shall not be used for personal correspondence or for any election or campaign 

correspondence. The City Clerk or the City Manager shall approve that letter to be sent 

out. 

 

VI. COMMISSION CONDUCT WITH BOARDS AND COMMITTEES 

 

The City has established various appointed Boards and Committees as a means of gathering 

recommendations after providing more public opportunities for more community input. Citizens 

who serve on Boards and Committees become more involved in government and serve as advisors 

to the Board of Commissioners. They are a valuable resource to the City’s leadership and shall be 

treated with appreciation and respect. 

 

1. If attending a Board or Committee meeting, be careful to avoid influencing the Board 

or Committee's consideration or prejudicing the Board of Commissioners eventual 

consideration. 

 

 Commission members may attend any Board or Committee meeting, which are always 

open to any member of the public. However, they shall be sensitive to the way in which 

their presence may be viewed as unfairly affecting the process, especially if 

Commission members attend as a formal liaison on behalf of the Board of 

Commissioners. Commission members shall remember that attendance at a quasi- 

judicial hearing before a Board may place him/her in a position to be asked to disclose 

their attendance and any written or oral ex parte communications, or even recuse 

him/herself if there is evidence of prejudice or bias when the quasi-judicial matter is 

brought to the Board of Commissioners.

 

 Any public comments by a Commission member at an advisory Board or Committee 

meeting shall be clearly made as individual opinion and not a representation of the 

Board of Commissioners. The Board of Commissioners appoint Boards and 

Committees at large to provide independent recommendations to the Board of 

Commissioners and/or the City Manager. Commission members should be careful 

when suggesting a course of action or recommendation to an advisory Board or 

Committee because this could interfere with the independent judgment of the advisory 

Board or Committee contrary to the purpose and intent of the system.

 

2. Limit contact with Board and Committee members to questions of clarification. 

 

 Remember that the Board of Commissioners appoint Boards and Committees to serve 

the community, not individual Commission members.

 

 It is prohibited for a Commission member to contact a Board or Committee member to 

lobby on behalf of an individual, business, or developer or to suggest or recommend 

an action be taken. Board and Committee members are appointed to take public 

comment and make independent recommendations to the Board of Commissioners 

and/or the City Manager, not vice versa (i.e., not to follow recommendations that may 

be desired by an individual Commission member). It is prohibited for advisory Board 

members and/or Committee members to contact Board of Commissioners to influence 

or to communicate a perspective counter to the official actions of the Board or 

Committee actions. All positions of an advisory Board or Committee shall be reduced
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to a written recommendation that is voted upon and, if desired, the written 

recommendation(s) may contain majority, minority or individual comments or 

concerns. 

 

 The Board of Commissioners appoint individuals to serve on Boards and Committees, 

and it is the responsibility of Boards and Committees to follow policy established by 

the Board of Commissioners. Board and Committee members do not report to 

individual Commission members, nor shall Commission members feel they have the 

power or right to threaten Board and Committee members with removal if they 

disagree about an issue. Appointment and re-appointment to a Board or Committee 

shall be based on such criteria as expertise, ability to work with staff and the public 

and commitment to fulfilling official duties. A Board or Committee appointment shall 

not be used as a political "reward" for assistance in any campaign activities.

 

3. Be respectful of diverse opinions. 

 

A primary role of Boards and Committees is to represent many points of view in the 

community and to provide the Board of Commissioners with advice based on a full 

spectrum of concerns and perspectives. Commission members may have a closer working 

relationship with some individuals serving on Boards and Committees but shall be fair, 

balanced and respectful of all citizens serving on Boards and Committees. 

 

4. Keep political support away from public forums. 

 

Board and Committee members may offer political support to a Commission member, but 

not in a public forum while conducting official duties. Conversely, Board of 

Commissioners may support Board and Committee members who are running for office, 

but not in an official forum in their capacity as a Commissioner. 

 

VII. BOARD MEMBERS ATTENDING MEETINGS OR SERVING AS MEMBERS OF 

ANOTHER PUBLIC BOARD 

 

1. Board members attending meetings of another public board. 

 

2022 Government in the Sunshine Manual, Page 20 & 21: 

 

“Several Attorney General Opinions have considered whether one or more members of a 

board may attend or participate in a meeting of another public board. For example, in AGO 

99-55, the Attorney General’s Office said that a school board member could attend and 

participate in the meeting of an advisory committee appointed by the school board without 

prior notice of his or her attendance. However, the opinion cautioned that “if it is known 

that two or more members of the school board are planning to attend and participate, it 

would be advisable to note their attendance in the advisory committee meeting notice.” 

 

“Moreover, while recognizing that commissioners may attend meetings of a second public 

board and comment on agenda items that may subsequently come before the commission 

for final action, the Attorney General Opinions have also advised that if more than one 

“commissioner is in attendance at such a meeting, no discussion or debate may take place 

among the commissioners on those issues.” AGO 00-68. Accord AGO 98-79 (city 

commissioner may attend a public community development board meeting held to consider 

a proposed city ordinance and express his or her views on the proposed ordinance even 
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though other city commissioners may be in attendance; however, the city commissioners 

in attendance may not engage in a discussion or debate among themselves because “the 

city commission’s discussions and deliberations on the proposed ordinance must occur at 

a duly noticed city commission meeting”). See also AGOs 05-59 and 77-138.” 

 

2. Board members serving as members of another public board. 

 

2022 Government in the Sunshine Manual, Page 21: 

 

“Board members who also serve on a second public board may participate in the public 

meetings of the second board held in accordance with s. 286.011, F.S., and express their 

opinions without violating the Sunshine Law. AGO 07-13. In other words, “when two 

county commissioners are presently serving on [a regional planning] council this does not 

turn a meeting of the planning council into a county commission meeting, and the Sunshine 

Law does not require any additional or different notice of planning council meetings 

because of the presence of these county commission members.” Id. “Similarly, AGO 98- 

14 concluded that membership of three city council members on the metropolitan planning 

organization did not turn a council meeting into a metropolitan planning organization 

meeting that required separate notice. Because, however, the discussion of metropolitan 

planning organization matters was planned for the council meeting, the city council had 

properly included mention of such items in its notice of the council meeting.” 

 

“Similarly, in AGO 91-95, the Attorney General’s Office concluded that a county 

commissioner may attend and participate in the discussion at a public meeting held by the 

governing board of a county board on which another commissioner serves. However, “in 

an effort to satisfy the spirit of the Sunshine Law,” the opinion also recommended that the 

published notice of the county board “include mention of the anticipated attendance and 

participation of county commission members in board proceedings.” Id.” 

 

VIII. COMMISSION CONTACT WITH THE MEDIA 

 

Board of Commissioners are frequently contacted by the media for background, quotes and 

interviews. Whenever possible, Commission members, as the City's policy makers, shall be the first 

contact with the media. The City Manager is also a frequent contact and shall manage the staff's 

contact and communications with the media. Following are the Board of Commissioners general 

policies for conduct with the media: 

 

1. Legal Issues. 

 

Media inquiries relating to any existing or potential liability or suit against the City shall 

immediately be referred to the City Attorney. In the absence of the City Attorney, the City 

Manager may respond or direct the media to special counsel contacts on legal issues. The 

City Attorney has sole discretion as to whether or not to comment, and the substance of 

any comments, on any legal issues or litigation in the press. 

 

2. Use a designated spokesperson for the City’s position on controversial issues. 

 

When sensitive or controversial issues arise, it is essential that a central focal point for 

information be established. The City Manager may be designated for such contact. The 

City can best ensure a clear and consistent message by limiting involvement to a designated 

or limited number of contacts. 
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3. In the absence of designation, Board of Commissioners shall be clear for the record. 

 

If an individual Commission member is contacted by the media, they shall be clear about 

whether their comments represent the official City position or a personal viewpoint. 

Commission members are urged to avoid instigative or preemptive contact directly with 

the media or through others for purposes espousing a position contrary to that of the 

majority of the Board of Commissioners or in the absence of an official position by the 

City. 

 

4. Guidelines for Media Contacts: 

 

What to Say: 

 

Make sure the information released is factual, accurate, timely and consistent. Strive to 

provide full and honest disclosure and stay within legal limits by not making any 

slanderous or libelous statements. Choose words carefully and cautiously to avoid being 

taken out of context. 

 

5. Guidelines for Email, Texts, and Social Media: 

 

All email, text messages, and social media postings (for example: twitter, Facebook, 

snapchat, Instagram, etc..) regarding any issue that may come before the Board of 

Commissioners is official business and a public record, must be retained, shall not be 

deleted and should be forwarded to your official City email address for record retention 

and search purposes. Appointed and elected City officials shall not make anonymous 

postings on any electronic media with regard to any issue that may come before the City 

as official business. 
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Pursuant to the Madeira Beach City Charter, Section 4.5, the Board of Commissioners shall determine its 

own rules and order of business, by resolution, within 90 days in which the election is held. 

 
I. POLICY 

1. General Rules 

 Meetings to be Public. All meetings of the Board of Commissioners shall be noticed 

and open to the public, except for such meetings as are exempt by general law. Any 

meeting of two or more Commission members, in which City business is discussed is 

prohibited without the appropriate notice as specified in Florida State Statues. 

 Quorum. A simple majority of the members of the Board of Commissioners shall, 

free of voting conflict, constitute a quorum and be necessary to conduct business of the 

Board of Commissioners. If a quorum is not present, those in attendance will be named 

and they shall adjourn. 

 Minutes of Proceedings. Meeting minutes of the Board of Commissioners shall be 

kept by the City Clerk, except for such meetings as are exempt by general law. 

 Voting. As set forth in the Charter, ordinances, resolutions and other action requiring 

a vote of the Board of Commissioners shall require three (3) affirmative votes for 

passage and shall be by roll call vote upon request of any member of the Board of 

Commissioners. A super-majority vote of four members of the Board of 

Commissioners for any Planned Development Rezoning or Special Area Plan shall be 

required for approval. The City Clerk shall record the vote of all Commission 

members.  

 Roll Call Vote. The roll call on a vote shall be rotated to include the Mayor.  

In the event one or more members are absent and any motion for a final decision fails 

to achieve the affirmative vote of three (3) Commission members, and no further action 

by the Board of Commissioners to achieve three (3) affirmative votes can be obtained, 

then such ordinance, resolution or other action shall be automatically continued to the 

next regularly scheduled meeting, or a special meeting scheduled for that purpose. No 

ordinance, resolution or other action shall be automatically continued more than once 

and if upon one continuance it does not obtain three (3) affirmative votes the matter 

shall fail. 

 City Manager. The City Manager is expected to attend the meetings of the Board of 

Commissioners and shall have the right to take part in all discussions. 

 City Attorney. The City Attorney or their designated substitute counsel is expected to 

attend the meetings of the Board of Commissioners and provide guidance and opinions 

on questions of law. Under Staff Reports on each BOC regular meeting agenda, the 

City Attorney shall provide a monthly staff report to the Board regarding the status of 

ARTICLE II. 

RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETINGS 
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any ongoing litigation. 
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 City Clerk. The City Clerk or their designee shall attend the meetings of Board of 

Commissioners and record all votes and keep the official minutes of the proceedings. 

 Administrative Staff. The Administrative staff shall attend meetings and workshops 

when required. 

 Rules of Order. The current edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall be the rules of 

order; in addition to the rules of procedure stated in this policy handbook. 

2. Types of Meetings [City Charter, Section 4.5 – Rules of procedure; quorum; meetings 

 Regular Meetings. The Board of Commissioners shall meet in the Commission 

Chambers or another designated place within the City boundaries, for regular meetings. 

Regular Meetings shall commence at 6:00 p.m. or as amended from time to time, on 

the second Wednesday of each month, or as otherwise determined by the City Manager 

if the regular meeting falls on a Holiday, City Election or other event that warrants 

rescheduling the meeting. The Board of Commissioners may schedule other regular 

meetings as it deems necessary in accordance with its established rules of procedure to 

address items that require official action before the next regularly scheduled meeting. 

The Board of Commissioners and/or City Manager shall determine the date and time 

of the meeting. 

 Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called by the Mayor by a majority of the 

Commission with appropriate notice with no less than twenty-four (24) hours’ notice 

in writing to each member and the public (language stated in City Charter). Special 

meetings may also be called and noticed in a manner similar to regular meetings for 

special or specific purposes where formal action of the Board of Commissioners may 

be necessary or desirable. Special meeting notices shall encompass a minimum of one 

non-holiday weekday. 

 Workshop Meetings. The Board of Commissioners may meet in the Commission 

Chambers for Workshop meetings. Workshop meetings shall commence at 6:00 p.m. 

on the fourth Wednesday of each month or as otherwise determined by the City 

Manager and/or the Board of Commissioners. Workshop meetings are informal 

legislative sessions, but to allow the Board of Commissioners to informally discuss 

topics and gain a better understanding of topics prior to formal consideration. To allow 

some understanding of the status of discussion of items, a verbal consensus may be 

ascertained to determine an appropriate next step, but such consensus is not binding on 

the Board of Commissioners. 

3. Presiding Officer and Duties 

 Presiding Officer. The Mayor shall preside at all meetings of the Board of 

Commissioners. In the absence of the Mayor, the Vice Mayor shall preside. In the 

absence of both the Mayor and the Vice-Mayor, the meeting shall be called to order by 

the City Clerk for appointing a temporary presiding officer. 

 Parliamentarian. The City Attorney shall act as the parliamentarian to the Board of 

Commissioners by advising the Mayor regarding matters of procedure. The Board 

could choose one of its members who is knowledgeable about the procedures to act as 
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the parliamentarian. Each Commission member must understand the parliamentary 

procedures, or it will be impossible to conduct its meeting properly. 

 Preservation of Order. The Presiding Officer shall preserve order and decorum; 

prevent attacks on personalities or the impugning of members' or motives, and confine 

members in debate to the question under discussion. 

 Point of Order. The Presiding Officer shall determine point of order. Point of order 

shall not be entertained from the audience. 

 Recognition of Speakers. The Presiding Officer shall recognize speakers from the 

public in keeping with the procedures established herein but shall do so in a way that 

remains constructive without being repetitive. In instances where large contingencies 

are represented, the Presiding Officer may ask for a limited number of representatives 

to represent the overall sentiments of the group. However, in no instance shall anyone 

be precluded from addressing the Board of Commissioners. 

 Recognition of Commission Members wishing to Speak. The Presiding Officer shall 

allow an opportunity for Board of Commissioners to comment on items but shall not 

solicit comment from each member on every item but shall recognize those 

Commission members wishing to speak. 

4. Order of Business for BOC Regular Meetings 

 Order of Business. The general rule as to the order of business in Board of 

Commissioners (BOC) regular meetings, with the exception of the Agenda Setting 

Meeting, shall be as follows: 

1. Call to Order 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call 

4. Approval of the Agenda 

5. Proclamations/Presentations 

5.1. Proclamations 

5.2. Presentations 

6. Public Comment 

7. Approval of Minutes 

8. Consent Agenda 

9. Public Hearings 

10. Unfinished Business 

11. Contracts/Agreements 

12. New Business 

13. Staff Reports 

14. Agenda Setting Meeting 

15. Reports/Correspondence 

A. City Commission 

B. City Attorney 

C. City Clerk 

D. City Manager 

16. Adjournment 
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 Order of Business for the Regular or Special Meeting following the Election. 

When newly elected officials are sworn into office, the meeting agenda may be 

formatted differently to allow for the ceremonial portion of the meeting to take place 

before any official business listed on the agenda. 

5. Explanation of Order of Business for Regular Meetings 

 Agenda. The order of business for each meeting shall be as contained in the Agenda. 

The Agenda is a listing by order of business of topics to be considered by the Board of 

Commissioners. Additional guidance is provided below as to the purpose of the agenda 

sections. 

1. Call to Order. The Mayor shall preside at all meetings of the Board of 

Commissioners. In the absence of the Mayor, the Vice Mayor shall preside. In 

the absence of both the Mayor and the Vice-Mayor, the meeting shall be called 

to order by the City Clerk for appointing a temporary presiding officer. 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 

3. Roll Call – The City Clerk calls the roll. 

4. Approval of the Agenda – Approval of the Agenda consists of all items listed 

on the meeting agenda. 

5. Proclamations/Presentations. 

5.1. Proclamations. This section is provided for presentation of Proclamations 

to be read in full and presented by the Mayor, City Clerk or City Manager. 

The intent is to list and read only those proclamations that will be formally 

presented and received by a representative of the requesting agency or 

organization at the Board of Commissioners Meeting. Otherwise, 

proclamations may be issued at the Mayor’s discretion and forwarded 

through the City Clerk’s Office. 

5.2. Presentations. This section is provided for any additional presentations 

held during City meetings. Presentations can be added during Agenda 

Setting Meetings and can be requested by the Board as a consensus or 

requested by an individual Commission member. The City Manager also 

has the authority to add a presentation to the agenda under his own 

discretion. The speaker’s presentation shall be limited to 10 minutes. 

6. Public Comment. This section is reserved for public participation on matters 

of concern pertaining to City business; and which are not on the agenda. Public 

comment is made in person and not represented by emails, tweets, or other 

types of information, unless there is a declared State of Local Emergency 

requiring virtual meetings of the Board of Commissioners. Public Comment is 

subject to the following protocol. 

Manner of Addressing the Board of Commissioners. Each person 

addressing the Board of Commissioners shall step up to the microphone, give 

his or her name and address and the organization or group they represent, if 
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any, in an audible tone of voice for the record and shall limit their address to 

five (5) minutes unless extended by the Mayor, more time may be granted to 

applicants and affected persons with legal standing in quasi-judicial hearings. 

Yielding of time for an additional five-minute period is allowed. If no time is 

yielded, the person speaking can ask for additional time to speak. If the 

additional time is appropriate, the Presiding Officer can offer the 

Commissioners the opportunity to consent to an extension. 

Comment Cards. Comments cards may be completed by individuals from the 

audience, whether it is a public forum question or an agenda item. The 

comment cards shall be available at the back table in the Commission 

Chambers, and the individual shall write their name, address, and a brief 

comment about what it is that they would like a response on. It is not 

mandatory that a speaker complete a comment card. 

If you would like someone at the City to follow up on a comment or question 

made at the meeting, you may fill out a comment card with the contact 

information and give it to the City Manager. Comment cards are available at 

the back table in the Commission Chambers. It is not mandatory to complete 

a comment card. 

Reading of Protests. Interested persons, or their authorized representatives, 

may address the Board of Commissioners for the reading of protests, petitions, 

or communications relating to any matter over which the Board of 

Commissioners has jurisdiction. 

7. Approval of Minutes. A majority vote required to approve the minutes of 

the previous meetings.  

8. Consent Agenda. The Consent Agenda shall be used to handle routine matters 

on the agenda expeditiously. Examples of Consent Agenda items are minutes, 

waivers for special events, bid or purchase awards for equipment, goods or 

services already approved within the budget, invoices, and budget transfers. 

There is no separate discussion of these items unless a Commission member 

requests an item be removed for consideration in its normal sequence on the 

agenda. Members of the public do not have discretion to remove items from 

the Consent Agenda, yet the Mayor, as Presiding Officer, may acknowledge 

any such request and remove an item on their behalf. The approval of the 

Consent Agenda shall be handled in one motion, i.e. "I move that the Consent 

Agenda, (items “x” through “z”) be approved; or if items are to be removed, a 

typical motion might be, "I move that we approve Consent Agenda items “x” 

through “z” with the exception of item “y” for discussion.” 

9. Public Hearings. The section is for items requiring a public hearing required 

by law. Certain public hearings are quasi-judicial in nature. A quasi-judicial 

proceeding requires the Board of Commissioners to act in a quasi-judicial, 

rather than legislative, capacity. At a quasi-judicial hearing, it is not the 

Board’s function to make law but rather to apply law that has already been 

established. In a quasi-judicial hearing, the Board is required by law to make 

findings of fact based upon the evidence presented at the hearing and apply 
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those findings of fact to previously established criteria contained in the code 

of ordinances in order to make a legal decision regarding the application before 

it. The Board may only consider evidence at this hearing that the law considers 

competent, substantial and relevant to the issues. If the competent, substantial 

and relevant evidence at the hearing demonstrates that the applicant has met 

the criteria established in the code of ordinances, then the Board must find in 

favor of the applicant. By the same token, if the competent, substantial, and 

relevant evidence at the hearing demonstrates that the applicant has failed to 

meet the criteria established in the code of ordinances then the Board is 

required by law to find against the applicant. The established procedure which 

will be followed by the Board is set forth in Chapter 2, Article I, Division 2 of 

the Code of Ordinances. 

10. Unfinished Business. The section is provided to allow completion of matters 

already under discussion by the Board of Commissioners from a previous 

meeting, excluding public hearings required by Law. Citizen input may be 

heard once a motion is made by the Board of Commissioners on items of 

unfinished business. Citizen input shall be limited to five (5) minutes. 

11. Contracts/Agreements. This section is provided to allow more careful 

consideration of complex contracts and agreements that require individual 

approval. Citizen input may be heard once a motion is made by the Board of 

Commissioners on items of contract/agreements and shall be limited five (5) 

minutes. 

12. New Business. This section contains all remaining agenda items for 

consideration by the Board of Commissioners, excluding public hearings, as 

required by law. Citizen input may be heard once a motion is made by the 

Board of Commissioners on items of new business. Citizen input shall be 

limited to five (5) minutes. 

13. Staff Reports. Non-workshop items. This section is set aside for staff reports 

regarding items such as monthly financial reports, special event updates, 

project updates, governmental and non-governmental project updates, and 

other updates on matters that do not get workshopped. Each staff report is 

limited to five (5) minutes. 

14. Agenda Setting Meeting. This section is for the purpose of setting the 

Workshop Agenda for the Workshop to be held on the fourth Wednesday of 

the month. Items to be added to the agenda may be requested by the Board of 

Commissioners, Charter Officers, and City Staff. Not all items need to be 

workshopped. The City Manager shall determine the form and manner of how 

the item will be addressed. The City Manager will read back the requested 

items to be workshopped for clarification purposes if necessary. 

15. Reports/Correspondence. This section is set aside for standing reports from 

Commission members to provide a status report based upon their attendance 

or representation of the City at various governmental boards and agencies. This 

section is limited to five (5) minutes. 

The Reports section also provides for the City Manager, City Clerk, and the 
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City Attorney to make reports, announcements, and report on current topics. 

This section is limited to five (5) minutes. 

Ligation Status Report. This section will allow for any litigation updates by 

the City Attorney.  

Outstanding Lien Settlements. This section will allow for any updates by 

the City Attorney on Outstanding Lien Settlements and liens that are over 

$5,000.00. If the City Attorney is approached by a property owner to settle an 

outstanding lien, the Commission must be able to review the details of a case 

at a Workshop followed by final approval or rejection of the proposed 

settlement during a Regular BOC Meeting. This section is limited to five (5) 

minutes. 

6. Agenda Preparation 

 Notice. The final agenda for regular, special, and workshop meetings shall serve as 

public notice for each respective meeting. Agendas and public notices shall be posted 

at City Hall, Gulf Beaches Public Library, if possible, and the City’s website by no 

later than 3:00 p.m. on the Thursday prior to the meeting. 

 

 Packets. The City Manager and City Clerk are responsible for publishing the agenda 

packets. The deadline for publishing agenda packets is on Wednesday afternoon, the 

week before the scheduled meeting. However, at times it may be necessary to publish 

the agenda packets by Thursday afternoon to allow for any unforeseen items or 

emergency items. Only when necessary, paper copies of agenda packets are provided 

to the Board of Commissioners or at the request of a Commission member. Paper 

copies of the agenda packet are placed in Commission mailboxes at City Hall.   

 

The publishing deadline allows sufficient time for the Board of Commissioners to 

review the packet materials, and to obtain additional information on the agenda items 

from the City Manager, City Clerk, City staff, or other entities, if necessary, to be 

more knowledgeable in preparation of the meeting and for voting purposes.  

 

For workshop meetings and regular meetings that are not held on a regularly 

scheduled meeting date, a similar lead time schedule for agenda and packet materials 

shall be followed, unless otherwise determined by the City Manager or City Clerk. 
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I. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF THESE RULES 

1. Suspension of Rules. Any provision of these rules not governed by the City Charter or 

City Code may be temporarily suspended by a vote of a majority of the Board of 

Commissioners. 

2. Amendment of Rules This policy shall be reviewed annually and adopted by resolution 

within 90 days following each election. The policy may be amended, or new provisions 

made by a majority vote of all members of the Commission. Each year following the 

regular election, any modifications previously made by motion will be formalized in the 

resolution, City Charter, Section 4.5 (B). 

ARTICLE III 

SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF RULES 
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“Running your Meetings and Robert’s Rules”  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
An effective presiding officer is important to any organization.  This workshop will test your knowledge of Robert’s 
Rules of Order Newly Revised as well as provide you materials that will help you in running your meetings. 
Remember that practice is the key to your success.  
 

Carol Austin, PRP, CAE (Ret.) 
813-833-4747 (Cell) 

CarolAustinPRP@cs.com or CarolAustinPRP@gmail.com 
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GUIDELINES FOR EFFECTIVE MEETINGS 
 
1.  Know the Reasons to Have a Meeting   
 
2.  Prepare and Distribute Agenda in Advance 
 

· Plan for the meeting and materials. 
· Type and Time of meeting. 
· Put Purpose Statement on the Agenda. 
ü Discussion 
ü Decision  
ü Information 
ü Planning 

· Be aware of energy cycle and meeting phases. 
· Think about room arrangement. 

  
3.  Distribute minutes of previous meeting ahead. 
 
4.  Have someone take minutes. 
 
5.  Follow Parliamentary Procedure. 
 
6.  Follow the agenda.  Papers distributed should be brief. 
 
7.  Be objective.  Facilitate. 
 
8.  Encourage participation from everyone. 
 
9.  Recognition. 
 
10. Keep meeting on track. 
 
11. Establish date and time of next meeting. 
 
12. Close with unifying items. 
 
13. Adjourn on time. 
 
14. Follow up. 
 

254

Item 13A.



 3 

 
PREPARING YOUR AGENDA 

 
Creates purpose and energy.  Identify backup materials required. 
Reach out and touch – Make phone calls.  Everyone should be prepared. 
 
I.   Call to Order 
 
II.  Attendance  

President:  Determine presence of a Quorum. 
 
III.  Minutes 
 Secretary:  Read minutes of previous meeting. 
 President:  Ask for corrections. 
 
IV.  Financial Report 
 Treasurer:  Read revenue and expenses. 
 President:  Asks if questions.  Report not approved.  File for audit. 
 
V.  Reports of Officers 
 President:  Activities, Information, Programs 
 Vice President:  On assignments 
 Secretary:  Correspondence, Executive Committee Reports 
 Treasurer:  Other financial matters. 
 Recommendations can be acted upon at time of report. 
 
VI.  Reports of Committees 
 Standing Committees:  In order they are listed in Bylaws. 

Special Committees, Task Forces, etc. in order of appointment. 
Recommendations can be acted upon at time of report. 
 

VII.  Unfinished Business 
 Items previously scheduled for this meeting. 
 Items held over from previous meetings. 
 Items on previous meeting agenda not reached. 
  
VIII.  New Business 
 Introduce new topics.      
 
IX.  Announcements 
 Upcoming events 
 Date of Next Meeting 
 
X.  Adjournment 
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 4 

 
SAMPLE OF SCRIPT AGENDA 

 
 
 
 

Call to Order 
(One tap of the gavel) The presiding officer, after determining that a quorum is present, rises, waits 
or signals for quiet, and says, “The meeting will come to order.” 
 
Opening Ceremonies (optional) 
“Please rise and remain standing for the invocation or inspiration, which will be given… and the 
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America, which will be led by. 
(If given, the invocation, the national anthem, and the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United 
States of America are given in that order.) 
 
Roll Call (if customary) 
The Secretary will call the roll. 
 
Reading and Approval of Minutes 

“The Secretary will read the minutes.” (The presiding officer sits down.) 
“Are there any corrections to the minutes?” (pause) 
“If there are no corrections, the minutes stand (or “are”) approved as read.” 
With corrections: “If there is no objection, the Secretary will make the correction(s)… 
If there are no further corrections, the minutes stand (or “are”) approved as corrected.” 
 
Reports of Officers, Boards, and Standing Committees 

“The next business in order is hearing reports of the officers, boards, and standing committees.” 
Officers and standing committees are called on in the order that they are listed in the bylaws.  The 
chair usually calls on only those who have reports to make. 
 
In calling on the Secretary: “Is there any correspondence?” 
In calling on the treasurer: “May we have the Treasurer’s report.” 
Presiding Officer: “Are there any questions regarding the report of the Treasurer, if not, it will be 
filed” 
 
A treasurer’s report is not adopted unless it is the auditor’s report.  
“The question is one the adoption of the Auditor’s report. As many as are in favor, say “Aye”. Those 
opposed say “No”.  The ayes have it and the Auditor’s report is adopted.” 
 
A motion arising out of an officer’s, board or committee’s report is taken up immediately. 
 
Sample patter: (“on behalf of”) or (“by direction of”). 
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Reports of Special Committees  

“The next business in order is hearing reports of special committees.  The committee appointed to 
…will now report.” 
 
 
 
Special Orders (announced only if there are such items) 
Unfinished special orders from the previous meeting and items made special orders for this meeting 
and not set for specific hours are taken up under this heading.  Matters set by the bylaws for a 
particular meeting may be taken up. 
 
“The next business in order is the consideration of special orders.  At the previous meeting, the 
motion relating to…was postponed to this meeting and made a special order. The question is on the 
motion that … Are you ready for the question?” 
“The Secretary will read from the bylaws Article____Section_____concerning the election of a 
Nominating Committee. 
 
Unfinished Business and General Orders (announced only if there are such items.) 
Any questions previously introduced and not finished or any postponed to the present meeting are 
under this heading. 
 
“Under Unfinished Business and General Orders, the first item of business is the motion relating 
to… that was pending when the previous meeting adjourned.  The question is on the adoption of the 
motion that …Are you ready for the question?” 
 
“The next item of business is the motion relating to…that was postponed to this meeting. The 
question is on the adoption of the motion that…Are you ready for the question?” 
 
New Business 

“Is there any new business?” “Is there any further new business?” 
 
Announcements 

“The chair has the following announcements…Are there other announcements?” 
 
Program 

The chair does not “turn the meeting over” but announces, “The Program Committee will now 
present the program” or” …will introduce our speaker.” 
 
Adjournment 

“Is there any further business? (pause) Since there is not further business, the meeting is 
adjourned.” (or) “A motion to adjourn is in order”. 
 
(One tap of the gavel)    

 
 
 
 
 

257

Item 13A.



 6 

 
 
 
 
 
 

TIPS FOR THE PRESIDENT OR THE CHAIR 
 
BEFORE MEETINGS      
 
 1.  Practice 
 
 2.  Be Prepared 
 

§ Bring documents to meetings:  Minutes, Bylaws, Rules 
§ Have a written agenda – Full script for a new chair 
§ Do an agenda walk-through 
§ Know Parliamentary procedure – Appoint a parliamentarian 
§ Know your responsibilities and the duties of others 
§ Ex-officio 
§ Think ahead and plan appointments 
§ Keep Vice President or Vice Chair informed 

 
 
 
 
 
DURING MEETINGS 
 
 1.  Be impartial 
 
 2.  Preside to Benefit the Assembly, Not Yourself 
 
 3.  Know the Rights of the Chair – Use Rights Sparingly 
 

§ The Chair’s Rights in Debate 
§ The Chair’s Rights in Voting 

 
4.  Do Not Respond to Debate 
 
§ Preside, Don’t Explain 
§ Refer Questions to Knowledgeable People 
§ Chair Answers Parliamentary Questions 
§ Chair Rules on Parliamentary Issues 
§ No Personal Opinions 
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Professionalism and Parliamentary Patter 

 

Avoiding Personal Pronouns Improve professionalism and the appearance of impartiality 
when presiding by avoiding the first-person personal pronouns of I, me, my, mine.  

 

I would like to announce . . .                           The chair has the following announcement 

I am pleased to report that . . .   Your president is pleased to report that . . . 

It is my opinion that . . .     The chair is of the opinion that . . . 

Do I hear a second?      Is there a second to the motion? 

You are out of order.   The chair rules that the motion is out of order  

  (Briefly explain why)  

(Or for breaches of order) The member is out of 
order and will be seated. 

The chair recognizes ———, the chairman of the 
Finance Committee, for a special report 

 

A Presiding Officer relinquishes chair when a motion is made that refers 
to the chair alone (except elections) 
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CONDUCTING BUSINESS IN A COMMITTEE 
 
1.  Meetings should be called by the Chair.  Can be called by any two members if the chair 
fails to call it. 
 
2.  Quorum is a majority of its members unless the assembly prescribes a different 
quorum. 
 
3.  Chair may act as secretary or choose a secretary. 
 

4. In a small committee or board (not more than 12): 
 
 

§ Members are not required to obtain the floor. 

§ Motions need not be seconded. 

§ No limit on the number of speeches. 

§ Informal discussion is permitted without a motion. 

§ Voting can be taken by a show of hands or unanimous consent. 

§ Chair can be seated while conducting the meeting. 

§ Chair can speak without leaving the chair. 

§ Chair can usually make motions and vote on all questions. 

§ Committee can reconsider a question without time limit and any number of 

times. 

§ Motion to reconsider can be made by any member who didn’t vote on the losing 

side – even if they were absent or abstained before. 

§ Motions to close or limit debate are not permitted. 

§ May not adopt its own rules except by permission of the society or the bylaws. 

§ May appoint subcommittees. 

260

Item 13A.



9 
 

 
PARLIAMENTARY BASICS 

 
§ TYPES OF MOTIONS 

   
1.  Main Motions – Introduces a new idea or subject. 
 
2.  Subsidiary Motions – Changes the idea or deals with handling 
it. 
 
3.  Privileged Motions – Urgent situations relating to the meeting, 
not related to the main motion. 
 
4.  Incidental Motions – Questions or actions on procedures. 

 
§ ABOUT MOTIONS 

 
1.  Is it in order?  -- Must relate to the business at hand and be 
presented at the right time.  Must not be frivolous, obstructive or 
against the Bylaws. 
 
2.  Can the speaker be interrupted?  -- Some motions are so 
important the speaker can be interrupted for another member to 
make them. 
 
3.  Is a second needed? – Usually yes. 
 
4.  Is it debatable?  -- A basic right is to have full and free debate 
on most motions.  Some privileged and incidental motions are 
not debatable. 
 
5.  Can it be amended?  -- Changing a motion by striking out, 
inserting or both.  Amendments must relate to the subject (be 
germane). 
 
6.  What vote is needed?  -- Majority vote is most common.  
Motions that take away rights of members need a two-thirds vote. 
 
7.  Can it be reconsidered?  -- Some motions can be debated and 
voted on over again to give members a chance to change their  
minds.  A motion to reconsider must come from the winning side. 
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HOW TO GET THINGS DONE-SIX STEPS TO HANDLE A MOTION 

 
1. A Member Makes A Motion 
 

A main motion introduces new business. The member is recognized by the 
chair and says: “I move that (or “I move to…”) fund a study for solutions to 
transportation problems.”   

 
2.  Another Member Seconds the Motion 
 
 Seconding means the member thinks the idea should be discussed, not that 

he necessarily agrees with it.  Without being recognized, says: “Second.”  
 
3. The Chair States the Motion 
 
 The chair must state the motion in order to place it before the assembly. 

The chair states the exact motion and indicates it is open to discussion by 
saying: “It is moved and seconded that we obtain three bids to resurface the 
parking lot.” 

 
4. Members Debate the Motion 

Rules of Debate 
· The chair manages the debate by calling on speakers.   
· Everything--all debate, questions, answers--is addressed to the chair. 
· The maker of the motion is recognized to speak first. Then others in 

turn.  
· Each speaker entitled to 10 minutes twice on a topic.  No second 

speech until others have been able to speak for their first speech. 
· Debate issues, not personalities.  No personal remarks allowed.  
· Stick to the subject.  

 
5. The Chair Takes the Vote 

 
If no one is trying to be recognized, the chair may say, “Are you ready for the 
question?”  If there is no further debate, the chair can proceed.  
The chair must state the question again, so everyone knows for sure what 
they are voting on: “The question is on the adoption of the motion to obtain 
three bids to resurface the parking lot.”   
The chair then tells the group how they are supposed to vote:  
Chair:  “Those in favor of the motion, say aye.” 
Members:  Aye!   
Chair:  “Those opposed, say no.”  
Members:  “No!” 
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6. The Chair Announces the Result of the Vote 
 

When voting is complete, the chair announces the result by saying which 
side had the most votes, declares the motion adopted or lost, and indicates 
the effect of the vote. 
“The ayes have it and the motion is adopted. The staff is instructed to obtain 
three bids to resurface the parking lot.”   

Or 
“The nos have it and the motion is lost.  Is there further new business?” 
 
 

10:12… Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised- 12th Edition  
 

Negative Motions 
 
It is preferable to avoid a motion containing a negative statement even in cases 
where the effect of the motion is to propose that something be done, since 
members may become confused as to the effect of voting, for or against such a 
motion.  Rather than moving for example, that the association go on record as 
“not in favor of the proposed public bond issue,” it should be moved that the 
association “oppose” or “declare its opposition to” the bond issue.  In this 
connection, it should be noted that voting down a motion or resolution that 
would express a particular opinion since – if the motion is voted down – 
neither opinion has been expressed. A member may be in complete agreement 
with the views contained in such a resolution yet feel that his organization 
should not speak out on the matter, and he might therefore vote against the 
resolution. 
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 HANDLING A MOTION - LANGUAGE FOR THE CHAIRMAN 
 

Chairman:  Is there any new business?   
 
Member A:  Mr/Madam Chairman.    
 
Chairman:  Member A 
 
Member A:  I move that . . . 
 
Member B:  Second 
 
Chairman:  It is moved and seconded that …  Is there any debate? 
   (Look at or call on Member A first.) 
 
Member A:  (Give explanation or reasons for the motion.) 
 
Chairman:  Thank you.  Is there further debate? 
 
Member B:  (Make comments) 
 
Chairman:  Thank you.  Is there further discussion?   
 
Member C:  (Make comments) 
 
Chairman:   Thank you.   (See that no one is seeking recognition).  Are   
   You ready for the question?  (Pause) 
   The question is on the motion to… (state motion).  
   Those is favor say “aye.”  (Pause) 
   Those opposed, say “no.” (Pause) 

 The ayes have it and the motion is adopted and we will … 
(state what will be done as a result of the motion’s adoption.)   
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KNOW THE MOTIONS AND WHEN TO USE THEM 
Use the following to help you know what motions to use and how to say them: 

 
MOTION OR ACTION 
 

WHAT TO SAY WHEN TO SAY IT 

Main motion “I move to …” To bring up an idea or topic 
for action 

MOTIONS THAT HELP YOU MAKE A DECISION 
Postpone Indefinitely “I move to postpone the 

motion indefinitely.”  
To kill a motion for the 
current session. It avoids a 
direct vote on the motion.  

Amend “I move to amend by— 
Adding 
Inserting 
Striking out 
Striking and inserting 

To change or improve the 
wording of a motion 

Refer to a committee “I move to refer the motion to 
the ________ committee.” 

To send a motion to a 
committee for more study   

Postpone definitely “I move to postpone the 
motion until _________.” 

To delay considering the 
motion and to set a specific 
time to bring it up again. 

MOTIONS THAT HELP THE MEETING 
Limit Debate or Extend 
Debate 

“I move to limit debate to 10 
minutes on this motion.” 
“I move to limit debate to two 
minutes for all speakers.” 

To set a limit on how long to 
discuss a motion or to allow a 
longer amount of time or 
speeches. 

Previous question or call 
the question. 

“I move the previous question” 
or “I call the question.” 

To close debate 

Recess “I move to recess for _____ 
minutes.” 

To take a short break during a 
meeting. 

Adjourn “I move to adjourn.” To end the meeting 
MOTIONS THAT PROTECT RIGHTS 

Point of Order  “Point of order!”  (Call out 
without recognition) 

To require the chair to rule 
when you think the rules of 
the assembly are being 
violated 

Appeal “I appeal from the decision of 
the chair.” 

After the chair has ruled, this 
takes the decision from the 
chair and the assembly votes 
to make the final decision.  

Request for Information “I have a request for 
information.” 

To ask for relevant 
information related to a 
motion 

Parliamentary inquiry “I rise to a parliamentary 
inquiry.” 

To ask for information about 
procedure 
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THIRTEEN RANKING MOTIONS 

 
§ Privileged Motions, while they do not have any relation to the pending question, are so 

urgent or important they are entitled to immediate consideration. 
§ Subsidiary Motions are those that may be applied to another motion to modify it, delay 

action, or dispose of it. 
§ Main Motions are the basis of all parliamentary procedure.  They provide the method to 

bring business before the assembly for consideration and action. 
 
Type Name of 

Motion 
In order 
when 
another 
has the 
floor? 

Does it 
require a 
second? 

Is it 
debat-
able? 

Is it 
amend-
able? 

Vote 
needed 
to 
adopt? 

May it be 
recon-
sidered? 

P Fix the Time 
to which to 
Adjourn 

No Yes No Yes Majority Yes 

P Adjourn No Yes No No Majority No 
P Recess No Yes No Yes Majority No 
P Raise a 

Question of 
Privilege 

Yes No No No Chair 
Decides 

No 

P Call for the 
Orders of the 
Day 

Yes No No No No vote; 
Demand 

No 

S Lay on the 
Table 

No Yes No No Majority No 

S Previous 
Question 

No Yes No No 2/3 Yes 

S Limit or 
Extend Limits 
of Debate 

No Yes No Yes 2/3 Yes (1) 

S Postpone to a 
Certain Time 
(Definitely) 

No Yes Yes Yes Majority 
(2) 

Yes 

S Commit (Refer 
to a 
Committee) 

No Yes Yes Yes Majority Yes (3) 

S Amend No Yes Yes (4) Yes Majority Yes 
S Postpone 

Indefinitely 
No Yes Yes No Majority Aff. Only 

M Main Motion No Yes Yes Yes Majority Yes 
 
 
(1)  Unexecuted part may be reconsidered.  (2) 2/3 vote if made a special order. 
(3) Only if committee has not started work.  (4) If applied to a debatable motion. 
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INCIDENTAL AND RESTORATIVE MOTIONS 

 
§ Incidental Motions (1) arise out of a pending question; or (2) arise out of a question that 

has just been pending; or (3) related to the business of the assembly.  Incidental motions 
usually apply to the method of transacting business rather than the business itself.  They 
have no rank among themselves because they are in order whenever they are incidental to 
the business at hand. 

§ Motions that Bring a Question Again before the Assembly (Restorative) are motions 
that bring a question again to the assembly for consideration. 

 
 
 
Type Name of 

Motion 
In order 
when 
another 
has the 
floor? 

Does it 
require a 
second? 

Is it 
debat-
able? 

Is it 
amend-
able? 

Vote 
required 
to 
adopt? 

May it be 
recon-
sidered? 

I Appeal Yes Yes Yes (1) No Majority 
(2) 

Yes 

I Consideration 
by Paragraph 
or Seriatim 

No Yes No Yes Majority No 

I Division of the 
Assembly 

Yes No No No No vote; 
Demand 

No 

I Division of a 
Question 

No Yes No Yes Majority No 

I Objection to 
the 
Consideration 
of the 
Question 

Yes No No No 2/3 
against 
considera
tion 
sustains 
the 
objection 

Negative 
only. 

I Parliamentary 
Inquiry 

Yes No No No Chair 
answers 

No 

I Point of Order Yes No No No Chair 
rules 

No 

I Suspend the 
Rules 

No Yes No No 2/3 No 

R Reconsider (3) Yes Yes (1) No Majority No 
R Take from the 

Table 
No Yes No No Majority No 

 
 
 
(1) If applied to a debatable question. 
(2) Majority in the negative required to reverse the Chair’s decision. 
(3) In order if another has been assigned the floor – if that member has not begun to speak. 
 
 

WHAT GOES IN THE MINUTES? 
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Minutes are the official record of your organization’s meetings. 
 
The first paragraph should contain the following information: 

· kind of meeting: regular, special, adjourned regular, or adjourned 
special, and the name of the group. 

· date, time of the meeting, and place, if it is not always the same. 
· the fact that the regular chairman and secretary were present  
· whether the minutes of the previous meeting were approved.   

 
The body should contain: 

· all main motions, except any that were withdrawn.   
· secondary motions if necessary for completeness or clarity. 
· the complete substance of oral committee reports.  
· all notices of motions. 
· all points of order and appeals. 

 
The last paragraph should state the hour of adjournment.  

 
Approving minutes:  

· Must be done as soon as possible. 
· Do not have to be read if they are sent to everyone 

before the meeting. 
· The chair says: 

“The secretary will read the minutes.” OR “The minutes were sent to all 
members in advance of the meeting. Are there any corrections to the 
minutes? There being no corrections (or no further corrections to the 
minutes, the minutes stand approved (or approved as corrected.)” 

 
Remember that: 

· The minutes should contain what was done, not what was said.  
· Include the name of the maker of a main motion but not the seconder. 
· When the vote is counted or by ballot, record the number of votes for 

each side  
· The secretary signs the minutes. Do not use “respectfully submitted.”  
· The approved minutes are the only official permanent record.   
· The secretary should sign the minutes and they can be signed by the 

president, too, if the group wishes 
· When the minutes are approved, the word Approved, with the secretary’s 

initials and the date, should be written below them 
· Minutes can be corrected at any time, even years later, by using the 

motion to amend something previously adopted. 
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1.  Federal, state, and local laws are the highest authority. 
2.  Articles of Incorporation are the highest authority related specifically to an organization. 
3.  Bylaws contain the basic rules of an organization. 
4.  Special rules of order supersede the parliamentary authority. 
5.  Rules of order relate to the conduct of business in meetings. 
6.  Standing rules are administrative rules. 
7.  Customs are not rules but may be followed as if they were. 
 

Rules To Adopt To Amend or Rescind To Suspend 
 

 
 

 Without Notice With Notice  

Articles of 
Incorporation 
 
 
 

In accordance 
with the legal 
procedure for 
incorporation in 
the state 

In accordance 
with the legal 
procedure for 
incorporation in 
the state 

In accordance 
with the legal 
procedure for 
incorporation in 
the state 

 
Cannot be 
suspended 
 

Constitution 
and Bylaws 
 
 

Majority for 
initial 
documents   

Majority of 
entire 
membership 

Two-thirds   Cannot be 
suspended* 
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Special Rules of 
Order 
 
 
 

2/3 with notice 
or majority of 
the entire 
membership 
without notice 

Majority of 
entire 
membership 

Two-thirds or 
majority of 
entire 
membership 

Two-thirds 

Rules of Order 
if not included 
in bylaws 
 
 

2/3 with notice 
or majority of 
the entire 
membership 
without notice 

Majority of 
entire 
membership 

Two-thirds Two-thirds vote 
 

Standing Rules 
 
 
 
 

Majority Two-thirds or 
majority of 
entire 
membership 

 Majority Majority 

Custom 
 
 

Not adopted N/A N/A N/A 

*Rules of order contained in the bylaws may be suspended 
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TO:   Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners 

VIA:   Robin Gomez, City Manager 

FROM:  Frank DeSantis, CBO 

DATE:  March 6, 2024 

RE:  Code Enforcement/Satellite Office  

 

 

Background 

 

On November 7, 2023, the City of Madeira Beach publicly advertised a Request for Proposal 

(RFP) for constructing office space underneath the front entry stairs of City Hall and received three 

proposals on December 6, 2023: 

 

Company Bid Amount 

Mali Contracting Corp. $219,684 

Qualis General Contractors $283,983 

Trias Construction  $489,121 

 

 

Fiscal Impact 

 

The proposed project is budgeted for FY2024 using building department funds. Additional quotes 

were received for network/cabling, office furniture and flood paneling for an approximate total of 

$40,000. The total budget amount for the project is $260,000.  

 

Recommendation 

 

Staff is seeking permission to negotiate an agreement with lowest bidder, Mali Contracting Corp. 

to construct the code enforcement/satellite office space.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachments: Mali Contracting Group Proposal  
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Memorandum  

Meeting Details: April 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting  

Prepared For: Honorable Mayor Rostek and Board of Commissioners 

From: Community Development Department 

Subject: RFQ 23-12, Planning Services to Create and Implement a New City Master Plan 

Background:  

In November 2023 the City of Madeira Beach created and submitted RFQ 23-12, Planning Services to 

Create and Implement a New City Master Plan. The city received three applications. Kimley-Horn ranked 

as the top applicant from the selection committee.  

Discussion:   

The Board of Commissioners needs to provide direction on whether to proceed with the firm Kimley-

Horn for RFQ 23-12, Planning Services to Create and Implement a New City Master Plan. Kimley-Horn 

updated the Scope of Services with comments from the Board of Commissioners and staff and provided 

a signed consulting and design services agreement (attached).  

Recommendation(s):  

Staff recommends proceeding with Kimley-Horn for RFQ 23-12. 

Fiscal Impact or Other:  

The anticipated cost for RFQ 23-12 is $150,000 

Attachments:  

 Madeira Beach Master Plan Scope of Services  

 Consulting and Design Services Agreement 

298

Item 14B.



Madeira Beach Master Plan 
Task Order 1 

Scope of Services 
 

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999 
 

 
March 29, 2024 
PURPOSE 
The City of Madeira Beach (“City”) requires the services of Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 
(“Consultant”) to Create and Implement a New City Master Plan for the City of Madeira 
Beach. The purpose of the Master Plan is to identify a future Vision for the City, guiding 
goals, and an implementation plan to achieve the Vision. 

The Consultant will provide the following services: 
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 Madeira Beach Master Plan 
Task Order 1 

Scope of Services 

Page 2 

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

TASK 1: PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
Monthly Project Management Team (PMT) Meetings: The Consultant will prepare 
for and attend monthly, virtual PMT meetings. Up to twelve (12) meetings are 
anticipated with the PMT throughout the anticipated twelve-month process. The 
Consultant will send monthly progress report emails to the PMT team.   
 

• Kick-off Meeting: The Consultant will conduct one (1) in-person kick-off meeting 
with City staff to discuss the project and deliverables. Up to three (3) Kimley-Horn 
staff members will attend the kick-off meeting. The scope and schedule will also be 
discussed including timing of key milestones to include stakeholder and community 
outreach, and timing of deliverables. 
 

Task 1 Deliverables: 

• Monthly progress reports and coordination with City staff 
• One (1) kickoff meeting attendance and notes 

 

TASK 2: DATA COLLECTION AND EXISTING CONDITIONS 
• Research and Data Gathering: Consultant staff will review available data, as 

agreed upon by the City and Kimley-Horn Project Manager, which may include: 
o Population and demographics 
o Business and employment data 
o Household characteristics 
o Existing land use 
o Future Land Use 
o Zoning 
o Existing bicycle facilities 
o Existing sidewalks 
o Existing transit 
o Origin/destination data 
o Beach access locations 
o Planned improvements / Capital Improvement Program (CIP) projects 
o 5-year crash data 
o Coastal resources 
o Recreation and open space 
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• Plan Review: The Consultant will review existing Plans and documents related to 
the development of the New City Master plan, as agreed upon by the City and 
Kimley-Horn Project Manager, which may include: 

o City of Madeira Beach Master Plan (2002) 
o Madeira Beach Comprehensive Plan 
o John’s Pass Village Activity Center Plan 
o Madeira Beach Watershed Management Plan 
o Madeira Beach Resiliency Plan 

 
• Existing Conditions Summary: The Consultant will summarize findings from the 

requisite data gathering and plan review using maps, infographics, and descriptive 
narrative, as appropriate, to be included as a chapter in the Final Plan document. 
The Consultant will provide a draft of the existing conditions chapter before the Final 
Plan document is developed and revise the chapter up to two (2) times based on City 
staff comments.   

 
Task 2 Deliverables: 

• Existing Conditions Summary to be included in the Final Plan 
 
To Be Provided by the Client: 

• Data to support the existing conditions analysis, including documents related to past 
and ongoing plans and capital projects and GIS shapefiles. 

•  Provide up to two (2) rounds of comments on the Existing Conditions Summary 
 

TASK 3: COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
• Public Engagement Plan: The Consultant will develop one (1) Public Engagement 

Plan which will outline community engagement activities and stakeholder groups to 
be engaged in this Plan. Up to one (1) revision based on feedback from City staff. 
 

• Project branding and promotional materials: The Consultant will develop 
promotional and educational materials to advertise and disseminate information 
about the City Master Plan project to the public, as agreed upon by the City and 
Kimley-Horn Project Manager. The Consultant will provide the agreed upon project 
branding and promotional materials in PDF or JPG format to be printed and/or 
shared digitally by the City. Promotional materials may include: 

o Project-specific branding for use on documents, flyers, and workshop boards 
o Project overview informational flyer 
o “Planning 101”/Master Plan Basics one-pager 
o Postcard/mailer for noticing community workshops 
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o Meeting/workshop invitation template to be used for various events 
throughout the project  
 

• Community Workshops: The Consultant will prepare and conduct up to three (3) 
interactive community forums. The first workshop will share information on the 
purpose of the new Master Plan and how it relates to other planning activities in the 
City, solicit input from community members on existing issues within the City, and 
their vision for the Master Plan. The second workshop will present the findings from 
the first workshop and present the draft vision statement and primary goals of the 
Master Plan. The third workshop will seek community input on the draft Master Plan. 
This workshop will also focus on communicating strategies and improvements 
identified in the draft Master Plan. Kimley-Horn will provide up to four (4) staff at the 
forums and City staff will secure the meeting space and notice the workshops. The 
Consultant will coordinate with City staff to determine the feasibility of conducting 
one or more of the workshops in hybrid format. The input collected at the community 
forums will be summarized which be included in the final Master Plan. 
 

• Stakeholder Meetings: The Consultant will conduct up to three (3) stakeholder 
meetings and up to two (2) Kimley-Horn staff members will attend. The purpose of 
these meetings is to gain feedback on challenges and opportunities within the City 
and a long-term vision for the City from the perspective of specific stakeholder 
groups within the City. The stakeholder meetings may be held virtually or in-person. 
It is anticipated that the meetings will be held with community leaders, businesses, 
property owners, schools, chamber of commerce, local advocacy groups, or real 
estate professionals in the area identified by City staff. One (1) meeting will be used 
to coordinate with local and regional agencies such as Florida Department of 
Transportation (FDOT), Forward Pinellas, Pinellas County, and Pinellas Suncoast 
Transit Authority (PSTA). The City will be responsible for scheduling the stakeholder 
meetings and securing a meeting location, if needed.  
 

• Pop-up Engagement Activities: The Consultant will attend up to six (6) events, 
planned by other organizations (not the Consultant) in the City to promote the Master 
Plan. The Consultant will attend each event for up to two (2) hours. These activities 
may include but are not limited to: attending beach clean ups, holding a booth at the 
Madeira Beach Wednesday Market, Merry Market, Final Friday, Gulf Beaches Public 
Library, meeting with the Madeira Beach Fundamental School, Rotary Club, 
American Legion, Veterans of Foreign Wars (VFW), and Elks Lodge. 

 
• Online Survey and Interactive Map: The Consultant will develop up to two (2) 

online surveys and one (1) online interactive map. Up to one (1) revision based on 
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feedback from City staff. City staff will be responsible for hosting the survey and 
interactive map on the City’s website and promoting the survey and map. 
 

Task 3 Deliverables: 

• Public Engagement Plan (PEP) 
• Preparation and attendance at three (3) Community Workshops 
• Preparation and attendance at three (3) Stakeholder Meetings (virtual or in-person) 
• Attendance of up to six (6) prearranged community events/meetings 
• Development of two (2) online surveys and one (1) interactive map 
• One (1) community engagement summary to be included in the Final Plan 

 

To Be Provided by the Client: 
• Development of project page to be hosted on the City’s website 
• Social media outreach 
• Scheduling and coordination of meeting times and locations for community 

workshops and stakeholder interviews 
• Setup of virtual components for community workshops (if applicable) 
• Coordination and setup of pop-up project information booth or presentation at 

prearranged community events/meetings  
• Noticing of events via mail, social media, flyers, or any other method as determined 

by City staff, including the printing of relevant materials 
 

TASK 4: VISIONING AND GOAL SETTING 
• The Consultant will develop a vision statement based on feedback from community 

engagement activities and discussions with City staff. The Consultant will develop up 
to five (5) major themes/goals that will guide the development of the New City Master 
Plan. The Visioning and Goal Setting Summary will be incorporated into the Final 
Master Plan document.   

Task 4 Deliverables: 

• Defined Vision statement and up to five (5) major themes/goals to be incorporated 
into the Final Master Plan. 
 

TASK 5: PLAN DEVELOPMENT 
• Strategies and Recommendations: The Consultant will utilize information gathered 

during the field visit, existing conditions analysis, and community engagement to 
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develop the New City Master Plan. The New City Master Plan will build off previous 
plans and a list of strategies and improvements to implement within the study area. 
The previous information collected from the existing conditions analysis, previous 
plans, stakeholder meetings, online survey, and community workshops will be used 
to develop strategies and recommendations to achieve the vision and goals 
developed in Task 4. The New City Master Plan will include recommendations and 
strategies relating to the categories below: 

o Economic Development  
o Historic, Culture, and Heritage Preservation 
o Housing 
o Land Use and Zoning 
o Parks and Open Space 

 Including marinas and other recreation facilities 
o Placemaking 
o Sustainability and Resiliency  
o Urban Design 

 Context sensitive design guidelines with a focus on Gulf Boulevard 
o Transportation  

 
• Street Typologies: The Consultant will develop one (1) Street Type Map with up to 

four (4) street types. The Consultant will develop a street type table which will identify 
minimum and preferred dimensions for travel lanes, bicycle facilities, sidewalks, and 
landscaping for each street type. The street types will also specify preferred urban 
design standards for surrounding land use/zoning districts. 
 

• Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code Review Matrix: The 
Consultant will review the City’s current Comprehensive Plan (Comp Plan) and Land 
Development Code (LDC). The Consultant will develop one (1) review matrix for the 
City’s Comp Plan and LDC. The matrix will identify inconsistencies between these 
documents and the new vision and goals for the New City Master. Kimley-Horn will 
review the matrix with City staff via a conference call on a monthly PMT meeting 
identified in Task 1 above and revise the matrix up to two (2) times based on staff 
comments. This task does not include a strikethrough underline or revisions to the 
Comprehensive Plan or Land Development Code. These services can be conducted 
as part of additional services. 
 

• Zoning District Review: The Consultant will review existing standards for the Retail 
Commercial (C-3) and Marine Commercial (C-4) zoning districts to identify updates 
that reflect the future vision, goals, and street type recommendations. The updates 
will be identified through a strikethrough underline to the C-3 and C-4 districts in the 
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Land Development Code. This task does not include any public hearings and 
meetings for adoption of the zoning district revisions; nor does it include GIS updates 
to the zoning map.  

 

Task 5 Deliverables: 

• Strategies and Recommendations to be included in the Final Master Plan 
• One (1) Street Type map and one (1) Street Type Standards Table 
• One (1) Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code Review Matrix 
• One (1) strikethrough underline for up to two (2) zoning districts 

 

TASK 6: IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES 
• Implementation Table: The Consultant will identify strategies and actions for the 

goals identified in Task 4. The table will also include timeframe, responsible party, 
general level of cost, and potential funding sources.  
 

• High Priorities Map: The Consultant will develop one (1) High Priorities Map that 
depict recommendations and projects that are high priorities to the community that 
achieve the Vision and Goals identified in Task 4. The High Priorities Map will 
correspond with the Implementation Table. 
 

• Performance Measures: The Consultant will develop and establish performance 
measures that the City will be able to track progress of the goals established in the 
New Master Plan. 
 

• Funding Opportunity Matrix: The Consultant will research funding opportunities 
and prepare a Matrix for potential funding pursuits that would assist in offsetting the 
cost of construction and implementation of project identified in the Master Plan. The 
Matrix will provide information such as the name(s) of the funding source, description 
of the possible use of the funds, grant or loan, specific terms/conditions, and the next 
deadline for submittal, as may be applicable and available. This task does not 
include the preparation of any grant applications. 

Task 6 Deliverables: 

• One (1) Implementation Table 
• One (1) High Priorities Map 
• One (1) Funding Opportunity Matrix 
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• Implementation strategies and performance measures to be included in the Final 
Master Plan. 

 
TASK 7: FINAL MASTER PLAN AND ADOPTION  

• Draft Master Plan: The Consultant will develop a draft Master Plan in PDF format to 
be reviewed by City staff. City staff will provide all comments and edits in a 
consolidated document. 
 

• Final Master Plan: The Consultant will revise the draft Master Plan one (1) time 
upon review from City staff. The Final Master Plan will be delivered in PDF format. 
 

• Adoption Presentation: The Consultant will develop a presentation and present the 
final City Master Plan in cooperation with City staff to the City Commission for review 
and adoption at a publicly noticed hearing. The City will be responsible for providing 
the meeting place and meeting advertisement/public notices. 
 

Task 7 Deliverables: 

• Draft Master Plan document 
• Final Master Plan document 
• One (1) presentation to City Commission 

To Be Provided by the Client: 
• Provide one (1) round of consolidated comments on the Draft Master Plan 
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ADDITIONAL TASKS 
Any services not specified in the above scope are considered additional services not 
included under this project. As an amendment to this scope of work or under an additional 
Task Order agreement, Kimley-Horn can provide services including, but not limited to, the 
following: 
  

• Grant application services 
• Strikethrough/underline or updates to the Comprehensive Plan and/or Land 

Development Code 
• Detailed Opinion of Probable Costs  
• Roadway survey  
• Roadway design  
• Rendering videos  
• Additional graphics and renderings  
• GIS information creation, analysis or manipulation of data 
• Additional stakeholder and community outreach  
• Additional field visits  
• Community Walk Audit  
• Additional online surveys  
• Additional presentations  
• Additional attendance of City Commission Workshops or Meetings 

 

The following tasks may be initiated upon the request of the City as an additional Task 
Order. Scope and fee for each additional Task Order will be agreed upon between the City 
Project Manager and Kimley-Horn Project Manager. 

A. GIS Dashboard: The consultant shall develop one (1) web‐based operational ArcGIS 
dashboard to assist the Department in tracking applicable performance measures 
identified in Task 6. This dashboard will display locations of projects, attribute 
information, statistical summaries, and applicable ratings.  

a. The ArcGIS Dashboard will include functionalities that support quality 
assurance and quality control measures for projects being evaluated. 

i. Capability to edit and update inventory 
ii. Create and print reports and layouts 
iii. Additional filtering tools for reviewing data 

 
B. Renderings: Up to five (5) 2D or 3D renderings will be developed using Adobe 

Illustrator, Google SketchUp, or Lumion software to depict the Vision and/or 
recommendations in the Master Plan. The rendering may depict density, intensity, 
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building mass, building height, or building setbacks. The renderings may also depict 
development scenarios.  
 

C. Future Land Use Text and/or Map Amendments: The Consultant will draft text 
changes to the City’s Future Land Use (FLU) and/or amendment to the Future Land 
Use Map (FLUM). The Consultant will respond to up to two (2) rounds of revisions 
upon the City staff and City Attorney review. 
 

D. Land Development Code Strikethrough Underline: The Consultant will draft text 
amendments to the Land Development code in a strikethrough underline format. 
Drafts will be reviewed by City staff and the City Attorney for comment. The 
Consultant will respond to up to two (2) rounds of revisions upon the City staff and 
City Attorney review.  

 

  

308

Item 14B.



 Madeira Beach Master Plan 
Task Order 1 

Scope of Services 

Page 11 

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999 
 

SCHEDULE 
The total months for services is anticipated to be 12 months from the Notice to Proceed 
(NTP). Below is the anticipated schedule as agreed upon by the Firm and City staff.  

Task 1: Project Management – 0-12 Months from NTP 

Task 2: Data Collection and Existing Conditions – 0-4 Months from NTP 

Task 3: Community Engagement – 0-12 Months from NTP 

Task 4: Visioning and Goal Setting – 2-6 Months from NTP 

Task 5: Plan Development – 5-10 Months from NTP 

Task 6: Implementation Strategy– 8-10 Months from NTP 

Task 7: Final Plan and Adoption – 11-12 Months from NTP 

 

COMPENSATION 
Kimley-Horn will provide the services outlined in Tasks 1-7 for a lump sum of $150,000. 
Invoices will be submitted monthly, prepared based on a percentage completion of the project. 
The following task items represent a breakdown of the lump sum amount for reference: 

Task 1 Project Management: $14,500 

Task 2 Data Collection and Existing Conditions: $7,500 

Task 3 Community Engagement: $40,000  

Task 4 Visioning and Goal Setting: $5,000  

Task 5 Plan Development: $48,000 

Task 6 Implementation Strategy: $17,000  

Task 7 Final Plan and Adoption: $18,000  
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ACCEPTED: 
THE CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, 

INC. 
 
 
 
 
 
BY:       BY: Hanna Shaffer AICP, CNU-A.  
             
 
TITLE:       TITLE: Project Manager     
 
DATE:       DATE: 3/29/2024    
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CONSULTING AND DESIGN SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is hereby made and entered into this 29th day of March, 2024, by and between the 
CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA, (hereinafter referred to as “CITY”), and 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. , a Florida Corporation (hereinafter referred to as 
“CONSULTANT”). 

WHEREAS, CITY desires to engage a firm to provide professional consulting, or design services 
for the project hereafter described; 

WHEREAS, CITY desires to engage CONSULTANT to provide consulting and design services upon 
the Scope of Services to be issued subsequent to the execution of this agreement; 

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT is qualified and able to provide the services described herein; 

WHEREAS, this agreement has been properly approved by the appropriate authority for CITY 
and CONSULTANT. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for an in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants hereinafter 
recited, and for other good, valuable, and sufficient consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1 - PROJECT 
1.1 PROJECT 
CONSULTANT shall provide CITY consulting, services in accordance with this Agreement and as more 
particularly described in the Scope of Services, as detailed in the attached Exhibit A and set forth below 
(hereinafter “SERVICES”). 

 

1.2 PROJECT TERM AND PARAMETERS 
1.2.1 - CONSULTANT shall serve as the CITY’s Master Plan Planning Consultant and this Agreement 
shall commence on the Effective Date and remain in force until all work issued during the effective 
period of this Agreement is completed, unless terminated by pursuant to Article 7, but not to exceed 
five years. 

1.2.2 - The consulting firm shall assist the City towards creating and implementing a new master plan. 

The CONSULTANT’s services may include, but not be limited to, planning, design, economic studies, and 
reviews. 
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ARTICLE II - SERVICES 
2.1 SCOPE OF SERVICES 
2.1.1 - CONSULTANT shall develop a new city Master Plan which will include data collection and 
analysis, community engagement, visioning and goal setting, plan development, implementation 
strategy, and plan adoption as detailed in the attached Scope of Services.  

2.1.2 - The CONSULTANT will work to create and implement a new Master Plan with assistance from 
City staff. 

2.1.3 - The City reserves the right to issue separate contracts for specific services at the city’s sole 
discretion.  

2.1.4 - The following accreditations of each firm’s employees or sub-consultants are highly desirable 
but not required: AICP, CFM, AIA, ASLA, and LEED certified professionals. 

2.1.5 - The SERVICES shall be performed as expeditiously as is consistent with professional skill and 
care and the orderly progress of the Work, using that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised, under 
similar circumstances, by reputable members of its profession in the same locality at the time the 
services are provided, herein after “Standard of Care”. 

2.1.6 - This Agreement and Exhibits referenced herein constitute the entire Agreement between the 
Parties with respect to subject matter and mutually agree that no verbal agreements, representations, 
warranties or other understandings affecting the same exist. No amendment hereof shall be effective 
until and unless reduced to writing and executed by the Parties. The Parties shall execute any additional 
documents as may be necessary to implement and carry out the intent of this Agreement. 

2.2 PROJECT STUDY AND DESIGN SERVICES 
As specifically authorized by a Scope of Services approved by CITY in writing, CONSULTANT shall perform 
the following services: 

2.2.1. - CONSULTANT shall conduct charrettes, public meetings, surveys, and prepare planning reports 
and renderings, pertaining to the PROJECT. Upon CONSULTANT’s receipt of payment for services 
rendered, CONSULTANT will provide one (1) copy of the PROJECT and reproducible drawings and an 
electronic version of all contract documents as set forth in the Scope of Services shall be submitted to 
CITY by CONSULTANT. 

2.2.2 - CONSULTANT shall review published laws, codes, and regulations, in effect at the time SERVICES 
are rendered and applicable to the PROJECT, and shall incorporate all legal requirements, and 
requirements of government agencies having jurisdiction over the PROJECT, into the design thereof. 

ARTICLE 3 – CITY RESPONSIBILITIES  
3.1 COVENANTS BY CITY 
3.1.1 - CITY shall: 

3.1.1.1 - Pay such fees as are due and payable to CONSULTANT, in advance in writing, and properly 
performed. The CONSULTANT shall begin work on the Scope of Services after receipt of a notice to 
proceed.  The times for performance shall be extended as necessary for periods of suspension or delay 
resulting from circumstances the CONSULTANT does not control.   
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3.1.1.2 - Appoint a representative under this Agreement, with authority to authorize Work under this 
Agreement, transmit instructions, receive information, and transmit interpretations and definitions of 
the CITY’S policy and decisions pertinent to the Work covered by the applicable Scope of Services. 

3.1.1.3 - Make available, upon request of CONSULTANT, all existing records, reports, drawings, maps, 
plans, photographs, surveys, or other data in CITY’S possession pertaining to the Work on the PROJECT 
under any Scope of Services authorized hereunder, all of which the CONSULTANT may rely upon. 

3.1.1.4 - Make facilities and properties, under CITY’S control, available and accessible for inspection and 
access by CONSULTANT, for the performance of the Work hereunder. 

 

ARTICLE 4- PERSONNEL 
4.1 - CONSULTANT’S professional personnel who shall be assigned to the PROJECT shall be as set 
forth in the Scope of Services for each phase of the PROJECT, as designated therein.  

ARTICLE 5 -SCHEDULE 
5.1 - CONSULTANT shall proceed with the SERVICES upon receipt of CITY’S signed authorization to 
proceed. Following the initial planning meeting with CITY and the other professionals on the PROJECT, 
CONSULTANT shall prepare a master PROJECT schedule, including the data collection and analysis, 
community engagement, visioning and goal setting, plan development, implementation strategy, and 
plan adoption as outlined in the Scope of Services. CONSULTANT shall submit for CITY’S approval a 
schedule for the performance of the SERVICES, which shall include allowances for periods of time 
required for CITY’S review and approval of submissions by authorities having jurisdiction over the 
PROJECT. Time limits established by the schedule approved by CITY and mutually agreed to, shall not be 
exceeded by CONSULTANT. The preliminary schedule shall be as provided in the Scope of Work Order 
for each phase of the PROJECT. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the 
CONSULTANT shall not have liability for or be deemed in breach because of delays caused by any factor 
outside of its reasonable control, including but not limited to natural disasters, adverse weather, or acts 
of the CITY, third parties, or governmental agencies. 

 

ARTICLE 6 – FEES AND COSTS 
6.1  PAYMENT FOR SERVICES 
6.1.1 - CITY shall pay CONSULTANT for all services authorized and properly performed per the 
Standard of Care and subject to the budget set out in the attached Scope of Services, by one of the 
following methods, as agreed in writing, in advance, by the parties: 

6.1.1.1 - The mutually agreed upon lump sum of $150,000; or 

6.1.2 - Should the Scope of Services require additional services, those services shall be mutually 
agreed to in writing and CITY shall pay CONSULTANT  its the then current hourly rates or a mutually 
agreed to lump sum fee as set forth in an amendment to this Agreement. - Reimbursable expenses shall 
be invoiced at the actual expenditures incurred by CONSULTANT as follows: 
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6.1.2.1 - Expense of transportation and living when performing travel authorized in writing by City, for 
long distance calls and telegrams, and for any fees paid for securing approval of authorities having 
jurisdiction over the Scope of Services. CITY shall pay such fees, directly, when a price advantage is 
available. 

Travel expenses shall be in accordance with CITY’S travel and per diem allowance schedule. Travel to 
CITY offices and work sites and telephone and other consultation with CITY shall not be reimbursable; 
and 

6.1.2.2 - Expenses for reproduction, postage and handling of drawings and specifications, except file 
copies, such copies as required to facilitate review and approval and copies provided to contractors in 
accordance with terms of a contract. Copies provided to prospective bidders shall be sold, directly, to 
the prospective bidders by CONSULTANT. 

6.1.3 - All fees shall be invoiced monthly and payment of each invoice will be due within 30 days of 
receipt. The monthly amount due shall be determined as the costs are incurred for SERVICES performed 
in proportion of the work completed for services to be performed for the lump sum method of 
compensation is , in accordance with the Scope of Services attached as Exhibit A. If the CITY fails to 
make any payment due the CONSULTANT under this or any other agreement within 30 days after the 
CONSULTANT's transmittal of its invoice, the CONSULTANT may, after giving notice to the CITY, suspend 
services and withhold deliverables until all amounts due are paid in full. 

6.1.4 - If during and after the completion of the PROJECT described in this Agreement, in accordance 
with the directions of CITY, it becomes necessary to review or revise the PROJECT due to changes in 
published federal, state, or city law, rules, regulations or other requirements adopted after preparation 
thereof, payment for such review or revision shall be made to CONSULTANT according to such method 
or methods of calculating the fee as may be mutually agreed upon in advance, and in writing. Other 
changes or revisions shall be made only upon written authorization of CITY directing such changes, 
review or revisions by CONSULTANT. SERVICES for such changes or revisions shall be paid for at a 
mutually agreed upon lump sum or at the rates of payment described above, as agreed in advance, in 
writing, by the parties. 

6.1.5 - CONSULTANT warrants that it has not employed or retained any company or person, other 
than bona fide employees working solely for CONSULTANT, to solicit or secure this Agreement and that 
it has not paid or agreed to pay any person, company, corporation, individual or firm, other than a bona 
fide employee working solely for CONSULTANT, any fee, commission, percentage, gift or any other 
consideration contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE 7 - MISCELLANEOUS 
7.1 TERMINATION 
7.1.1 – Upon thirty days’ written notice, either party may terminate this Agreement, without cause. 
CONSULTANT shall be paid for all services rendered and expenses incurred to the effective date of 
termination, and other reasonable expenses incurred by CONSULTANT as a result of such termination. 
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7.1.2 - CITY may suspend, cancel or abandon any part or phase of the PROJECT described in the Scope 
of Services, or the services of the CONSULTANT called for under the Scope of Services, without cause, 
upon providing CONSULTANT five (5) days prior written notice, and CONSULTANT shall be compensated 
for the professional services provided and reimbursable expenses incurred up to the date of suspension, 
cancellation or abandonment. 

  

7.1.3 - It is expressly understood by CONSULTANT that the PROJECT is contingent upon the availability 
of sufficient funding for the same, and the PROJECT may be reduced or enlarged in scope and the 
planning services and payments provided hereunder may be adjusted accordingly, as mutually agreed to 
in writing. 

7.2 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS, MATERIALS 
7.2.1 – Upon CONSULTANT’S receipt of payment for services rendered, reproducible copies of all 
documents, prepared for the PROJECT, shall be the property of CITY and shall be delivered to CITY upon 
completion of each said document. CITY may utilize any documents prepared by CONSULTANT 
hereunder in any manner it chooses, in its sole discretion, without being subject to any copyright 
protection. 

7.2.2 - All documents, prepared by CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement, are not intended or 
represented to be suitable for reuse by others on extensions of the PROJECT or on any other project. 
Any reuse without written verification or adaptation by CONSULTANT for the specific purposes intended 
shall be at CITY’S sole risk. Any such verification or adaptation by CONSULTANT shall entitle 
CONSULTANT to further compensation at rates to be agreed upon by the parties. 

7.2.3 - Any equipment, materials or supplies for which CITY pays a specific charge under this 
Agreement shall become the property of CITY upon completion of the part or phase of the PROJECT for 
which the item was specifically purchased, but in no event later than termination of this Agreement. 

7.3 PUBLIC RECORDS 
7.3.1 - CONSULTANT acknowledges that it is acting on behalf of a public agency; this Agreement is 
subject to the provisions of §119.0701, Florida Statutes, and that CONSULTANT must comply with the 
public records laws of the State of Florida. CONSULTANT acknowledges that some or all the documents 
generated or kept by CONSULTANT, or any sub-consultant may be deemed to be public records under 
Florida law, and CONSULTANT fully accepts any responsibility required by law in producing or making 
available said documents. 

7.3.2 - CONSULTANT shall comply with the following with regard to public records and agrees to the 
following: 

7.3.2.1 - The CONSULTANT shall keep and maintain and not delete any and all public records required 
by the public agency and CONSULTANT necessary to perform the service. 

7.3.2.2 - Upon request from the public agency's custodian of public records, the CONSULTANT shall 
provide the public agency with a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or 
copied within a reasonable time and at a cost that does not exceed the costs provided in this chapter or 
as otherwise provided by law. 
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7.3.2.3 - The CONSULTANT shall ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and, 
therefore exempt from public records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed except as authorized 
by law for the duration of the contract term and following completion of the contract. 

7.3.2.4 - The CONSULTANT shall, upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the public 
agency all public records in possession of the CONSULTANT or keep and maintain public records 
required by the public agency to perform the service. If the CONSULTANT transfers all public records to 
the public agency upon completion of the contract, the CONSULTANT shall destroy any duplicate public 
records that are exempt or confidential and, therefore, exempt from public records disclosure 
requirements. If the CONSULTANT keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the contract, 
the CONSULTANT shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored 
electronically must be provided to the public agency, upon request from the public agency's custodian 
of public records, in a format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the public 
agency. 

7.3.2.5 - A request to inspect or copy public records relating to a public agency's contract for services 
must be made directly to the custodian of public records for the public agency. If the public agency does 
not possess the requested records, the public agency shall immediately notify the CONSULTANT of the 
request. The CONSULTANT must provide the records to the public agency or allow the records to be 
inspected, copied or photographed within a reasonable time and in compliance with the requirements 
of §119.07, Florida Statutes. 

7.3.2.6 - If CONSULTANT does not comply with a public agency's request for records, the public agency 
shall enforce the contract provisions in accordance with the contract. 

7.3.2.7 - A CONSULTANT who fails to provide public records to the public agency within a reasonable 
time may be subject to penalties under §119.10, Florida Statutes. 

7.3.2.8 - If a civil action is filed against a CONSULTANT to compel production of public records relating 
to a public agency's contract for services, the court shall assess and award against the CONSULTANT the 
reasonable costs of enforcement, including reasonable attorney fees, if: The court determines that the 
CONSULTANT unlawfully refused to comply with the public records request within a reasonable time, 
and; at least eight (8) business days before filing the action, the plaintiff provided written notice of the 
public records request, including a statement that the CONSULTANT has not complied with the request, 
to the public agency and to the CONSULTANT. 

7.3.2.9 - The notice requirement is satisfied if written notice is sent to the public agency's custodian of 
public records and to the CONSULTANT at the CONSULTANT's address listed in this contract with the 
public agency or to the CONSULTANT's registered agent. Such notices must be sent by common carrier 
delivery service or by registered, Global Express Guaranteed, or certified mail, with postage or shipping 
paid by the sender and with evidence of delivery, which may be in an electronic format. 

7.3.2.10 - A CONSULTANT who fully, completely, and timely complies with a public records
request within 8 business days after the notice is sent is not liable for the reasonable costs of 
enforcement. 
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7.3.2.11 - If the CONSULTANT Has Questions Regarding the Application Of Chapter 119, Florida 
Statutes, To The CONSULTANT's Duty To Provide Public Records Relating To This Contract, Contact The 
Custodian Of Public Records At: 

City of Madeira Beach 

City Clerk Clara VanBlargan 

Madeira Beach, FL 33708 727-391-9951, Ext. 231 cvanblargan@madeirabeachfl.gov 

  

7.4 WARRANTY, INSURANCE AND LIABILITY 
7.4.1 - CONSULTANT warrants that the SERVICES shall be carefully, skillfully, and timely performed; in 
accordance with the standard for such professional services at the time those services are rendered, per 
the Standard of Care. 

7.4.2 - Throughout the term of this Agreement and until the completion of all construction of the 
PROJECT, CONSULTANT shall carry liability insurance for injury or loss arising from comprehensive 
general and automobile exposures at a minimum of $1,000,000.00 per individual, per occurrence, and 
professional liability insurance in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00. CONSULTANT shall provide to 
CITY certificates of insurance evidencing the existence of each required insurance policy, within (30) 
days of the date of this Agreement. The certificates of insurances shall provide that CITY be notified at 
least (30) days prior to the cancellation or reduction in policy limits of the policy. Additional certificates 
of the insurance required hereby shall be provided by CONSULTANT at any time requested by CITY. 

7.5 INDEMNIFICATION 
7.5.1 - CONSULTANT shall indemnify, and hold harmless,  CITY, its Board of Commissioners, charter 
officers,  attorneys, and employees from, and against all liability and expense, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees incurred thereby through all appellate proceedings, arising from any claims, damages, 
suits for personal injuries, property damage, equitable relief, fines, penalties or other liability to the 
extent caused by CONSULTANT’s negligent acts, errors or omissions in the performance of the 
professional SERVICES hereunder. The claims covered by this section shall include claims made by 
CONSULTANT’S employees, and CONSULTANT hereby waives its entitlement, if any, to immunity under 
Chapter 440, Florida Statutes 

7.5.2 - The obligations of the CONSULTANT under this section shall not be limited in any way by any 
immunity from or limitation of liability that the CITY may have under the doctrine of sovereign immunity 
or Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. The obligations under this section shall survive termination of this 
Agreement and shall not be limited by the amount of any insurance required to be obtained or 
maintained by CONSULTANT under this Agreement. 

7.5.3 - CITY shall have the right, at its option, to participate in the defense of any third-party claim, 
without relieving CONSULTANT of any of its obligations hereunder. CONSULTANT shall obtain the prior 
written consent of CITY prior to entering any settlement of such claim. 
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7.6 OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
7.6.1 - Nothing contained herein guarantees CONSULTANT any amount of work or compensation. This 
Agreement shall not be considered an exclusive agreement, and CITY shall not be obligated to 
exclusively use the services of CONSULTANT for any project it undertakes. 

7.6.2 - This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations and oral or written agreements heretofore 
made relating to the subject matter and constitutes the entire agreement of the parties relating to the 
subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be altered or amended except in writing and signed by 
the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall be effective 
unless in writing and executed by the party to be charged therewith. The failure to enforce any provision 
or part of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the right to enforce any part or provision 
hereof, including the same part or provision in the future. If any portion or part of this agreement is 
declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder hereof shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

7.6.3 - This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 
their respective successors and assigns. 

7.6.4 - This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and interpreted in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Florida. Each of the parties hereto a) irrevocably submits itself to the exclusive 
jurisdiction and venue of the Circuit Court of the State of Florida, Pinellas County, and the jurisdiction of 
the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division, for the purposes of 
any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement; b) waives and agrees 
not to assert against any party hereto, by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, in any suit, action or 
other proceeding, (i) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above named 
courts for any reason whatsoever; and (ii) to the extent permitted by applicable law, any claim that such 
suit, action or proceeding by any party hereto is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of 
such suit, action or proceeding is improper. 

7.6.5 - This Agreement shall create no rights or claims whatsoever in any person other than a party 
hereto, except as provided herein. There shall be no third-party beneficiaries under this Agreement of 
any kind. 

7.6.6 - In the event either party employs an attorney to enforce any of the conditions of this 
Agreement, or to enforce any covenants hereunder, or to enforce any of the rights, remedies, privileges 
or options at law or in equity, or in any action between the parties, the prevailing party shall be entitled 
to reimbursement from the non-prevailing party of all costs and expenses incurred or paid by the 
prevailing party in so doing, including without limitation, all attorneys’ and paralegal fees and costs 
whether the matter is settled privately, by arbitration, or by legal action at the trial court level and at 
any and all appellate court levels in all matters of collection and enforcement, construction and 
interpretation, before, during and after suit, trial, post-trial and all appellate proceedings, as well as 
appearances in and connected with any bankruptcy proceedings or creditors’ reorganization or similar 
proceedings. 

7.6.7 - PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 558.0035, EMPLOYEES OF CONSULTANT MAY NOT BE HELD 
INDIVIDUALLY LIABLE FOR DAMAGES RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. 
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7.6.8 - All final documents shall be submitted to the City Commission of CITY for review and approval. 
All modifications of this agreement shall not be effective unless approved by the City Commission of 
CITY, in writing. 

7.6.9 - Any notices provided hereunder shall be sent to the parties at the following addresses and 
shall be considered properly delivered when placed in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, certified return 
receipt requested: 

As to CONSULTANT:      As to CITY: 

Dawn Dodge, P.E. 
Associate 
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 

City Manager & City Clerk City of Madeira 
Beach, Florida 300 Municipal Dr. 
Madeira Beach, Florida 33706 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

SCOPE OF WORK ORDER 

 

Describing a specific agreement between Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (the Consultant), and the 
CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH, FLORIDA (the City) in accordance with the terms of the Consulting and 
Design Services Agreement for Continuing Professional Services dated 
_____________________________, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

Identification of Project: 

 

Project Name: 

 

Consultant Project Manager: 

 

Project Number: 

 

Specific scope of basic Services: 

 

Schedule: 

 

Deliverables: 

 

Terms of compensation: 

 

Other special terms of Individual Project Order: 
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Memorandum  

Meeting Details:  April 10, 2024 

Prepared For:  Mayor & Board of Commissioners 

From:  Megan Wepfer, Public Works Director 

Subject:  ITB 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration Approval  

Background 

The City of Madeira Beach requested state appropriations for the renourishment of 22 existing beach 

groins and successfully received a 50% match funds from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection for $1.75 Million. This grant is set to expire on December 31, 2024, if the job is not complete 

staff will be able to submit in writing an extension which is typically 6 months. Staff completed the 

design and placed the plans out for public bid. The bid was advertised on December 27, 2023 and a 

mandatory pre bid meeting was held at City Hall on January 18, 2024 where 28 people attended 

including city staff and engineers. When staff requested funding several years ago the total anticipated 

cost was $3.5 million.  

Bids were publicly opened on February 8, 2024 at 10:00 AM where we received 9 total submittals. Once 

bids were received staff and the engineers reviewed the bids checking for all requested documents and 

that the bid tabulation form was completed and calculated correctly. Once the calculations were 

checked, it was noted that several contractors had miscalculated or did not complete the form.  

Staff identified BDI Marine Contractors, Custom Built Marine Contractors Inc, and Speeler Co as the 

three lowest bidders. Staff then created a reference check questionnaire and called references listed in 

each submittal. References from BDI Marine Contractors were questionable and information came out 

about several litigations with the company. Custom Built Marine had several references that were out of 

service and the others stated they were satisfied with the work completed. Speeler Co had great reviews 
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from all references listed. After the reference check staff called each contractor in for an interview / 

meeting to find out a little more about each and ensure that the city selects the most responsive 

responsible contractor for the job.  

After the interviews staff discussed and recommended the Board of Commissioners proceed with 

Speeler Co to complete the Coastal Groin Restoration project. Speeler Co. has previously worked on the 

coastal groins during the 2012 / 2013 rehab project and is aware of our coastal conditions. Custom Built 

Marine has some experience but most experience is on the east coast of Florida and not like our groin 

project. BDI has several litigations that they did not disclose in their submittal or during the interview 

process. Staff requested legal advice and the city attorney agreed with staff recommendations to not 

proceed with BDI.  

Fiscal Impact 

There is a $1.75 million grant from FDEP for this project and the remainder will be funded through the 

CIP.  

Recommendation(s) 

Staff recommends the City of Madeira Beach proceed with Speeler Co. to complete the Coastal Groin 

Restoration Project for the amount of $3,838,677.99.  

Attachments 

- Speeler Submittal, submittal checklist, and Reference questionnaire  

- Custom Built submittal checklist, and Reference questionnaire 

- BDI Marine Contractors submittal checklist, and Reference questionnaire 

- Contractor Bid Tabulation for all submittals  

- Attorney Legal Opinion on BDI  
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Pay Item No. Description Quantity Unit UnitPrice Amount

MOBILIZATIO

N & SITE 

PREPARATIO

N 

1.1 Mobilization 1 LS
$300,000.00  $        300,000.00 

1.2
Maintenance 

of Traffic
1 LS

$22,000.00  $          22,000.00 

1.3

Erosion Control 

and Floating 

Turbidity 

1 LS

$15,000.00  $          15,000.00 

 $        337,000.00 

2.1 $3.00  $            6,900.00 

2.2 $3.00  $            2,700.00 

9,600.00$            

3.0 9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice $ 15' Sheet UnitPrice -$                     9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice

1 144 205.82 29,638.08$    9 1480 13,320.00$    0 0 -$              42,958.08$          144 784.55 112,975.20$        9 944.97

2 153 205.82 31,490.46$    0 1480 -$              0 -$              31,490.46$          153 784.55 120,036.15$        0

3 153 205.82 31,490.46$    20 1480 29,600.00$    0 -$              61,090.46$          153 784.55 120,036.15$        20 944.97

4 77 205.82 15,848.14$    81 1480 119,880.00$  15 1100.27 16,504.05$    152,232.19$        77 784.55 60,410.35$          81 944.97

5 6 205.82 1,234.92$      87 1480 128,760.00$  30 1100.27 33,008.10$    163,003.02$        6 784.55 4,707.30$            87 944.97

6 165 205.82 33,960.30$    77 1480 113,960.00$  0 -$              147,920.30$        165 784.55 129,450.75$        77 944.97

7 120 205.82 24,698.40$    90 1480 133,200.00$  72 1100.27 79,219.44$    237,117.84$        120 784.55 94,146.00$          90 944.97

8 42 205.82 8,644.44$      156 1480 230,880.00$  35 1100.27 38,509.45$    278,033.89$        42 784.55 32,951.10$          156 944.97

9 69 205.82 14,201.58$    95 1480 140,600.00$  48 1100.27 52,812.96$    207,614.54$        69 784.55 54,133.95$          95 944.97

10 53 205.82 10,908.46$    92 1480 136,160.00$  59 1100.27 64,915.93$    211,984.39$        53 784.55 41,581.15$          92 944.97

11 12 205.82 2,469.84$      92 1480 136,160.00$  59 1100.27 64,915.93$    203,545.77$        12 784.55 9,414.60$            92 944.97

12 57 205.82 11,731.74$    89 1480 131,720.00$  36 1100.27 39,609.72$    183,061.46$        57 784.55 44,719.35$          89 944.97

13 105 205.82 21,611.10$    87 1480 128,760.00$  0 -$              150,371.10$        105 784.55 82,377.75$          87 944.97

14 96 205.82 19,758.72$    86 1480 127,280.00$  0 -$              147,038.72$        96 784.55 75,316.80$          86 944.97

15 51 205.82 10,496.82$    96 1480 142,080.00$  45 1100.27 49,512.15$    202,088.97$        51 784.55 40,012.05$          96 944.97

16 68 205.82 13,995.76$    98 1480 145,040.00$  27 1100.27 29,707.29$    188,743.05$        68 784.55 53,349.40$          98 944.97

17 109 205.82 22,434.38$    83 1480 122,840.00$  0 -$              145,274.38$        109 784.55 85,515.95$          83 944.97

18 192 205.82 39,517.44$    0 1480 -$              0 -$              39,517.44$          192 784.55 150,633.60$        0 944.97

19 149 205.82 30,667.18$    54 1480 79,920.00$    0 -$              110,587.18$        149 784.55 116,897.95$        54 944.97

20 185 205.82 38,076.70$    8 1480 11,840.00$    0 -$              49,916.70$          185 784.55 145,141.75$        8 944.97

21 134 205.82 27,579.88$    59 1480 87,320.00$    0 -$              114,899.88$        134 784.55 105,129.70$        59 944.97

22 192 205.82 39,517.44$    0 1480 -$              0 -$              39,517.44$          192 784.55 150,633.60$        0

SUBTOTAL 3,108,007.26$     

Total 1,2,3 3,454,607.26$     

10% 345,460.73$              

GRAND 3,800,067.99$       

Speeler

Speeler Kelly Brothers
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UnitPrice Amount Description Quantity Unit

MOBILIZATION & 

SITE 

PREPARATION 

MOBILIZATION & 

SITE 

PREPARATION 

Mobilization 1 LS
$1,517,339.79 $1,517,339.79

Mobilization 1 LS

Maintenance of 

Traffic
1 LS

$75,455.53 $75,455.53

Maintenance of 

Traffic
1 LS

Erosion Control and 

Floating Turbidity 

1 LS

$276,425.41 $276,425.41

Erosion Control and 

Floating Turbidity 

1 LS

SUBTOTAL  $     1,869,220.73 

DUNE 

RESTORATION 

DUNE 

RESTORATION 

Sea Oats (Uniola 

paniculate), 1.5’ 

OC @ 5,000 SF

2300 EA $6.60

$15,180.00

Sea Oats (Uniola 

paniculate), 1.5’ 

OC @ 5,000 SF

2300 EA

Bitter Panicgrass 

(Panicum amarum), 

2.5’ OC @ 5,000 

SF

900 EA $12.74

$11,466.00

Bitter Panicgrass 

(Panicum amarum), 

2.5’ OC @ 5,000 

SF

900 EA

26,646.00$          

$ 15' Sheet UnitPrice -$                     9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice $ 15' Sheet UnitPrice

8,504.73$            0 0 -$                     121,479.93$        144 1160 167,040.00$        9 1,195.00              10,755.00$          0 0 -$                     

-$                     0 -$                     120,036.15$        153 1160 177,480.00$        0 1,195.00              -$                     0 -$                     

18,899.40$          0 -$                     138,935.55$        153 1160 177,480.00$        20 1,195.00              23,900.00$          0 -$                     

76,542.57$          15 1291.52 19,372.80$          156,325.72$        77 1160 89,320.00$          81 1,195.00              96,795.00$          15 1,270.00              19,050.00$          

82,212.39$          30 1291.52 38,745.60$          125,665.29$        6 1160 6,960.00$            87 1,195.00              103,965.00$        30 1,270.00              38,100.00$          

72,762.69$          0 -$                     202,213.44$        165 1160 191,400.00$        77 1,195.00              92,015.00$          0 -$                     

85,047.30$          72 1291.52 92,989.44$          272,182.74$        120 1160 139,200.00$        90 1,195.00              107,550.00$        72 1,270.00              91,440.00$          

147,415.32$        35 1291.52 45,203.20$          225,569.62$        42 1160 48,720.00$          156 1,195.00              186,420.00$        35 1,270.00              44,450.00$          

89,772.15$          48 1291.52 61,992.96$          205,899.06$        69 1160 80,040.00$          95 1,195.00              113,525.00$        48 1,270.00              60,960.00$          

86,937.24$          59 1291.52 76,199.68$          204,718.07$        53 1160 61,480.00$          92 1,195.00              109,940.00$        59 1,270.00              74,930.00$          

86,937.24$          59 1291.52 76,199.68$          172,551.52$        12 1160 13,920.00$          92 1,195.00              109,940.00$        59 1,270.00              74,930.00$          

84,102.33$          36 1291.52 46,494.72$          175,316.40$        57 1160 66,120.00$          89 1,195.00              106,355.00$        36 1,270.00              45,720.00$          

82,212.39$          0 -$                     164,590.14$        105 1160 121,800.00$        87 1,195.00              103,965.00$        0 -$                     

81,267.42$          0 -$                     156,584.22$        96 1160 111,360.00$        86 1,195.00              102,770.00$        0 -$                     

90,717.12$          45 1291.52 58,118.40$          188,847.57$        51 1160 59,160.00$          96 1,195.00              114,720.00$        45 1,270.00              57,150.00$          

92,607.06$          27 1291.52 34,871.04$          180,827.50$        68 1160 78,880.00$          98 1,195.00              117,110.00$        27 1,270.00              34,290.00$          

78,432.51$          0 -$                     163,948.46$        109 1160 126,440.00$        83 1,195.00              99,185.00$          0 -$                     

-$                     0 -$                     150,633.60$        192 1160 222,720.00$        0 1,195.00              -$                     0 -$                     

51,028.38$          0 -$                     167,926.33$        149 1160 172,840.00$        54 1,195.00              64,530.00$          0 -$                     

7,559.76$            0 -$                     152,701.51$        185 1160 214,600.00$        8 1,195.00              9,560.00$            0 -$                     

55,753.23$          0 -$                     160,882.93$        134 1160 155,440.00$        59 1,195.00              70,505.00$          0 -$                     

-$                     0 -$                     150,633.60$        192 1160 222,720.00$        0 1,195.00              -$                     0 -$                     

SUBTOTAL 3,758,469.35$     

Total 1,2,3 5,654,336.08$     

10% 565,433.61$              

GRAND 6,219,769.69$           

Kelly Brothers Hewes & Company
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UnitPrice Amount UnitPrice Amount

$715,000.00  $           715,000.00 

Mobilizati

on
1 LS

$301,199.24 $301,199.24

$142,000.00  $           142,000.00 

Maintena

nce of 

Traffic

1 LS
$11,524.90 $11,524.90

$142,000.00  $           142,000.00 

Erosion 

Control 

and 

1 LS

$26,174.90 $26,174.90

 $           999,000.00 

SUBTOT

AL  $    338,899.04 DUNE 

RESTOR

ATION 

$3.15  $               7,245.00 

Sea Oats 

(Uniola 

paniculat

2300 EA $7.79

$17,917.00

$3.15  $               2,835.00 

Bitter 

Panicgras

s 

(Panicum 

900 EA $8.16

$7,344.00

10,080.00$             25,261.00$       

-$                        9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice $ 15' Sheet UnitPrice -$                  9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice $

177,795.00$           144 637.00 91,728.00$          9 787.00 7,083.00$      0 0 -$             98,811.00$       144 811.00 116,784.00$     9 1125.00 10,125.00$       

177,480.00$           153 637.00 97,461.00$          0 -$              0 -$             97,461.00$       153 873.00 133,569.00$     0 -$                  

201,380.00$           153 637.00 97,461.00$          20 787.00 15,740.00$    0 -$             113,201.00$     153 878.00 134,334.00$     20 877.00 17,540.00$       

205,165.00$           77 637.00 49,049.00$          81 787.00 63,747.00$    15 937.00 14,055.00$  126,851.00$     77 900.00 69,300.00$       81 928.00 75,168.00$       

149,025.00$           6 637.00 3,822.00$            87 787.00 68,469.00$    30 937.00 28,110.00$  100,401.00$     6 1264.00 7,584.00$         87 960.00 83,520.00$       

283,415.00$           165 637.00 105,105.00$        77 787.00 60,599.00$    0 -$             165,704.00$     165 812.00 133,980.00$     77 786.00 60,522.00$       

338,190.00$           120 637.00 76,440.00$          90 787.00 70,830.00$    72 937.00 67,464.00$  214,734.00$     120 887.00 106,440.00$     90 794.00 71,460.00$       

279,590.00$           42 637.00 26,754.00$          156 787.00 122,772.00$  35 937.00 32,795.00$  182,321.00$     42 772.00 32,424.00$       156 916.00 142,896.00$     

254,525.00$           69 637.00 43,953.00$          95 787.00 74,765.00$    48 937.00 44,976.00$  163,694.00$     69 750.00 51,750.00$       95 968.00 91,960.00$       

246,350.00$           53 637.00 33,761.00$          92 787.00 72,404.00$    59 937.00 55,283.00$  161,448.00$     53 764.00 40,492.00$       92 936.00 86,112.00$       

198,790.00$           12 637.00 7,644.00$            92 787.00 72,404.00$    59 937.00 55,283.00$  135,331.00$     12 942.00 11,304.00$       92 791.00 72,772.00$       

218,195.00$           57 637.00 36,309.00$          89 787.00 70,043.00$    36 937.00 33,732.00$  140,084.00$     57 756.00 43,092.00$       89 976.00 86,864.00$       

225,765.00$           105 637.00 66,885.00$          87 787.00 68,469.00$    0 -$             135,354.00$     105 888.00 93,240.00$       87 742.00 64,554.00$       

214,130.00$           96 637.00 61,152.00$          86 787.00 67,682.00$    0 -$             128,834.00$     96 913.00 87,648.00$       86 799.00 68,714.00$       

231,030.00$           51 637.00 32,487.00$          96 787.00 75,552.00$    45 937.00 42,165.00$  150,204.00$     51 750.00 38,250.00$       96 941.00 90,336.00$       

230,280.00$           68 637.00 43,316.00$          98 787.00 77,126.00$    27 937.00 25,299.00$  145,741.00$     68 751.00 51,068.00$       98 938.00 91,924.00$       

225,625.00$           109 637.00 69,433.00$          83 787.00 65,321.00$    0 -$             134,754.00$     109 879.00 95,811.00$       83 803.00 66,649.00$       

222,720.00$           192 637.00 122,304.00$        0 787.00 -$              0 -$             122,304.00$     192 807.00 154,944.00$     0 -$                  

237,370.00$           149 637.00 94,913.00$          54 787.00 42,498.00$    0 -$             137,411.00$     149 844.00 125,756.00$     54 782.00 42,228.00$       

224,160.00$           185 637.00 117,845.00$        8 787.00 6,296.00$      0 -$             124,141.00$     185 823.00 152,255.00$     8 1142.00 9,136.00$         

225,945.00$           134 637.00 85,358.00$          59 787.00 46,433.00$    0 -$             131,791.00$     134 919.00 123,146.00$     59 782.00 46,138.00$       

222,720.00$           192 637.00 122,304.00$        0 -$              0 -$             122,304.00$     192 806.00 154,752.00$     0 -$                  

SUBTOTAL 4,989,645.00$        SUBTOTAL 3,032,879.00$  

Total 1,2,3 5,998,725.00$        Total 1,2,3 3,397,039.04$  

10% 599,872.50$                  10% 339,703.90$          

GRAND 6,598,597.50$              GRAND 3,736,742.94$      

Custom Built

All AmericanHewes & Company Custom Built
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DescriptionQuantity Unit UnitPrice Amount UnitPrice Amount

MOBILIZ

ATION & 

SITE 

PREPAR

ATION 

MOBILIZ

ATION & 

SITE 

PREPAR

ATION 

Mobilizati

on
1 LS

$255,930.00 $255,930.00

Mobilizati

on
1 LS

$260,000.00 $260,000.00
Maintena

nce of 

Traffic

1 LS
$62,000.00 $62,000.00

Maintena

nce of 

Traffic

1 LS
$30,000.00 $30,000.00

Erosion 

Control 

and 

1 LS

$56,275.00 $56,275.00

Erosion 

Control 

and 

1 LS

$20,000.00 $20,000.00

 $                      374,205.00 

SUBTOT

AL  $      310,000.00 DUNE 

RESTOR

ATION 

DUNE 

RESTOR

ATION 

Sea Oats 

(Uniola 

paniculat

2300 EA

$3.90

$8,970.00

Sea Oats 

(Uniola 

paniculat

2300 EA $4.10

$9,430.00
Bitter 

Panicgras

s 

(Panicum 

900 EA

$4.00

$3,600.00

Bitter 

Panicgras

s 

(Panicum 

900 EA $3.10

$2,790.00

12,570.00$                         12,220.00$        

15' Sheet UnitPrice 9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice $ 15' Sheet UnitPrice -$                   9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice

0 0 -$             126,909.00$                       144 485.00 69,840.00$     9 696.00 6,264.00$        0 0 -$              76,104.00$        144 654.0 94,176.00$        9 654.0

0 -$             133,569.00$                       153 485.00 74,205.00$     0 -$                 0 -$              74,205.00$        153 654.0 100,062.00$      0

0 -$             151,874.00$                       153 485.00 74,205.00$     20 696.00 13,920.00$      0 -$              88,125.00$        153 654.0 100,062.00$      20 654.0

15 976.00 14,640.00$  159,108.00$                       77 485.00 37,345.00$     81 696.00 56,376.00$      15 810.00 12,150.00$    105,871.00$      77 654.0 50,358.00$        81 654.0

30 985.00 29,550.00$  120,654.00$                       6 485.00 2,910.00$       87 696.00 60,552.00$      30 810.00 24,300.00$    87,762.00$        6 654.0 3,924.00$          87 654.0

0 -$             194,502.00$                       165 485.00 80,025.00$     77 696.00 53,592.00$      0 -$              133,617.00$      165 654.0 107,910.00$      77 654.0

72 855.00 61,560.00$  239,460.00$                       120 485.00 58,200.00$     90 696.00 62,640.00$      72 810.00 58,320.00$    179,160.00$      120 654.0 78,480.00$        90 654.0

35 839.00 29,365.00$  204,685.00$                       42 485.00 20,370.00$     156 696.00 108,576.00$    35 810.00 28,350.00$    157,296.00$      42 654.0 27,468.00$        156 654.0

48 852.00 40,896.00$  184,606.00$                       69 485.00 33,465.00$     95 696.00 66,120.00$      48 810.00 38,880.00$    138,465.00$      69 654.0 45,126.00$        95 654.0

59 847.00 49,973.00$  176,577.00$                       53 485.00 25,705.00$     92 696.00 64,032.00$      59 810.00 47,790.00$    137,527.00$      53 654.0 34,662.00$        92 654.0

59 847.00 49,973.00$  134,049.00$                       12 485.00 5,820.00$       92 696.00 64,032.00$      59 810.00 47,790.00$    117,642.00$      12 654.0 7,848.00$          92 654.0

36 836.00 30,096.00$  160,052.00$                       57 485.00 27,645.00$     89 696.00 61,944.00$      36 810.00 29,160.00$    118,749.00$      57 654.0 37,278.00$        89 654.0

0 -$             157,794.00$                       105 485.00 50,925.00$     87 696.00 60,552.00$      0 -$              111,477.00$      105 654.0 68,670.00$        87 654.0

0 -$             156,362.00$                       96 485.00 46,560.00$     86 696.00 59,856.00$      0 -$              106,416.00$      96 654.0 62,784.00$        86 654.0

45 860.00 38,700.00$  167,286.00$                       51 485.00 24,735.00$     96 696.00 66,816.00$      45 810.00 36,450.00$    128,001.00$      51 654.0 33,354.00$        96 654.0

27 869.00 23,463.00$  166,455.00$                       68 485.00 32,980.00$     98 696.00 68,208.00$      27 810.00 21,870.00$    123,058.00$      68 654.0 44,472.00$        98 654.0

0 -$             162,460.00$                       109 485.00 52,865.00$     83 696.00 57,768.00$      0 -$              110,633.00$      109 654.0 71,286.00$        83 654.0

0 -$             154,944.00$                       192 485.00 93,120.00$     0 696.00 -$                 0 -$              93,120.00$        192 654.0 125,568.00$      0

0 -$             167,984.00$                       149 485.00 72,265.00$     54 696.00 37,584.00$      0 -$              109,849.00$      149 654.0 97,446.00$        54 654.0

0 -$             161,391.00$                       185 485.00 89,725.00$     8 696.00 5,568.00$        0 -$              95,293.00$        185 654.0 120,990.00$      8 654.0

0 -$             169,284.00$                       134 485.00 64,990.00$     59 696.00 41,064.00$      0 -$              106,054.00$      134 654.0 87,636.00$        59 654.0

0 -$             154,752.00$                       192 485.00 93,120.00$     0 -$                 0 -$              93,120.00$        192 654.0 125,568.00$      0

SUBTOTAL 3,604,757.00$                    SUBTOTAL 2,491,544.00$   

Total 1,2,3 3,991,532.00$                    Total 1,2,3 2,813,764.00$   

10% 399,153.20$                                 10% 281,376.40$            

GRAND 4,390,685.20$                        GRAND 3,095,140.40$        

Razorback LLCBDI Contractor

All American BDI Contractor Razorback LLC - Bid Tabulation incomplete 
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Description Quantity Unit UnitPrice Amount UnitPrice Amount

MOBILIZATION & SITE 

PREPARATION 

Mobilization 1 LS
$450,000.00  $       450,000.00 

Mobilizati

on
1 LS

$394,800.00 $394,800.00

Maintenance of Traffic 1 LS
$10,000.00  $         10,000.00 

Maintena

nce of 

Traffic

1 LS
$52,000.00 $52,000.00

Erosion Control and Floating 

Turbidity 

1 LS

$24,000.00  $         24,000.00 

Erosion 

Control 

and 

1 LS

$65,000.00 $65,000.00

 $       484,000.00 

SUBTOT

AL  $       511,800.00 

DUNE RESTORATION 

DUNE 

RESTOR

ATION 

Sea Oats (Uniola paniculate), 

1.5’ OC @ 5,000 SF
2300 EA

$40.00  $         92,000.00 

Sea Oats 

(Uniola 

paniculat

2300 EA $2.15

$4,945.00

Bitter Panicgrass (Panicum 

amarum), 2.5’ OC @ 5,000 SF
900 EA

$10.00  $           9,000.00 

Bitter 

Panicgras

s 

(Panicum 

900 EA $2.15

$1,935.00

101,000.00$       6,880.00$            

$ 15' Sheet UnitPrice -$                    9' Sheet UnitPrice $ 12' Sheet UnitPrice $ 15' Sheet UnitPrice -$                     9' Sheet UnitPrice

5,886.00$        0 0 -$                 100,062.00$       144 780.00 112,320.00$    9 835.00 7,515.00$        0 0 -$              119,835.00$        144 115,776.00    

-$                 0 -$                 100,062.00$       153 780.00 119,340.00$    0 -$                 0 -$              119,340.00$        153

13,080.00$      0 -$                 113,142.00$       153 780.00 119,340.00$    20 835.00 16,700.00$      0 -$              136,040.00$        153

52,974.00$      15 654.0 9,810.00$        113,142.00$       77 780.00 60,060.00$      81 835.00 67,635.00$      15 910.00 13,650.00$    141,345.00$        77

56,898.00$      30 654.0 19,620.00$      80,442.00$         6 780.00 4,680.00$        87 835.00 72,645.00$      30 910.00 27,300.00$    104,625.00$        6

50,358.00$      0 -$                 158,268.00$       165 780.00 128,700.00$    77 835.00 64,295.00$      0 -$              192,995.00$        165

58,860.00$      72 654.0 47,088.00$      184,428.00$       120 780.00 93,600.00$      90 835.00 75,150.00$      72 910.00 65,520.00$    234,270.00$        120

102,024.00$    35 654.0 22,890.00$      152,382.00$       42 780.00 32,760.00$      156 835.00 130,260.00$    35 910.00 31,850.00$    194,870.00$        42

62,130.00$      48 654.0 31,392.00$      138,648.00$       69 780.00 53,820.00$      95 835.00 79,325.00$      48 910.00 43,680.00$    176,825.00$        69

60,168.00$      59 654.0 38,586.00$      133,416.00$       53 780.00 41,340.00$      92 835.00 76,820.00$      59 910.00 53,690.00$    171,850.00$        53

60,168.00$      59 654.0 38,586.00$      106,602.00$       12 780.00 9,360.00$        92 835.00 76,820.00$      59 910.00 53,690.00$    139,870.00$        12

58,206.00$      36 654.0 23,544.00$      119,028.00$       57 780.00 44,460.00$      89 835.00 74,315.00$      36 910.00 32,760.00$    151,535.00$        57

56,898.00$      0 -$                 125,568.00$       105 780.00 81,900.00$      87 835.00 72,645.00$      0 -$              154,545.00$        105

56,244.00$      0 -$                 119,028.00$       96 780.00 74,880.00$      86 835.00 71,810.00$      0 -$              146,690.00$        96

62,784.00$      45 654.0 29,430.00$      125,568.00$       51 780.00 39,780.00$      96 835.00 80,160.00$      45 910.00 40,950.00$    160,890.00$        51

64,092.00$      27 654.0 17,658.00$      126,222.00$       68 780.00 53,040.00$      98 835.00 81,830.00$      27 910.00 24,570.00$    159,440.00$        68

54,282.00$      0 -$                 125,568.00$       109 780.00 85,020.00$      83 835.00 69,305.00$      0 -$              154,325.00$        109

-$                 0 -$                 125,568.00$       192 780.00 149,760.00$    0 835.00 -$                 0 -$              149,760.00$        192

35,316.00$      0 -$                 132,762.00$       149 780.00 116,220.00$    54 835.00 45,090.00$      0 -$              161,310.00$        149

5,232.00$        0 -$                 126,222.00$       185 780.00 144,300.00$    8 835.00 6,680.00$        0 -$              150,980.00$        185

38,586.00$      0 -$                 126,222.00$       134 780.00 104,520.00$    59 835.00 49,265.00$      0 -$              153,785.00$        134

-$                 0 -$                 125,568.00$       192 780.00 149,760.00$    0 -$                 0 -$              149,760.00$        192 154386.00

SUBTOTAL 2,757,918.00$    SUBTOTAL 3,424,885.00$     

Total 1,2,3 3,342,918.00$    Total 1,2,3 3,943,565.00$     

10% 334,291.80$             10% 394,356.50$              

GRAND 3,677,209.80$         GRAND 4,337,921.50$          

Razorback LLC

Razorback LLC - Bid Tabulation incomplete SJ Hamill Construction Nordic --Bid Form Incomplete
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UnitPrice Amount

Mobilizati

on
1 LS

$300,000.00 $300,000.00
Maintena

nce of 

Traffic

1 LS
$22,000.00 $22,000.00

Erosion 

Control 

and 

1 LS

$15,000.00 $15,000.00
SUBTOT

AL  $        337,000.00 DUNE 

RESTOR

ATION 

Sea Oats 

(Uniola 

paniculat

2300 EA $26.25

$60,375.00
Bitter 

Panicgras

s 

(Panicum 

900 EA $26.25

$23,625.00

84,000.00$           

$ 12' Sheet UnitPrice $ 15' Sheet UnitPrice -$                      

16,671,744.00$     9 -$                     0 0 -$             16,671,744.00$    

-$                      0 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      20 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      81 -$                     15 -$             -$                      

-$                      87 -$                     30 -$             -$                      

-$                      77 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      90 -$                     72 -$             -$                      

-$                      156 -$                     35 -$             -$                      

-$                      95 -$                     48 -$             -$                      

-$                      92 -$                     59 -$             -$                      

-$                      92 -$                     59 -$             -$                      

-$                      89 -$                     36 -$             -$                      

-$                      87 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      86 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      96 -$                     45 -$             -$                      

-$                      98 -$                     27 -$             -$                      

-$                      83 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      0 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      54 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      8 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

-$                      59 -$                     0 0 -$             -$                      

29,642,112.00$     0 -$                     0 0 -$             29,642,112.00$    

SUBTOTAL 46,313,856.00$    

Total 1,2,3 46,734,856.00$    

10% 4,673,485.60$           

GRAND 51,408,341.60$         

Nordic --Bid Form Incomplete
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Custom Built Marine Construction, Inc. - References Page 1 

*Over Thirty Years’ Experience*  
3119 Hammond Road
Fort Pierce, Fl. 34946
Phone (772)333-2383

Fax (772)333-2390

REFERENCES

Project: L-4 Weir Replacement
Project Location: Palm Coast, FL
Contract Price: $2,080,140.00
Project Start: Nov. 2022 
Project Completion: Sept. 2023 
Categories: Weir Demolition, Steel Sheet Pile Installation, Mechanical Channel Dredging, Wier 
Gates, Concrete Bulkhead, Cast-In-Place Culvert, DEP
Scope of work: Demo and install new steel sheet pile weir with gates with cast-in-place culvert with 
bulkhead. Stabilize
Prime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc.
Contact: Carmelo Morales/ Andrea Murdyk 
Phone:386-987-4758 – Email: Carmelo Morales CMorales@palmcoastgov.com Andrea Mudryk 
AMudryk@palmcoastgov.com

Project: Lake Monroe Wayside Park Boat Ramp Improvements
Project Location: Sanford, FL
Contract Price: $1,732,645.00
Project Start: Jan. 2023 
Anticipated Project Completion: Nov. 2023 
Categories: Demo old boat ramp, Precast Concrete Panels, Mechanical Dredging, Cast-In-Place 
Concrete, Sidewalk, Asphalt, Pile Driving, Floating Dock Installation with Gangways
Scope of work: Boat ramp removal, precast panel installation, subgrade, cast in place panels, channel 
dredging, pile installation, floating dock installation, sidewalk, swale grading, revetment.
vePrime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc.
Contact: Dan Heacock
Phone: 407-665-7116 – Email: Heacock, Daniel dheacock@seminolecountyfl.gov

Project: Rutherford & Lake Wyman Park Improvements Project
Project Location: Boca Raton, FL
Contract Price: $5,368,056.00
Project Start: Dec. 2022 
Anticipated Project Completion: Dec. 2023 
Categories: New and Rehabilitation of existing Boardwalk – 2,200 LF, 3,360 LF Kayak Trail 
Dredging 10’ width 4’ dredge depth (Hydraulic and Mechanical Dredging), Floating Dock, Shoreline 
Stabilization
Scope of work: 2,200 linear feet of timber boardwalk with kayak trail dredging, grading, shoreline 
stabilization
Prime Contractor: Burkhardt Construction, Inc (CMAR). 
Contact: CJ Rhody
Phone:561-291-5589 – Email: CJ Rhody cj@burkhardtconstruction.com
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Custom Built Marine Construction, Inc. - References Page 2 

Project: Wetland Trails Boardwalk 
Project Location: Gulf Breeze, FL 
Contract Price: $939,435.00 
Project Start: Nov. 2021 
Project Completion: Dec. 2022 
Categories: Boardwalk, Clear & Grubbing, DEP 
Scope of work: 1800 linear feet of timber boardwalk with composite and stainless-steel handrail 
Prime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc. 
Contact: Craig Chamberlain 
Phone:850-712-6087 – Email: Cchamberlin@gulfbreezefl.gov

Project: Floridian Basin Seawall and Infill 
Project Location: West Palm Beach, FL 
Contract Price: $620,550.65 
Project Start: October 2021 
Project Completion: April 2022 
Categories:   Steel Sheet Pile, Concrete cap, King Piles and Batter Piles, Earthwork placement, 
Dewatering, Riprap 
Scope of work: 165 linear feet of steel sheet pile with concrete cap.  
Prime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc. 
Contact: Ev Howard 
Phone: 561-837-9820 – Email: Ehoward@alonsoandassociates.com 
 
Project: Lake Park Dock Repairs 
Project Location: Lake Park, FL 
Contract Price: $150,000.00 
Project Start: June 2021 
Project Completion: August 2021 
Categories: Floating dock repair 
Scope of work: Hardware replacement, Timber replacement, and concrete repair 
Prime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc. 
Contact: Steven Bogner 
Phone 561-881-3353 – Email: sbogner@lakeparkfl.gov 

Project: USCG Sand Key Station - CECOS 
Project Location: Clearwater, FL 
Contract Price: $187,485.00 
Project Start: May 2021 
Project Completion: August 2021 
Categories: Pile Driving, Concrete Floating Docks 
Scope of work: Floating dock installation. 
Prime Contractor: CECOS Group 
Contact: Chad Bruckschen 
Phone 866–501-1775 - Email: Chad.Bruckschen@cecosgroup.com 

Project: Conchy Joe’s  
Project Location: Jensen Beach, FL 
Contract Price: $122,698.00 
Project Start: May 2021 
Project Completion: August, 2021 
Categories: Pile Installation, Pile Driving 
Scope of work: 194 wrapped piles installed.  
Prime Contractor: AEGEN 
Contact: John Evans 
Phone 772-302-9529 – Email: John@aegenconstruction.com 
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Project: Fisherman’s Wharf Boat Ramp 
Project Location: Fort Pierce, FL   
Contract Price: $627,905.00 
Project Start: Nov. 2020 
Project Completion: July 2021 
Categories: Boat Ramp, Floating Dock, Fixed Dock, Embankment, Seawall 
Scope of work: Installation of Boat ramp & Seawall 
Prime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc. 
Contact: David Corrigan Jr. 
Phone: 772-678-9419 – Email: Jr@custombuiltmarine.com  
DMCE Engineer: Shailesh Patel – Spatel@DMCES.com – 386-795-6721

Project: Fleming Island WWTF Outfall Dock
Project Location: Fleming Island, FL   
Contract Price: $1,043,969.00 
Project Start: May 2020 
Project Completion: November 2020 
Categories: Dock, Ductile Iron Pipe, Clearing Grubbing, Pile Installation 
Scope of work: Remove and replace outfall pipe and dock 
Prime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc. 
Contact: David Corrigan Jr. 
Phone: 772-678-9419 – Email: Jr@custombuiltmarine.com  
Clay County Representative: Chris Nazworth – Cnazworth@clayutility.org

Project: Jupiter Reef Club 
Project Location: Jupiter, FL   
Contract Price: $570,000.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: Jan. 2019 
Project Completion: Aug. 10, 2020 
Categories: Wave Wall 
Scope of work: Installation of concrete sheet panel 
Prime Contractor: Walker Contracting Group 
Contact: Jason Swanson 
Phone: 439-263-7500 – Email: jswanson@walkercontractinggroup.com 

Project: Sanford Wave Wall 
Project Location: Sanford, FL   
Contract Price: $585,212.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: May 11, 2020 
Project Completion: July 10, 2020 
Categories: Wave Wall 
Scope of work: Installation of 300 plus linear feet of concrete sheet panel 
Prime Contractor: Wharton Smith 
Contact: Nelson Marty 
Phone: 407-314-8999 – Email: nmarty@whartonsmith.com 
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Project: Cordova Seawall Replacement  
Project Location: Ft Lauderdale, FL   
Contract Price: $5,759,237.00 
Project Start: Oct 1, 2019 
Project Completion: Feb 2, 2021 
Categories: Steel Sheet pile & Concrete Cap 
Scope of work: Installation of 2,203 linear foot of steel sheet pile & concrete cap 
Prime Contractor: Custom Built Marine Construction Inc. 
Contact: David Corrigan 
Phone: 772-678-9419 – Email: jr@custombuiltmarine.com  
City Representative: Juan Carlos Samuel – jsamuel@fortlauderdale.gov

Project: Reiter Park 
Project Location: Longwood, FL   
Contract Price: $463,000.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: Nov 1, 2017 
Project Completion: March. 2018 / Currently Under Construction 
Categories: Wood Boardwalk 
Scope of work: Installation of 12” diam. Wood pilings, wood structure and IPE Decking 
Prime Contractor: West Construction 
Contact: Matt West 
Phone: 561-588-2027 – Email: mwest@westconstructioninc.net 

Project: Bert Winters Boat Ramp 
Project Location: Juno Beach, FL   
Contract Price: $360,000.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: Oct. 16,2017 
Project Completion: March. 2018 / Currently Under Construction 
Categories: Boat Ramp   
Scope of work: Demo Existing Boat Ramp, Install Permanent & Temporary Steel Sheet Pile, Dewater, 
grade, Form, Reinforce & Pour New Concrete Boat Ramp. Install Concrete Piles and Floating Docks 
Prime Contractor: Collage Construction 
Contact: Dave Trindade 
Phone: 561-262-2773 - Email: Dmichaeltrindade@gmail.com 

Project: C-51 Canal Bank Stabilization
Project Location: West Palm Beach, FL   
Contract Price: $485,000.00 
Prime Contractor 
Project Start: June 2017 
Project Completion: February 13, 2018 
Categories: Marine, Steel Sheet Pile, C.I.P Concrete & Rip Rap 
Scope of work: Install SSP, Rip Rap & Tremie Pour Concrete 
Contact: Octavio Castillo  
Phone: 561-682-6920 - Email: ocastil@sfwmd.gov  
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Project: Water Way Park 
Project Location: Jupiter, FL   
Contract Price: $2,283,000.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: January. 2016 
Project Completion: January. 2017 
Categories: Sheet Pile, Concrete Cap, Boat Ramp, Floating Docks, Dredging, Boardwalk, Cast in 
Place Concrete Structures, Erosion Control   
Scope of work: Construction of new park facilities including sheet pile, clearing, boat ramp, and float dock. 
Prime Contractor: West Construction 
Contact: Matt West 
Phone: 561-588-2027 - Email: mwest@westconstructioninc.net

Project: Clam Pass Boardwalk Repair 
Project Location: Naples, FL (Collier County) 
Contract Price: $533,892.00 
Prime Contractor 
Project start: December. 2015 
Project Completion: July. 2017 
Categories: Wood Boardwalk Repair 
Scope of work: Remove & Replace 12” Diam. Wood Pilings. Replace Hardware, Joists & Beams. Treat 
300+ Existing Pilings with Fungicide Treatment and Wrap. 
Contact: Margaret Bishop, Collier County Facilities Management/Sr. Project Manager 
Phone: 1-239-252-8380 - Email: feliciakirby@colliergov.net 

Project: Martin County Baffle Box 
Project Location: Martin County 
Contract Price: $176,761.00 
Prime Contractor 
Project Start: September 2015 
Project Complete: January 2016 
Categories: Stormwater 
Scope of work: Install Trench Shoring, Excavate & Remove 60” RCP, Install Nutrient Separating Baffle 
Box, Reinstall/Connect 60” RCP. 
Contact: Greg S Nolte, E.I., Martin County Florida 
Phone: 772-221-2380 - Email: gnolte@martin.fl.us 

Project: Canal Point Pedestrian Bridge
Project Location: Canal Point, Florida (Palm Beach County) 
Contract Price: $210,000.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: June 2017 
Project Complete: November 2017 
Categories: Concrete Pilings 
Scope of work: Auger Preformed Pile Holes and Install (4) 18”x 100’ & (8) 14”x 50’ concrete pilings to 
support Prefabricated Pedestrian Bridge. 
Prime Contractor: West Construction 
Contact: Matt West 
Phone: 561- 588-2027 - Email: mwest@westconstructioninc.net 
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Project: Pump Station Culvert Pipe Replacement                          
Project Location: Sunrise, Florida 
Contract Price: $247,335.00 
Project Start: October 2016 
Project Completed: February 2017 
Prime Contractor 
Categories: Stormwater 
Scope of Work: Install SSP Cofferdam/Trench Shoring, Dewater, Remove Existing 72” CMP and Replace 
with 72” HDPE, Form, reinforce & Pour New Concrete Headwalls and Place Rip Rap 
Contact: Mark Winslow 
Phone: 954-572-2390 - Email: mwinslow@sunrisefl.gov

Project: Torry Island Marina 
Project Location: Belle Glades, Florida 
Contract Price: $463.838.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: April 2015 
Project Completed: February 2016 
Categories: Concrete Piles, Wood Deck & Floating Docks 
Scope of work: Install Concrete Pilings, Built Wood Structure w/Wood Decking & Install Floating Dock 
Prime Contractor: Collage Construction 
Contact: Dave Trindade  
Phone: 561-262-2773 - Email: dmichaeltrindade@gmail.com 
 
Project: Seminole County Wilderness Boardwalk 
Project Location: Sanford (Black Bear Wilderness Area) 
Contract Price: $647,300.00 
Sub-Contractor 
Project Start: April 2014 
Project Completed: December 2016 
Categories: Wood Boardwalk w/Trex (Composite Decking) 
Scope of Work: Clear & Grub, Install Wood Pilings, Wood Substructure & Railing, Install Trex 
(Composite Decking) 
Prime Contractor: Shoemaker Construction 
Contact: Dean Shoemaker 
Phone:407-322-3103 - Email: dean@shoemakerconstruction.net 
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THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  ISSUED  AS  A  MATTER  OF  INFORMATION  ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE  DOES  NOT  AFFIRMATIVELY  OR  NEGATIVELY  AMEND,  EXTEND  OR  ALTER  THE  COVERAGE  AFFORDED  BY THE POLICIES
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© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.ACORD 25 (2016/03)
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The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

11/3/2023

(407) 788-3000 (407) 788-7933

16608

Custom Built Marine Construction, Inc.
3119 Hammond Road
Fort Pierce, FL 34946

A 1,000,000

ML202300002399 2/20/2023 2/20/2024 100,000
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1,000,000

2,000,000
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BIDDING PURPOSES ONLY

CUSTBUI-04 ERICKSONA

Insurance Office of America
1855 West State Road 434
Longwood, FL 32750

New York Marine & General Insurance Company
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X
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X
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X
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Wepfer, Megan

From: Robert Eschenfelder <Rob@cityattorneys.legal>
Sent: Sunday, March 17, 2024 6:06 PM
To: Robin Gomez
Cc: Wepfer, Megan
Subject: FW: ITB 2023-14 Coastal Groin Project
Attachments: ITB 2023-14 bid tabulation.pdf; Bidders Interview Questions 3-4-24.docx

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening 
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Manager Gomez, 
 
City Attorney Trask asked me to review the City’s question below regarding the recent bid openings for the 
groin project. Having reviewed the ITB docs and the vendor’s response, I agree with Director Wepfer that the 
City would be within its rights to find that the bidder is “non-responsive” in that it did not provide honest and 
complete responses to the question. 
 
As an additional basis the City should state, I also believe the City is justified to find that the bidder is “not 
responsible” in that so much litigation is at issue related to its work. While in fairness pending litigation could 
in theory be won by the vendor, it nevertheless is a sign of performance issues. 
 
Please let me know if you have any follow up questions. 
 
Regards, 
Robert M. Eschenfelder, Esquire 
Board Certified in City, County and Local Government Law 
Rob@cityattorneys.legal  
TRASK DAIGNEAULT, LLP 
Harbor Oaks Professional Center 
1001 South Fort Harrison Avenue, Suite 201 
Clearwater, FL 33756 
(727) 733-0494 Phone 
(727) 733-2991 Fax 

 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE 
 
The information contained in this transmission is a privileged confidential communication sent by a law firm.  It is for the 
exclusive use of the intended recipient.  If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any 
dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited.  If you receive this communication in 
error, please notify the sender by return e-mail immediately, then delete the original e-mail and any attachments and 
destroy all hard copies of this e-mail and any attachments. Thank you. 
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From: Wepfer, Megan <mwepfer@madeirabeachfl.gov>  
Sent: Monday, March 11, 2024 3:58 PM 
To: Thomas Trask <tom@cityattorneys.legal> 
Cc: Kathy Tokos <Kathy@cityattorneys.legal>; Robin Gomez <RGomez@madeirabeachfl.gov>; Alexandra Lollis 
<alollis@madeirabeachfl.gov> 
Subject: ITB 2023-14 Coastal Groin Project 
 
Hi Tom, 
 
We conducted meetings/interviews with the 3 lowest bidders on Friday March 8th to determine who is the most 
qualified responsive bidder for the Costal Groin Restoration project. The 3 lowest bidders were BDI Marine 
Contractors LLC, Custom Built Marine Contractors Inc, and Speeler CO.  
 
While doing research we found that BDI had several lawsuits but answered no or none to the questions asked 
during the interview regarding litigations. I sent an email to a few BDI Employees on Friday asking for clarification 
on 4 separate lawsuits that I found but I have yet to hear any response. Today it was brought to my attention that 
there are a few more, attached below. My recommendation is to not proceed with BDI Marine Contractors based 
on information found but I would like your legal advice on how to proceed. If you need further information please 
let me know.  
 

ITB 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration .eml 

Decks v BDI recent cases filed vs. BDI part 2.pdf 

Decks v BDI recent cases filed vs. BDI.pdf 

Decks v BDI case hx SF Bldg vs. Nettles Island.pdf 
 
 
 
 
 

483

Item 14C.



3

 

Sincerely, 

  

Megan Wepfer 

City of Madeira Beach 

Public Works Director 

C: 727-543-8154 

Error! Filename not specified. 

  

Disclaimer: Under Florida law (Florida Statute 668.6076), email addresses are public records. If you do 
not want your email address released in response to a public records request, please do not send 
electronic mail to the City of Madeira Beach. Instead, contact the appropriate department/division.  
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Memorandum  

Meeting Details:  April 10, 2024 

Prepared For:  Mayor & Board of Commissioners 

From:  Megan Wepfer, Public Works Director 

Subject:  Approval to Surplus & Purchase a truck 

Background 

Staff is requesting the Board of Commissioners approve the surplus for truck #33, a 2016 Peterbuilt rear 

load packer and truck #37, a 2017 Peterbuilt rear load packer. RDK Trucks has been onsite and 

inspected both trucks and given a purchase price of $125,000 total. Both 33 and 37 have been replaced 

and are no longer needed.   

Staff received truck #23, a 2023 Kenworth T880 with a 32 CY rear load packer at the beginning of FY 

23 to replace truck #37. At the time of acceptance, our mechanic noticed the truck was not running 

properly and sent it back to the dealership. The truck stayed at the Fort Meyers Kenworth dealership for 

several months while they diagnosed the issue and repaired it. Shortly after receiving the truck back, we 

started having issues with the cylinders on the Heil packer. Tampa Crane & Body is a Heil dealership 

and had the truck a few times often for several months at a time to repair the blown main cylinder. The 

main cylinder has blown twice in the past year and is no longer under warranty. We have had several 

issues with this brand-new truck that we haven’t experienced with the other 2 Kenworth T880’s that are 

in our fleet and have been in service for a couple years. Due to having several issues with this truck staff 

would like to trade in the truck while we can still get nearly what we have in it. RDK has offered $275K 

and will put that towards a new 2024 Battle Motor with a Pac tech body.  

Fiscal Impact 
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After the sale and trade in of #33 for $50K, #37 for $75K, and #23 for $275K and the purchase of a new 

2024 Battle Motor with a pac tech body for $313,672.00, RDK will owe a credit to the city for 

$86,328.00.  

Recommendation(s) 

Staff recommends the approval to surplus #33, #37, and #23 and purchase a new 2024 Battle Motor with 

a rear load Pac Tech body with a credit owed to the city of $86,328.00 that will go back into the 

sanitation fund.  

Attachments 

- RDK Quotes  
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CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
APRIL 2024 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS (BOC) MEETINGS 
 
Commission Chambers, 300 Municipal Drive, Madeira Beach, FL 33708 
 

Regularly scheduled meetings are held (Dates and Times subject to change): 
Regular Meeting   2nd Wednesday @ 6 p.m. 
Budget Workshop Meeting  4th Wednesday @ 4 p.m. (May through August) 
Regular Workshop Meeting  4th Wednesday @ 6 p.m. 
 
Meeting dates and times are subject to change.  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
· 2024 BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETINGS SUMMARY – Summary through 

January - March 2024 
 

· OPEN DISCUSSION ITEMS – List provided by Vice Mayor Kerr in January 12, 2024. 
The City Manager added these items to his list of pending items for future workshop 
discussions.    
 

· BOARD MEMBER VACANCY ANNOUNCEMENT – Civil Service Commission 
Vacancy Advertisement 

 
· BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING SCHEDULE 

 
· MARCH 19, 2024 MUNICIPAL ELECTION – CERTIFICATE OF COUNTY 

CANVASSING BOARD – OFFICIAL ELECTION RESULTS – CITY OF 
MADEIRA BEACH CHARTER AMENDMENT – FAILED 429/236 VOTES  
(City of Madeira Beach Charter Amendment - to change the Candidate Qualifying Period 
to the first full week in December instead of the first two full weeks in December) 

 
· FLORIDA COMMISSION ON ETHICS – ELECTRONIC FINANCIAL 

DISCLOSURE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
https://disclosure.floridaethics.gov/Account/Login 
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2024 BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETINGS SUMMARY 
(January – March 2024) 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS ATTENDANCE 
 

· January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting – All present 
· January 24, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop – All present 
· February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting – All present  
· February 28, 2024, BOC Special Meeting - All present 
· February 28, 2024, BOC Regular Worshop - All present 
· March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting – All present 
· March 27, 2024, BOC Special Meeting – Mayor absent 
· March 27, 2024, “BOC Regular Workshop – Mayor absent 

 
PRESENTATIONS 
 
January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Gulf Beaches Public Library Board Update & Upcoming Special Events – Helen Price, 
Library Board Trustee 

 
January 24, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop Meeting 

· Introduction of New Hires in the Fire Department 
· Fire Crew of the Year, 2024 
· Fire Inspector Reclassification to Fire Marshal 
· Fire Lieutenant Promotion 
· Brian Lowack, President/CEO, Visit St. Pete/Clearwater 

 
February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Gulf Beaches Rotary Contribution – Presented by members of the Gulf Beaches Rotary 
Club 

 
March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· TI/MB Chamber of Commerce 2023 Community Partner of the Year 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 
January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist Week; January 21-27-2024 
 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING MINUTES 
 
January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· 2023-12-13, BOC Regular Meeting Minutes – Approved 5-0 
 
February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 
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· 2024-01-10, BOC Regular Meeting Minutes – Approved 5-0 
· 2024-01-24, BOC Regular Workshop Meeting Minutes – Approved 5-0 

 
March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· 2024-02-14, BOC Regular Meeting Minutes – Approved 5-0 
· 2024-02-28, BOC Special Meeting Minutes – Approved 5-0 
· 2024-02-28, BOC Regular Workshop Meeting Minutes – Approved 5-0 

 
CONTRACTS/AGREEMENTS 
 
January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· FY’24 Capital Garbage Truck Lease Approval – Approved 4-1 (Vice Mayor Kerr against) 
· RFP# 2023-09, Patriot Park Dock Replacement Bid Acceptance and Approval – 

Approved 5-0 
 
February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Field Internship Agreement with SPC – Approved 5-0 
· RFP 2023-11, Digital Information Sign Purchase – Approved 5-0 
· Purchase 2023 Chevy Silverado 5500 Regular Cab 2WD – Approved 5-0 
· Fireworks Agreement – Approved 5-0 

 
March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Code Enforcement/Satellite Office – Motioned to allow staff to negotiate an agreement 
with Mali Corp. to construct the code enforcement office space – Approved 5-0 

· Approve Agreement with Network People for Security Focused Information Technology 
Support and Consulting Services - Approved 5-0 

· RFQ 23-12, Planning Services to Create and Implement a New City Master Plan – 
Motioned to proceed with Kimley-Horn for RFQ 23-12, Planning Services to create and 
implement a New City Master Plan Approved 5-0 

· ADA Bus Purchase – Approved 5-0 
· Easement Agreement for Condo A Company, LLC – Approved 5-0 

 
LETTER OF SUPPORT 
 
February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Tampa Bay Coastal Master Plan Letter of Support from the City of Madeira Beach Mayor, 
James “Jim” Rostek – Approved 5-0 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS – ORDINANCES 
 
January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Ordinance 2023-21, Dune Protection and Beach Debris – 2nd Reading and Public Hearing 
– Approved 5-0 

· Ordinance 2023-33, Amendment to Capital Improvement Element of the Comprehensive 
Plan – 2nd Reading & Public Hearing – Approved 5-0 
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· Ordinance 2024-01, Calling the March 19, 2024 Municipal Election – 1st Reading & 
Public Hearing – Approved 5-0 
 

February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 
· Ordinance 2024-01, Calling the March 19, 2024 Municipal Election – 2nd Reading & 

Public Hearing – Approved 5-0 
· Ordinance 2024-03, An ordinance adopting a code provision regarding parking meter 

overtime and failure to pay provisions - 1st Reading & Public Hearing – Approved 5-0 
 
March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· Ordinance 2023-01, John’s Pass Village Activity Center Plan – 2nd Reading and Public 
Hearing – The vote amended Ordinance 2023-01 to lower the bonus maximum in the 
Commercial Core from 100 to 87 UPA and the John’s Pass Resort from 100 to 75 UPA - 
Approved amendment 4-1 (Mayor against) 

· Ordinance 2023-02, Amending FLUM to add John’s Pass Village Activity Center – 2nd 
Reading and Public Hearing – Approved 4-1 (Mayor against) 

· Ordinance 2024-02, Open Accessory Structures – 1st Reading & Public Hearing – 
postponed 1st Reading and Public Hearing of Ordinance 2024-02 to the April 10, 2024, 
BOC regular meeting and discuss it at the March 27, 2024, BOC workshop meeting. 

· Ordinance 2024-03, An Ordinance adopting a code provision regarding parking meter 
overtime and failure to pay provisions – 2nd Reading and Public Hearing – Approved 5-0 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS – ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSE APPLICATION 
 
February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· (2COP) Alcoholic Beverage License Application# 2024-01 Osaka Japanese 
and Thai Restaurant of Madeira Beach – Approved 5-0 

 
REPORTS/CORRESPONDENCE – ELECTED OFFICIALS & CHARTER OFFICERS 
 
January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· City Clerk Report – January 2024 
 
February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· City Attorney – Updates: Schooner Litigation (Burke versus the City of Madeira Beach); 
William Gay versus Hendricks, Andrews, Hodges, and Price; and Fire Station Litigation  

· City Clerk’s Report – February 2024 
· City Manager’s Report – December 2023 and January 2024 

 
March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 

· City Clerk’s Report – March 2024 
· City Manager’s Report – February 2024 

 
RESOLUTIONS 
 
March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting 
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· Resolution 2024-01, Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement – 2023 – Approved 5-0 
 
WORKSHOP AGENDA SETTING 
 
January 10, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting (January 24, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop) 

· Live-aboards Boats Anchoring 
· Update on Stuart Park Resident Parking 
· Update on Fitness Center 
· JPV Zoning 

 
February 14, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting (February 28, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop) 

· Purchase Kubota Mini Excavator 
· City Hall Satellite Office 
· RFI 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration bid discussion 
· JPV Activity Center and Zoning 
· TBBCC Check Presentation 
· Master Plan 
· Roles and Responsibilities as Commission Members 

 
March 13, 2024, BOC Regular Meeting (March 27, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop) 

· JPV Zoning 
· CRS and LMS 
· Master Plan 
· Board of Commissioners Policy Handbook – Review for changes 
· RFP 2024-02 City Facility Cleaning Services bid discussion 
· RFP 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration bid discussion 
· Residential Parking discussion 
· Ordinance 2024-02, Open Accessory Structures 
· Ordinance 2024-04, Special Magistrate Provisions Relating to Code Enforcement 
· Ordinance 2024-06, Special Magistrate Provisions Relating to Variances and Special 

Exceptions 
· Special Magistrate Agreement Approval 
· Ordinance 2024-05, Amend Fees and Collections Procedure Manual 
· Bicentennial Park 

 
WORKSHOP MEETING DISCUSSIONS 
 
January 24, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop Meeting 

· Boats, Live-aboards and Anchoring 
· FEMA/City Participation in Mitigation Restoration/Flooding Prevention Programs - 

Consensus to move forward. 
· Board of Commissioners to schedule a Special Meeting in March following the March 

19, 2024 Municipal Election and Certification of Election Results: Reporting the 
Election Results of the Charter Amendment and Induction into Office - Ray Kerr and 
David Tagliarini to serve a new two-year term as District Commissioner – The Special 
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Meeting was scheduled for 5:30 p.m., Wednesday, March 27, 2024. 
· John’s Pass Village Activity Center Zoning - The Board asked the presenters to identify 

and include the structures with high densities in John's Pass Village in their next 
presentation. 

· RFP 2023-11 Digital Information Sign – Consensus to move forward 
· Kitty Stuart Park Parking Lot Overview: Financial Status, Increased Utilization, and User 

Engagement – Consensus to continue with the trial 
· Refuse Collection Contracted Service Analysis – Consensus not to outsource the garbage 

collection at this time  
· Fitness Center - Consensus to bring back the yearly cost to continue with the open 

registration. 
· City Sponsored Fireworks - Consensus to bring a contract with proposed dates back to 

the next regular meeting for approval 
 
February 28, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop 

· BOC Roles & Responsibilities  
· Code Enforcement/Satellite Office - Consensus to move forward with the project 
· City of Madeira Beach Master Plan – Presented by Kimley-Horn 
· John’s Pass Village Activity Center Plan and Zoning 
· Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement – 2023 
· Redington Emergency Services Building Update 
· ADA Bus Purchase 
· City Attorney Trask gave an update on William Gay versus Hendricks, Andrews, Hodges, 

and Price 
 
March 27, 2024, BOC Regular Workshop 

· Board of Commissioners Policy Handbook – Review for Changes 
· Engagement Letter to Serve as Special Magistrate for the City of Madeira Beach - 

Consensus to move forward 
· Ordinance 2024-04, Special Magistrate – Code Enforcement – Consensus to move forward 
· Ordinance 2024-06, Special Magistrate – Approval Process for Compensation Rate   - 

Consensus to move forward 
· Kimley-Horn Madeira Beach Master Plan Scope of Services Draft – Consensus to move 

forward. 
· Local Mitigation Strategy (LMS) and Community Rating System (CRS) Update 
· Ordinance 2024-02, Open Accessory Structures – Postponed to next workshop meeting 
· John’s Pass Village Activity Zoning Workshops 
· Ordinance 2024-05, Fees & Collection Procedures Manual FY 2024 Proposed Update – 

Consensus to move forward to regular meeting for a vote  
· Approval to Surplus & Purchase a Truck – Consensus to proceed with the trade-in and 

purchase 
· ITB 2023-14 Coastal Groin Restoration Approval - Consensus to move forward with 

Speeler Co. for the groin restoration project 
 

BOC SPECIAL MEETINGS 
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February 28, 2024, BOC Special Meeting (for a shade meeting) 

· City of Madeira Beach vs. Wannemacher Jensen Architects, Inc. and Hennessy 
Construction Services Corp., Case #23-7114-CI, Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial 
Circuit in and for Pinellas County, Florida. 

 
March 27, 2024, BOC Special Meeting  

· March 19, 2024 Municipal Election – Reported the Unofficial Election Results – City of 
Madeira Beach to change the Candidate Qualifying Period to the first full week in 
December instead of the first two full weeks in December – Failed 429/236 Votes 

· Induction Into Office – Newly Elected Members of the Board of Commissioners – David 
Tagliarini, District Commissioner 1 and Ray Kerr, District Commissioner 2 
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OPEN DISCUSSION ITEMS 
Submitted by Vice-Mayor/Commissioner Kerr, 1/12/2024 

 
 

1. Comprehensive Plan 20-Year Update 
 

2. 95th Street property  
· Property was sold to others 
· Was this due to the time it took for the City to make an offer?  

 
3. Planned Development versus Zoning Guidelines 

· Does a PD override all Zoning Guidelines 
o Setbacks 
o Impervious Surface Ratio 
o Height 
o FAR 
o Intensity & Density 

· PD – Summary mailing to residents prior to approval? 
 
4. Copper phone lines – Removal by Frontier 
 
5. Campaign signs  

· Where can they be placed? 
· Does the Building Department have maps showing Right-of-Ways? 
· If so, should these maps be included with the campaign packets? 

 
6. Tear Drop Park sprinklers & Improvements 

· Parking / benches / Community Pavilion  
 
7. Residential Impact Fees – Removal 

 
8. Sidewalk width standards 

 
9. Public Trash Containers  

 
10. No wake zone update 

· Enforcement 
· Signage 

 
11. Compare Maps:  

· Nonconforming pre-2007 & post-2023 after adopting county-wide future land use. 
 
12. Base Flood Elevation (BFE) 

· Building Height start from 4’ above BFE + 4’ freeboard? 
 
13. PD - mailing to residents prior to approval? 
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14. City Solar projects  

 
15. Sea wall height / Tampa Bay Regional Planning Council - 5’ minimum elevation  
 
16. Marina Development Restrictions – Lobbyist 

· Public Works Building Design Input 
 
17. Kimley-Horn: Undergrounding: The Hidden Helper of Disaster Prep. / Grants (presentation 

by Kevin Schanen with Kimley-Horn) 
 
18. Red Tide / BIG-C / Support Presenter to BIG-C (would have to review BIG-C minutes for 

details) 
 
19. Parking Garage(s) at both neighborhood centers 
 
20. Can Old Salt contribute to candidates since they hold agreements with the City? 
 
21. Kitty Stuart Park landscaping  
 
22. Schooner status 
 
23. Live aboard pump-out logs  
 
24. City dog park improvements  
 
25. Dune protection  
 
26. Crosswalk lighting review  
 
27. Pocket Parks / Updates  
 
28. JPV Proposed Dock 
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CITY OF MADEIRA BEACH 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

 

BOARD MEMBER VACANCY ANNOUNCEMENT 
 

The City of Madeira Beach is seeking applications to fill an expired term on the Civil Service 

Commission. The new term expires on October 30, 2026.    

 

 Civil Service Commission – 5-member board – regular meetings held quarterly. Additional 

meetings are held for special projects and employee grievance/appeal hearings. Dates and 

times vary.   

 Members must be a City of Madeira Beach citizen and eligible to vote in the City elections. 

 Appointments are made consistent with the Charter based on demonstrated experience or 

interest in the subject matter.  

 

For additional information, please contact City Clerk Clara VanBlargan at 727-391-9951, 

ext. 231 or 232; cvanblargan@madeirabeachfl.gov 

 

Boards, Commissions, and Committees are a valuable part of the local government process. The 

members are volunteers and provide a great service to the City and to the community. Duties and 

responsibilities include assisting in reviewing the City’s policies and procedures, Code of 

Ordinances, and the City Charter, and making recommendations to the Board of Commissioners. 

 

Members of the Civil Service Commission serve without compensation but may be reimbursed for 

training, travel, mileage, and per diem expenses provided by law.  

 

Interested persons must submit an application to the City Clerk no later than Tuesday, April 30, 

2024 to be considered for appointment at the 6:00 p.m., Wednesday, May 8, 2024, Board of 

Commissioners Regular Meeting located in the Commission Chambers, 300 Municipal Drive, 

Madeira Beach, FL 33708.     

 

Applications may also be obtained at City Hall, downloaded on the City’s website at 

https://madeirabeachfl.gov/advisory-boards/ or obtained from the City Clerk.  

 

Submit completed and signed applications to: 

 

City Clerk 

City of Madeira Beach 

300 Municipal Drive 

Madeira Beach, FL 33708 

cvanblargan@madeirabeachfl.gov 

727-391-9951, ext. 231 or 232 
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